

Boosting Adoption of Mobile Health Apps: An Exploration of New Human and Technology Drivers of Adoption

By

Luke Brownlow

Thesis Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

College of Business, Government and Law 28 March 2023

I certify that this thesis:

- does not incorporate without acknowledgment any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university
- 2. and the research within will not be submitted for any other future degree or diploma without the permission of Flinders University; and
- 3. to the best of my knowledge and belief, does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text.

I acknowledge the contribution of the Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship in producing this thesis.

> Luke Brownlow 23 November 2022

Abstract

Despite the many benefits and the growing accessibility of mobile applications (apps) for healthcare, the adoption rate of these apps is low. Further, existing research into adoption of apps for healthcare takes a narrow approach to adoption frameworks. That is, empirical studies investigate product and technology adoption drivers in terms of how they directly impact app usage and post-adoption usage behaviours. Few studies consider how these drivers underpin theories and models to offer a holistic view of technology adoption processes. Guided by product and technology acceptance theories, namely the Technology Acceptance Model, this thesis identifies and analyses a range of untested drivers of health app acceptance to develop a new model of adoption. The drivers analysed are the following characteristics of app users: i) subjective knowledge and involvement, ii) need for personalisation, iii) trust, iv) perceived convenience and the following characteristics of app technology, v) gamification and vi) aesthetics. This thesis uses the context of health apps and addresses gambling as an empirical research context as it investigates a sample of helpseeking gamblers and employs gambling quit apps as the health app for adoption. This thesis reports on a mixed-methods design study consisting of a qualitative stage—thematic analysis of focus group discussion data—and a quantitative stage—structural equation modelling of web-based survey data. The qualitative stage produced valuable insights into target app users' design and functionality preferences for health apps. The quantitative stage offers novel findings around the adoption drivers investigated. The significant drivers found were subjective knowledge and involvement, need for personalisation, perceived convenience, gamification and aesthetics. Using these findings, the thesis develops a new theoretical model of health app adoption. It then uses the empirical findings to present practical recommendations for app developers and marketers for embedding the significant drivers into the creation and promotion of health care apps.

ii

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Figures	. vii
List of Tables	viii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Research Background	1
1.2 Research Justification	3
1.2.1 The Value of mHealth Apps to Society	3
1.2.2 The Current Rate of mHealth App Adoption	4
1.3 Research Context	6
1.3.1 Healthcare Delivery	6
1.3.2 eHealth	6
1.3.3 mHealth	7
1.3.4 App Categorisation for This Thesis	8
1.4 Research Objectives and Question	9
1.5 Thesis Structure	. 10
1.6 Chapter Summary	. 11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	. 12
2.1 Introduction	. 12
2.2 Mobile Applications	. 12
2.3 Technology Adoption	. 14
2.4 Technology Acceptance Model Constructs	. 21
2.4.1 Perceived Usefulness	. 21
2.4.2 Perceived Ease of Use	. 21
2.4.3 Attitude	. 22
2.4.4 Adoption Intention	. 23
2.5 Other Factors Contributing to mHealth App Adoption	. 23
2.5.1 User Characteristics	. 25
2.5.2 Technology Characteristics	. 30
2.5.3 Health Status Severity	. 33
2.5.4 Product Platform Preference	. 34
2.6 Summary of Significant Gaps in the Literature	. 35
2.7 Towards a Conceptual Model	. 37
2.8 Chapter Summary	. 37
Chapter 3: Research Framework, Hypotheses and Design	. 39
3.1 Introduction	. 39
3.2 Research Framework and Hypotheses	. 40
3.2.1 Drivers of Technology Adoption	. 40
3.2.2 Development of the Causal Model	. 45
3.3 Empirical Context: mHealth Gambling Apps	. 47
3.3.1 Gambling Consumption	. 47

3.3.2 Digital Interventions for Behaviour Control	. 48
3.4 Overview of Research Design	. 49
3.4.1 Qualitative Stage	. 50
3.4.2 Quantitative Stage	. 51
3.5 Chapter Summary	. 53
Chapter 4: Qualitative Study and Stimulus Development	55
4.1 Introduction	. 55
4.2 Focus of Qualitative Study	. 55
4.3 Stimulus Creation	. 56
4.3.1 Designs	. 57
4.3.2 App Functionality	. 58
4.4 Sampling Methods	. 61
4.5 Conducting Focus Groups	. 62
4.6 Session Protocols	. 63
4.7 Data Analysis and Results	. 66
4.7.1 Objective One: Create an Appropriate Introduction	. 67
4.7.2 Objective Two: Identify the Best Functions and Design—Stimuli Development .	. 67
4.7.3 Objective Three: Inform the Stimuli	. 70
4.8 Chapter Summary	. 72
Chapter 5: Quantitative Methodology	. 73
5.1 Introduction	73
5.2 Research Setting and Respondents	73
5.3 Sampling	. 74
5.3.1 Recruitment	. 74
5.3.2 Sample Size Determination	. 74
5.4 Data Collection	. 75
5.5 Measurement Scales	. 78
5.5.1 Measuring Health Status Severity	. 78
5.5.2 Measuring Product Platform Preference	. 79
5.5.3 Measuring User Characteristics	. 80
5.5.4 Measuring for Technology Characteristics	. 82
5.5.5 Measuring Perceived Ease of Use, Perceived Usefulness, Attitude and	
Intention	. 83
5.6 Data Analysis	. 84
5.7 Protection of Human Subjects	. 85
5.8 Treatment of Data	. 85
5.9 Chapter Summary	. 85
Chapter 6: Quantitative Analysis and Results	87
6.1 Introduction	. 87
6.2 Statistical Techniques for Data Analysis	. 87
6.3 Dealing with Missing Data	. 89
6.4 Descriptive Analysis: Sample Profile	. 89
6.5 Descriptive Analysis: Preliminary Findings	. 91
6.6 Testing for Linearity	. 93
6.6.1 Multicollinearity	. 94
6.7 Exploratory Factor Analysis	. 95

6.7.1 Rotation	
6.7.2 Appropriateness of Data	
6.7.3 Communalities	
6.7.4 Factor Structure	
6.7.5 Convergent Validity	100
6.7.6 Discriminant Validity	101
6.8 Confirmatory Factor Analysis	102
6.8.1 Model Fit	102
6.8.2 Validity and Reliability	106
6.8.3 Common Method Bias	108
6.9 Causal Model	110
6.9.1 Path Analysis: Direct Effects	110
6.9.2 Path Analysis: Indirect Effects	113
6.9.3 Path Analysis: Moderating Effects	115
6.10 Supplementary Testing—Multi-Group Analyses	117
6.10.1 Testing for Effects of Adoption Behaviour	117
6.10.2 Testing for Effects of Product Platform Preference	123
6.11 Chapter Summary	129
Chanter 7: Discussion and Conclusion	121
7.1 Introduction	131
7.1 Introduction	131
7.2 Discussion	131
7.2.2 Unsupported Hypotheses	122
7.2.2 Olisupported Hypotheses	135
7.2.5 Multi-Group Analyses—Adultional Insights	150
7.5 Theoretical Contributions	120
7.3.1 Adoption Antecedents	139
7.3.2 Relevance of Research Context	142
7.3.3 Particul Implications	143
7.4 Practical Implications	144
7.4.1 Implications for App Developers	144
7.4.2 Implications for Marketers	152
7.4.3 Policy Implications	155
7.5 Limitations and Future Research	155
7.6 Concluding Comments	157
References	160
Appendices	224
Appendix A: Stimulus Design Styles	224
Appendix B: Focus Group Stimuli	226
Appendix C: Promotion of Focus Group Sessions	238
Appendix D: Focus Group Consent Form	239
Appendix E: Focus Group Information Sheet	240
Appendix F: Gambling Support Information with Contacts for Participants	242
Appendix G: Human Research Ethics Committee Approval Notice	244
Appendix H: Relationships Australia Approval Notice for Data Collection	247
Appendix I: Qualitative Analysis Codes	248
Appendix J: Additional Quotations from Focus Group Sessions	249

Appendix K: Stimuli Amendments	257
Appendix L: Groups Contacted for Recruitment	259
Appendix M: Estimation of the Error Functions, Lower Bound Sample Size for a	
Structural Equation Model and Normal Distribution Cumulative Distribution	260
Appendix N: Online Survey	261
Appendix O: Online Survey Information Sheet and Consent Form	271
Appendix P: Survey Stimuli	273

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: App Categorisation	8
Figure 2.1: Competing Theories of Technology Acceptance—Models	21
Figure 3.1: Model of Conceptualised Relationships	46
Figure 4.1: Concept App Designs	58
Figure 4.2: Focus Group Discussion—Warm Up	64
Figure 4.3: Focus Group Discussion—Design Styles	65
Figure 4.4: Focus Group Discussion—Feedback on Functions	65
Figure 4.5: Focus Group Discussion—Preferred Style	66
Figure 4.6: Focus Group Discussion—Reviews of NoBets	66
Figure 5.1: Concept App—NoBets	77
Figure 6.1: Causal Model	111
Figure 6.2: Direct Paths for Adoption Behaviour Present	121
Figure 6.3: Direct Paths for Adoption Behaviour Absent	122
Figure 6.4: Direct Path Changes by Adoption Behaviour Presence/Absence	123
Figure 6.5: Direct Paths for Digital Gamblers	127
Figure 6.6: Direct Paths for Analogue Gamblers	128
Figure 6.7: Direct Path Changes by Product Platform Preference	129
Figure 7.1: Significant Paths and Hypotheses	136
Figure 7.4: Drinkaware App	146
Figure 7.5: MyFitnessPal App	147
Figure 7.6: Headspace App	148
Figure 7.7: SmartCat App	149
Figure 7.8: Monitor Your Weight App	150
Figure 7.9: Quit Smoking App	151
Figure 7.10: Headspace Advertisement for Aesthetics	153
Figure 7.11: Fitbit Advertisements	154
Figure 7.12: Headspace Advertisements for Usefulness	154

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Competing Theories of Technology Acceptance	
Table 2.2: Technology Acceptance Model Construct Definitions	23
Table 2.3: Constructs and Definitions	
Table 4.1: NoBets Functions for Qualitative Stimuli	59
Table 4.2: Focus Group Sample Profiles	62
Table 5.1: Health Status Severity (HSS) Items	
Table 5.2: Subjective Knowledge and Involvement (SKI) Items	80
Table 5.3: Trust (T) Items	81
Table 5.4: Need for Personalisation (P) Items	81
Table 5.5: Perceived Convenience (C) Items	82
Table 5.6: Gamification (G) Items	82
Table 5.7: Aesthetics (AE) Items	83
Table 5.8: Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU), Perceived Usefulness (PU), Attitude (A	TT) and
Intention (INT) Items	
Table 6.1: Sample Characteristics	
Table 6.2: Properties of Constructs	
Table 6.3: Deviation from Linearity	
Table 6.4: Collinearity Statistics	
Table 6.5: Multivariate Normality	
Table 6.6: Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy and Bartlett's Te	est of
Sphericity	
Table 6.7: Communalities	
Table 6.8: Rotated Component Matrix	
Table 6.9: Average Variance Extracted	101
Table 6.10: Fit Indices	103
Table 6.11: Validity and Reliability	105
Table 6.12: Cronbach's Alpha for Likert Items	106
Table 6.13: Shapiro–Wilk and Kolmogorov–Smirnov Tests of Normality	107
Table 6.14: Common Method Bias Results	109

Table 6.15: Path Analysis: Direct Effects	112
Table 6.16: Multiple Mediation	114
Table 6.17: Summary of Hypothesised Relationships	116
Table 6.18: Direct Paths of Adoption Behaviour Sample Split	119
Table 6.19: Direct Paths of Product Platform Preference Sample Split	124

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Research Background

Increasingly researchers are focussing on consumer issues that are meaningful and impactful to society (Dahl et al., 2014). In marketing, research on social issues facilitates positive consumer behaviour and conditions (Macfadyen et al., 2003). The findings of such research can assist marketing efforts to shape attitudes, increase awareness and foster use of products and services that create positive and enduring outcomes for society (Walsh et al., 1993). This thesis represents research on social issues because it seeks to understand motivations that have the potential to enhance consumer wellbeing and adapt them to marketing practices. This thesis investigates drivers of consumer adoption of mobile applications (apps) designed for users to manage and improve their health. Mobile apps for healthcare can include health management and monitoring apps, such as for fitness and nutrition, and apps for specific health issues, such as for delivery of therapies for mental health concerns and addictions. These types of health app can contribute positively to consumer wellbeing, so it is important to investigate the factors that drive their adoption. The original contribution to knowledge from this thesis is the creation of a new model of health app adoption that can be used to understand in greater detail the processes behind health app adoption.

Apps in general are specialised software optimised to run on and enhance mobile devices (Liu et al., 2015; MacDonald, 2017), and are used in many aspects of our everyday lives (Dhaliwal et al., 2021). Apps are attractive tools for consumers because they are highly accessible and constantly innovated. People's dependence on apps makes them an easy means to market directly to consumers (Reyes, 2016). The global popularity of mobile devices and telecommunication coverage, free access to national and global app stores, and mass production of free and inexpensive apps have removed barriers to accessibility (Chen et al., 2017; Serrano et al., 2016). The growing number of electronic devices per household (Nicholas et al., 2020), people's growing dependence on apps for daily tasks (Sarwal & Saini, 2021) and the transportability of smartphones (Hobbis, 2020) have further enabled app adoption.

These success factors have allowed apps to move beyond communication and entertainment into other areas, such as healthcare. Mobile health apps (henceforth, mHealth apps) is a developing product category for which marketing research is clearly highly relevant (Bhuyan et al., 2016). The literature advocates the use of mHealth apps to manage general health and wellbeing, counteract increases in the incidence of lifestyle diseases (Thornton et al., 2017) and assist overburdened healthcare systems (Boyce & Katz, 2019; Monash University, 2019). mHealth apps may be able to reduce financial and logistical pressures on healthcare infrastructure by reducing patient travel and using technology already in people's homes (Rahman et al., 2019). While some consumers need and prefer alternative options to access health services, there is huge support for mHealth from industry and researchers because of cuts to public health funding and the growing trend to seek digital healthcare solutions before using traditional services (Chouvarda et al., 2015; Gammon et al., 2015; Hu, 2011). Further, the reach of mHealth apps extends to many sociodemographic groups and enables connections between individuals globally (Serrano et al., 2016). Given the many benefits of using mHealth apps, it is important to increase their adoption through marketing and research efforts.

App adoption in general is a complex theoretical process, as reflected in recent calls for more research on up-to-date theoretical models of app adoption (Kumar & Tuli, 2021). Although most models outline the process of adoption of technology, they do not examine the major motivators of adoption—perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use (Davis et al., 1989). Perceived usefulness is the perceived ability of the technology to enhance performance, whereas perceived ease of use is the perception of the effort required to use the technology (Davis et al., 1989). Venkatesh et al. (2003a) argued that these constructs predict, with great accuracy, consumer attitude towards a given technology, which stimulates consumer intention and action. However, Min et al. (2019) noted that models of adoption can appear outdated when applied to mHealth apps as they were not developed with the technology and context in mind. Therefore, these models need to be expanded and revised for the times and the context, particularly by testing antecedent variables in line with current technology and user expectations (Al-Emran & Granic, 2021; Tian & Dong, 2013). MacDonald (2017) further argued that a poor understanding of mHealth app adoption may be the result of a lack of understanding around antecedents to users' perceived ease of use and usefulness. In

response, this thesis seeks to identify specific antecedents with the potential to drive adoption to develop an up-to-date and contextually relevant model of mHealth app adoption.

Past research has investigated user and technology factors such as user experience and branding, to extend traditional technology acceptance theories (see Alam et al., 2020; Vervier et al., 2019). As technology and users diversify, so do the number of contributing factors and their potential influence. Learning how these factors influence consumer behaviour and theory builds our understanding of how users adopt technology, such as mHealth apps. Despite a growing body of literature respective to apps generally and mHealth apps specifically, there remain several significant gaps in our current understanding about how to increase the adoption of mHealth apps. Despite the value of these apps, consumer adoption remains comparatively low (Blondon et al., 2014; Mustafa et al., 2022). The aim of this thesis is to identify and examine a range of technology adoption antecedents that are untested in the mHealth app adoption literature. These untested drivers of adoption can be scaffolded to contribute to established theory to create a current theoretical framework to better explain mHealth app adoption.

1.2 Research Justification

1.2.1 The Value of mHealth Apps to Society

mHealth apps have the potential to create positive health change for individuals and communities regarding many health issues as well as general health and fitness management (Zhao et al., 2016). A review by van der Maas et al. (2019) covered a range of studies using high-calibre mHealth apps across public health, including diabetes management, depression treatment and smoking cessation as examples. Treatment centres and medicines for these health issues are less accessible for some groups (see Gilbert et al., 2015; Meier et al., 2022; Mohan et al., 2020) than are mHealth apps, which are globally available (Muñoz et al., 2018). mHealth apps provide fast and simple access to and tracking of individual health data through interactive displays that encourage user engagement (Han & Lee, 2018). Further, clinical trials comparing mHealth app intervention groups with control groups have shown that apps lead to better health outcomes: for example, an 18% reduction in blood pressure among hypertension sufferers (Gong et al., 2020); 17% higher mental wellbeing scores for people

experiencing post-natal depression (Kubo et al., 2021); and a 33% higher rate of smoking abstinence for people wanting to quit smoking (Chu et al., 2021). There are also economic benefits to the use of mHealth apps (Iribarren et al., 2017). They can reduce expenses for individuals where the necessary treatment is not government subsidised, such as heart disease in Australia (see Maddison et al., 2015). There are economic benefits for society too. Luxton et al. (2014) presented a case where, in lieu of publicly funded treatment, an mHealth app was prescribed to 1,600 individuals and successfully reduced feelings of work-related stress. The estimated savings in public funding in this case were US\$2.8M. Identification of these positive outcomes substantiates the use of mHealth apps as health tools, particularly in cases where patients can supplement existing treatment with mHealth apps; however, the purpose of mHealth is to do just that – supplement existing services and not replace them.

The use of mHealth apps as a treatment tool is a growing trend (Heaven, 2018). Completely replacing some types of treatment with apps is more common in the case of unhealthy consumption behaviours among people who tend to avoid formal healthcare interventions altogether, such as face to face therapies and group sessions (Nilsen, 2010). People are unlikely to be open about potentially embarrassing or stigmatised health issues, such as addictions. In fact, individuals dealing with addiction seek 'formal treatment with a professional as a last resort' and try alternatives first (Evans & Delfabbro, 2005, p. 150). Further, even before the creation of mHealth apps, Young (2005) found that 85% of addicted study participants searched for an online alternative before connecting with face-to-face therapy. Hence, it is likely that groups with addictions feel the same about traditional interventions and are likely to seek mHealth apps as an initial intervention, or even a standalone solution (Rai et al., 2013). This creates an opportunity for mHealth apps to serve consumer needs (Florido-Benítez, 2022); thus, research that encourages adoption of anonymous and autonomous treatments for stigmatised health issues is invaluable for society. Of course, how well an mHealth app can capitalise on the opportunities presented depends on the rate of adoption.

1.2.2 The Current Rate of mHealth App Adoption

Despite the health industry's recognition of mHealth apps as a valuable health tool and a critical direct channel to the public, researchers have reported low adoption rates (Moudud-

UI-Huq et al., 2021; Walker, 2017; Woldaregay et al., 2018), particularly for chronic illnesses and diseases (Liu et al., 2022). Industry highlights can quantify the adoption rate. In 2018, mHealth app downloads accounted for less than .001% of all app downloads globally (Statista, 2018). To date in 2022, mHealth apps for chronic illnesses and diseases have accounted for less than 1% of all mHealth app downloads (Statista, 2022a). In Australia, fewer than onethird of people have used any type of mHealth app (Statista, 2020), and 13% have paid for an mHealth app (Statista, 2022b). Studies that have quantified mHealth app adoption for specific health conditions, such as diabetes, nicotine dependence and gambling addiction, have also reported low numbers or low popularity among target users (see Brownlow, 2021; Iribarren et al., 2016; McClure et al., 2016). Wind et al. (2020) commented that, aside from a sudden spike in downloads during the COVID-19 pandemic, mHealth apps of all types remain unpopular among consumers. The disconnection between the value of mHealth apps for society and the low adoption rates was an important motivation for this thesis.

The literature highlights the poor understanding of user attributes and specific technology elements—such as the need for personalisation and gamification—as contributors to the low adoption rates (Acikgoz et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2022; Yan et al., 2021). The low adoption has prompted calls for more research on the process of mHealth app adoption (Al-Emran & Granic, 2021; Arnhold et al., 2014). In response, this thesis seeks to identify influential characteristics likely to contribute to mHealth app adoption. The first group of characteristics are specific to the target users of an mHealth app. The second group represents aspects of the technology specific to an mHealth app to which consumers respond with likely adoption. The findings presented in the thesis extend theory in technology adoption and provide critical information for mHealth app developers and marketers. Most mHealth app development to date has not been informed by research (Dhaliwal et al., 2021; Smahel et al., 2017). Further, notwithstanding marketing efforts to promote mHealth apps (see Lee & Chong, 2021; Wynne et al., 2022), adoption typically stems from peer recommendations (Mustafa et al., 2022). Recent research by Lee and Chong (2021) suggested that the promotion of mHealth apps should be informed by empirical research that considers the user and the technology. Hence, this thesis investigates user and technology characteristics that contribute to mHealth app adoption through a marketing lens. The most meaningful contribution of this thesis comes

from identifying and finding ways to exploit these characteristics to ultimately increase mHealth app adoption and positive health outcomes for consumers.

1.3 Research Context

1.3.1 Healthcare Delivery

The delivery of healthcare has evolved as technology has developed and improved. In recent years, the healthcare sector has seen a shift from the classical model, where healthcare professionals are the 'gatekeepers' of patient data and restrict patients' access, to a shared model where healthcare professionals and users collaborate and facilitate joint decision making (Eysenbach & Jadad, 2001). Both patients and practitioners engaging with information technology is vital for sharing health information in this model (Ali et al., 2017). The classical model focussed on specific types of medical information for healthcare professionals (i.e., education, practice and research). The shared model has moved into public health fields such as health information needs and healthcare accessibility (Eysenbach & Jadad, 2001). Healthcare professionals were initially reluctant to engage with take-home health technology because of concerns around quality (Eysenbach & Jadad, 2001). However, they began to understand the model's potential for disseminating information and healthcare technology to people (Altmann & Gries, 2017). The internet, as the key underlying platform for the development of the shared model, has become the go-to source of health information (Krueger, 2010). These changes have led to use of the term 'eHealth'.

1.3.2 eHealth

eHealth is the provision of healthcare via the internet and digital products (Schumacher et al., 2008). In other words, eHealth involves the broad use of the internet through digital technology by both public and practitioners, to support healthcare practices (Martinez-Pérez et al., 2013). The initial interest in eHealth came from commercial healthcare as it was marketed widely to practitioners (Schumacher et al., 2008). As delivery of eHealth improved, it became more accessible to the public (Krebs & Duncan, 2015). Gradually, eHealth products were developed for use with portable devices such as smartphones and wearable devices (Hussain et al., 2015; Rooij & Marsh, 2016). This was the point at which eHealth technology boomed and began a rapid evolution. This technological evolution and the ubiquity of

smartphones enabled greater accessibility to eHealth for individuals. These changes gave rise to the concept of mobile technology for healthcare, or mHealth.

1.3.3 mHealth

One of the earliest references to mHealth was in 2000 when it was defined as 'unwired emed' (Laxminarayan & Istepanian, 2000). Istepanian and Lacal (2003) later reclassified mHealth as portable media and treatment services for medical workers. It was a decade later that researchers acknowledged that the definition of mHealth should include the public rather than solely clinicians (Silberman & Clark, 2012; Vogel et al., 2013). In the past decade, mHealth apps have become important products for delivery of timely and accessible healthcare (Baig et al., 2015). The growth in mHealth has led to the development of wireless technology removing the traditional boundaries of time, space and invasiveness that existed in classical healthcare models (MacDonald, 2017). This enabled niche products to be developed and marketed to underserviced patients and consumer groups (Maphosa, 2022). Examples include wireless blood glucose monitors for diabetics (Daim et al., 2013) and smart wearable devices that measure vital signs (Striegel, 2019). The definition of mHealth and mHealth products continued to evolve. The value of wireless healthcare technology has led to an exponential growth of research in mHealth apps (Alam et al., 2020), as investment continues to grow leading to new service delivery outreach (Albury et al., 2019). Additionally, eHealth services are being optimised for mobile platforms because of smartphone ubiquity (García et al., 2019) and the advantages that mHealth has over eHealth; that is, accessibility, affordability and convenience (Davis & Ballreich, 2014; Okazaki et al., 2015). Further, users bring their own device thereby removing the burden on healthcare providers to provide hardware (Al-Harthy & Ali, 2022). Despite these benefits, there are some downsides that consumers cannot control, including removal of funding that maintains apps (Campbell et al., 2017), data privacy failures (Papageorgiou et al., 2018) and replacement of traditional services with apps (Igbal et al., 2022). Data privacy is a prevailing issue in app development that can create distrust amongst consumers, particularly in mHealth as personal details and health information are often recorded (Papageorgiou et al., 2018). Notwithstanding these challenges, mHealth apps have become one of the fastest growing categories of app, after games and utilities (Recio et al., 2016), with many healthcare companies developing their own mHealth apps to market their products to consumers (Fritz et al., 2017). Healthcare

companies and app developers have produced a range of mHealth apps for different health issues. For this thesis, it is important to categorise the type of mHealth app being researched.

1.3.4 App Categorisation for This Thesis

Healthcare research classifies mHealth apps based on the health areas they target and their user base. A common classification is to distinguish apps based on their intended usage; a) chronic health and disease or b) general wellness management (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2015). While succinct, this does not adequately distinguish the app market groups that are the focus of this thesis. Thus, this thesis combines this classification with the categorisation by Boulos et al. (2014): 1) apps for medical providers; 2) apps for specific health issues; 3) apps for education purposes; and 4) apps for the public. Categories 1 and 3 are developed for professionals, while 2 and 4 are public user oriented (Boulos et al., 2014). The focus of this thesis is Categories a), 2) and 4). This categorisation and identification of the intended user follows the definition of mHealth apps by Mechael (2009)—that they relate to health management for specific health topics by general users, not solely medical professionals. The categorisation of apps for this thesis is shown in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1: App Categorisation

1.4 Research Objectives and Question

The first objective of this thesis is to identify significant user characteristics that substantially drive adoption of mHealth apps via their perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness, both of which lead to a positive attitude towards and intention to use the apps. This contribution presents an important advance in the current understanding of technology adoption. The second objective is to identify new significant technology characteristics that substantially drive mHealth apps' perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness. In achieving these objectives, substantial and important contributions will be made to both relevant theory in the domain of technology acceptance of mHealth apps, and relevant practice in the healthcare sector. These overarching research objectives guide the following research question: What user characteristics and technology characteristics are likely to contribute to mHealth app adoption?

To address the above question, this thesis employs a version of one of the literature's most well-established theoretical models of technology adoption, the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). The TAM is an information and media systems theory that models the process through which people adopt technology. The original version of the TAM accounts for the foundational elements of technology adoption—that is, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, attitude and intention (Davis et al., 1989; Holden & Karsh, 2010)—but studies in health technology and mHealth have expanded the TAM (see Cajita et al., 2017; Holden & Karsh, 2010; Hoque, 2016; Jacob et al., 2019; Ketikidis et al., 2012; Lim et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2017). An extended model specific to mHealth apps builds on our understanding of the adoption process consumers undergo for mHealth products. Importantly, original TAM elements do not address the needs of modern mHealth; hence the need for expansion and revision (Choi et al., 2010; Tian & Dong, 2013). Further, Choi et al. (2010) and Tian and Dong (2013) emphasised that additional variables are needed to measure adoption across varying types of technology. These findings justify the need to go beyond the original TAM elements and further explore factors that can explain adoption of technology, thus developing a tailored model for mHealth app adoption.

1.5 Thesis Structure

Chapter One – *Introduction* presents the background to the research and justifies the chosen context, research questions and objectives. The chapter outlines both the breadth and depth of the research contributions. This chapter is important as it establishes the scope of the research by explaining what the research topic is about before establishing the niche research area and context.

Chapter Two – *Literature Review* reviews the relevant literature across disciplines pertinent to this thesis, including marketing, health, psychology and information technology, to justify the theoretical framework and the inclusion of variables, with particular emphasis on the drivers of technology adoption. The chapter expounds on the context of this research and concludes with a presentation of gaps in knowledge. The chapter is vital as it outlines the gaps of importance and validates the need to fill them.

Chapter Three – *Research Framework, Hypotheses and Design* begins with a discussion of the thesis' conceptual model and rationalises its development before developing the hypotheses tested in the thesis. The rationale for the design and the research stages of data collection are introduced. Last, the chapter justifies the empirical context for testing the hypotheses.

Chapter Four – Qualitative Study and Stimuli Development begins by introducing the focus of the qualitative stage to justify the stimulus created for the thesis. Next, the chapter outlines the stimulus creation process and its use in data collection. The chapter then outlines the sampling and protocol used for the qualitative data collection, noting the research objectives the approach sought to achieve. After presenting the qualitative findings, the chapter returns to the stimuli to show how the qualitative results improved the stimuli for the subsequent quantitative stage. This chapter is particularly important as it uncovers new knowledge around preferred gambling quit app functionality and aesthetics via qualitative methods and validates the concept represented by the stimuli for a relevant at-risk population.

Chapter Five – *Quantitative Methodology* presents the approach to the quantitative data collection stage of the research by describing the research design, data collection methods, sample size determination, sampling, data collection procedures, questionnaire content and

subsequent data analysis methods. This chapter is vital to evaluate the reliability and validity of the research.

Chapter Six – *Quantitative Analysis and Results* presents the empirical testing of the conceptual framework and the statistical approach to the quantitative data. The chapter confirms scale reliability, construct validity and model fit. Structural equation modelling is presented in detail with specification and estimation results followed by presentation of supported and unsupported hypotheses to identify the contributions to knowledge. Supplementary testing of data is included in this chapter to offer additional insights into the factors that can influence mHealth app adoption. It is important to present a distinct analysis of empirical data to allow readers to develop an unbiased idea of what is uncovered by the thesis before the findings are interpreted by the researcher.

Chapter Seven – *Discussion and Conclusion* summarises the key findings of the study and highlights the relevant contributions to various research fields. The theoretical and practical implications of the findings are discussed in detail alongside recommendations for practice by marketers and app developers. This chapter concludes with research limitations and directions for future research. The chapter is significant as it presents solutions to the research problems presented through the findings. The discussion shows how gaps in the literature are filled and how a contribution has been made as a result.

1.6 Chapter Summary

This chapter presented the background, justification, objectives and contributions of the thesis. It also provided a summary of the thesis structure and content through a chapter-by-chapter outline. The next chapter reviews the theoretical and empirical literature and outlines the important gaps relevant to this thesis that led to the research hypotheses.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Introduction

The research question and objectives outlined in Chapter One inform this review of the literature pertinent to how and why people adopt apps, particularly mHealth apps. Through this review, significant gaps in current understanding relevant to the thesis topic are identified. The chapter commences with a background to apps, followed by an exploration of relevant theories established in the literature with respect to technology adoption, such as the Diffusion of Innovations Theory (Rogers, 1962) and the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) (Davis et al., 1989). The chapter then examines various factors that contribute to technology adoption with a particular focus on mHealth apps, before exploring the role of consumer health and behaviour in the adoption process. Chapter Two concludes with an outline of the significant gaps that inform the research hypotheses specified in Chapter Three.

2.2 Mobile Applications

Mobile applications, or apps, are small, specific software applications generally used on mobile devices: 'small' refers to their size and installation process; and 'specific' refers to their precise functionality. Apps are universal products available globally that are applicable to personal computers as well as handheld and wearable technologies (Tojib & Tsarenko, 2012). Apps are 'on the go' tools that drive most digital media consumption (Fang, 2019). Their potential for consumer engagement stems from features such as attributes of personalisation, multiplatform applications and vividness (Shaw et al., 2022), partnered with their accessibility and portability (Jham, 2018). Apps are interactive products that support gamification and personalisation, enabling them to move beyond communication into services such as entertainment, banking and healthcare. As introduced in Chapter One, health apps are typically known as mHealth apps.

There are currently more than 350,000 mHealth apps available for users to download (Philip et al., 2022) and covering a growing number of health-related areas such as weight loss, mindfulness training and addiction rehabilitation (i.e., smoking and gambling; Pires et al., 2020). The popularity of addiction rehabilitation apps stems from their confidentiality and

accessibility. Confidentiality addresses the risk of shame and accessibility removes treatment barriers (i.e., cost and wait times) associated with face-to-face, clinic-based traditional treatments (Rodda et al., 2013). However, data privacy failure that leads to reduced user trust is a risk (Papageorgiou et al., 2018). While socioeconomic, privacy and user capability factors notably impact app accessibility, one of the greatest benefits is that there are few restrictions to using mHealth apps, so the types of users can vary widely. mHealth users can differ by age, lifestyle aspects (Taylor & Silver, 2019), culture (Rajak & Shaw, 2021) and gender (Schomakers et al., 2022) among other factors. mHealth app creation and maintenance is sometimes dependent on insecure corporate and public funding (Campbell et al., 2017), so the coverage of health issues may not always be secure as the interests of corporations and public policy are not fixed. Nonetheless, for many, mHealth apps are a powerful tool for positive health change. This is important for groups of people who cannot afford face-to-face medical treatment. mHealth apps are particularly valuable where there is limited access to healthcare, such as low socioeconomic and geographically isolated groups (Isler et al., 2012; Lien et al., 2014). It is estimated that millions of people lack access to vital healthcare and up to 7.4% fall below the poverty line because of sudden out-of-pocket health costs (Davis & Ballreich, 2014; Lakner et al., 2022). mHealth apps may offer some relief to these groups if they adopt them. mHealth connects consumers with free, or low-cost, highly portable healthcare tools (Varshney, 2014). Most physicians are willing to prescribe an mHealth app for chronic disease management (Health Research Institute, 2014). Consequently, app users are reporting positive results. Bhuyan et al. (2016) found that 60% of users believed that mHealth apps were beneficial and helped them to achieve goals; 55% transitioned into long-term users (Krebs & Duncan, 2015). In another study, 67% of users saw mHealth apps as supplements to their treatment, and 47% favoured apps as effective substitutes (Rai et al., 2013). However, aside from the sudden spike in mHealth app downloads during the COVID-19 pandemic (Wind et al., 2020), mHealth app uptake is low compared with that for other categories of app (Mustafa et al., 2022). This warrants research on mHealth app adoption.

One of the key streams of research on apps is app adoption, where drivers and barriers are researched across various disciplines including marketing, information technology and health (Al-Emran & Granic, 2021; Stocchi et al., 2022). In the past, researchers used various theories to examine user adoption of different forms of technology, such as online shopping (Ahmed

& Sathish, 2015) and digital payment tools (Sahi et al., 2021). Traditional technology adoption theories, such as the Uses and Gratifications Theory and the Information Systems Success Model, have been employed to explain how consumers adopt apps (Gera et al., 2020; Mondal & Chakrabarti, 2019). A number of these theories are discussed in Section 2.3.

2.3 Technology Adoption

Technology adoption is an area of research in which numerous theories have been developed and used across different areas of literature to identify factors that drive adoption. In the communication literature, scholars have investigated media uses and gratifications (Blumler & Kaatz, 1974; Katz, 1959; Klapper, 1963; Lin, 1999; Rubin, 1995; Ruggiero, 2000) via the Uses and Gratifications Theory and Diffusion of Innovations Theory. Innovation theories such as the Diffusion of Innovations and the Information Systems Success Model are commonly applied in marketing research (Gatignon & Robertson, 1985; Sultan et al., 1990) and management information system studies (Agarwal & Prasad, 1997; Huff & Munro, 1985; Moore, 1987; Moore & Benbasat, 1991), enabling researchers to understand how innovations of technology are disseminated and adopted. Although they provide explanations for progressive adoption, these models do not observe the different situations and domains where new knowledge can be found (Kaur, 2022). Moreover, Loose et al. (2013) argued that theories on innovation, outcomes and gratification wrongly assume that people are largely rational in their behaviour. Hence, their research focussed on the practical aspects of apps and implications of technology adoption, as opposed to a more comprehensive investigation including affective-based drivers of adoption. Moreover, scholars have argued that mass communication adoption theories (i.e., Uses and Gratifications Theory and Media Dependency Theory) that use only or primarily measures of practical attributes, such as level of interactivity and user environment, can quickly become outdated when applied to health and emerging app technologies (El-Wajeeh et al., 2014). These models tend to create a narrow description of how technology is used by a passive population, rather than explaining and interpreting the factors behind why consumer groups adopt the technology. Hence, existing models need to be reviewed and updated according to the current state of play. In the field of apps, the technology is constantly evolving, requiring ongoing investigation and theorisation by researchers. For example, the Information System Success Model (DeLone &

McLean, 1992) is an example of a well-established theoretical framework that is now considered outdated because of its focus on app practicality (Negash et al., 2003). Researchers have tried to overcome this by integrating it with the TAM (Davis et al., 1989) to create a current reflection that includes a wider range of specific variables that contribute to adoption (see Al-Emran & Granic, 2021). Venkatesh (2000) offered a critique of existing theories, positing that many do not measure usability and usefulness, which are deemed two major drivers of technology adoption. The TAM does employ usability and usefulness and is considered one of the most widely recognised theoretical models of technology adoption (Holden & Rada, 2011).

By way of background, the TAM is an extension of the Theory of Reasoned Action (Fishbein, 1967; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). It is popular and regarded as the best model to explain adoption of information systems and information technology (Poornima, 2020; Tamilmani et al., 2020) and has been used widely in technology adoption research, including smart apparel (Bakhshian & Lee, 2022) and digital learning platforms (Mustafa & Ali, 2023). Despite its reputation, the TAM also has limitations that justify further research. For example, the TAM is now argued to be outdated as it is too utilitarian and unreliable for today's technology as it was designed for simple technology that served a single purpose unlike modern technology that is highly interactive, multi-functional and is used for numerous purposes (Hess et al., 2014). Recent research has pointed out the simplicity and lack of contextual references in the TAM as other major limitations (Stylios et al., 2022). Further, the original TAM and its predecessor, the Theory of Reasoned Action, were focussed solely on individual-level factors without concern for social and environmental factors and their effects of adoption. The TAM was designed to investigate employee use of workplace technology; therefore, in its original form, it is not suitable to assess modern consumer decision scenarios, such as adopting mobile app products. Ali et al. (2019) recommended overcoming these limitations by identifying contextual variables relevant to the user and technology. Consequently, extending the original TAM to adapt to the context and consumers is a valid response to calls for research on modernising the TAM for mHealth apps (Al-Emran & Granic, 2021; Alsyouf et al., 2022; Saheb et al., 2022).

Despite these criticisms of the TAM, its success is often attributed to its simple framework (Ibidunmoye, 2018). The TAM recognises external variables, perceived usefulness, perceived

ease of use and attitude towards using the technology to link with intentions and use (Davis et al., 1989). More importantly, in publishing the TAM, Davis et al. (1989) noted that external variables—also called 'antecedents'—and their effects change over time, so they should be specific to the context. The TAM provides an explanation in predicting technology adoption where it relies heavily on the importance of consumers' perceived ease of use and usefulness of the product (Venkatesh, 2000). However, specific antecedents that drive these two critical constructs are under researched, particularly in the context of modern mHealth apps (Brew-Sam, 2020). Results of studies suggest that identification of specific and clearly defined antecedents is needed in cases of specific technology to improve the predictive power of the model (Choi et al., 2010; Kim, 2016; Lee et al., 2011; Yang, 2005). Identifying specific, influential antecedents in the mHealth context would substantially extend the TAM and provide robust empirical evidence to support the drivers of technology adoption while pinpointing why the technology is or is not accepted. In fact, a common current misuse of the TAM is to ignore antecedents and place the unadapted model into a unique context (Abdullah et al., 2016). Omission of antecedents provides generalised user opinions on a specific technology rather than specific information to drive technology development (Mathieson, 1991) and limits the exploratory extent of TAM-based research (Ennajeh & Amami, 2014). Ultimately, therefore, identifying specific influential antecedents will extend the theoretical and practical value of the TAM.

Over the past two decades, the TAM has been continuously revised and extended in various forms and contexts. The major revisions produced TAM 2 (Venkatesh, 2000; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), TAM 3 (Venkatesh & Bala, 2008) and the Health Information Technology Acceptance Model (Kim & Park, 2012), all of which attempted to adapt the original TAM framework to a context by adding generalisable, pre-determined variables and moderators. The flaws of these models were their complexity and high number of pre-determined variables to measure that were not context related. For example, the TAM 2 was proposed with job-related additional variable; that is, variables specific to the use of compulsory technology in places of employment, such as job relevance, output quality, demonstrability and voluntariness. Other variables were specific to computer technology education, such as computer efficacy and anxiety. As a result, the TAM 2 has been criticised as being narrow, alongside other weaknesses including dependence on high levels of subjectivity and

ignorance of attitudinal variables (Arogundade et al., 2016). Further, the literature cites empirical inconsistencies in relationships between the direct paths in the TAM 2 (see Bagozzi, 2007; Bhattacherjee, 2001; Brown et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2003). The TAM 3 attributed particular value to social influences on perceived usefulness and intention, among others (Venkatesh & Bala, 2008). Prior to this, Shen et al. (2006) observed that social influence is not an antecedent to perceived ease of use and usefulness. Further, individuals with chronic health issues, notably 'self-inflicted' health problems, are especially reticent to share treatment details with peers (Nilsen, 2010). Noting this, Khatun et al. (2017) observed that social influence has no significant influence on health technology adoption. This supports the notion that any additional variable to the TAM should be context specific (Davis et al., 1989). The relevance of antecedents changes over time with products and consumers (Chen et al., 2002). The Health Information Technology Acceptance Model has had some success in predicting mHealth adoption (Elsafty et al., 2020); however, Kim and Park (2012)—the researchers who developed the model-noted a lack of consistency in the theoretical relationships. Based on this model, Sun et al. (2013) developed the Unified Model of Health Technology Acceptance, hoping that it would be a more suitable model for predicting health technology adoption. The creators refined it to be more closely aligned with the TAM in terms of simplicity and suggested that the determining factors in consumers' adoption of mobile health services are 1) performance expectancy, 2) social influence 3) facilitating conditions, 4) effort expectancy and 5) health. Their results revealed that performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence and facilitating conditions influence adoption intention, whereas health and health-threat appraisals did not have a significant influence, suggesting the model is not effective in predicting mHealth adoption. Further, Ali et al. (2019) found the Unified Model of Health Technology Acceptance to be no more effective than the Health Information Technology Acceptance Model (Kim & Park, 2012) in predicting mHealth app adoption. These findings render the Unified Model of Health Technology Acceptance no more effective than other models. The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology also attempted to refine such extensive models (Venkatesh et al., 2003a). However, it proved unsuitable for predicting mHealth app adoption both in the past and, more recently, regarding mental wellbeing apps during the COVID-19 pandemic (Alam et al., 2021; see Table 2.1).

Theory	Constructs
Technology Acceptance Model (TAM): An information systems theory that elicits how people accept and use technology (Davis et al., 1989).	External variables; perceived ease of use; perceived usefulness; attitude towards using; behavioural intention to use; and actual system use.
Uses and Gratifications Theory: A theoretical approach to understanding specifically how and why people seek certain media to satisfy certain needs (Blumler & Kaatz, 1974).	Media attributes; context of use; use, needs; and gratification.
Diffusion of Innovations Theory: A hypothesis outlining the way new product innovations dominate existing products (Rogers, 1962).	Relative advantage; compatibility; complexity, trialability, observability; and adoption.
Information Systems Success Model: A theory that outlines success through relationships among six critical dimensions of information systems success (DeLone & McLean, 1992).	Information quality; system quality; service quality; actual use or intention to use; user satisfaction; and net benefits.
Theory of Reasoned Action: An explanation of relationships between attitudes and behaviours within human action (Fishbein, 1967).	Attitude towards act or behaviour; subjective norm; behavioural intention; and behaviour.
Theory of Planned Behaviour: An explanation of all behaviours over which people can exercise self-control and understand beliefs (Ajzen, 1991).	Attributes; subjective norms, perceived behavioural control; intention; and behaviour.
Health Belief Model: A social psychological health behaviour change model that explains and predicts health behaviours (Rosenstock, 1974).	Modifying variables; perceived seriousness; perceived susceptibility; perceived benefits v. perceived barriers; perceived threat; self- efficacy; cues to action; and likelihood of engaging in health-promoting behaviour.
Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology: A TAM iteration that explains intention to use an information system and subsequent usage behaviour (Venkatesh et al., 2003a).	Performance expectancy; effort expectancy; social influence; facilitating conditions; gender; age; experience; voluntariness of use; behavioural intention; and use behaviour.
TAM 2: An extended TAM that incorporates external social factors that influence intention (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000).	Subjective norm; image; job relevance; output quality; result demonstrability; experience; voluntariness; perceived usefulness; perceived

Table 2.1: Competing Theories of Technology Acceptance

Theory	Constructs
	ease of use; intention to use; and usage behaviour.
TAM 3: An extension of the TAM 2 that incorporates the effects of trust and perceptions around risk on usability (Venkatesh & Bala, 2008).	Subjective norm; image; job relevance; output quality; result demonstrability; computer self- efficacy; perceptions of external control; computer anxiety; computer playfulness; perceived enjoyment; objective quality; experience; voluntariness; perceived usefulness; perceived ease of use; intention to use; and usage behaviour.
Health Information Technology Acceptance Model: A theory of health technology acceptance that incorporates the Health Belief Model, TAM and Theory of Planned Behaviour (Kim & Park, 2012).	Health status; health beliefs and concerns; subjective norm; HIT reliability; HIT self-efficacy; perceived threat; perceived usefulness; perceived ease of use; attitude; behavioural intention and behaviour.

Despite the above reviewed TAM iterations, the original TAM remains the most popular model (Mugo et al., 2017; Tamilmani et al., 2020) because of its flexibility in terms of context and simplicity (Ajibade, 2018). See Figure 2.1 for a view of the reviewed models. Despite its advantages, the TAM does not reflect the nature of product adoption across all contexts (Min et al., 2019). Rahimi and Jetter (2015) argued that the TAM can be enhanced via inclusion of consumer characteristics in mHealth. This led many authors to successfully increase its predictive power by revising the theory to include additional variables such as value and reliability perceptions (Anderson et al., 2016; Rai et al., 2013; Venkatesh et al., 2016). No single model of health behaviour change or technology adoption has been accepted by all researchers, but many new models use the TAM as their base, noting that the TAM constructs—perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude and intention—are reliable predictors of adoption (Altmann & Gries, 2017), particularly when supported by antecedents that are contextually relevant (Chen et al., 2002). While it may be beyond one single theory or model to predict all the factors that influence adoption, the TAM appears more suitable than other competing theories for adapting user and technology characteristics. Hence, the original TAM is used in this thesis. The following section outlines important constructs of the original TAM, namely perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude and adoption intention.





Figure 2.1: Competing Theories of Technology Acceptance—Models

2.4 Technology Acceptance Model Constructs

2.4.1 Perceived Usefulness

Perceived usefulness is referred to as 'the degree to which a person believes using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance' (Davis et al., 1989, p. 320). Over time, perceived usefulness has been extended into different areas of technology adoption research (Venkatesh et al., 2016), predicting both attitude and evaluation of technology innovations (Holden & Karsh, 2010). Perceived usefulness has been established as one of the strongest predictors of use intention (Kijsanayotin et al., 2009; Lakhal et al., 2013; Sumak & Polancic, 2010). In the context of mHealth apps, perceived usefulness is the belief that the mHealth app can help users to amend their behaviour and cease, or at least control it (Venkatesh, 2000). Perceived usefulness is known for its ability to predict behavioural intentions regarding mHealth apps (Cajita et al., 2017; Foster, 2018; Kwon et al., 2017; Manda & Msosa, 2011; Palos-Sanchez et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2011). Its predictive ability is strongest in mHealth research when partnered with perceived ease of use (Deng et al., 2018).

2.4.2 Perceived Ease of Use

Despite a high level of usefulness, consumers may still feel that the technology is not sufficiently user friendly, and this feeling reduces the perceived potential benefits (Ibidunmoye, 2018) reducing likelihood of adoption. Hence, perceived ease of use—that is, the observed extent of effort required to use a technology where lower levels of effort lead to higher readiness to accept—accompanies perceived usefulness (Davis et al., 1989).

Perceived ease of use was originally used to research how professionals adopt technology systems in the workplace (Venkatesh, 2000). In this thesis, it is the degree to which the user believes an mHealth app is user friendly. As with perceived usefulness, in technology adoption research, perceived ease of use generally has a significant influence on technology adoption intention (see Davis, 1989; Kijsanayotin et al., 2009), including apps (Dovaliene et al., 2016). Given conflicting opinions with respect to this, there is an opportunity to empirically test this construct in the mHealth domain. Perceived ease of use is a common concept used in the study of mHealth adoption (Dam et al., 2018). It is known to determine perceived usefulness and attitude (Palos-Sanchez et al., 2021) as well as intention across mHealth app types and contexts (Anderson et al., 2016; Cajita et al., 2017; Hung & Jen, 2012). Hence, it is important to include perceived ease of use when investigating adoption of mHealth apps, to ensure conceptual consistency and validating findings. In the TAM, perceived ease of use has a direct influence on attitude.

2.4.3 Attitude

Attitude towards technology is simply the intended users' positive or negative feelings towards the technology and its purpose (Au & Enderwick, 2000). For instance, users with positive attitudes regard the technology highly and assume positive outcomes from its use (Ardies et al., 2015). Research on mobile apps has consistently found that user attitude towards apps influences adoption intention across apps broadly (Chawla & Joshi, 2019; de Luna et al., 2019; Kuo et al., 2019; Liu & Zhang, 2019; Saroia & Gao, 2019). In the context of mHealth apps, Kwon et al. (2017) found that attitude towards an app predicted adoption intention among young adults. Hung and Jen (2012) extended Kwon et al.'s (2017) findings for middle-aged adults, and Deng et al. (2014) found that attitude's predictive ability was consistent for middle-aged and older groups. Other studies confirmed the influence of attitude on behavioural intention towards mHealth (Alam et al., 2020; Schuster et al., 2015). However, Vervier et al. (2019) and Powell et al. (2014) argued that user attitude towards mHealth apps is not sufficiently studied and our understanding of adoption of mHealth apps through attitude is ambiguous. Therefore, this thesis provides an opportunity to investigate the influence of attitude in an empirical mHealth setting. In the TAM, attitude has a direct influence of adoption intention towards the technology.

2.4.4 Adoption Intention

Adoption intention is the user's readiness to perform a particular behaviour (Davis, 1989), where a higher intention indicates higher likelihood of the actual behaviour being performed (Ajzen, 1991). This is a suitable definition for intention in mHealth app adoption research. However, intention has had many definitions in technology adoption research, such as post-adoption engagement (i.e., information exchange after purchase; Crane et al., 2017), continued usage (i.e., retention and engagement after purchase; Vaghefi & Tulu, 2019), trialling (i.e., short-term probationary usage; Lin & Bautista, 2017) and participation (i.e., interaction with a range of content; Leahey & Rosen, 2014). Intention towards mHealth apps is generally influenced by general app usage habits formed after other apps have been adopted (Gupta et al., 2018; Semiz & Semiz, 2021). Although app involvement is an important factor in this thesis and is introduced in Section 2.5.1, app usage habits fall outside the scope of this thesis.

For definitions of TAM constructs, see Table 2.2. Next, Section 2.5 identifies other factors that may contribute to mHealth app adoption.

Construct	Definition
Perceived usefulness	'The degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance' (Davis, 1989, p. 320). Perceived usefulness is a major player in technology adoption theories.
Perceived ease of use	Perceived ease of use of technology is the degree to which a user believes that using the technology would reduce or remove any effort (Davis, 1989).
Attitude	Attitude is simply the intended users' positive or negative feelings towards the technology and its purpose (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975).
Adoption intention	A measure of the strength of one's intention to adopt technology (Davis et al., 1989) whereby intention correlates with adoption likeliness (Ajzen, 1991).

2.5 Other Factors Contributing to mHealth App Adoption

Since research into adoption of mobile apps began in the mid-2000s, substantial research effort has gone into identifying the potentially numerous user, social, technological and

environmental factors that drive adoption by consumers. Subjective norm, for example, is an influential social factor that was adapted into many adoption theories (Kim & Park, 2012) (i.e., TBP and TAM2). Branding (Byun et al. 2018) and technological conditions (Kamal et al., 2020) are some other influential environmental and technological factors. However, no single theory or model can capture all factors, so individual studies are typically bound to handful of related factors. For example, studies have highlighted the characteristics of users, including behaviour (Atkinson, 2013; Ho, 2012), innate qualities (Sripalawat et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2006), habits (Wu et al., 2022a) and intrinsic motivation (Cocosila & Archer, 2009; van der Heijden, 2004). These non-technological drivers of mHealth adoption are important to research (Schuster & Parkinson, 2022). Other studies have focussed on technological features of mobile apps such as visual orientation and device type (Bruner & Kumar, 2005; Karaiskos et al., 2012), and facilitating factors of compatibility and service quality (Mallat et al., 2008; Tan & Chou, 2008). Stocchi et al. (2019) reviewed studies that explored the antecedents of app adoption and highlighted two types of antecedents: user and technology characteristics. User characteristics are the self-identified qualities of the app user, whereas technology characteristics are the attributes of technology that the consumers seek. Adapting these two types of antecedents to the TAM to identify their influence on perceived usefulness and ease of use-with flow-on effects to attitude intention-presents an opportunity for novel mHealth app adoption research (Abdullah et al., 2016). Hence, this thesis employs a series of user and technology characterises as antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness and does not use other characteristics, such as social or environmental, to make novel findings. The literature provides insights into what these variables may be. Gao et al. (2013) supported the distinction that perceived ease of use is predicted by user traits, such as trust. Vaghefi and Tulu (2019) noted that perceived usefulness is better predicted by technology characteristics such as aesthetics. These insights acknowledge the user and technologyoriented underpinnings of perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. Further, this thesis understands that significant and novel user and technology characteristics positioned as antecedents can overcome the limitations of the TAM by adapting it to research. Relevant literature on these two themes is covered in Sections 2.5.1 and 2.5.2. Two later sections introduce two additional contributing factors: health status severity and product platform preference (Sections 2.5.3 and 2.5.4).

2.5.1 User Characteristics

The first of the two themes is user characteristics. That is, the characteristics or attributes of the app user and how these operate as adoption drivers. The literature notes gaps in our understanding around these user characteristics—subjective knowledge, involvement, trust, personalisation and perceived convenience—as antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness.

Subjective Knowledge

Subjective knowledge is simply what we think we know; it is a biased measure rather than an objective test of knowledge (Markus & Wurf, 1987). Further, subjective knowledge has a stronger effect on behaviour than does objective knowledge (Packard & Wooten, 2013) and is a key driver of product adoption (Dessi et al., 2022). The Diffusion of Innovations Theory posits that adoption of innovation depends as much on consumer knowledge as it does on attitude (Rogers, 2003). Subjective knowledge has been addressed in technology adoption studies both inside and outside smartphone research. For instance, studies have confirmed that subjective knowledge influences consumer adoption of health food (Huijts et al., 2012; Wulan et al., 2020), moderates the link between social media usage and online wine buying (Pucci et al., 2019) and influences the adoption of green technology (Piselli et al., 2021). Though offering valuable empirical evidence, these studies were limited with respect to health technology and apps. Importantly, since many of these studies were developed based on the Diffusion of Innovations Theory, they did not use subjective knowledge as an antecedent; rather as a direct contributor to usage. Exceptions were Tan et al. (2022), who found that subjective knowledge influences the perceived ease of use and usefulness of autonomous cars; and Aji et al. (2020) who found that in the context of e-money, subjective knowledge influences perceived ease of use and usefulness. However, their focus was not on consumers' perception and understanding of the technology platform; rather on the banking regulations in the cultural context. Subjective knowledge has also been investigated for its influence on acceptance of mobile platforms.

Jan et al. (2019) examined smartphone advertising and identified a direct link between subjective knowledge and attitude towards the advertisements. Additionally, limited studies

(see Chen & Chang, 2013; Keramati et al., 2012; Koenig-Lewis et al., 2015) have investigated the role of subjective knowledge in the adoption of mobile payment technology. These studies found that subjective knowledge improves intention and usage rates. Moreover, they employed variations of the TAM that did not examine subjective knowledge as an antecedent. For instance, the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology and the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 2 are based on iterations of the TAM and have reframed knowledge as experience where it is situated not as an antecedent of perceived ease of use and usefulness but instead as a moderator of their relationships with intention (Venkatesh et al., 2003a, 2012). In the context of health, no studies utilising TAM, or iterations of it, have incorporated experience or knowledge as antecedents (Kim & Park, 2012). The absence of subjective knowledge measures in mHealth adoption research and health technology adoption research broadly represents a gap in the literature. Subjective knowledge and involvement are 'linked' constructs and are well established in the consumer behaviour literature as influencing product and service evaluations, and purchase decisions (Cilingir & Basfirinci, 2014; Lee & Lee, 2009). Involvement is an additional consumer factor that is relevant to perceived ease of use and usefulness (Dou et al., 2017). Subjective knowledge and involvement tend to overlap and have been treated as a joint variable in some studies (Bloch, 1986; Flynn & Goldsmith, 1993). As such, this variable is explained in this chapter in regard to its relevance.

Involvement

Involvement is a consumer's behaviour with a product; how they identify personally with a product, and their buying and usage behaviours (Michaelidou & Dibb, 2008). Involvement is linked to a consumer's motivational state (Mort & Drennan, 2007) and is derived from their perceived importance of a stimulus (Mittal, 1995). In the context of technology, involvement is users' overall participation in the technology (Ives & Olson, 1984). The Diffusion of Innovations Theory highlights how involvement with a given technology increases the adoption intention of similar technologies (Rogers, 2003). Early studies measured involvement with technology by monitoring hours spent using the technology (Kraut et al., 1998; Phillips et al., 1995; Stanger & Jamieson, 1998). However, the proliferation of personal technology devices such as music players in the 2000s pushed researchers to measure involvement with technology using new methods. In the case of smartphones, researchers
have measured involvement using subjective scales such as interest and dependence, as well as objective measures including frequency of use (Rivera et al., 2015). The difficulty of using objective measures of frequency and duration of use is that subjects need experience with the technology and must be constantly observed (Rivera et al., 2015). New and innovative technology with low market penetration that is designed for personal and discrete use would not be suitable for this approach. In line with this reasoning, research can focus on involvement, rather than experience with technology, as a reflection of practice and perceived competency, which is known to underpin adoption of mobile phone services (Mort & Drennan, 2007). In other contexts, involvement as an antecedent of perceived ease of use and usefulness is examined in categories of smart clothing with embedded technology (Chae, 2010) and employee systems (Turan et al., 2015). Concerns around data security are a common barrier for mHealth, yet Zakerabasali et al. (2021) showed that involvement with mHealth overcomes this barrier and even increases willingness to share data. No studies have examined the role of involvement as a driver of mHealth adoption.

Another subjective perception with relevance to consumer adoption behaviour is trust. Involvement with a particular technology platform increases consumer trust in the platform (Al-Kubaisi & Abu-Shanab, 2021). Consumer trust is known to influence adoption of gambling treatment (Rodda, 2014) and mHealth (Deng et al., 2015, 2018). Indeed, insights from marketing research around trust may cast some light on how trust influences perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps.

Trust

Trust is an important factor for attracting new consumers, but also for maintaining loyalty (Kim et al., 2008). Studies have shown that trust has a more critical effect on consumers in mobile than in internet contexts (Cho et al., 2007). Trust is the subjective belief that a party will fulfil obligations according to the expectations of others (Lu et al., 2011); for example, a user's trust in mobile apps to complete given tasks. Research has shown that trust affects behaviours of mobile technology users. Trust is a pivotal factor in consumer willingness to accept mobile advertising (Atkinson, 2013; Okazaki et al., 2007). Consumers use mobile advertising to meet information-seeking needs, so it is logical to account for consumer trust in other mobile information contexts (Papadopoulou et al., 2002). In mobile banking, for

example, trust determines adoption intention to a greater extent than does perceived ease of use and usefulness (Gu et al., 2009). The same can be said about data mining tools used for analysing sales and customer data for companies (Huang et al., 2012). Trust in food delivery apps increases adoption likelihood (Gani et al., 2021). Lu et al. (2011) posited that behaviour conducted on a mobile app is more vulnerable and uncertain than other settings and thus entails reduced trust from users. This is true for mHealth too.

mHealth can be associated with reduced trust as users must provide personal information (Mallat et al., 2008). Consequently, high levels of trust in mHealth increases intention to use (Schomakers et al., 2022). Deng et al. (2015) found that higher levels of intention to use mHealth services and health information through smartphones are dependent on consumer trust. Deng et al. (2018) found that trust predicts intention to adopt mHealth directly another example of the Diffusion of Innovations approach to app adoption. In contrast, according to Ortega Egea and Román González (2011), trust influences perceived ease of use and usefulness, and attitude towards physicians' adoption of digital patient records, but they overlooked patient perceptions and behaviours. Trust has been shown to influence perceived ease of use and usefulness of mobile health services for people seeking apps to support their caring responsibilities (Rajak & Shaw, 2021). The level of trust of people with an addiction is overlooked and has not been used as an antecedent to perceived ease of use and usefulness. For gamblers, treatment is tethered to anonymity and confidentiality, making trust in the treatment a key factor (Rodda, 2014). Additionally, trust directly influences adoption of mHealth information services for general health and wellbeing (Deng et al., 2015). Consumer trust is known to influence gamblers' adoption of treatment (Rodda, 2014). Hence, it is likely that trust has relevance in the space of quit gambling technology. There is scope for further research into how trust underpins perceived usefulness and ease of use of mHealth apps. Beyond trust, another user characteristic that is relevant to mHealth behaviour is need for personalisation (Car et al., 2017; Shan et al., 2019).

Personalisation

Personalisation is providing 'individual customers with tailored products and services based on an understanding of their interests and preferences' (Wang et al., 2006, p. 147). Personalisation increases adoption of mobile marketing (Merisavo et al., 2006, 2007) and purchase intention (Wang & Li, 2012) via strengthening consumer trust (Li & Yeh, 2010; Venkatesh et al., 2003b). A personalised mobile user interface influences app performance (Clarke, 2001; Lee & Park, 2006; Tsalgatidou & Pitoura, 2001). In the context of health services, it is believed that personalisation can change health behaviour. For example, personalised information supports healthy behavioural changes, such as weight loss (Schubart et al., 2011). Personalisation of mHealth app content has been shown to increase adherence to treatment programs (Jakob et al., 2021). Recent studies have shown that personalisation of mHealth services for diabetes management increases patient usage (Shan et al., 2019) and improves patient adherence in medication management (Car et al., 2017). Moreover, users of a brain injury recovery app and their therapists expressed a desire for personalisation to improve app performance (Kettlewell et al., 2018). Similarly, users of mHealth tobacco cessation services apps as well as cardiovascular disease management apps referred to personalisation as a key factor to improve app performance (Abroms et al., 2013; Hors-Fraile et al., 2018) and usage (Coorey et al., 2018; Neubeck et al., 2015). mHealth apps and services that focus on an individual's health behaviour through personalisation of content and interaction have been shown to have positive health effects (Mhurchu et al., 2019). Despite these findings, there have been recent calls for more studies on the personalisation of mHealth, particularly with respect to direct messaging, social support and app content (Shan et al., 2019). More importantly, studies have not examined how personalisation underpins perceived usefulness and ease of use, leaving an important gap in the literature. Another variable relevant to engagement with apps is perceived convenience (Lee et al., 2017). However, this has not been considered for its role in perceived ease of use and usefulness. As such, this variable is explained for its relevance in this chapter.

Perceived Convenience

Brown (1990) defined convenience as the time and effort that a consumer expels in purchasing a product, rather than being related to characteristics. Hence, the perception of convenience, of an app in this case, is driven by the views and judgement of the user. It has been established that perceived product convenience increases product adoption (Chen & Li, 2021). Specifically with technology, convenience is a major player in the appeal of technology, particularly in multipurpose technologies such as the use of smartphones (de Kerviler et al., 2016; Ozturk et al., 2016) and other smart technology (Al-Husamiyah & Al-Bashayreh, 2022).

Studies in mobile banking have shown that convenience is one of the key drivers for consumers to adopt new technology (Eastin, 2002; Jayawardhena & Foley, 2000; Sohail & Shanmugham, 2003; Tan & Teo, 2000) and is the major determinant of using in-store mobile payment (de Kerviler et al., 2016; Teo et al., 2015) and mobile platforms for hotel bookings (Ozturk et al., 2016). Convenience is also one the driving factors of mobile shopping through browsers and apps (Ahuja & Khazanchi, 2016; Mahapatra, 2017). Many other authors have confirmed the influence of convenience on app usage intention (Dovaliene et al., 2016; Kim & Baek, 2018).

To date, few studies have investigated the role of convenience in mHealth adoption. For example, studies have confirmed that convenience has significant predictive ability for mHealth app usage intention (Lee et al., 2017) and adoption (di San Pietro et al., 2019). These studies used the Diffusion of Innovations Theory approach whereby the direct impact on adoption by convenience was measured. Moreover, convenience has been confirmed as a motivator of usage of heart failure recovery apps (Foster, 2018) and apps for post-operative chemotherapy treatment management (Jacob et al., 2019). Despite their contributions, these studies did not examine the influence of convenience on perceived usefulness and ease of use of mHealth apps, thereby leaving an important gap in the literature.

As discussed earlier in the chapter, in addition to user characteristics, technology characteristics are relevant when examining drivers of technology adoption. The next section discusses the following technology characteristics: gamification and aesthetics.

2.5.2 Technology Characteristics

Gamification

Gamification entails game-like behaviours that would enhance consumer experience and entertainment when consuming or using a product (Jin, 2016). The purpose of gamification of technology market research is to increase usage intention (Anoop et al., 2022). Websites and apps that host game-like designs exploit the popularity and rise of gaming and humanistic desires to play (Jin, 2013; Kapp, 2012; Swan, 2012). As a result, gamification is emerging beyond gaming, into other platforms and contexts, including mHealth (Miller et al., 2016) and educational technology (Kayımbaşıoğlu et al., 2016). For these platforms, gamification is important for reducing attrition (Gunnars et al., 2021). Gamification improves learning experiences (Wan et al., 2021). It achieves this by combining cognitive stimulation and microrewards through stories to create step-by-step learning (Jin, 2016), making technology and its surrounding environment more interesting (Swan, 2012; Xu, 2012). In the context of mobile apps, marketers incorporate strategies such as giving badges, passing levels and animated learning, as entertainment (Zichermann & Cunningham, 2011). Gamification is important to mHealth to move tasks of health maintenance into an engaging space. This engagement factor enables mHealth apps to produce better results during quit attempts (Herbec et al., 2021). Bezabih et al. (2021) suggested that high usage drop-off occurs because mHealth apps are under-gamified. Gamification improves user engagement with mHealth (Jin, 2016; Lister et al., 2014; Tonkin et al., 2019; Vaghefi & Tulu, 2019). Research findings also support the benefits of health behaviour change through gamification (Fleming et al., 2017). Schmidt-Kraepelin et al. (2019) found a positive relationship between the extent of gamification of mHealth apps and favourability of user ratings in app stores. Further, the apps that were successful—represented by higher download rates—were consistently gamified compared with the non-gamified, less popular apps (Schmidt-Kraepelin et al., 2019). This demonstrates the importance of gamification in mHealth. Despite these findings, Shan et al. (2019) stated that gamification research in mHealth is underrepresented. More importantly, no research has considered whether perceptions of gamification encourage intention to adopt mHealth apps or how this underlines perceived ease of use and usefulness. Hofacker et al. (2016) and Charles and McDonough (2014) found that favourable aesthetics as a component of gamification play an important role in engagement with both mobile platforms and health technology, which leads to the other technology characteristic, aesthetics.

Aesthetics

The visual experience of technology can affect its use. Research has demonstrated the significance of aesthetics in engagement with the online environment (Varnali & Toker, 2010) and creating positive consumer experiences (Geng & Guo, 2022; Mara & Meyer, 2022). Aesthetics can be seen as the subjective judgement of app attractiveness (Bhandari et al., 2015). Aesthetics has proven to influence satisfaction with technology usage. For example, Kuroso and Kashimura (1995) found that the layout of content on an ATM screen affected consumer satisfaction and perceived ease of use. Moreover, Karvonen (2000) confirmed a

relationship between aesthetics and e-trust of websites. For online shopping, research has shown that the visual experience of a platform affects the likelihood of customers staying on the website and shopping (Jiang & Benbasat, 2003; Rosen & Purinton, 2004). Aesthetics is also considered vital to user experiences of mobile devices (Tarasewich, 2003). The Mobile App Rating Scale (Stoyanov et al., 2015)—the tool most commonly used by researchers to assess mHealth app quality (Wu et al., 2022b)—positions aesthetics as a key factor. In mobile commerce, Cyr et al. (2006) found that aesthetics has a significant effect on perceived usefulness, ease of use and enjoyment. In the context of mobile apps, studies have revealed the direct influence of aesthetics on app adoption (Li & Yeh, 2010) and usage (Kim et al., 2013; Li & Yeh, 2010; Stocchi et al., 2019). In the case of mHealth apps, Anderson et al. (2016) found that visual appearance affects app usage. Moreover, Vaghefi and Tulu's (2019) focus group examination revealed a preference for simple displays: image- and text-heavy screens made it difficult to navigate through apps. The result was dissatisfaction and disengagement. Jacob et al. (2019) found that poor aesthetics, described by a user as 'on screen clutter', negatively influenced how cancer patients managed chemotherapy treatment through an app. Participant concerns here are echoed by the reduction principle, which argues that complex behaviour needs to be reduced to multiple simple steps for improved performance (Oinas-Kukkonen & Harjumaa, 2009). Findings from other focus group studies show that aesthetics is seen as a determinant of mHealth perceived ease of use and usefulness, and even determine intention (Lazard et al., 2021). Despite these studies, there has been a scarcity of empirical studies considering the role of aesthetics in underpinning perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps.

As a succinct review of these constructs, definitions are listed in Table 2.3.

Construct	Definition				
Subjective knowledge	Subjective knowledge is simply what we think we know; it is a biased self-assessed judgement made by the consumer as opposed to the outcome of an objective test of knowledge (Markus & Wurf, 1987). In this thesis, it is consumers' subjective knowledge of apps; how competent they believe themselves to be in using and understanding apps.				

Table 2.3: Constructs and Definitions

Involvement	Consumer involvement is the extent to which a consumer identifies with a product or service, their consumer patterns and broader consumer behaviours around how they engage (Michaelidou & Dibb, 2008); in this case, involvement with apps, not experience with technology generally.			
Trust	Trust is the willingness to be vulnerable based on a positive expectation towards another party's future behaviour (Mayer et al., 1995); a party can be a product (Lu et al., 2011), such as an app. This thesis considers consumer trust towards apps to fulfil expectations while simultaneously preserving users' privacy and protection (Deng et al., 2015).			
Need for personalisation	Personalisation is providing 'individual customers with tailored products and services based on an understanding of their interests and preferences' (Wang et al., 2006, p. 147). A gambler's need for apps to deliver bespoke design and content is the focus here.			
Perceived convenience	'The degree to which a consumer perceives that mobile app technology provides instantaneous and timely benefits' is perceived convenience (Kleijnen et al., 2007, p. 36). The convenience of apps is compared with the alternatives of using older technology platforms or traditional methods to undertake a task.			
Gamification	Gamification entails game-like behaviours that would enhance consumer experience and entertainment when consuming or using a product, particularly digital technologies (Jin, 2016). The preference for gamification of mHealth gambling apps is addressed in this thesis.			
Aesthetics	Aesthetics is the visual appearance, including graphics, colours, layou and design elements of apps (Hoehle & Venkatesh, 2015). Different aesthetics were presented in the qualitative data collection phase, ar gamblers' view of the importance of the aesthetics was the focus of t quantitative phase of this thesis.			

mHealth research has shown that there can be an interference effect of the health status of the user on the relationship between adoption intention and attitude (see Deng et al., 2018).

2.5.3 Health Status Severity

Health status severity is the assumed probability of harm caused by the condition (Rogers, 1975). Westaway et al. (2003) found that health status severity can contribute to the perceptions of consumers regarding health products and services. They showed that the severity of both physical and psychological health moderates the relationship between satisfaction and ratings—greater severity increases satisfaction. In contrast, Cohen (1996) found an opposite moderating effect between patient physical pain and psychological health. Addressing these contradicting findings is possible through the notions of Protection

Motivation Theory, which suggests that health behaviours are induced first by perceived health threats—both the probability and severity of the threat—and second by coping strategies and tools (Rogers, 1975). Both high perceived vulnerability and severity lead to adoption of health technology (Rogers, 1975). The perceived threat of COVID-19 has a direct influence on intention towards tracing apps (Geber & Friemel, 2022) measured not as a moderator but as a direct contributor. In their medical research, Wang et al. (2020) found that perceived threat from a health condition inflated the intention to use health products. To date, the few studies considering the possible influence of health status severity on mHealth app adoption have reported conflicting evidence around the moderating effect of health status severity between attitude and adoption intention (see Deng et al., 2018; Sun et al., 2013). That is, Deng et al. (2015) found that severity of health status moderates relationships around intention to seek and use mHealth. The authors argued that an individual with a serious illness, encouraged by new optimism, tends to use a greater range of platforms to find information and resources with a greater likelihood of adoption than people with lesser health concerns. The suggestion is that the greater the severity, the greater the use and adoption of new platforms and information (Deng et al., 2015). However, these authors did not include attitude in their model, and mHealth information services for general wellbeingnot apps—were investigated. Deng et al. (2018) later investigated mHealth apps and found that more serious subjective health concerns moderated attitude and adoption intention. Sun et al. (2013) found that perceived vulnerability towards the health condition positively moderated the relationship between attitude and intention of mHealth, whereas the level of severity of the health condition had no effect. However, Sun et al. (2013) and Deng et al. (2018) employed self-perceptions of health condition level, rather than an independent measurement or a valid diagnosis. This may explain the contradictions between studies.

The next section of the review considers consumer preference, specifically product consumption preference, noting the absence of literature around how this can affect technology adoption.

2.5.4 Product Platform Preference

For some types of addictive behaviour where an mHealth app may provide value, such as problem gambling, there are various means of engaging in the activity. For example, a person

can gamble online or in a pub or casino, or by attending a horse race. This can also be true of other addictions with both a 'real world' and digital platform, such as shopping addiction (Wang et al., 2022) and thrill seeking (Steinmetz, 2015). It may be the case that people who use apps to gamble or consume other products and services may be predisposed to adopting apps for treatment uses. Hence, it is appropriate to consider an individual's preferred method of engaging in the potentially unwanted behaviour to consider any effects that these personal preferences may have on mHealth app adoption. For problem gambling specifically, it is known that experience with technology, in particular smartphones and apps, facilitates the transition from analogue gambling consumption to digital gambling (James et al., 2017) and that gambling via apps is the most popular form of gambling (James et al., 2019). However, it is currently unknown whether a preference for digital gambling leads to an app adoption process as distinct to a preference for analogue gambling. This missing research area represents a significant gap in our understanding.

Reviews that consider treatment for digital addictions, such as internet gaming (Kuss & Griffiths, 2012) and internet addiction (Kuss & López-Fernandez, 2016), have shown that researchers focus heavily on the adoption process of clinical and psychological interventions, rather than digital interventions or tools. This leaves a gap in the literature with respect to the adoption process of digital interventions such as mHealth apps.

2.6 Summary of Significant Gaps in the Literature

Decades of research has gone into understanding how people accept and use technology (see Childers et al., 2001; Mathieson, 1991; Schierz et al., 2010; Shemesh & Barnoy, 2020). Despite this, this review has shown that there is a preference for measuring how factors directly influence use; whereas other key factors are omitted. This has led to an absence of literature on how drivers of technology adoption underpin perceived ease of use and usefulness with respect to mHealth app adoption. Specifically, there are substantial gaps in our current understanding of critical drivers in the adoption of mHealth apps to help people manage and control addictive behaviours. Further, the TAM has been inadequately remodelled by scholars to understand adoption of healthcare apps through this dominant model. However, Walker (2017) noted a broad underperformance of healthcare apps because of the absence of research on mHealth app adoption drivers. The following paragraphs summarise the identified gaps in the literature that drive the underlying arguments of this thesis.

The literature provides evidence of some influence of user and technology characteristics on consumer behaviours; however, this review has shown that these characteristics as antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness are overlooked in mHealth research. Considering each variable individually highlights more clearly the gaps in the literature. Subjective knowledge has been adapted by various iterations of the TAM; however, these models tend to frame knowledge as an experiential factor. Further, subjective knowledge is not positioned as an antecedent in these models and has not been used in app adoption research. Consumer product involvement has been used in only a few studies outside mHealth as an antecedent of perceived ease of use and usefulness (see Chae, 2010; Turan et al., 2015). Trust is known to influence adoption of mobile content (Walker, 2017) and mHealth services and products, but not apps (Deng et al., 2015, 2018) and has not been positioned as an antecedent variable to perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. Personalisation increases engagement with health services (Car et al., 2017; Shan et al., 2019) but is underrepresented in mHealth app research (Shan et al., 2019) and has not been shown to underpin perceived ease of use and usefulness. Perceived convenience of apps has been known to influence mHealth app intention and usage directly (Jacob et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2017); however, no studies have considered how it underpins perceived ease of use and usefulness. Similarly, gamification of healthcare apps influences behaviours (Tonkin et al., 2019), but has been inadequately studied (Sardi et al., 2017; Shan et al., 2019), and its effects on perceived ease of use and usefulness are unknown. There is a scarcity of studies considering the role of aesthetics in mHealth apps (Kumar et al., 2018). This summary shows that it is unknown whether these antecedents affect perceived ease of use and usefulness.

The next gap is regarding the moderating influence of health status severity on intention. This relationship shows contradictory findings in the literature (see Cohen, 1996; Westaway et al., 2003; Williams & Calnan, 1991) that are not resolved by more recent research based on mHealth (see Deng et al., 2015, 2018; Dou et al., 2017). Additionally, intention was either omitted or used inconsistently in these studies, and authors used self-diagnoses instead of clinical measurements of health conditions. The gap that this thesis investigates is the

moderating effect of health status severity on the relationship between attitude and adoption intention.

The review also introduced consumer preferences as influencing mHealth adoption. This is because research has focussed heavily on the transition to digital gambling (James et al., 2017) but not the transition to digital intervention, which has been overlooked by health researchers (Kuss & López-Fernandez, 2016). This review has revealed empirical evidence addressing aspects of these variables, yet there are gaps that remain.

2.7 Towards a Conceptual Model

The gaps identified in this literature review provide the foundation for a conceptual model of mHealth app adoption. Specifically, the insights gained can formalise relationships between a series of user and technology characteristics presented as antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. The gaps are used to inform the hypotheses which are outlined in the next chapter to elucidate the expected outcomes of the model paths. Further, contextual variables that are relevant—specifically health status severity and product platform—represent unexplored potential. The review findings also justify the TAM as the foundation for an extended model (see Chapter Three) that includes these previously unexplored antecedents and relationships.

2.8 Chapter Summary

Chapter Two summarised relevant literature on technology adoption to present an argument for gaps around how antecedents influence mHealth app adoption. The chapter also suggests a possible moderation between attitude and intention via health status severity. The review demonstrates that these antecedents can have a profound influence and concurrently are underexplored in mHealth research. The review of the literature highlighted the influence of these variables on technology and app adoption—and in some cases mHealth adoption—but overall demonstrated discrepancies and empirical controversies that require further investigation. The review introduced the TAM constructs before identifying other important factors that contribute to mHealth app adoption. Moreover, it revealed a lack of literature considering the antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness, as most studies treated the characteristics as direct determinants of intention and specific usage behaviours. Importantly, through a comprehensive framework, this chapter outlined gaps of theoretical importance in the literature. Last, a justification for this thesis and exploration of context-specific variables was provided. Chapter Three discusses the conceptual model and details how the gaps found here in Chapter Two inform the hypotheses.

Chapter 3: Research Framework, Hypotheses and Design

3.1 Introduction

Chapter Two provided a thorough review of the relevant literature pertaining to technology adoption, particularly in the domain of mHealth apps. The review revealed several important gaps in knowledge specific to the influence of user and technology characteristics as drivers of mHealth app adoption. The mHealth app adoption literature is focussed on antecedents' direct influence on adoption and post-adoption behaviour (see di San Pietro et al., 2019; Foster, 2018; Schomakers et al., 2022)—similar to the Diffusion of Innovations approach to product acceptance (Rogers, 2003)—revealing gaps in current understanding of mHealth adoption related to the effects of consumer perceptions and technology attributes on perceived ease of use and usefulness. As previously outlined, one of the main limitations of the existing TAM is the current lack of understanding of specific antecedent variables (Stylios et al., 2022) as drivers of perceived ease of use and usefulness (Davis et al., 1989). Chapter Two also confirmed the current limitations of the original TAM in the context of modern technology, such as mHealth apps, which did not exist at the time the model was established (Elsafty et al., 2020). The review further highlighted the conflicting results in the literature with respect to the potential moderating effects of health status severity on the linkage between attitude and intention.

This chapter confirms the constructs to be tested via the development of a conceptual framework (see Figure 3.1 based on extending the existing TAM to investigate the gaps revealed in Chapter Two. This framework illustrates the hypothesised influences of previously untested potential antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness with flow-on effects on attitude and intentions and includes the expected moderating effect of health status severity. The chapter also presents an overview of the research design with justification of suitable data analyses and context for testing.

3.2 Research Framework and Hypotheses

Before describing the research design and methodology, it is important to outline the main theoretical aspects of the research, revisit the research question and formalise the hypotheses to be tested.

3.2.1 Drivers of Technology Adoption

The literature reveals several previously untested antecedents worthy of investigation with respect to their possible influence on perceived ease of use and usefulness in the original TAM for mHealth apps. These antecedents, described in Chapter Two are subjective knowledge and involvement, trust, perceived convenience and need for personalisation. Understanding how these antecedents underpin perceived ease of use and usefulness—two crucial factors of adoption (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000)—is valuable for mHealth app developers and marketers. Such insights can support app developers in creating app features that instil these antecedents in designs to ultimately increase app lifecycle and improve user health. Further, the health research findings discussed below provide evidence that elements and techniques derived from these antecedents improve ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. However, relationships have not been empirically tested to confirm these findings. To enhance positive user perceptions of ease of use and usefulness, marketers can suggest these antecedents through promotion to extend advertising reach. Again, there is some evidence of this from mHealth research, but empirical linkages have not been tested. For adoption theory, these untested variables represent significant gaps, particularly with regard to mHealth app research. Further, these constructs have been tested in other technology adoption studies; sometimes as antecedents. For example, for adoption of workplace technology (Turan et al., 2015) or as direct drivers of adoption including mobile advertising (Atkinson, 2013) but have not been tested as antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. Venkatesh and Davis (2000) support this stance by positing that there are determinants of perceived ease of use and usefulness, but these have not been empirically quantified, which allowed this thesis to adapt to the technology, sample and context. Hence, the research question here is as follows: What user characteristics and technology characteristics are likely to contribute to mHealth app adoption? The antecedents identified for testing were grouped into those related to users of mHealth apps and those

directly related to mHealth app technology (Stocchi et al., 2019). All antecedents were tested for their influences on the mediating constructs in the TAM of perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness. Each of the antecedents to be tested is briefly discussed in the next subsections, with reference to the relevant literature presented in Chapter Two.

User Characteristics

A health study by Bardus et al. (2020) suggested that users' subjective knowledge and involvement with an app is a factor in their judgement of how useful and easy to use is the app. They showed that mHealth apps designed for public users have less functionality than apps designed for medical experts, and are superior in terms of usefulness and usability as a result. These apps are designed for public users' knowledge and experience with apps rather than their health knowledge and experience; thus their app knowledge and involvement is linked with perceived usability and usefulness. Turan et al. (2015) theorised an atypical iteration of the TAM with involvement as an antecedent to perceived ease of use and usefulness but never empirically tested their model. Subjective knowledge and involvement are characteristically non-discriminant constructs because of their similar definitions and empirical measures (Bloch, 1986; Flynn & Goldsmith, 1993). Hence, the measures are logically grouped here and hypothesised as a single construct.

Trust in technology is known to influence intention to use mobile platforms directly (Gu et al., 2009), as well as mobile health services (Deng et al., 2015). However, how trust influences the adoption process through the TAM as an antecedent to perceived ease of use and usefulness, and the possible mediating effects of this formation on attitude, has not been tested. Trust is critical to attitude formation, which in turn stimulates consumer action (Butt et al., 2022). Like trust, need for personalisation has been tested for its direct influences on behaviour (see Shan et al., 2019).

The values of tailoring app content to the user are situated in making apps more usable and useful. Personalising app content, or even allowing users to create the content, can make mHealth apps appear simpler to use as users are navigating through familiar information (Tossell et al., 2012). Further, an app is considered more effective when a user can create their own personally relevant and achievable goal, rather than a goal set by another person

(Attwood et al., 2017). From these findings, it can be hypothesised that need for personalisation of mHealth apps underpins perceived ease of use and usefulness. The acceptance process through the TAM with personalisation operating as an antecedent in the 'external variable' position is untested.

Convenience of apps is known to influence both intention to adopt (Lee et al., 2017) and usage (Foster, 2018). This formation is similar to the Diffusion of Innovations Theory (Rogers, 1962) wherein relative advantage, a construct defined largely by convenience (Shaw et al., 2022), is measured for its direct influence on adoption. Health research has shown that apps that require a lot of steps to use are considered inconvenient (see Chen et al., 2019) while mHealth apps that automate processes are considered more user friendly (see Evans, 2017). From this it can be assumed that the convenience of mHealth apps contributes to perceptions of their ease of use. However, how convenience contributes to the technology adoption process through perceived ease of use and usefulness has not been empirically tested with respect to apps or mHealth. Therefore, it is hypothesised that:

H₁ User characteristics (a–d) positively influence perceived ease of use of mHealth apps:

- a subjective knowledge and involvement
- b trust
- c need for personalisation
- d perceived convenience
- H₂ User characteristics (a–d) positively influence perceived usefulness of mHealth apps: a – subjective knowledge and involvement
 - b trust
 - c need for personalisation
 - d perceived convenience

Technology Characteristics

The other group of antecedents in this thesis is technology characteristics, namely gamification and aesthetics of mHealth apps, which have not been positioned as antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness of apps or healthcare technology. Numerous studies have investigated the positive influence of gamification on outcomes and engagement with mHealth (Shan et al., 2019) but not its effect on adoption or the technology adoption process. The Unified Theory of Acceptance of Use of Technology posits that conditions that facilitate

technology usage strengthen intention to use, and gamifying technology facilitates usage (Venkatesh et al., 2003a). Users have reported that gamification techniques such as levelling and hint giving make mHealth apps more user friendly (LaBelle et al., 2020; Rasul et al., 2021). For the user, the usefulness of a mHealth app is how well it achieves the health goal; levelling is a technique to achieve goals. This is an example of applying Goal Setting Theory to mHealth apps wherein achievable and measurable goals stimulate behaviour more than do goals shared by a population (Locke & Latham, 2002). Similarly, mHealth apps can use the levelling technique to establish gradual and achievable health goals rather than a single larger goal (Nuijten et al., 2022). Hence, it is logical that positive perceptions of gamification lead to ease of use and usefulness of technology; however, this has not been empirically tested.

Pleasing aesthetics are known to improve perceptions of ease of use and usefulness of mobile devices to increase loyalty (Cyr et al., 2006). The study by Cyr et al. (2006); however, omitted attitude and intention. Research has shown that poor app aesthetics makes navigation more difficult and decreases an app's lifecycle (see Taylor & Levin, 2014). mHealth apps that are difficult to navigate and used too briefly to enable any health change would likely have lower perceived ease of use and usefulness. This suggests that mHealth app aesthetics stimulates perceived ease of use and usefulness. The Refined Diffusion of Innovation Model by Moore and Benbasat (1991) theorises that product image—a construct largely defined by perceptions of product aesthetics—influences adoption directly. However, the model excludes perceived ease of use and usefulness. From these insights, it is hypothesised that:

- H₃ Technology characteristics positively influence perceived ease of use of mHealth apps:
 a gamification
 b aesthetics
- H4 Technology characteristics positively influence perceived usefulness of mHealth apps:
 a gamification
 - b aesthetics

Davis et al. (1989) identified that perceived ease of use influences perceived usefulness of technology, and Schnall et al. (2015) confirmed this relationship in a mHealth app context. These constructs and relationships are known but have not been tested with the antecedents in this study, so their relationships should not be assumed. Robust research does not assume

from past relationships that usability influences usefulness, but rather strives to confirm or deny these relationships noting the new context and sample of the research. Hence, this study potentially makes a theoretical contribution, and it is hypothesised that:

H₅ Perceived ease of use positively influences perceived usefulness of mHealth apps.

Perceived usefulness and ease of use are the strongest predictors of attitude and behavioural intention towards technology (Davis, 1989; Lakhal et al., 2013; Sumak & Polancic, 2010; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000) and are already established in mHealth research to predict attitude (Anderson et al., 2016; Cajita et al., 2017; Foster, 2018). In the original TAM, perceived usefulness, but not perceived ease of use, is also known to directly influence adoption intention (Davis, 1989). Hence, this thesis does not hypothesise on the path between perceived ease of use and adoption intention. It is expected that this thesis will validate these hypothesised paths; however, there is potential for theoretical contributions to stem from this thesis. From these insights, it is hypothesised that:

- H₆ Perceived usefulness positively influences attitude towards mHealth apps.
- H₇ Perceived ease of use positively influences attitude towards mHealth apps.
- H₈ Perceived usefulness positively influences adoption intention towards mHealth apps.

Davis et al. (1989) found that attitude directly affects intention and has mediating effects on the paths between perceived ease of use and usefulness, respectively, and intention. Venkatesh and Bala (2008), in developing the TAM 3, found that attitude positively and significantly mediates the relationships, as did Kim and Park (2012) when developing the Health Information TAM. Therefore, it is hypothesised that:

H₉ Attitude positively influences adoption intention towards mHealth apps.

- H₁₀ Attitude mediates the relationship between perceived usefulness and adoption intention towards mHealth apps.
- H₁₁ Attitude mediates the relationship between perceived ease of use and adoption intention towards mHealth apps.

Davis et al. (1989) suggested that consumers have an attitude towards technology that influences adoption intention; however, when in ill health, the severity of their health moderates this influence. Researchers have identified that health status severity for diseases influences mHealth acceptance; hence, it is intuitive that the same may be true for levels or risk of addictive behaviours. Early research into the moderating influence of health status severity on behavioural intentions and other variables provided contradictory evidence (see Cohen, 1996; Westaway et al., 2003; Williams & Calnan, 1991). To clarify the degree to which health status severity may exert influence on adoption, it is included for testing in this study. Therefore, it is hypothesised that:

H₁₂ Health status severity moderates the relationship between attitude and adoption intention towards mHealth apps.

The Theory of Reasoned Action (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980), the TAM (Davis et al., 1989) and the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (Venkatesh et al., 2003a) present models that finish with adoption preceded by attitude and intention. However, testing for actual adoption or usage of mHealth apps is beyond the scope of this thesis because of time constraints and sample inaccessibility. Ali et al. (2019) noted past studies that finish their models with intention and stated that not measuring beyond intention does not limit technology adoption research. The argument is that TAM studies have demonstrated that behavioural intention effectively predicts actual usage. This has been confirmed by mHealth research (Hoque, 2016). Hence, the causal model in this thesis does not include adoption or usage.

3.2.2 Development of the Causal Model

Hakansson et al. (2004) outlined criteria that enable marketing researchers to justify frameworks and models by judging their adequacy. First, theoretical adequacy criteria posit that incorporating theory into a model helps to explain and predict the phenomena it identifies. Also, it should lend itself to empirical testing. Second, methodological adequacy enables researchers to test relationships precisely and robustly in a model for accurate explanation of phenomena. Theory plays a vital role in research and should always be represented accurately. The proposed model in this thesis and the availability of high-quality, accessible empirical research on app and mHealth adoption facilitates investigation of the variables and their relationships. Further, the model addresses the gaps identified in Chapter Two and adds to the understanding of the TAM in mHealth app adoption through a transformative consumer research and innovative product adoption lens. The proposed model maps out the roles of the antecedents to perceived ease of use and usefulness to interconnect them with attitude and adoption intention. The model goes beyond current understanding where research has focussed mostly on antecedents' direct relationships with adoption and post-adoption behaviours. Further, the literature does not acknowledge how constructs of the TAM perform in the context of mHealth apps with moderation by health status severity. Thus, the moderation investigation of the relationship between attitude and adoption intention in this thesis will provide a greater understanding of inferences that come from people's personal circumstances. Figure 3.1 illustrates the associations formalised in the hypotheses that will test the relationships between the variables. Please note that mediation relationships are not presented in the causal model.



Figure 3.1: Model of Conceptualised Relationships

3.3 Empirical Context: mHealth Gambling Apps

Gambling presents a potential health risk for some consumers. The increased accessibility to gambling (Paterson et al., 2019) and public expenditure on gambling (Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation, 2019), along with low treatment-seeking rates (Suurvali et al., 2009) suggests that any attempt to mitigate possible harm from problem gambling is worthwhile. This thesis acknowledges debate in the healthcare literature around potentially derogatory names or terms that place blame on the individual; for example, 'problem gambling' and' gambling addict' (see Blaszczynski et al., 2020). However, these names and terms are used in other areas of literature simply to note there are potentially negative impacts from overconsumption and risky behaviours (see Henriksen et al., 2022; Pérez et al., 2021). Despite the negative impacts that gambling can have, little attention is given to accessible solutions such as apps. Apps for recovery addiction are viewed positively by users and incite positive behaviour change (Payne et al., 2015). However, there has been insufficient research on mHealth gambling apps (Ridley et al., 2020). The literature shows that mHealth gambling apps facilitate positive behaviour change (see Bullen et al., 2015; Humphrey et al., 2020), but research has focussed on treatment rather than adoption, which further solidifies the critical gap in the literature that this thesis seeks to address.

3.3.1 Gambling Consumption

Despite problem gambling being experienced by only around 2% of Australians (Park et al., 2021), it cost Australians more than \$23 billion in 2019 (Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation, 2019); a substantial increase from \$8 billion in 2010 (Productivity Commission, 2010). The highest contribution to financial expenditure in gambling is made through apps and this is likely to continue growing exponentially (Gao et al., 2021), further enabled by the global liberalisation of online gambling laws (James et al., 2019). Further, the prominence of technology in daily life appears to facilitate the transition to app-based gambling (James et al., 2017). However, despite the economic benefits for gambling operators and governments that come from gambling, there are health risks to gamblers. Despite the success of app-based gambling, commercial gambling apps have been scarcely researched for their impacts (Gao et al., 2021). This growth in problem gambling is compounded by low treatment-seeking rates for traditional therapies, and high attrition rates (Miller & Kavanagh, 2011). Further, the

COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated the adverse effects of gambling, and healthcare services are restricted (Marsden et al., 2020; Rodda et al., 2022). However, perhaps one of the most problematic factors is that problem gambling is easy to hide (Orford et al., 1996). These findings illustrate the challenges of providing effective problem gambling treatments in Australia. Fortunately, digital gambling treatments overcome the obstacles around traditional therapy, such as the need for anonymity, autonomy and accessibility (Suurvali et al., 2009).

3.3.2 Digital Interventions for Behaviour Control

There is a substantial literature on how gamblers transfer from physical to online gambling platforms (Gainsbury et al., 2012); however, research into digital treatment options has been limited (Rodda & Lubman, 2014). Compared with the more established treatment methods for tobacco and alcohol overuse, a much smaller range of options exist for problem gamblers (Gainsbury & Blaszczynski, 2011). This is exacerbated by low treatment-seeking rates. It is possible that treatment-seeking rates have remained low because of the low availability of digital treatments; however, no studies have investigated this possibility.

Digital intervention for gambling is often preferred over traditional platforms because the obstacles are minor by comparison. Using technologies that are widely and easily accessible overcomes traditional barriers to treatment such as geographic isolation, transportation, personal and professional availability and cultural or language needs (Suurvali et al., 2009). Further, as addiction recovery takes several years and has a high rate of relapse (Dennis et al., 2005), the cost barrier of traditional treatment could be severely reduced with digital interventions. This highlights the importance of cost-effective, long-term support mechanisms such as mHealth apps. Research has shown that apps for addiction recovery are viewed positively by users and incite positive health behaviours. Despite these findings, addiction recovery apps' usability has not developed at the same rate as online services where functions can span numerous pages of a single site (Savic et al., 2013). This is because most apps are not 'one-stop shops' for treatment and users often have a library of apps with varying functionality to cater for the limitations of each (Savic et al., 2013). Further, most mHealth apps are developed commercially despite being adopted in clinical practice, resulting in reduced effectiveness and treatment compatibility (Wallace et al., 2012). mHealth addiction apps are generally created by merging existing information from affiliated and even

non-affiliated websites into apps to capture a new market. This practice can be observed in the few mHealth gambling apps available (Brownlow, 2021). There is room for improvement with digital gambling interventions, notably mHealth gambling apps. However, the benefits these platforms pose over traditional interventions makes any research worthwhile that improves understanding of adoption and dissemination.

3.4 Overview of Research Design

This section outlines the research design of the thesis to introduce the approaches to data collection; the qualitative and quantitative methodologies are presented in Chapters Four and Five respectively. This study employed a mixed-methods approach characterised by a collection of qualitative and quantitative data (Creswell, 2009). The purpose of the qualitative stage is neither to interpret the concepts nor inform the survey; the purpose is primarily to test the research concept of mHealth with the sample and secondly to validate the stimuli. Extant literature is used to inform the survey. Hence, the qualitative stage is dedicated its own chapter which demonstrates how the findings confirm the concept and instruct the stimuli. As the contribution of the thesis stems from the quantitative stage, the processes and interpretation of findings are detailed across multiple chapters.

The mixed-methods approach has both interpretivist and positivist paradigms. Interpretivism is predicated on multiple realities that are too complex to be predicted (Brannen, 2017) while positivism argues that reality is quantifiable through systematic study of data (Mangan et al., 2004). Both paradigms inform the thesis methodology while the positivist paradigm guides the data analysis which confirms new knowledge. Combining interpretivist and positivist research paradigms is a valid means of data triangulation to improve validity (Brannen, 2017). This thesis began by using interpretivism to understand the level of awareness of mHealth and extent of relevant app behaviours in daily life before moving into a controlled research method as people's awareness and experience with mHealth apps cannot be assumed before constructing a quantitative instrument that is inspired by a rigorous, positivist exploration of past research. The findings of this past research were generalised to this thesis. The concepts under investigation required objective measurement to support or reject the proposed hypotheses. This represents the positivist paradigm in this thesis. A mixed-methods approach

resembles the embedded research design described by Creswell and Clark (2017) where the qualitative phase operates as support to the quantitative data collection. The thesis relies on operationalising the concepts through testing the quantifiable variables. Further, this style facilitated validation of the research and the objectivity needed for this context (Antwi & Hamza, 2015; Straub et al., 2004). The approach was consistent with the positivist belief of the existence of an objective physical and social world where researchers independently gather empirical data (Mangan et al., 2004). The functionalist view here was used in the hope that rational understandings of consumer behaviour could be used by marketers in dissemination or as a basis for future research. This study began its data collection with a qualitative approach.

3.4.1 Qualitative Stage

Focus Groups

The first data collection stage of the study was qualitative. This stage included focus group discussions with help-seeking gamblers around mHealth apps generally, and a 'gambling quit app' specifically. The group was sampled anonymously through promotion by a suitable third party, a gambling support group.

Focus groups sessions were the single method of qualitative data collection because of the ease of reviewing the stimuli, a series of app screenshots, that will be detailed in Section 4.3 (Morgan & Morgan, 1993; Smith, 2003). Despite the inability to secure complete anonymity of participants, the appeal of focus groups for marketing research sits in the potential for group interaction that provides data and insight into participant attitudes and opinions (Stewart et al., 2007). However, there is the risk that participants when in the company of others may feel pressured to provide socially desirable responses rather than truths (Neuman, 2014). This can be a problem in researching gamblers – known to withhold or misreport information about their behaviours (Pulford et al., 2009). However, past research shows how focus group sessions have been used successfully in social marketing gambling research projects and in mHealth research where participants have stated how the controlled, private setting with peers helped them feel safe from shame (Bullen et al., 2015; Humphrey et al., 2019). Further, focus groups are an effective platform to collect data on sensitive concepts

and topics within sensitive contexts (Bagozzi et al., 2013; Farquhar & Das, 1999), including gambling (de Vos et al., 2016; Humphrey et al., 2019; Lamont et al., 2016). Calderwood and Wellington (2013) stated that focus group discussions with people experiencing problem gambling are ideal for testing visual stimuli. This method allows for meaningful and creative discussion through idea debate and exchange, while removing stigma and shame associations (Calderwood & Wellington, 2013). Hence, the use of focus groups is suited to qualitative research objectives.

Qualitative Objectives

The qualitative phase of data collection was not intended to validate the proposed causal model. Rather, data were thematically analysed to test the three objectives of this aspect of the study. The first objective was to assess gamblers' understanding of and attitude towards mHealth apps in general, and gambling quit apps in particular, ensuring that the introduction of mHealth apps and gambling quit apps in the stimuli was suitable. The second objective was to test the stimuli for appropriate functionality and stylistic design. That is, what are the sample's preferred mHealth gambling app functions and design. The third objective was to inform and refine the stimuli to ensure the optimal stimuli were used for the quantitative stage. This was important as it aided in avoiding any subconscious biases that the researcher or stimulus designer that was hired may have. Further, ignoring participants' perceptions and opinions of the stimuli could result in misinterpretation and non-compliance in later stages of data collection (Carter et al., 2011). Hence, focus group discussions were an appropriate method to address the qualitative stage.

3.4.2 Quantitative Stage

Web Survey

The quantitative stage uses a web-based survey to collect data to test the research hypotheses. Data collection and measurement were conducted according to positivism. Positivist research typically employs a quantitative approach, such as experiments and surveys. This gives researchers stronger tests of causal relationships and captures selfreported consumer behaviours and beliefs through cross-sectional data (Neuman, 2014). However, a disadvantage of cross-sectional data is that it provides a snapshot of a single point in time rather than considering an ongoing dynamic process (Bowen & Wiersema, 1999). As in the qualitative stage, a population of help-seeking gamblers was sampled in the quantitative stage; recruited via gambling support groups and welfare organisations. The challenge noted earlier with a sample of gamblers is that data is more susceptible to biases and inaccurate recall, particularly with long-term gambling (Wang & Cheng, 2020). The data were analysed using software (SPSS and AMOS) to test the research hypotheses. Experimental research can employ survey sampling both within and outside lab environments with webbased surveys proving the most popular for research outside the lab (Mutz, 2011). With this type of data collection, participants are often randomly assigned to conditions, stimuli and/or presentations of independent variables to measure effects on dependent variables (Mutz, 2011). This thesis will use a web-based, quasi-experimental design, meaning that the survey assigned participants to all stimuli, which were presented as images grouped by the mHealth app functions. These groupings were determined by the findings of the qualitative data analysis. This approach rules out possibly false relationships and may advance theory in areas of research where selection or order-effect biases disadvantage observational research (Mutz, 2011). The use of a web survey also enabled the creation of two additional constructs that were used to conduct supplementary testing: multi-group testing of adoption behaviour and product platform preference.

Multi-Group Testing

This study did not measure beyond adoption intention as this was not possible within the scope of the thesis limitations. However, to validate intention, an alternative adoption behaviour was assessed. Towards the end of the web survey, after intention was measured, survey participants were offered a recommendation for a free, existing mHealth gambling app, along with a website link to more information and download access. The web platform recorded which gamblers clicked on the link, thereby providing a measure of 'adoption behaviour'. This created a dichotomous variable; i) those who presented adoption behaviour and ii) those who did not present adoption behaviour. The thesis does not hypothesise on the behaviour. However, it was used to develop further insights into the relationships in the causal model by splitting the sample by their adoption behaviour and retesting the paths. The

findings from this may extend the theoretical contributions of the thesis around the effect of adoption behaviour on mHealth app adoption.

The other variable that was not hypothesised in the thesis but was explored, was the respondents' product platform preference—digital or analogue—for their gambling behaviour (Hing et al., 2021). Digital gambling refers to the use of personal devices, such as smartphones and personal computers. Analogue gambling is the use of machines or equipment at venues or face-to-face betting at events, such as pokies and sporting games respectively. These data were collected from participants in the web survey by asking them to choose 'how they enjoy gambling' from a list of options. Again, the dichotomous variable that arose from this was not hypothesised. However, the relationships in the model could be investigated by splitting the sample and resting the paths. The influence of product platform preference on the relationships in the model via multi-group analysis may further extend or help to explain some aspects of the results. The primary tool employed for the quantitative data analysis was structural equation modelling, which supports multi-group analysis.

Structural Equation Modelling

Structural equation modelling served as the primary technique to test the paths proposed in the causal model. Structural equation modelling is an advanced multivariate technique that combines both confirmatory factor analysis and multiple regressions in a single model, while also assessing relationship interdependence and dependence of the variables (Kline, 2015). This was the preferred technique of analysis because of its ability to estimate multiple and interrelated dependence in a single analysis. Structural equation modelling is suited to social sciences research that investigates behavioural factors as there are often complex interrelationships between variables (Hoe, 2008). This technique is widely accepted in business research (Baumgartner & Homburg, 1996). Structural equation modelling was used as the primary technique to test the model paths in this thesis.

3.5 Chapter Summary

Chapter Three presented the research framework where the hypotheses that guided the research were introduced around a discussion of drivers of technology adoption. The chapter outlined the development of the causal model and presented the model to indicate the

known relationships between constructs, the gaps and the TAM constructs. The research design explained the mixed-methods approach and the argument for structural equation modelling as the primary technique to test the model paths. Chapter Three concluded with an introduction to the empirical research context—specifically gambling consumption, quit interventions and the knowledge and research around digital gambling interventions and their relevance to the research design. Chapter Four leads presents the research methodology and preliminary findings from the qualitative analysis and outlines the stimulus development methods.

Chapter 4: Qualitative Study and Stimulus Development

4.1 Introduction

Figure 3.1 in Chapter Three illustrated the stated hypotheses within a discussion of drivers of mHealth app adoption. Chapter 3 also acknowledged the need for an exploratory qualitative component to help develop the stimuli to be used in the quantitative study (a hypothetical mHealth app) and to explore the research context on this thesis. Chapter Four presents the findings of a qualitative investigation of consumer knowledge of and involvement in mobile apps generally, and perceptions and attitudes towards a novel mHealth gambling app specifically. Because of COVID-19 restrictions, virtual focus groups were conducted via Zoom software. The sample consisted of gamblers who had already taken steps to seek help to control their addictive behaviour. A full description of how these individuals were recruited is provided in Section 5.3 on sampling methodology.

Chapter Four begins by outlining the qualitative research objective. The qualitative stage of this research is restricted to a test of concept and stimuli creation which guides the structure of this chapter. The chapter moves to explaining the development of the stimuli tested in the focus groups, before moving onto a description of the qualitative methods employed and how the focus group sessions were conducted. The justification and process for developing the stimuli are outlined in detail, leading into the data collection methods where the stimuli are presented through focus group protocols. The approach to the analysis of the qualitative data is explained and results are presented and scaffolded by the guiding questions discussed later in the chapter. The chapter concludes with the key findings from the focus group sessions and how the findings were used to refine the stimuli for the quantitative stage.

4.2 Focus of Qualitative Study

A qualitative approach was suited for this preliminary phase of the research to gain the insights of potential users of an mHealth app targeting problem gamblers. The purpose of the qualitative stage in this research was not to inform the survey instrument in the quantitative stage of the research like a typical sequential phase mixed-methods research design. The qualitative findings are not intended to extend theory or make an original contribution to

knowledge. Hence, this is not a detailed analysis of the findings in relation to variables and hypotheses. The purpose of the qualitative phase was threefold. First, it is vital that the target audience for these types of app understand mHealth apps in the way they were used in this research. Hence, it was important for the qualitative stage to test explanations of mHealth apps to develop a suitable explanation for the quantitative stage. Second, it was necessary to develop a hypothetical mHealth gambling app suitable for testing that was received positively. The thesis aimed to identify the suitable functionality and stylistic design for an mHealth gambling app. Third, findings from the qualitative stage. Noting the second and third points, extant literature was considered solely for the development of the stimuli – detailed next in Section 4.3 – and not for conceptual interpretation of constructs and discussion of findings. The findings are to inform the stimuli meaning any contrast with extant literature is tightly bound to this purpose. Hence, the objectives of the qualitative study were to:

- create an introduction to mHealth gambling apps that the target audience could understand
- 2. identify the best functions and design for an mHealth gambling app
- 3. inform the stimuli creation for the quantitative stage of data collection.

4.3 Stimulus Creation

The research created a hypothetical concept app for this thesis and gave it the name NoBets. This was expected to be a temporary name for the hypothetical app; however, it remained, as the participants preferred NoBets over other names discussed by participants in the focus group sessions. NoBets served as the qualitative stimuli in this thesis. This approach of creating and testing an mHealth gambling app in focus group sessions is evident in the literature (see Humphrey et al., 2019). NoBets is multifunctional and was professionally designed in response to the shortcomings identified of current mHealth apps of this kind (Brownlow, 2021). Hence, the stimuli that demonstrated NoBets were a series of static images, presented like app screenshots, that showed potential stylistic designs and app functions. Centring focus group discussion around visual cues like this has been used successfully in mHealth gambling research (see Humphrey et al., 2019). The researcher chose static images for the stimuli rather than creating an operational app, to minimise the time

required to complete the survey and enable greater control over what participants saw. While an operational app may have been more engaging, it would have made the survey time costly for participants. Brevity is an important component for increasing response rates (Andrews et al., 2007). Further, participants may navigate incorrectly and miss functions. This approach of presenting an app through static images in focus groups sessions with help-seeking gamblers has been successful in past research (see Bullen et al., 2015). The stimuli were all original and developed in collaboration with a professional graphic designer. The purpose of the qualitative stimuli was to obtain an understanding of how participants reacted to the different designs and functions presented in NoBets, to then refine the app stimuli for the quantitative phase of data collection. Hence, the following Sections 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 explain the processes behind identifying the possible designs and functions of NoBets.

4.3.1 Designs

The researcher presented different designs to the focus groups to gather their opinions on four colour schemes and two different layouts of app content (see Figure 4.1). It was important to identify a design that the target users received positively, as app aesthetics affect usage and engagement (Alqahtani & Orji, 2020) and can increase perceptions of technology quality (Lee, 2022). Of the four colour schemes, two mimicked the common 'clinical colours' of healthcare technology: high contrast with primarily blue and white colouring (Hudson-Farmer, 2021). The third style represented the most popular current (based on download rates) mHealth app related to problem gambling available in Australia, called GT. The last colour scheme was a unique, bright design based on popular commercial gambling apps available in Australia, which use vibrant reds and greens and white. Participants were also shown different screen layouts in designs that represented the possible layouts of the app; for example, icons grouped together versus icons spaced apart. The different colour schemes, layout options and app functions (described in the next section) of NoBets are illustrated with larger images in Appendix A:Stimulus Design Styles and Appendix B: Focus Group Stimuli for all images.



Figure 4.1: Concept App Designs

4.3.2 App Functionality

The choice of functions for NoBets stemmed from an investigation of the mHealth, gambling and technology literature (see Table 4.1). Studies that investigated the quality of mHealth apps judged by experts (see Walrave et al., 2022) and the perceived quality of apps as seen by consumers (see Wallace et al., 2012) informed the choice of functions. This was important for creating the best possible version of NoBets. Most mHealth apps are developed commercially by companies, brands and independent app developers without input from consumers or health experts (Aungst, 2013; Wallace et al., 2012). Further, app rating scales validated by researchers are seldom used to inform app development (Tsai et al., 2022). Aungst (2013) observed that the result is often an app with very few functions that contribute to the health problem considered. Therefore, NoBets is based on important insights from the literature. Whittaker et al. (2021) showed that mHealth apps with a high number of interactive functions that enable health change are received positively. Further, Walrave et al. (2022) noted that the quality of mHealth apps comes from their functionality. A review of quit smoking apps available in Australia by Thornton et al. (2017) identified functions in highquality apps such as self-evaluations, progress monitoring, distraction tools, support resources and knowledge building as examples. Apps with these functions would likely be beneficial for managing other health issues too. Hence, NoBets is based on similar functionality. Using these insights, NoBets includes a range of justified functions to demonstrate quality and encourage positive evaluations by the target users that were sampled. See Brownlow et al. (2022) for an evaluation of these mHealth gambling app functions by help-seeking gamblers.

Function	Summary and justification
Crisis Help	A fixed icon on the app dashboard calls the Australian Gambling Helpline through mobile devices.
	 Half of gamblers using online support chats are in crisis and need immediate help (Rodda et al., 2015).
	 In times of crisis, emotional turmoil, stress or insecurity, people resort to gambling as they lack proper, immediately available outlets to cope (Gainsbury, 2020).
	 People in treatment communicate more digitally than via other platforms (Sreedharan et al., 2022).
Bet Tracker	Keeps a record of the time and money spent gambling. The function can collate records into daily, weekly and monthly visuals. Users can set daily limits for money and time spent, with breach alerts.
	- Focus group discussions with practitioners and problem gamblers showed support for behaviour tracking functions in mHealth apps (Bullen et al., 2015; Humphrey et al., 2020).
Support Groups	Connects users with support groups and welfare organisations that offer gambling support services.
	- Savic et al. (2013) illustrated that functions that link users to specialist support, community groups and resources are rated highly for addiction recovery apps.
Workbook	Contains homework-style materials designed to treat problem gambling.
	- In focus group discussions, problem gamblers suggested functions to record progress and output to show peers (Humphrey et al., 2019).
	 Access to educational materials is important for mHealth apps users (Iskandarsyah et al., 2022).

Table 4.1: NoBets Functions for Qualitative Stimuli

Function	Summary and justification
	- Gamblers using an mHealth app showed greater progress through cognitive behaviour therapy than those completing the paper-based version (Pfund et al., 2020).
Journal	- Keeps a record of entries for users to reflect on progress and changes through four components: 1) prioritise problems and goals, 2) recognise triggers and setbacks, 3) identify self-defeating thoughts, and 4) outlet for self-expression.
	 Expressing through journalling is a therapeutic form of treatment (Richards & Vigano, 2013).
	 Recording behaviour and attitude changes towards chronic illness provides important data for collating and sharing with a treatment provider (Chigurupati, 2011).
Distraction	 Diverts attention from urges via three components: 1) guided meditation, mindfulness training, and 3) brain training games.
	 A review of popular mHealth apps available in Australian app stores revealed that functions offering meditation support and tasks to complete are common (Savic et al., 2013).
Motivation	 Encourages autonomy using motivational messages, lived experience stories and physical exercises.
	 Problem gamblers agreed on the importance of treatment apps with motivational content in focus group discussions (Bullen et al., 2015).
Bet Blocker	- Blocks access to betting apps and websites.
	 Problem gamblers supported the idea of an app that blocks gambling content in focus group discussions (Humphrey et al., 2019). Some software already offers this.
Chat	 Hosts a chatroom for users and a forum/message board for specific discussion.
	 Focus group discussions with problem gamblers revealed a desire for peer connection and support through chat and forum options (Humphrey et al., 2019, 2020).
	 Platforms for human interaction should be part of gambling treatment (Park et al., 2021).
	 Talking with peers during gambling treatment offers more potential than chat bots (So et al., 2020).
Milestones	- Records and displays abstinence and rewards users for hitting benchmarks.
	 Gambling treatment specialists supported reward elements in mHealth apps (Bullen et al., 2015).
	 Displaying progress in mHealth apps improved autonomous health management (Harren et al., 2022).
	- Achieving goals through mHealth encouraged mHealth acceptance (Breland et al., 2021).

Function	Summary and justification
The Facts	- Covers a range of areas of information about gambling addiction, symptoms and quitting.
	 Having health information available on apps increased intention to use (Gani et al., 2021) and furthered engagement (Alqahtani & Orji, 2020).
	- Information repositories are common in popular mHealth apps (IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 2015) and enable positive health learning outcomes (Humphrey et al., 2021).
	 mHealth apps should enable access to reliable recovery and health information (Harren et al., 2022).
Self- Assessment	 Measures gambling risk level, mental health status and mood. mHealth apps should record health changes for users and their practitioners (Chigurupati, 2011).
	- Screening tools should be part of gambling treatment (Park et al., 2021).
Share	 Users can share their Milestone achievements and Workbook progress on social media.
	 Gamblers supported social media sharing of treatment progress when it was optional (Bullen et al., 2015).
	 Users expected mHealth apps to have social media sharing functionality (Lazard et al., 2021).

4.4 Sampling Methods

Relationships Australia promoted participation in the qualitative phase of this research to participants (see Appendix C: Promotion of Focus Group Sessions). Relationships Australia did not directly approach gamblers involved in their support program because of concerns that their clients may feel pressured to participate. Hence, the call to participate was via individuals linked with their support program through their website and social media. The support program is delivered online, via phone or face to face to anyone living in Australia adversely affected by gambling (Relationships Australia, 2020). The service is designed to teach quit mechanisms, repair relationships and offer support with financial management. The program also links users with peers, counsellors, specialists, researchers and employment programs, and therefore attracts a range of people. Employment programs are particularly important to these groups as unemployment is a driver of problem gambling (Hing et al., 2016). The popularity of Relationships Australia enabled the promotion of the focus group sessions. However, this method was limited as there was no control over who was linked with Relationships Australia. The researcher overcame this in the focus group sessions by

confirming that participants gambled at least twice per week prior to initially seeking help. A convenience sample consisting of 24 adult participants was drawn from the Australian population. Non-probability techniques—that is, convenience sampling—are appropriate for this type of exploratory research (Malhotra & Birks, 2007). There were five focus group sessions. The composition of the sample of respondents is presented in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2: Focus Group Sample Profiles

Respondents	Male	Female	Aged <25	Aged 25– 30	Aged 31– 35	Aged 36– 40	Aged 41+
Total	10	14	2	11	5	3	3

4.5 Conducting Focus Groups

The use of focus groups involving actual gamblers is common in such research (see Bullen et al., 2015). However, this thesis collected qualitative data during one of the peak outbreaks of COVID-19 in Australia, making data collection challenging (Vindrola-Padros et al., 2020). Because of the challenges posed by the pandemic in terms of lockdowns, restrictions on social distancing and public gatherings (Queensland Government, 2020), face-to-face sessions were not possible. Further, the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) enforced that this thesis aligned with the University's COVID-19 research protocol by conducting online data collection only (Flinders University, 2020). To combat these challenges, the thesis used online focus group sessions with small group numbers via the Zoom platform. While there are some limitations to this approach, such as reduced control over participant environment and the risk of technology failure, virtual focus group discussions are a valid means of data collection (Roberts et al., 2021). Further, this platform offers advantages for both participants (e.g., convenience) and researchers (e.g., the sample is not restricted geographically; Roberts et al., 2021). Screen sharing presented the stimuli to the participants and a voice recorder captured session audio only. The researcher conducted the sessions, which lasted 30–40 minutes each with all respondents participating from private residences. Their locations were not recorded. Participation was voluntary, and confidentiality and anonymity were assured. Participants received an incentive (a \$30 eGift voucher). The researcher separated the email addresses and consent forms used to distribute the edift vouchers to participants (see Appendix D: Focus Group Consent Form). Once the
eGift vouchers were distributed, the researcher deleted all email addresses and correspondence as per the approved ethics clearance. The only identifying details the researcher retained were the age and gender of the participants, to profile the sample. An information sheet (see Appendix E: Focus Group Information Sheet) and support group contact form (see Appendix F: Gambling Support Information with Contacts for Participants) were provided to respondents alongside the online advertisements and at the commencement of the focus group sessions. The Flinders University HREC (see Appendix G: Human Research Ethics Committee Approval Notice) and Relationships Australia (see Appendix H: Relationships Australia Approval Notice for Data Collection) provided ethical clearance prior to data collection.

4.6 Session Protocols

As recommended by Berg et al. (2004), a semi-structured interview guide led the sessions. This encouraged discussion and maintained controlled and consistent themed discussions through open-ended questions (Stewart & Shamdasani, 2014). While the sessions followed a sequence, the order and number of questions asked varied to clarify points and focus discussions. As shown in Figure 4.2, the sessions began with an explanation of the research project and the session protocol. To ease into the discussion, the researcher asked participants to scroll through the apps on their personal mobile phones and list their mHealth apps (e.g., 'Do you have any apps that you use for your personal health? Read them aloud and what do you use the apps for?'). The interviewer clarified that this included apps for illness and diseases, mental health and other areas that they might not initially have considered. The purpose was to confirm that participants understood the concept of an mHealth app. This warm-up activity and transition into discussion was developed by the National Institute for Health Innovation (personal communication May 2020). Next, participants discussed their views on addiction treatment apps (e.g., 'Do you think people can treat an addiction using an app?' 'Do you believe that it would be a good platform?'). Followup questions suggested tobacco and alcohol addictions as examples, the support an app could offer, the designers and the perceived usefulness of these apps. These questions moved the participants from understanding mHealth to considering its role in addiction. From this point, participants began to form and share opinions about mHealth apps for addiction. This was an

ideal segue to ask specifically about mHealth gambling apps (e.g., 'Did you know there are apps for people who want to control or quit gambling?'). Most participants had no prior knowledge of gambling quit apps, but the researcher encouraged them to discuss their views. Discussion about popularity and possible users led to the next question, about perceived usefulness. Follow-up questions centred on pros and cons, uses, apps and traditional therapies, app styles and the mobile platform. These questions gauged participants' support for mHealth gambling apps and what they expected an app to do.

Warm up and rapport building

Transition to Next Section

"Grab your phone and scroll through the apps that you have. Do you have any apps that you use for your personal health? Read their name aloud and what they do." \rightarrow "Remember that healthcare apps are not just for addictions and diseases. They range across physical and mental health. Exercise apps, diet apps and even meditation apps are all healthcare apps. Some popular examples: MyFitness Pal, FitBit Coach, The Brain Trainer, Diabetes++, AskMD, Mood Manager and Tobacco-Free." \rightarrow "Do you use healthcare apps for fitness, food and eating, an illness, memory training or even managing your sleep routine? What do you use them for? Do these apps work for you? Do you use them regularly?" "Do you think people can treat an addiction using an app?" → "Think of tobacco, alcohol or even video gaming addictions as examples. Would an app offer minimal support, or would it be a complete tool for quitting? Who would design these apps? How effective do you think they would be?"



Figure 4.2: Focus Group Discussion—Warm Up

The next stage was designed to gain feedback on the stimuli; images presenting the different styles (see Figure 4.3). Centring focus group discussion around visual cues has been used successfully in mHealth gambling research (Humphrey et al., 2019). First, it ensured that the functions of the app displayed in the stimuli were clear and easily understandable. Second, it identified the more appealing aesthetics of NoBets and reduced the number of possible colour and layout schemes. As a way to ease into the stimuli and app, images of the NoBets home screen and loading screen were shown first. The researcher asked participants for first impressions (e.g., 'What are your immediate thoughts of our app's design and style? Was it what you were expecting?') and their likes, dislikes and preferences for colours and layout (e.g., 'Of the four options, which do you like and dislike?'). Follow-up questions directed discussion to preferred colours, legibility, layout simplicity, professionalism and personal

favourites. Once participants seemed comfortable with the stimuli, the researcher asked for feedback on each of the functions.

Design Styles

"What do you think of the images? The first page shows examples of the app home screen, and the second page is the loading screen. Take time to look closely." \rightarrow "What is your immediate, honest impression of our app, NoBets? Is it what you were expecting? Of the four options, which do you like and dislike? Do you have a favourite? Which colours do you prefer? Which layout of the home screen boxes is better? Does this look professional?" Introduce Stimuli.

Transition: "The next images show you the app contents. This app has a series of functions and features that have a different purpose designed to help control or quit gambling. Please give feedback."

Figure 4.3: Focus Group Discussion—Design Styles

The functions were presented as the 'tools' to accomplish different tasks. In the stimuli, two or three grouped images demonstrated each function. Each function was shown for 20 seconds to keep the sessions on schedule and to ensure that participants could quickly and easily understand each function. This was important as difficult-to-understand stimuli that take multiple reads may cause a spike in attrition in an online survey. After participants viewed each function, gathering their feedback began with a broad, general question regarding their evaluation (see Figure 4.4). Follow-up questions considered understandability, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, perceived regularity of use, and improvements and changes. The stimuli presented the functions through different designs styles.

Feedback on Functions

"What do you think of <*Function*>?" \rightarrow

"Do you understand it? What don't you understand? Would **Function** be useful for quitting gambling? Would **Function** be easy to use? Would people use it regularly? Could you explain **Function** to someone? Is it missing something? How long did it take you to understand **Function**? Did you understand it from reading the description and seeing the images once? Twice? How many times? How can the description and images be improved to make **Function** easier to understand and quicker to understand?"

Confirm understanding of app and assess perceptions of function ease of use and usefulness.

Figure 4.4: Focus Group Discussion—Feedback on Functions

To gauge the opinions about the styles, the researcher asked participants about the design with follow-up questions on colours, layout, professionalism, sizes, and likes and dislikes (see

Figure 4.5). Participants chose their most and least preferred colour schemes, and explained why. Participants also discussed the different layouts where the function icons were spaced apart, positioned close together and stacked.

Preferred Style

"What do you think of the images?" \rightarrow

"Do you like the colours and layout? Are they clear and understandable? Are they professional? How would you improve them? What do you like or dislike? Is everything the right size on the screen? What is you most/least preferred colour scheme?"

Confirm sample's preferred aesthetic style(s) for quantitative data collection stage.

Figure 4.5: Focus Group Discussion—Preferred Style

The discussions concluded by assessing the participants' verdicts on NoBets in terms of their attitude and intention (see Figure 4.6). The discussions generated important data for the thesis. To achieve the qualitative research objectives, the researcher used a deductive approach to thematically analyse the data.

Reviews of NoBets
"Is your attitude positive or negative towards the app? \rightarrow "Would you recommend this app to someone who wanted to control or quit gambling?" \rightarrow "Overall, do you think this would be a good app? Be honest." \rightarrow "Would you use this app if you needed help? Why? Why not?"
Determine sample's verdict on app and assess attitudes and behavioural intentions.

Figure 4.6: Focus Group Discussion—Reviews of NoBets

4.7 Data Analysis and Results

This thesis took a deductive approach to coding where structured codes were established before analysis. The codes were not based on any theoretical framework; rather, the researcher developed them to resolve the qualitative research objectives introduced in Section 4.2 (see Appendix I: Qualitative Analysis Codes for a simplified set of the codes). The researcher transcribed the audio files using an orthographic transcription approach that considered important aspects of conversation, such as turn-taking, laughter, pauses, abbreviations and slang, overlapping speech and inaudibility (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Words, phrases and sentences were units of analysis (Berg et al., 2004). Additional quotations from participants that are not shown in this chapter are presented in Appendix J: Additional Quotations from Focus Group Sessions. The results are discussed below reflecting the qualitative research objectives. Note that the qualitative stage of this research is for a test of concept and stimuli creation, so the discussion of results aligns with these aims rather than how findings can inform the survey instrument, extend theory or contribute to knowledge.

4.7.1 Objective One: Create an Appropriate Introduction

The initial discussion during the sessions showed that all participants understood the descriptions of 'healthcare apps' and 'quit apps' given. They were able to talk about their own experiences of using mHealth apps without needing clarification, as most had used them. To introduce NoBets, the researcher developed a brief definition derived from Bullen et al. (2015) that referred to a) apps for quitting and b) a range of functions designed to help quit gambling. The target audience quickly and easily understood the definition and functions and the role of NoBets as an intervention tool. This achieved Objective One. Hence, this method of introducing gambling quit apps and NoBets was replicated in the quantitative study.

4.7.2 Objective Two: Identify the Best Functions and Design—Stimuli Development

Functions

For the most part, participants made positive comments about the functions illustrated, as outlined in Table 4.1. However, some functions were not supported and were consequently removed from NoBets. Any negative views brought on by poorly received functions would disadvantage the quantitative findings by negatively affecting perceived usefulness and ease of use, attitude and adoption intention.

Journal received mixed reviews. Several participants commented that they would never use *Journal*, but it might work well for other users. The separation of different types of journalling—such as, goal setting and gratitude—was popular among respondents. All participants supported *Milestones* and some likened rewards to gambling:

I think it's a good idea. I think a lot of gamblers are seeking rewards especially when they're trying to change the behaviours. I think a milestone could feel like a bit of a win and tie into the gambling scenario of wanting wins.

Participants liked seeing visual progress and rewards. There were concerns that users might cheat to win trophies; however, the participants acknowledged that this reflected the user. Participants had mixed views on *The Facts* but noted the positives of having a source of trustworthy information; a sentiment expressed in the literature (Primhak et al., 2019):

This is not my preferred section because once you read it, you've finished using it. It doesn't do anything else, but still I think this is a good idea to have reliable information about quitting gambling in the app because people who can't afford therapy might read all sorts of crazy shit online about quitting.

Initially participants were concerned that *Bet Blocker* was flawed as people could use other platforms to gamble:

I think this is a great idea because most people are betting on their phone, so it stops them from that easy access that betting apps offer. I suppose people who play pokies or go to casinos can't use this though.

Despite these concerns, all participants concurred that *Bet Blocker* would offer some support. For *Motivation*, the consensus was that content would become stagnant:

It's a good idea, but it just wouldn't have the fresh content that keeps people coming back to it. How many times can you read the same stories and motivational messages or do the same workout before you get sick of it?

Most participants liked *Distraction* and supported the brain games component. The meditation and mindfulness components received mixed reviews; however, all participants agreed that they would benefit some users:

I think this [*Distraction*] is a really good section to have in an app. It's important to take that thought process away from gambling and put it towards something else.

Chat was mostly well received, yet there were concerns around privacy and circulation of negative content:

I think Chat would be effective if it was used strategically, but an open chat forum that is not monitored by a health professional could end up with wrong advice being given.

Most participants doubted the utility of *Self-Assessment* with concerns around the frequency of use required and that users may lie to avoid unwanted results. Subsequently, *Self-Assessment* was removed. Participants noted that *Workbook* could supplement and even replace formal treatment:

Perhaps people who can't afford therapy or some people would need to do this in conjunction with somebody like a professional to help them between sessions.

Participants were uncertain of *Bet Tracker* as similar tools existed in commercial gambling apps already but were not popular. The consensus was to remove *Bet Tracker*. *Support* was positively received. Participants pointed out that this information was already online, but they agreed that it was best to have this directory amalgamated and easily accessible. Participants were initially unclear about *Crisis Help.* After this barrier was cleared and suggestions were made to improve the clarity, participants all agreed that it was a good function:

I like that *Crisis Help* is at the bottom. When you just snap under pressure, you need to be able to find help ASAP and talk it out.

Mostly, participants were against *Share*. There were some supportive comments around the benefits of sharing progress. However, participants were concerned with privacy.

It [*Share*] also says that you can post on social media, which is an interesting idea. I wonder how many people want to do that. Maybe some people would be really proud of the progress, but I feel like the majority would not want to advertise their gambling addiction.

Therefore, *Share* was removed from the app. In summary, *Journal, Milestones, The Facts, Bet Blocker, Distraction, Chatroom, Workbook, Support* and *Crisis Help* were kept for the quantitative stimuli, whereas *Bet Tracker, Self-Assessment, Motivation* and *Share* were omitted. This achieved the initial component of Objective Two. The other component was to identify the preferred app design for NoBets.

Design

Participants provided practical feedback on designs, specifically colours and spacing of content, which the researcher analysed. Participants preferred the blue-on-white style and offered feedback that the light blue text was unclear with small font sizes and the blue should be darker to make the text more legible. Some participants disliked the red-green combination:

I don't like the colours. I think they are too vibrant. If you're trying to wake me up and excite me and jog my nervous system, it might work. But I don't think it goes with what you are trying to do here.

They made similar comments about the purple-and yellow-style:

The purple sends me off straight away. It's too strong and aggressive.

Further, participants likened the purple–yellow and green–red combinations to commercial betting apps and suggested that health apps should look distinct. No comments were made about the white-on-blue style. Therefore, dark blue text and imagery on a white background were the colour scheme chosen for NoBets in the quantitative stimuli. Participants preferred the spaced layout of content over the boxed-in style:

Is it too busy? I like the separation of the functions [icons] on home screen one. I like that it separates and that there is clear space—my eyes know what to look for.

Therefore, the spaced layout style was used for NoBets in the quantitative stimuli. These participant insights helped to achieve Objective Two. Further, they were vital for informing the quantitative stimuli.

4.7.3 Objective Three: Inform the Stimuli

This section does not discuss the layout or design of the NoBets app; rather, it outlines how the stimuli arrangement was flawed and subsequently improved by participant feedback. Some participants were not accurately reading the descriptions of the functions. They often asked for more information or suggested components to add to functions that were not obvious in the images but were outlined in the descriptions. In these cases, the researcher asked participants to comment on the descriptions to diagnose the problems. However, in all cases they stated that the descriptions were understandable and not too long:

The words make sense. I am just slack and didn't want to read it all if the pic can show me in two seconds.

Further discussion showed that this was an issue of how the descriptions were presented visually:

The explanations do makes sense, but I just only looked at the pictures for some reason. I don't know why—I guess the pictures are eye-catching and the words are just words.

During the quantitative stage, it was imperative that the stimuli could stand on their own. From this insight, adjustments to the stimuli made the descriptions more prominent. This achieved Objective Three. These amendments are presented in Appendix K: Stimuli Amendments.

The participants provided valuable data, and the results of the analyses confirmed the achievement of the qualitative research objectives. Auxiliary findings from the discussions showed that the sample of help-seeking gamblers had some experience with using mHealth; however, they had no experience and minimal awareness of mHealth gambling apps specifically. This suggested that adoption of mHealth gambling apps was low and that there was a need for research into mHealth gambling app adoption. Most importantly, the qualitative objectives were achieved:

1. Create an introduction to mHealth gambling apps that the target audience can understand.

The researcher developed a brief description that referred to a) gambling quit apps and b) a range of functions designed to help quit gambling. The participants quickly and easily understood this definition. Hence, this definition was suitable for the quantitative stage of data collection:

2. Identify the best functions and design for an mHealth gambling app.

Based on the data, a dark blue text with white backdrop was the chosen colour scheme on a spaced layout style for NoBets. The functions that remained in the quantitative stimuli included *Journal, Milestones, The Facts, Bet Blocker, Distraction, Chatroom, Workbook, Support* and *Crisis Help.* The researcher refined NoBets to align with these preferences for the quantitative stage:

3. Inform the stimuli for the quantitative stage of data collection.

The analysis of the data showed that the stimuli illustrated could be refined to reflect the most suitable stimulus arrangement necessary for testing in the quantitative stage.

4.8 Chapter Summary

This chapter introduced the research objectives and detailed how the researcher developed a suitable research methodology and recruited an appropriate sample of help-seeking gamblers. The format of the focus group discussions and the protocols put in place showed the transparency and integrity of the research in this qualitative stage. The data analysis approach was suitable, and the findings explained and demonstrated that the qualitative objectives were achieved. More importantly, the findings fed into the quantitative stage of this study. Chapter Five presents the methodology for the quantitative stage of data collection and how NoBets was used as the quantitative research instrument.

Chapter 5: Quantitative Methodology

5.1 Introduction

Chapter Four presented the methodology of the focus group sessions undertaken, and the findings. Chapter Four also highlighted how the findings from the qualitative data analysis were employed in developing the stimuli to represent the hypothetical mHealth app, NoBets, in the online survey. This chapter provides a comprehensive overview of the methodology used in the quantitative stage of the thesis, including the measures used for each construct. Chapter Five begins by describing the sampling methods used and the process of determining the appropriate sample size. It then details the organisation of the research instrument and reviews the items for each scale measure. Next, the chapter moves into a brief rationalisation of the data analysis approach used to illustrate the results of hypothesis testing, presented in Chapter Six. Last, Chapter Five reviews the efforts made to protect the respondents and the data sourced from those respondents during data collection.

5.2 Research Setting and Respondents

The thesis used an online survey to gather data from suitable respondents. Specifically, the sample was a group of help-seeking gamblers who had contacted gambling support groups for help in managing their gambling behaviour. The respondents were involved in various recovery programs at different stages but identified as recent or current gamblers who gamble(d) at least two days per week. These targeted groups included Family Gambling Help, Relationships Australia Queensland, Lifeline Central Victoria and Mallee, Smart Recovery, Gambling Help New South Wales and the Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation. These groups circulated the link to the online survey along with additional information about the thesis to target respondents. Although participation was incentivised for individuals, the welfare and support groups did not gain financially, or by any other means, from the survey. These groups helped solely with sampling of respondents.

5.3 Sampling

5.3.1 Recruitment

Non-probability, convenience sampling was used to recruit respondents for the survey. Convenience sampling is a suitable technique for exploratory research (Malhotra & Birks, 2007). As noted in Section 5.2, the researcher engaged gambling support groups to promote the survey directly to the target sample; however, these groups were largely resistant to help. Fifty groups rejected requests for support. Ultimately, the seven groups introduced in Section 5.2 helped recruit help-seeking gamblers by posting the survey on their digital platforms (see Appendix L: Groups Contacted for Recruitment). The 'snowballing' effect that comes from promoting directly to target respondents increased exposure of the survey beyond the sampling methods employed. The survey was hosted on the Qualtrics platform. The online survey enabled greater access to a large sample of gamblers involved in varying gambling activities than would be possible with face-to-face methods (Wood & Griffiths, 2007). Using anonymous online surveying is ideal for attracting problem gamblers, or individuals who may wish to be in better control of their gambling behaviour, to protect them from the risk of personal shame and stigma (Griffiths, 2010). Using this approach, the thesis was able to achieve the required sample size.

5.3.2 Sample Size Determination

The researcher determined the sample size for the survey using three criteria: 1) the desired statistical power; 2) the expected effect size; and 3) the statistical techniques to be used for data analysis. Statistical power represents the probability that statistical tests will correctly reject null hypotheses, whereas the effect size indicates the strength of the relationships between variables, where .1 is considered small; .3, medium; and .5, large, (Cohen, 1988). As the main objective of this thesis to examine the influence of antecedents on perceived ease of use and usefulness leading to attitude and intention, as well as possible moderation of the link between attitude and intention by health status severity, the researcher chose a suitable approach to analysis through structural equation modelling.

Appropriate sample size determination is important for research, yet the specific sample size requirements for structural equation modelling research is a controversial issue (Westland,

2010). This is because there is no absolute standard for sample size and no general rule of thumb that applies to research using structural equation modelling (Muthén & Muthén, 2002). Hair et al. (2010) made the general recommendation that structural equation modelling samples should involve 100–400 respondents, and lacobucci et al. (2007) leniently suggested that sample sizes could be as low as 50. This thesis considered these numbers and applied the suggestion by Westland (2010) to estimate the appropriate sample size for structural equation modelling research. That is, a prospective power analysis was conducted based on the estimation of the error function, lower bound sample for a structural equation model and normal distribution cumulative distribution function (see Appendix M: Estimation of the Error Functions, Lower Bound Sample Size for a Structural Equation Model and Normal Distribution Cumulative Distribution for formulae). These formulae were incorporated into an a priori sample size calculator for structural equation models (Soper, 2021). This thsis followed Cohen (1988) and Westland (2010) and applied the following parameter values to calculate the optimal sample size: 13 observed variables, 6 latent variables, .3 anticipated effect size, .05 desired probability and .8 statistical power level. To claim statistical significance, the desired probability value, or *p* value, should typically be less than or equal to .5 (Cohen, 1988). In behavioural research, statistical power levels need to be equal to or greater than .8 (Cohen, 1988). Based on the calculation employed in the thesis, the minimum sample size required to detect the specified effects was 161. This thesis achieved a sample size of 252 usable questionnaires for the hypothesis testing detailed in Chapter Six.

5.4 Data Collection

The online questionnaire was comprised of six segments with a range of question types, including single-item (e.g., age), multi-item (e.g., employment status) and seven-point scale measures determined from the literature as described in Chapter Three (also see Appendix N: Online Survey). Items throughout the survey were randomised to minimise order effects. The scales used in the survey instrument to measure the variables are presented in Section 5.5. Segment One of the survey offered respondents preliminary information about the thesis, participation details, ethics approval details, and links to the detailed information sheet and consent form (see Appendix O: Online Survey Information Sheet and Consent Form). As part of giving consent, respondents indicated their gender and confirmed that they

were above 17 years of age, were completing the survey for the first time, and understood the research, intended outcomes and their right to withdraw at any time. Other demographic questions were positioned at the end of the survey.

Segment Two grouped the gambling-related questions together. It presented the measure for health status severity as a gambling risk level and asked about the respondents' product platform preference (i.e., preferred gambling platform: digital or analogue). Any respondent who was categorised with no gambling risk according to the total points they scored on the Canadian Problem Gambling Index (Ferris & Wynne, 2001) was excluded. Note that unlike the seven-point scale measures used elsewhere in the thesis, the Canadian Problem Gambling Index (Ferris & Wynne, 2001) was excluded. Note that unlike the seven-point scale measures used elsewhere in the thesis, the Canadian Problem Gambling Index uses a four-point scale. This exclusion criterion was applied because individuals presenting no likelihood of problem gambling are not among the intended users of mHealth gambling apps and thus not part of the target population of this thesis. Included respondents were categorised according to their score: 1–2 points implies low risk; 3–7, moderate risk; and >8 at risk (Ferris & Wynne, 2001). This categorisation also allowed for the development of health status severity construct.

Segment Three grouped the measures for user characteristics, including subjective knowledge and involvement, trust, need for personalisation and perceived convenience. The items for these constructs were grouped into a single question using a matrix table to maximise survey brevity and usability. Items were randomised with a forced response.

Segment Four demonstrated the final version of the hypothetical concept app, NoBets (see Figure 5.1), via the stimuli (see Appendix P: Survey Stimuli). NoBets was introduced and detailed in Chapter Four. The app name, product description and respondent instructions accompanied a screenshot of the app home screen to introduce the app. All nine included functions were individually presented through nine matrix tables to each respondent; this presented the images and descriptions. Following this, the segment asked questions about attitude towards the perceived utility of each function. The purpose of these questions about the functions was to force the respondents to engage with the stimuli by providing an evaluation of the functions. Note that the thesis did not use these data from functions; instead, they went into the conference presentation cited in Chapter Four to support the stimulus justification (see Brownlow et al., 2022).



Figure 5.1: Concept App—NoBets

Segment Five presented the measures for technology characteristics and the TAM constructs: gamification, aesthetics, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, attitude and intention. This segment included the method used to observe the adoption behaviour. As introduced in Chapter Three, this segment presented a screen that recommended to respondents a real, existing quit gambling app available from app stores, and offered a link for them to learn more about the product details and download the app for free. In the survey, the link opened in a background tab that allowed respondents to continue in the open survey tab on Qualtrics. The measure was dichotomous as the survey platform recorded whether respondents clicked the link for more information or opted to continue the survey without showing the adoption behaviour.

The final segment was the end of survey message, which offered gratitude to respondents for their time and provided a document with information resources and contact details for welfare organisations (see Appendix F: Gambling Support Information with Contacts for Participants). The measure scales used in the research instrument are introduced in Section 5.5.

5.5 Measurement Scales

The following subsections offer details on the measurement scales derived from the literature and modified as necessary for use in the thesis.

5.5.1 Measuring Health Status Severity

A gambling disorder can be identified by the level of problems and subsequent negative outcomes faced by the gambler. Three screening measures are commonly used in the literature to identify a gambling disorder: 1) a one-item screening (i.e., Have you ever had an issue with your gambling?; Thomas et al., 2009); 2) the three-item Brief Bio-Social Gambling Screen (Gebauer et al., 2010), which assesses withdrawal, lying and financial difficulties; and 3) the three-item Short Problem Gambling Screen (Toce-Gerstein et al., 2009), which assesses lying, preoccupation and control. Although these screens are efficient, they lack the complexity for categorisation the severity of gambling disorders, preventing comparisons between groups. To remedy this, the thesis uses the Canadian Problem Gambling Index (Ferris & Wynne, 2001). This nine-item measure assesses involvement in gambling, problem behaviours, consequences and correlates of harm, and categorises gamblers by risk level and frequency of these habits on a four-point scale (Ferris & Wynne, 2001). It was important to categorise the respondents in the current thesis using the different risk levels to filter out individuals with no indication of problem gambling (i.e., no risk) as they were not the intended sample. The items for the measure are presented in Table 5.1: Health Status Severity (HSS) Items.

Table 5.1: Health Status Severity (HSS) Items

Thinking about the last 12 months...

HSS1.	Have you ever bet more than you could afford to lose?
HSS2.	Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement?
HSS3.	Have you gone back another day to try to win back the money you lost?
HSS4.	Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble?
HSS5.	Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling?
HSS6.	Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety?
HSS7.	Have people criticised your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true?
HSS8.	Has your gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household?
HSS9.	Have you felt guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble?

Response format: 0 = never; 1 = sometimes; 2 = most of the time; 3 = almost always.

5.5.2 Measuring Product Platform Preference

Two product platform preferences were recorded in this study. The first was digital gambling, which is the use of a personal device such as a smartphone, tablet or computer to gamble. The second was analogue gambling, which is the use of public mechanisms in analogue settings for gambling, such as casinos, bookies, poker machines and KENO. Categorising gamblers based on platform preference is not uncommon in the literature (see Hing et al., 2021). To measure platform preference, the survey asked respondents about their gambling preferences via three options: 1) digital – using personal devices, such as a mobile phone or personal computer, 2) analogue – at events or via machines at venues and 3) no preference. It is known that experience with technology, in particular smartphones and apps, facilitates the transition to digital gambling from analogue gambling (James et al., 2017) and that gambling via apps is the most popular form of gambling globally (James et al., 2019). However, it is unknown how product platform preference, such as a digital gambling preference over analogue, can influence adoption of gambling quit apps. This missing information represents a significant gap in our understanding. The investigation of product platform preference was not hypothesised and is offered as supplementary testing in this thesis.

5.5.3 Measuring User Characteristics

Subjective Knowledge and Involvement

Subjective knowledge is a consumer's perception of their own expertise with respect to a product, service or activity (Monroe, 1976; Wirtz & Mattila, 2003). The multi-item measurement scale developed by Flynn and Goldsmith (1993) was used in the current study to measure respondents' self-assessed opinion of their knowledge of apps generally. Research has shown subjective knowledge to be highly associated with product, service or activity involvement with past research; but when used together, they have not been found to be discriminant statistically, such as in an exploratory factors analysis (Bloch, 1986; Flynn & Goldsmith, 1993). Hence, subjective knowledge and involvement in this thesis were treated as a single construct measuring both (subject to scale validation tests). This was justified because the literature introduces need, value and interests as the underlying constructs of involvement (Zaichkowsky, 1985). Contemporary involvement with technology is someone's perceived relevance rather than a measure of exact use (Mano & Oliver, 1993). Following these insights, the measure used in this thesis was adapted from Mittal (1995) to suit the app context. The items for the measure are presented in Table 5.2.

Table 5.2: Subjective Knowledge and Involvement (SKI) Items

- SKI1. I know how to judge the quality of 'apps'.
- SKI2. I use apps extensively.
- SKI3. I feel confident when I use 'apps'.
- SKI4. I feel confident about my knowledge of 'apps'.
- SKI5. I have a strong interest in 'apps'.
- SKI6. 'Apps' are important to my lifestyle.
- SKI7. Using 'apps' gives me pleasure.

Response format: 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree.

Trust in Apps

Trust entails consumer confidence in a product to fulfil its promise or purpose while preserving integrity. A consumer trusts a product or service when they believe it will meet both their direct (i.e., satisfying immediate needs) and indirect expectations (i.e., being free of errors and malfunctions; Lu et al., 2011). Hence, this thesis measured trust in regard to both direct and indirect expectations of apps, by developing measurement items based on the scale developed by Slade et al. (2015). The items for the measure are presented in Table 5.3.

Table 5.3: Trust (T) Items

- T1. I trust 'apps' are reliable.
- T2. I think 'apps' are secure.
- T3. I trust 'apps' to do the job right.
- T4. I believe 'apps' are trustworthy.

Response format: 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree.

Need for Personalisation

To quantify a consumer's need for personalisation of apps, a measure needs to address how important personalisation of an app and its content are to the user. Personalised technology is user centric and tailored based on user preferences (Wang et al., 2006). Past research findings suggest that personalisation should emphasise long-term values and benefits for consumers (Fan & Poole, 2006; Postma & Brokke, 2002). Accordingly, this thesis developed a measurement scale for the need for personalisation based on the work of Tan and Chou (2008). The items for this measure are presented in Table 5.4.

Table 5.4: Need for Personalisation (P) Items

- P1. 'Apps' should have information specific and valuable to me.
- P2. 'Apps' should continuously customise to my needs.
- P3. I only want to receive useful information from 'apps'.

Response format: 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree.

Perceived Convenience

Perceived convenience is a characteristic of the individual measured by the observed speed of technology where availability and accessibility reduce the effort required to use it (Berry et al., 2002). It relates to the time and effort that a consumer believes is needed to use a product to complete a task (Brown, 1990). Marketing researchers distinguish convenience from the monetary value of products by measuring the time and effort that consumers surrender for convenience (see Etgar, 1978; Kelley, 1958; Kotler & Zaltman, 1971). Following this notion, this thesis measured perceived convenience using the items developed by Childers et al. (2001), adapted for mobile apps. The items for the measure are presented in Table 5.5.

Table 5.5: Perceived Convenience (C) Items

C1. 'Apps' save time.

- C2. 'Apps' are convenient to use.
- C3. Using 'apps' is an efficient way to do things.

Response format: 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree.

5.5.4 Measuring for Technology Characteristics

Gamification

Gamifying involves adding game-like elements to apps that engage the user (Jin, 2016). Definitions of gamification and common gamified features generally include progress via rewards, points or levels, and entertainment (Jin, 2016; Swan, 2012; Xu, 2012; Zichermann & Cunningham, 2011). Noting that the hypothetical app developed for this thesis, NoBets, was introduced through the stimuli at this point, the measures for gamification were based on the items developed by Baptista and Oliveira (2017) for app gamification. These items are presented in Table 5.6.

Table 5.6: Gamification (G) Items

G1.	This new 'app	' looks enjoyak	le: people would	probably use it a lot.
-----	---------------	-----------------	------------------	------------------------

- G2. This new 'app' seems fun: people will want to use it.
- G3. This new 'app' gives rewards, so people would probably use it.

Response format: 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree.

Aesthetics

Aesthetics of technology is the subjective judgement of attractiveness of the device and the content displayed (Bhandari et al., 2015). Hence, items used for this measure in this study were framed to reflect the on-screen presentation of the app via the stimuli. Empirical studies

have shown how aesthetics can be measured experimentally to test for effects of beauty on behaviour or through the exploration of people's subjective perceptions of appearance (Berlyne, 1974; Lavie & Tractinsky, 2004; Swede, 1993). This thesis employed the former with an interest in measuring aesthetics for its effect on app perceptions and behaviour. Further, Gestalt Theory argues that the experimental approach should measure aesthetics as a whole rather than by component (Foster, 1995; Osborne & Balakian, 1968). Hence, the items used for aesthetics reflect the entire app rather than its parts or a sum of the parts. Accordingly, based on Cyr et al. (2006), the researcher developed four items to measure perceived aesthetics in the mHealth app interfaces. The items for the measure are presented in Table 5.7.

Table 5.7: Aesthetics (AE) Items

- AE1. This new 'app' has attractive screen designs (colours, boxes, etc.)
- AE2. This new 'app' looks professionally designed.
- AE3. This new 'app' looks and feels visually appealing.
- AE4. This new 'app' has meaningful graphics.

Response format: 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree.

5.5.5 Measuring Perceived Ease of Use, Perceived Usefulness, Attitude and Intention

The measurement scales used for perceived ease of use and usefulness, attitude and intention were taken from the original definitions in the TAM (Davis et al., 1989) and adapted for this thesis. Perceived usefulness is assessed by the assumed ability of technology to perform the task better than alternative means, where the effort of using the technology is a worthwhile trade-off (Davis, 1989). Perceived ease of use is the expected freedom from effort in using the technology compared with a traditional alternative (Davis, 1989). An attitude towards a behaviour or object can be measured by the degree of favourable or unfavourable evaluation held (Copeland, 1923). Intention is the planned behaviour (Fishbein, 1967). The measures for perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, attitude and intention for NoBets presented in the stimuli were based on the items developed for mobile apps by Chau and Hu (2002). The items for these measures are presented in Table 5.8.

Table 5.8: Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU), Perceived Usefulness (PU), Attitude (ATT) andIntention (INT) Items

PEOU1.	This new 'app' would be easy to get it to do what I want.
PEOU2.	This new 'app' would be difficult to become skilful with.
PEOU3.	This new 'app' would be easy to use.
PEOU4.	It would be easy for me to learn how to use this 'app'.
PU1.	This new 'app' would be useful for quitting/changing gambling.
PU2.	This new 'app' can probably improve unwanted gambling behaviour.
PU3.	This new 'app' can probably improve the ability to control gambling.
PU4.	This new 'app' would make quitting/controlling gambling easier.
ATT1.	This new 'app' is, overall, a good 'app'.
ATT2.	This new 'app' is unpleasant.
ATT3.	This new 'app' would be beneficial to people.
INT1.	I might use an app like this to manage my gambling at some point.
INT2.	In the future, I intend to use this type of 'app'.
INT3.	I predict I will use an 'app' like this eventually.

Response format: 1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree.

5.6 Data Analysis

Analysis of the data involved descriptive and inferential analysis through a series of statistical tests. For the descriptive statistics, means testing of groups within variables, descriptive statistics and linear regression were used to profile the sample. For inferential analysis, a confirmatory factor analysis tested the validity and reliability of the measurement items. SPSS version 27.0 was the statistical tool used to perform these tests. After model fit was demonstrated, structural equation modelling was used to test the model paths via AMOS SPSS version 27.0, to examine the stated hypotheses. This technique is also suitable for multi-group testing, as explored in this thesis. These forms of analysis and their justification are detailed in Chapter Six.

5.7 Protection of Human Subjects

The researcher conducted data collection in an ethical manner to protect respondents. The thesis gained approval from the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) (see Appendix G: Human Research Ethics Committee Approval Notice). The data have the potential to be considered protected health information under some legislation (Office for Civil Rights, 2003). Hence, participation was voluntary, and efforts were taken to ensure anonymity. The researcher separated the email addresses used to distribute the participation gift vouchers from the survey data. No psychological harm or coercion was involved in the data collection. These efforts were based on standards established by the 'safe harbor' method of de-identification of data (Office for Civil Rights, 2003). All data collected were stored electronically in a password-protected personal computer.

5.8 Treatment of Data

Collection of quality data ensured rigour of the findings of the thesis. The researcher deleted all incomplete surveys (dropouts) from the sample, and the forced response settings required respondents to answer all questions. Based on a recommendation of Reuning and Plutzer (2020), the researcher removed surveys that did not have sufficient response variance scores (i.e., straight-liners and near straight-liners) via Likert scale deviation testing. Additionally, responses with excessive variance scores (i.e., erratic scoring on Likert scales) were removed (Reuning & Plutzer, 2020). Further, the research omitted responses with a completion time of less than five minutes because of concerns that these respondents may not have fully understood the questions and answered them earnestly, reducing the subsequent data quality. To prevent repeated submissions, only one submission was allowed from each IP address detected by the Qualtrics platform.

5.9 Chapter Summary

Chapter Five presented a detailed description of the quantitative data collection methodology, explaining the measures used, sampling method and sample size determination. The chapter outlined the survey content and procedures before explaining the instrument and supporting procedures and detailing the measures of individual constructs.

Chapter Five concluded with an outline of the tests performed to test the hypothesised relationships in the causal model. It then discussed in detail how the thesis made additional efforts to protect the respondents and the data collected, particularly around ethical data collection and treatment of respondents and how data were handled securely. This summarised the methodological approach for achieving the research objectives and enabling the thesis to make important contributions. Next, Chapter Six is devoted to presenting the data analysis and hypothesis testing results.

Chapter 6: Quantitative Analysis and Results

6.1 Introduction

The previous chapter provided a detailed overview of the quantitative methodology employed in the thesis. This overview included the sampling methods for the empirical study, sample size determination calculations and the organisation of the online questionnaire used in the survey. Chapter Five also provided the rationale for the data analysis approach used to illustrate the results of hypothesis testing and concluded by outlining the steps taken to ensure the research was conducted ethically with consideration of the participants and treatment of data.

Chapter Six presents the results of the quantitative data analysis and hypothesis testing. Via a series of statistical analyses, the research tested hypotheses to investigate a range of constructs for how they influence consumers' perceptions of app ease of use and usefulness, with flow-on effects to intention to adopt the hypothetical mHealth app, NoBets. The methods included i) descriptive statistics and testing of the means to describe the sample, ii) testing to detect collinearity, iii) exploratory factor analysis to prepare the data for structural equation modelling to test the causal model, iv) testing for indirect (mediation analysis) and interactive effects (moderation analysis) and v) supplementary multi-group testing to offer additional insights into the direct paths. This chapter also details the confirmatory factor analysis, including steps taken to set up, estimate and evaluate model fit; assess the validity and reliability of the models; and detection of common method bias. Results are presented through a series of tables and figures within the chapter.

6.2 Statistical Techniques for Data Analysis

Analysing the data involved descriptive and inferential statistics. For descriptive statistics, measures of central tendency and of variability, as well as crosstabs (i.e., contingency tables) profiled the sample. For inferential statistics and hypothesis testing, several techniques analysed the quantitative data, with structural equation modelling serving as the primary technique to test the hypotheses proposed in the conceptual model. A limitation of this type

of path analysis is that it generally cannot present many hypotheses through paths – this can be overcome with structural equation modelling.

Structural equation modelling is an advanced multivariate technique that combines confirmatory factor analysis and multiple regressions in a single model while also assessing relationship interdependence and dependence of the variables (Kline, 2015). It has significant advantages over other comparable multi-variate techniques (Nunkoo & Ramkissoon, 2012); however, it is not without limitations. One major limitation of structural equation modelling is the complexity of the technique, for example, path coefficients, factor loadings and variances, so a common practice amongst researchers is to supplement the results with post hoc justifications to bring the model in line with the data (Kaplan, 2001). However, this limitation can be overcome with appropriate guidance (Nunkoo & Ramkissoon, 2012). The technique allows researchers to construct unobserved latent variables and estimate any relationships among the latent constructs that are uncontaminated by measurement errors (Kline, 2015). This is particularly important as common tests, such as an analysis of variance, ignore the potential measurement error in the model, which may cause bias in the estimated parameters and generate misleading inferences (Wang & Wang, 2019). Structural equation modelling can concurrently model multiple dependent variables and test for overall model fit; manage non-normal data well; and measure direct and indirect effects simultaneously (Wang & Wang, 2019). Further, structural equation-based, multi-group analysis is a recognised method of grouping (or splitting) data based on criteria and analysing each group's direct paths, offering deeper insights into the relationships (Al-edenat & Alhawamdeh, 2022). The advantages noted here that structural equation modelling has over other modelling approaches, particularly the ability to conduct multi-group analyses, makes it most suitable for this thesis.

To test for the validity of the measurement items, exploratory factors analysis was conducted. Exploratory factor analysis allows researchers to easily identify problematic variables (Goldberg & Velicer, 2006). Confirmatory factor analysis determined the reliability of the measurement items, while model fit indices measured discrepancies between observed and model-implied correlation/covariance matrices. The researcher tested direct causal relationships between constructs and indirect (mediation) paths via a user-defined estimands approach. This mediation approach has the disadvantages of selection bias and missing data;

however, the analysis can contribute to a better understanding of the relationships between the variables, particularly when there is no obvious connection. The research tested the interactive (moderation) path using an interaction variable. Last, the research tested direct paths with two sets of split samples as part of multi-group analyses. This chapter outlines the statistical analysis and results. The interpretation of the findings and their contributions are presented in Chapter Seven. IBM SPSS and AMOS versions 27 were the statistical solutions to conduct the afore-mentioned analyses. Before the sample is introduced, this chapter first outlines steps taken to manage missing data.

6.3 Dealing with Missing Data

Missing data or values occur when a data value is not stored fully or correctly in a variable (Graham, 2009). The challenge of missing data is that they are common in most research and can influence conclusions drawn from the data. Hence, it is important to check for missing data, or better yet, prevent them entirely (Kang, 2013). Particularly around sensitive research topics like gambling, participants often withhold information in their responses (Griffiths, 2010), so measures need to be taken to avoid collection of missing data caused by respondents withholding information. In this thesis, to avoid collection of false data, e.g., respondents underreporting a certain behaviour, the instrument included minimal questions about gambling behaviours and spendings, and questions focussed on gambling preferences. To avoid missing data, the forced response setting required participants to answer all questions in the survey. Despite these measures, some missing data occurred in the form of partially completed surveys and surveys without sufficient response variance (i.e., straight-liners). To ensure the conclusions drawn from this thesis would be based on valid data, the researcher removed these partial and poor variance responses from the dataset.

6.4 Descriptive Analysis: Sample Profile

The quantitative sample consisted of 252 respondents who completed an online survey. The survey recorded limited demographic details (see Table 6.1: Sample Characteristics for an overview). Participants ranged from 18 to 88 years of age. The sample included 139 females (mean age 46.5 years), 109 males (mean age 42.0 years), one non-binary participant (aged

26) and three respondents who opted to not disclose their gender (mean age 47.0 years). A female-dominant sample of gamblers is uncommon. Gambling and gambling harm are presented by men more than women (Zhongming et al., 2021), and gambling studies generally contain male-dominant samples, leading to gender bias (Horch & Hodgins, 2013). The reason for the sample skew is that women are more likely than men to perform health-protective behaviours and participate in health behaviour research (Ryan et al., 2019). With regard to the education levels of the sample, 129 respondents (52.3%) were university educated, 120 respondents (47.6%) identified high school or a TAFE qualification as their highest level of education and the remaining three participants (1.2%) reported that they had received no formal education. All respondents indicated that they had never used an mHealth gambling app; however, this was not a prerequisite for inclusion. This outcome may have been a result of promoting the survey through groups and organisations with bricks-and-mortar offices and clinics, and the results may have been different if the sample did not have this commonality.

Individuals had to present certain gambling attributes to participate in the survey. As a prerequisite to participation, only individuals who presented symptoms of problem gambling according to the Canadian Problem Gambling Index (Ferris & Wynne, 2001) completed the study. Based on their self-assessments of certain gambling behaviours and their subsequent index scores, the sample included 138 low-risk gamblers (54.8%), 47 moderate-risk gamblers (18.7%) and 67 at-risk/problem gamblers (26.6%). These different levels of gambling risk represented a proxy of participants' health status severity. Regarding product platform preference, most of the participants gambled digitally—143 (56.7%) using personal devices, such as smartphones and computers to place bets (in this thesis labelled as digital gamblers)— and the remaining 109 (43.3%) gambled at physical venues, including casinos, bars and betting venues (in this thesis labelled as analogue gamblers). The thesis observed the adoption behaviour for 111 participants (44%); that is, participants who opted to seek more information about a recommended quit app when offered a website link at the end of the online survey. The sample characteristics are presented in

Table 6.1.

Profile	Characteristics	Count	Percentage
Gender	Female	139	55.2
	Male	109	43.3
	Other	4	1.5
Age (years)	18–30	59	23.4
	31–50	101	40.1
	50+	92	36.5
Education level	No formal education	3	1.2
	High school or TAFE	120	47.6
	Tertiary	129	52.3
Health status severity (gambling risk	Low risk	138	54.8
level)	Moderate risk	47	18.7
	At-risk/problem	67	26.6
Product platform preference (gambling	Digital	143	56.7
preference)	Analogue	109	43.3
Adoption behaviour	Yes	111	44.0
	No	141	56.0

Table 6.1: Sample Characteristics

n = 252

6.5 Descriptive Analysis: Preliminary Findings

To illustrate the characteristics of the sample, cross-tabulation analyses provided some insight into the sample and basic relationships between variables. The benefit of this test is that obvious identifiers, such as demographics, can be separated into exclusive groups and contrasted to show relationships that are not readily apparent (Dickinson, 2020). Though not hypothesised on in this thesis, the purpose of these analyses is to examine linkages between the factors of education level, health status severity, product platform preference, gender and age. Findings show some conflicting results relative to the literature. Chi-square testing in SPSS was performed.

This thesis identified an uncommon relationship between education level and health status severity. Previous research in Australia (Abbott et al., 2016) and internationally (Ekholm et al.,

2014) has identified an inverse relationship between the level of education and problem gambling; whereas in the current study sample, higher formal education levels were associated with higher gambling severity. University-educated participants more strongly presented at-risk/problem gambling tendencies (n = 50, 19.8% of the sample) than did participants whose highest level of educational completion was high school or TAFE (n = 17, 6.8%). Respondents with less formal education were mostly positioned in the low (n = 68, 27%) and moderate risk (n = 35, 13.9%) groups, outnumbering university-educated participants.

Further, linkages between adoption behaviour and health status severity, gender, product platform preference (gambling preference), education level and age were explored because this topic is underrepresented in the literature and thus the analysis provided novel insights. Chi-square testing showed that the 111 (44%) participants who sought information on mHealth gambling apps, were significantly more likely to be at-risk/problem gamblers ($\chi(2) = 73.39$, p < .001), men ($\chi(3) = 16.62$, p < .001), digital gamblers ($\chi(1) = 28.96$, p < .001) and university-educated participants ($\chi(4) = 29.98$, p < .001) than were those who did not seek further information. Age had no effect on adoption behaviour ($\chi(5) = 9.80$, p = .08). These findings suggest that well-educated males with more severe health statuses, a digital platform preference and high levels of formal education are the likely adopters of mHealth apps. These findings offer some insights into the characteristics of the sample. The properties of the constructs used for hypothesis testing are shown in Table 6.2.

Construct	Mean	Standard deviation
Subjective knowledge and involvement	4.28	1.80
Trust	3.99	1.72
Need for personalisation	4.48	1.70
Perceived convenience	5.00	1.63
Gamification	3.76	2.27
Aesthetics	3.98	1.84
Perceived ease of use	4.57	1.55
Perceived usefulness	4.89	1.55
Attitude	5.33	1.62
Adoption intention	3.93	2.43

Table 6.2: Properties of Constructs

6.6 Testing for Linearity

Linearity is the consistent slope of change that shows a relationship between variables (Hansen, 1999). If linearity between constructs is not consistent (i.e., the relationship is radically inconsistent), the reliability of structural equation modelling analyses can be reduced (Tarka, 2018). An ANOVA test is a simple yet rigorous means to check for linearity (Gaskin, 2022). A significance (*p*) value of less than .05 shows that the relationship between an independent and a dependent variable is not linear and is thus problematic (Gaskin, 2022). The results of the ANOVA test show that, with the exception of that between trust and adoption intention, no relationship was significant (see Table 6.3; Tarka, 2018). This indicated that structural equation modelling would be a reliable test to identify causal relationships involving the other constructs in the model.

Independent variable	Significance
Subjective knowledge and involvement	.58
Trust	.02
Need for personalisation	.26
Perceived convenience	.49
Gamification	.13
Aesthetics	.13
Perceived ease of use	.21
Perceived usefulness	.16
Attitude	.15

Table 6.3: Deviation from Linearity

Note: The dependent variable for this analysis is adoption intention.

6.6.1 Multicollinearity

Whereas linearity considers the linear relationship between independent variables, multicollinearity represents a linear relationship among independent variables even if no pair has a high correlation. Multicollinearity is undesirable, as it can result in incorrect tests of significance given insufficient unique variance between independent variables (O'Brien, 2007). Multicollinearity can lead to skewed and misleading results because it can cause wider confidence intervals that produce less reliable probabilities for the effect of independent variables (Alin, 2010). To test for multicollinearity, tolerance and variance inflation factors for each construct were assessed for any indications of multicollinearity issues, which would include low tolerance measures and high variance inflation factor values (O'Brien, 2007; see Table 6.4). Results shows that all tolerance measures were higher than the preferred threshold of .10 and none of the variance inflation factor values exceeded the suggested maximum of 3.0 (O'Brien, 2007). The only exception was perceived ease of use (variance inflation factor = 3.25), which was considered above the suggested maximum but still below the acceptable maximum of 5.0 (Gareth et al., 2013). This confirmed that there were no multicollinearity issues.

Variable	Tolerance	Variance inflation factor
Subjective knowledge and involvement	.457	2.020
Trust	.470	2.130
Need for personalisation	.574	1.741
Perceived convenience	.502	1.993
Gamification	.463	2.162
Aesthetics	.551	1.816
Perceived ease of use	.307	3.257
Perceived usefulness	.683	1.463
Attitude	.686	1.458
Adoption intention	.569	1.756

Table 6.4: Collinearity Statistics

6.7 Exploratory Factor Analysis

Exploratory factor analysis is a statistical technique used to determine the correlation between constructs in a dataset, enabling them to be grouped based on correlation strength (Costello & Osborne, 2005). An exploratory factor analysis prepares and 'validates' the constructs to be used in a structural equation modelling analysis. This method prepares the variables for cleaner structural equation modelling (Williams et al., 2010). The exploratory factor analysis component is a criticism of structural equation modelling in that the technique is not based on raw data but on empirical covariances. Important components of an exploratory factor analysis covered here are rotation, appropriateness of data, communalities, factor structure and convergent and discriminant validity.

6.7.1 Rotation

Rotation allows for clear differentiation of factor loadings. This is important for interpretation of data. While several rotation types exist, normality testing in this study determined that varimax rotation was the most appropriate in this thesis. Normality refers to the distribution of data for a specific variable and can be measured by skewness (data are abnormally weighted in one direction) and kurtosis (the position of outliers in the distribution; Gaskin, 2022). As recommended by Streiner (2005), this thesis performed multivariate normality testing to assess normality. Neither skewness nor kurtosis were significant, indicating the data were normally distributed, with values less than the +/-2.2 (Gaskin, 2022) and +/-1 (Sposito et al., 1983) thresholds hold respectively (see Table 6.5).

Test	Statistic	Significance
Mardia skewness	1.39	.20
Mardia kurtosis	.97	.18

Table 6.5: Multivariate Normality

A varimax rotation is suitable for normally distributed data (Fabrigar et al., 1999). Hence, varimax rotation was used in this study. Compared with other rotations, varimax renders a more accurate factor solution as it allows correlation between factors (Osborne et al., 2014).

6.7.2 Appropriateness of Data

Testing for appropriateness of data is important for verifying whether the measured variables are sufficiently intercorrelated, thus justifying the factor analysis (Watkins, 2018). A robust method for testing the factorability of a correlation matrix is the Bartlett's test of sphericity supplemented by the Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin measure of sampling adequacy (Watkins, 2018). Most of the items showed acceptable factorability as judged by the Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin measure (see Table 6.6), which exceeded the .80 threshold required for factorability (Tabachnick et al., 2007). Bartlett's test of sphericity (p < .001) also indicated sufficient deviation from anormal distribution, meaning that the variables related to one another enough to enable a meaningful exploratory factor analysis.

	Test	Value
Kaiser-Meyer-O adequacy.	Ikin measure of sampling	.84
Bartlett's test	Approximate Chi-Square	15408.93
of sphericity	df	703
	Significance	<.000

 Table 6.6: Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy and Bartlett's Test of

 Sphericity

6.7.3 Communalities

Communalities are indicators of the degree of variance in each variable accounted for by all factors (Hogarty et al., 2005). Communalities show the extent to which an item is correlated with all other items in the measurement scale, where higher communalities are better (Hogarty et al., 2005). If communalities for a variable are low (.0–.4) there may be challenges in loading onto a single factor (Costello & Osborne, 2005). In this thesis, all items across the constructs scored communalities above the benchmark of .75 (Sharma et al., 2005), indicating that no items needed to be removed (see Table 6.7).

ltem	Initial	Extraction	Item	Initial	Extraction	Item	Initial	Extraction
SKI1	1.000	.919	Р3	1.000	.821	PEOU3	1.000	.856
SKI2	1.000	.768	C1	1.000	.872	PEOU4	1.000	.943
SKI3	1.000	.871	C2	1.000	.886	PU1	1.000	.878
SKI4	1.000	.840	C3	1.000	.856	PU2	1.000	.937
SKI5	1.000	.859	G1	1.000	.875	PU3	1.000	.789
SKI6	1.000	.867	G2	1.000	.832	PU4	1.000	.902
SKI7	1.000	.780	G3	1.000	.804	ATT1	1.000	.817
T1	1.000	.907	AE1	1.000	.781	ATT2	1.000	.806
Т2	1.000	.937	AE2	1.000	.778	ATT3	1.000	.791
Т3	1.000	.955	AE3	1.000	.875	INT1	1.000	.867
T4	1.000	.904	AE4	1.000	.909	INT2	1.000	.879
P1	1.000	.848	PEOU1	1.000	.845	INT3	1.000	.855
P2	1.000	.851	PEOU2	1.000	.946			

Table 6.	7: Co	mmun	alities
----------	-------	------	---------

Extraction method: Principal component analysis.

6.7.4 Factor Structure

Factor structure refers to the correlational relationship among a number of variables tested in an exploratory factor analysis to measure particular constructs. The test results shows how variables group or load onto factors. An ideal structure shows each variable strongly loading onto a single factor with minimal cross-loading to present a clean factor structure. Put simply, an equal number of variables and factors each spread evenly represents a perfect structure. In this study, coefficients below .4 were suppressed to avoid displaying negligible crossloading and make results easier to interpret (Hair et al., 2010; Hogan et al., 2009; Osborne et al., 2014; Samuels, 2016). As shown in Table 6.8: Rotated Component Matrix, most variables loaded onto a unique factor accounting for a significant proportion of the variance. The exception was perceived convenience and need for personalisation, which cross-loaded onto a factor together, as did attitude with adoption intention. There was no cross-loading of individual items across factors. As expected, all items from both attitude and adoption intention loaded onto the same factor (factor three 14.14% of variance explained). The likely explanation for this is that attitude and intention are concurrent. The Theory of Reasoned Action (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980), the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) (Davis et al., 1989) and the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (Venkatesh et al., 2003a) argue that attitude reflects intention. Therefore, construct validity testing was carried out to check whether these constructs were sufficiently discriminant. One other factor cross-loaded: perceived convenience and need for personalisation loaded (factor four 7.41% of variance explained). Again, construct validity testing showed that these constructs were sufficiently discriminant.

	Factor							
Item	One	Two	Three	Four	Five	Six	Seven	Eight
SKI1	.901							
SKI2	.763							
SKI3	.914							
SKI4	.852							
SKI5	.853							
SKI6	.891							
SKI7	.812							
T1							.825	
Т2							.891	
Т3							.877	
T4							.885	
P1				.813*				

Table 6.8: Rotated Component Matrix
	Factor									
Item	One	Two	Three	Four	Five	Six	Seven	Eight		
P2				.742*						
Р3				.769*						
C1				.766*						
C2				.768*						
C3				.719*						
G1		.817								
G2		.800								
G3		.730								
AE1								.859		
AE2								.696		
AE3								.874		
AE4								.890		
PEOU1					.889					
PEOU2					.925					
PEOU3					.805					
PEOU4					.916					
PU1						.853				
PU2						.858				
PU3						.712				
PU4						.921				
ATT1			.759*							
ATT2			.754*							
ATT3			.749*							
INT1			.891*							
INT2			.891*							
INT3			.872*							
% variance per factor	25.92	22.96	14.14	7.41	5.54	4.23	3.80	2.00		
Eigenvalues	9.85	8.44	5.38	2.82	2.10	1.63	1.44	1.05		

Extraction method: Principal component analysis.

Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser normalisation.

Note. Rotation converged in eight iterations. Values with * indicate double loading.

6.7.5 Convergent Validity

When variables within a single factor are highly correlated, there is convergent validity. There are thresholds for sufficient or significant factor loadings. Convergent latent constructs should have measures with over 50% of explained or common variance to be adequate for convergent validity (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). Similarly, Hair et al. (2010) posited that average variance extracted and standardised factor loadings should be at least .50 to show adequate convergence. Based on Fornell and Larcker (1981), average variance extracted for the latent construct with indicator variables x_1 , x_2 ... x_n was calculated using the following formula:

$$\begin{split} & \Sigma[\lambda_i^2] \text{Var}(X) \\ & AVE = \underbrace{} \\ & \Sigma[\lambda_i^2] \text{Var}(X) + \Sigma[\text{Var}(\mathcal{E}_i)] \end{split}$$

where λ_i^2 is the standardised loading of x_i on X, Var represents variance, ε_i represents measurement error of x_i and Σ is the sum (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). Construct reliability should score .70 at a minimum (Hair et al., 2010). This was calculated using standardised loadings of indicator variables and measurement error (ε_i) in the following formula from Hair et al. (2010):

Convergent validity was assessed from factor loadings for each item extracted by confirmatory factor analysis. Convergent validity indicates the consistency in measurement (Hair et al., 1998). This is achieved when the items within a single factor are highly correlated with each other and is verified through the average variance extracted (Ahmad et al., 2016). Whereas factor loadings indicate the relationship between a construct and its loadings, the average variance extracted is a measure of the average amount of variance that latent constructs can explain (dos Santos & Cirillo, 2021). This assesses convergence. The average variance extracted was calculated as the sum of squared standardised factor loadings divided by the number of manifest (indicator) variables (Hair et al., 2010). de Winter et al. (2009) suggested that for a sample size of 252, a sufficient average variance extracted score should be no less than .4. However, Coakes and Steed (2012) stated that factor loadings with a minimum value .50 that average out to .70 or more per factor are appropriate regardless of

sample size, which was supported by Hatcher and O'Rourke (2013) and Ahmad et al. (2016). The average variance extracted for all variables was greater than .70 (see Table 6.9). Testing was performed using AMOS 27.0.

Latent construct	Average variance extracted
Subjective knowledge and involvement	.79
Trust	.89
Need for personalisation	.87
Perceived convenience	.92
Gamification	.86
Aesthetics	.82
Perceived ease of use	.89
Perceived usefulness	.79
Attitude	.94
Adoption intention	.96

Table 6.9: Average Variance Extracted

6.7.6 Discriminant Validity

Discriminant validity is a measure of whether a scale is distinct from other variables and is accomplished when the model has no redundant items (Ahmad et al., 2016). This was examined using criteria from Fornell and Larcker (1981) who suggested the items should be highly loaded on their respective constructs. Discriminant validity occurs when variables relate more strongly to their own factor than another (Coakes & Steed, 2012). Average variance extracted can estimate discriminant validity (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). When squared correlations between latent constructs are less than an individual average variance extracted, the latent constructs have greater extracted variance than the variance shared between the latent constructs (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). Discriminant validity of the target latent variables occurs when this variance is seen across all latent constructs. The square root of the average variance extracted must be higher than the correlation between the two constructs (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). A further requirement for discriminant validity is that the correlation among the latent exogenous constructs is less than .85. Exogenous constructs are not influenced by other constructs in the system or model; they are determined outside the model and then brought in (Awang, 2015; Kline, 2015).

6.8 Confirmatory Factor Analysis

Confirmatory factor analysis is the next step after exploratory factor analysis. This analysis determines the best factor structure for data to obtain a more interpretable factor solution through rotation. Unlike an exploratory factor analysis, which explores how variables relate to each other and group together based on correlations, a confirmatory factor analysis is used to confirm the factor structure (Brown, 2015).

6.8.1 Model Fit

Model fit is how well data match the relationships hypothesised in a model, and good fit is achieved by accounting for the major correlations. Good model fit is important because it means that that model represents the data. In this thesis, the model chi-square (χ^2) goodness-of-fit statistic and corresponding *p* value tested the overall model fit. If the *p* value associated with the χ^2 statistic is above .05, the model is accepted as having a good fit with the expectation of accepting the null hypotheses (Wang & Wang, 2019). Acceptance of the null indicates that no difference between the estimated model and observed sample variance and covariance is identified (Hooper et al., 2008). However, researchers have noted that the χ^2 statistic (Wang & Wang, 2019). Kline (2015) recommended four indices to demonstrate acceptable model fit: 1) the model Chi-square (CMIN/DF), 2) the root mean square error of approximation, 3) the Comparative Fit Index, and 4) the standardised root mean square residual. Table 6.10 shows acceptable model fit values for the four indices.

Fit indices	Structural model	Accepted level
Chi-square (CMIN/DF)	4.97	<5.00 (Wheaton et al., 1977) >2.00 (Byrne, 2013)
Root mean square error of approximation	.012	<.08 (Kenny & McCoach, 2003; Kline, 2015)
Comparative Fit Index	.84	≥.80 (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Kline, 2015)
Standardised root mean square residual	.07	<.08 (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Kline, 2015)

Table 6.10: Fit Indices

First, Chi-square assesses overall fit by judging discrepancies between the sample and fitted covariance matrices (Kenny & McCoach, 2003). The Chi-square fit is particularly sensitive to sample size in that it can fail to detect true difference when the sample size is small. Chi-square values are expected to be non-significant when there is good model fit; however, they are almost always significant even in cases of good fit (Mindrila, 2010), as was the case in the present dataset (p < .001). Thus, they can generally be replaced with tests more suited for the sample size. Others have suggested that the Chi-square index is problematic because of this small sample size issue as well as large model size sensitivity and the resulting Type I errors, and thus can be disregarded (see Markland, 2007; Steiger, 1990; Yuan, 2005) in favour of other indices (Barrett, 2007). Kenny (2020) recommended that it is appropriate to use the Chi-square test for a sample size as large as that in the thesis (n = 252). For the CMIN/DF value, Wheaton et al. (1977) suggested that a value of less than 5.00 is acceptable, and Byrne (2013) argued that a value greater than 2.00 represents an adequate fit. On this basis, the Chi-square (CMIN/DF) value of 4.97 in this thesis suggested a strong model fit.

Second, the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) test measures the difference between values—specifically sample and population values—predicted by an estimator or model, and observed variables (Kenny & McCoach, 2003). RMSEA values closer to zero indicate a better fit, but values of .01, .05 and .08 indicate excellent, good and mediocre fit respectively (Kenny & McCoach, 2003; Kline, 2015). The data produced an RMSEA value of .012, indicating a close to excellent model fit.

Third, the Comparative Fit Index compares the intended model with the null model assuming zero covariance between the observed variables. This index compares the fit of the target

model to the fit of a null model (Kline, 2015). This is because it estimates relative model fit improvements per degree of freedom over the null (Kline, 2015). The index is suitable for data with low respondent numbers as it is not sensitive to sample size (Kline, 2015). A value equal to or greater than .80 indicates acceptable fit (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Kline, 2015). The Comparative Fit Index value of .84 (Table 6.10) exceeded the recommended acceptance threshold.

Fourth, the standardised root mean square residual is an absolute measure of fit (Maydeu-Olivares et al., 2018). It is the standardised difference between observed and predicted correlation (Hu & Bentler, 1999). This is a biased measure better suited to smaller sample sizes (Kenny & McCoach, 2003), making it appropriate for these data. Besides model χ^2 statistics, the standardised root mean square residual is depicted as the most informative because of its ability to reflect on how data fit the overall model covariance (Diamantopoulos & Siguaw, 2000). The standardised root mean square residual should be less than the cut-off value of .08 to show a good model fit (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Kline, 2015). Table 6.10 presents a standardised root mean square value of .07, suggesting a good fit (Mindrila, 2010). Other authors have argued that values closer to zero represent a better fit, but any value less than .08 is acceptable (Hu & Bentler, 1999; Kline, 2015). Overall, the values of all four indices met recommended respective thresholds, and thus the thesis confirmed that the model fitted the data.

	۲			Inter-construct correlation									
Construct	Composite reliabili	Average variance extracted	Maximum shared variance	Subjective knowledge & involvement	Trust	Need for personalisation	Perceived convenience	Gamification	Aesthetics	Perceived ease of use	Perceived usefulness	Attitude	Adoption intention
Subjective knowledge & involvement	.963	.791	.032	.89									
Trust	.969	.887	.005	.56	.94								
Need for personalisation	.951	.867	.084	.14	.28	.93							
Perceived convenience	.971	.918	.180	.55	.50	.52	.96						
Gamification	.948	.859	.393	33	14	.28	.04	.93					
Aesthetics	.948	.820	.044	30	17	.24	.06	.83	.91				
Perceived ease of use	.970	.891	.393	01	01	.10	.33	.57	.40	.94			
Perceived usefulness	.939	.794	.169	.10	.10	05	.19	.51	.47	.29	.89		
Attitude	.977	.935	.259	.15	.20	08	.16	.40	.35	.22	.57	.97	
Adoption intention	.988	.964	.259	.26	.19	33	04	11	17	11	.24	.52	.98

Table 6.11: Validity and Reliability

Note: Diagonal values (in **bold**) represent the square root of the average variance extracted.

Discriminant validity exists as all interactions (square root of average variance extracted) were less than .85 with values higher than the respective correlations.

6.8.2 Validity and Reliability

Convergent and discriminant validity and reliability are essential for confirmatory factor analysis. If research constructs fail to demonstrate appropriate validity and reliability, the causal model testing is null (Malhotra & Birks, 2007). The measures used in this thesis to confirm validity and reliability were composition reliability, average variance extracted and maximum shared variance (see Table 6.11).

As shown in Table 6.11, the data had validity, as evidenced by the average variance extracted for all constructs exceeding .5 and reliability with all composite reliability measure values exceeding factors above .7 for all constructs (Malhotra & Birks, 2007). Discriminant validity was confirmed based on the square root of the average variance extracted being greater than any inter-factor correlations (Hair et al., 2010).

Item reliability tested via Cronbach's alpha (see Table 6.12) showed acceptable alpha scores (>.90) for all measures and at least three items per factor (Herche & Engelland, 1996; Swain et al., 2008).

Constructs	Cronbach's alpha	Number of items
Subjective knowledge and involvement	.96	7
Trust	.97	4
Need for personalisation	.95	3
Perceived convenience	.97	3
Gamification	.95	3
Aesthetics	.94	4
Perceived ease of use	.95	4
Perceived usefulness	.94	4
Attitude	.98	3
Adoption intention	.99	3

Table 6.12: Cronbach's	Alpha for Likert Items
------------------------	------------------------

ltara	Kolmogo	orov–Smir	nov ^a	Shapiro–Wilk		Kolmogorov–Smirno			rnov ^a Shapiro–Wilk				
item -	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.	– item	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
SKI1	.227	252	.000	.855	252	.000	C3	.201	252	.000	.881	252	.000
SKI2	.176	252	.000	.895	252	.000	AE1	.129	252	.000	.933	252	.000
SKI3	.178	252	.000	.895	252	.000	AE2	.143	252	.000	.900	252	.000
SKI4	.162	252	.000	.902	252	.000	AE3	.135	252	.000	.931	252	.000
SKI5	.218	252	.000	.892	252	.000	AE4	.158	252	.000	.921	252	.000
SKI6	.159	252	.000	.887	252	.000	PEOU1	.226	252	.000	.906	252	.000
SKI7	.220	252	.000	.875	252	.000	PEOU2	.201	252	.000	.923	252	.000
T1	.165	252	.000	.935	252	.000	PEOU3	.185	252	.000	.916	252	.000
T2	.195	252	.000	.921	252	.000	PEOU4	.183	252	.000	.928	252	.000
Т3	.188	252	.000	.928	252	.000	PU1	.254	252	.000	.886	252	.000
T4	.158	252	.000	.932	252	.000	PU2	.225	252	.000	.914	252	.000
P1	.165	252	.000	.910	252	.000	PU3	.254	252	.000	.868	252	.000
P2	.130	252	.000	.917	252	.000	PU4	.232	252	.000	.889	252	.000
P3	.155	252	.000	.914	252	.000	ATT1	.252	252	.000	.859	252	.000
G1	.197	252	.000	.859	252	.000	ATT2	.214	252	.000	.842	252	.000
G2	.176	252	.000	.896	252	.000	ATT3	.210	252	.000	.846	252	.000
G3	.175	252	.000	.848	252	.000	INT1	.172	252	.000	.834	252	.000
C1	.203	252	.000	.890	252	.000	INT2	.195	252	.000	.806	252	.000
C2	.204	252	.000	.891	252	.000	INT3	.174	252	.000	.847	252	.000

 Table 6.13: Shapiro–Wilk and Kolmogorov–Smirnov Tests of Normality

a. Lilliefors significance correction

It is important to test scale reliability to determine if items are internally consistent. Testing for scale reliability can be achieved using the Shapiro–Wilk and Kolmogrov–Smirnov tests of normality. In this thesis, the tests showed that all scale items were significant (p < .001; see Table 6.13). This indicated that the variance for each item differed significantly from a normal distribution (p < .05) and the null hypothesis was thus rejected.

6.8.3 Common Method Bias

Common method bias is a bias in the data caused by something external to the measures. It may be caused by a question or questions asked, such as a systematic response bias that can come from using online surveys. Common method bias is present when a single factor explains the majority of the variance (Podsakoff et al., 2003). A Harman's single-factor test showed that the greatest percentage of variance explained by a factor in this thesis was less than 26%, confirming that no single factor explained the majority of variance and no bias was present in the measures. A more robust approach to test common method bias is the common latent factor method, whereby a common variable is used to determine the common variance (Chang et al., 2010). This test compares the standardised regression weights of all items with and without a common latent factor (MacKenzie & Podsakoff, 2012). A Harman's single-factor test revealed non-significant differences of less than .2 (Serrano Archimi et al., 2018) between all regression weights, to confirm an absence of common method bias (see Table 6.14).

		Standardised re		
Construct	Indicators	With common latent factor	Without common latent factor	Difference
	SKI1	.960	.998	.038
	SKI2	.840	.911	.071
	SKI3	.906	.917	.011
Subjective knowledge and involvement	SKI4	.900	.957	.057
	SKI5	.888	.993	.105
	SKI6	.890	.912	.022
	SKI7	.834	.865	.031
	T1	.929	.974	.045
Taulat	T2	.943	.992	.049
Trust	Т3	.985	.986	.001
	T4	.908	.970	.062
	P1	.965	.978	.013
Need for personalisation	P2	.958	.983	.025
percentalication	Р3	.868	.983	.115
	C1	.950	.961	.011
Perceived convenience	C2	.977	.990	.013
	C3	.947	.984	.037
	G1	.939	.996	.057
Gamification	G2	.932	.944	.012
	G3	.910	.956	.046
	A1	.873	.982	.109
Aesthetics	A2	.837	.910	.073
	A3	.924	.977	.153
	PEOU1	.876	.970	.094
Perceived	PEOU2	.989	.991	.002
ease of use	PEOU3	.934	.973	.039
	PEOU4	.973	.980	.007

Table 6.14: Common Method Bias Results

		Standardised re		
Construct	Indicators	With common latent factor	Without common latent factor	Difference
	PU1	.883	.961	.078
Porceived usefulness	PU2	.998	.998	.009
Perceived userumess	PU3	.810	.945	.135
	PU4	.863	.915	.052
	ATT1	.943	.970	.027
Attitude	ATT2	.982	.985	.003
	ATT3	.976	.985	.009
	INT1	.997	.998	.001
Adoption intention	INT2	.973	.988	.015
	INT3	.975	.976	.001

6.9 Causal Model

This section is intended to state the significant direct paths – an interpretation of the significant paths and the contribution of the findings is discussed in Chapter Seven.

6.9.1 Path Analysis: Direct Effects

Using path analysis in SPSS AMOS, the study tested for causal effects. This allows a researcher to capture the model, even complex models like in this thesis. Standardised beta coefficients and *t* statistics tested the significance and direction of direct paths (see Figure 6.1).



Figure 6.1: Causal Model

Notes: Standardised regression weights (β) are presented. ** p < .01, * p < .05. Variance explained (R^2) is marked in **bold**.

Significant paths are marked solid lines. Non-significant paths are marked dashed lines.

The findings (see Table 6.15) showed that both user characteristics (subjective knowledge and involvement and perceived convenience) and technology characteristics (gamification and aesthetics) positively influenced perceived ease of use and usefulness, but not the path between trust and perceived ease of use ($\beta = .072$, p = .07); the path between trust and perceive usefulness ($\beta = .032$, p = .50); nor the paths connecting subjective knowledge and involvement with perceived ease of use ($\beta = .017$, p = .67). Although the relationships that need for personalisation shared with perceived ease of use ($\beta = -.289$, p = .001) and perceived usefulness ($\beta = -.255$, p = .001) were significant, the influence was negative rather than

positive as originally hypothesised. These results support Hypotheses $1_{(d)}$, $2_{(a \& d)}$, $3_{(a \& b)}$ and $4_{(a \& b)}$, but not Hypotheses $1_{(a, b \& c)}$ and $2_{(b \& c)}$.

Paths		в	Sig.
Subjective knowledge & involvement → Perceived ease of use	H_{1a}	.017	.666
Subjective knowledge & involvement → Perceived usefulness	H_{2a}	.180	<.001**
Trust \rightarrow Perceived ease of use	H_{1b}	072	.073
Trust \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	H_{2b}	.032	.507
Need for personalisation $ ightarrow$ Perceived ease of use	H _{1c}	255	<.001**
Need for personalisation $ ightarrow$ Perceived usefulness	H_{2c}	289	<.001**
Perceived convenience $ ightarrow$ Perceived ease of use	H_{1d}	.424	<.001**
Perceived convenience $ ightarrow$ Perceived usefulness	H_{2d}	.161	<.001**
Gamification \rightarrow Perceived ease of use	H_{3a}	.627	<.001**
Gamification \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	H_{4a}	.411	<.001**
Aesthetics \rightarrow Perceived ease of use	H_{3b}	.184	.030*
Aesthetics \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	H_{4b}	.209	<.001**
Perceived ease of use \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	H₅	.289	<.001**
Perceived usefulness \rightarrow Attitude	H_6	.292	<.001**
Perceived ease of use \rightarrow Attitude	H_7	.051	.144
Perceived usefulness $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	H ₈	.181	<.001**
Attitude \rightarrow Adoption intention	H ₉	.509	<.001**

Table 6.15: Path Ana	lysis: Direct Effects
----------------------	-----------------------

** p < .01, * p < .05.

Path analysis also showed that perceived ease of use positively influenced perceived usefulness ($\beta = .289$, p = .001) but not attitude ($\beta = .051$, p = .14). This supports Hypothesis 5 but not Hypothesis 7. Perceived usefulness influenced attitude ($\beta = .292$, p = .001) and adoption intention ($\beta = .181$, p = .001), providing support for Hypotheses 6 and 8. Finally, attitude positively influenced adoption intention ($\beta = .509$, p = .001), in support of Hypothesis 9.

6.9.2 Path Analysis: Indirect Effects

Testing for the Mediation Role of Attitude

Mediation is used to accurately explain the causal effect of a precursor variable on a dependent variable (Castro & Roldán, 2013). In line with Hypotheses 10 and 11, this section tests for a mediating role of attitude in the relationships among perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and adoption intention, using the user-defined estimands approach (Ames et al., 2020). The Baron and Kenny (1986) approach was not chosen as it has been shown to be a flawed method, based on its inappropriate presumption of an overall relationship and weaknesses in the confirmatory logic of the procedure (Gürbüz & Bayik, 2021; Zhao et al., 2010). The Sobel method (Sobel, 1982) too was not employed in this thesis is considered outdated, and unlike newer methods, it assumes that indirect effects are normally distributed (Hayes, 2009). The user-defined estimands approach names two parameters and creates an indirect effect from them with the mediator variable intersecting the parameters (Gaskin, 2016). A key criterion of this approach is bootstrapping. With perceived usefulness and adoption intention as the parameters and attitude as the mediating variable, the user-defined estimands approach was used to test Hypothesis 10. Bootstrapping for 2,000 resamples with bias-corrected confidence intervals at 90 was performed. The results indicated a significant indirect effect ($\beta = .181, p < .001$), supporting Hypothesis 10.

Like the TAM (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), no significant relationship was detected when testing for a direct influence of perceived ease of use on attitude ($\beta = -.051$, p = .14) and was not hypothesised in this thesis. It is legitimate to conclude that mediation occurs when the total effect is not significant (Hayes, 2017). The test for a mediating effect of attitude in the relationship between perceived ease of use and adoption intention using the user-defined estimands method (Gaskin, 2016) revealed a significant mediation effect ($\beta = .230$, p < .001). Hence, Hypothesis 11 is supported.

Testing for Multiple Mediation Effects

This thesis tested for indirect effects of the antecedents—subjective knowledge and involvement, trust, need for personalisation, perceived convenience, gamification and aesthetics—on adoption intention through perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness and

attitude create multiple mediation (Hayes, 2017). Although these indirect effects were not hypothesised, they were tested to offer additional insights. The thesis tested for multiple mediation via the user-defined AMOS AXB estimands and bias-corrected bootstrap method (Aslam et al., 2019; Castro-González, 2019). Multiple mediation testing results are provided in Table 6.16.

Paths	в	Sig.
Subjective knowledge & involvement $ ightarrow$ Perceived usefulness $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	.119	.010*
Subjective knowledge & involvement $ ightarrow$ Perceived ease of use $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	.001	.492
Trust $ ightarrow$ Perceived usefulness $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	.033	.320
Trust $ ightarrow$ Perceived ease of use $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	007	.067
Need for personalisation $ ightarrow$ Perceived usefulness $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	263	.018*
Need for personalisation $ ightarrow$ Perceived ease of use $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	020	.178
Perceived convenience \rightarrow Perceived usefulness \rightarrow Attitude \rightarrow Adoption intention	.163	.010*
Perceived convenience $ ightarrow$ Perceived ease of use $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	.030	.116
Gamification \rightarrow Perceived usefulness \rightarrow Attitude \rightarrow Adoption intention	.291	.007*
Gamification \rightarrow Perceived ease of use \rightarrow Attitude \rightarrow Adoption intention	.037	.122
Aesthetics $ ightarrow$ Perceived usefulness $ ightarrow$ Attitude $ ightarrow$ Adoption intention	.059	.333
Aesthetics \rightarrow Perceived ease of use \rightarrow Attitude \rightarrow Adoption intention	.014	.061

Table 6.16:	Multiple	Mediation
-------------	----------	-----------

* *p* < .05.

The results identified three instances of positive, multiple mediation effects: i) perceived usefulness and attitude mediated the relationship between subjective knowledge and involvement and adoption intention; ii) perceived usefulness and attitude mediated the relationship between perceived convenience and intention; and iii) perceived usefulness and attitude mediated the relationship between gamification and intention. There was one instance of negative, multiple mediation where perceived usefulness and attitude mediated the relationship between need for personalisation and intention. All instances of multiple mediation were the result of the pairing of perceived usefulness and attitude, rather than perceived ease of use and attitude.

6.9.3 Path Analysis: Moderating Effects

Testing for the Moderating Effect of Health Status Severity

Moderation analysis can be used to test whether the influence of an independent variable on a dependent variable remains significant or varies with the presence of another independent variable that becomes the moderator (Edwards & Lambert, 2007). Simply put, moderation analysis in this thesis tested whether the moderator variable (health status severity) changed the strength of the relationship between the independent variable (attitude) and dependent variable (adoption intention). Analysing the interaction of these three variables would identify any moderating effect (Huey Yiing & Zaman Bin Ahmad, 2009). Using SPSS, first, the standardised z score values for the variables were calculated to create new variables. From these, the value of the interaction variable was calculated by multiplying the independent and moderating variables. In AMOS, the steps were to i) establish the covariance between the predictors (attitude, health status severity and interaction variables) and ii) identify the causal relationship between these predictors and the dependent variable (intention). Findings showed no moderation effect. Attitude had a significant effect on intention (estimate measure = .37, p = .001). However, health status severity (estimate measure = .30, p = .10) and the interaction variable (estimate measure = .34, p = .09) did not have significant effects on intention, meaning there was no moderation and Hypothesis 12 is not supported. Table 6.17 summarises the results of hypothesis testing in this thesis: most of the hypotheses are supported.

Hypothesis		Test result
H ₁	a) Subjective knowledge and involvement, (b) trust, (c) need for personalisation and (d) perceived convenience positively influence perceived ease of use of mHealth apps.	(a) Not supported(b) Not supported(c) Not supported(d) Supported
H ₂	a) Subjective knowledge and involvement, (b) trust, (c) need for personalisation and (d) perceived convenience positively influence perceived usefulness of mHealth apps.	(a) Supported(b) Not supported*(c) Not supported*(d) Supported
H₃	(a) Gamification and (b) aesthetics positively influence perceived ease of use of mHealth apps.	(a) Supported (b) Supported
H4	(a) Gamification and (b) aesthetics positively influence perceived usefulness of mHealth apps.	(a) Supported (b) Supported
H₅	Perceived ease of use positively influences perceived usefulness of mHealth apps.	Supported
H ₆	Perceived usefulness positively influences attitude towards mHealth apps.	Supported
H ⁷	Perceived ease of use positively influences attitude towards mHealth apps.	Not supported
H ₈	Perceived usefulness positively influences adoption intention towards mHealth apps.	Supported
H9	Attitude positively influences adoption intention of mHealth apps.	Supported
H ₁₀	Attitude towards mHealth apps positively mediates the relationship between perceived usefulness and adoption intention of mHealth apps.	Not supported
H ₁₁	Attitude towards mHealth apps positively mediates the relationship between perceived ease of use and adoption intention of mHealth apps.	Supported
H ₁₂	Health status severity moderates the relationship between attitude and adoption intention of mHealth gambling apps.	Not supported

Table 6.17: Summary of Hypothesised Relationships

* A significant positive influence was hypothesised, but a significant negative influence was observed.

6.10 Supplementary Testing—Multi-Group Analyses

6.10.1 Testing for Effects of Adoption Behaviour

As stated previously, this thesis did not measure adoption or usage. As a way to measure a form of adoption behaviour, after all constructs were measured, survey participants were presented with a recommendation for a free, existing mHealth gambling app (marketed as a 'gambling quit app') and a website link to more information and download access. The survey web platform, Qualtrics, recorded which participants followed the link, producing a dichotomous *click* or *no click* variable. Clicking indicated that, at the very least, respondents were interested in seeking more information. This information-seeking action was treated as an adoption behaviour and created an additional construct and data. One approach for using this data would be to test for an association between adoption intention and adoption behaviour. However, structural equation modelling was the main statistical technique in this thesis, with adoption intention as the outcome or dependent variable. Hence, a test of association with adoption intention was not compatible. Instead, a multi-group analysis was conducted whereby the sample was split into two groups: those who clicked the link to show the adoption behaviour (i.e., the adoption behaviour is present; n = 111) and those who did not (i.e., the adoption behaviour is not present; n = 141). The researcher retested the hypothesised direct paths in each of the two samples to determine whether the results differed in the presence of adoption behaviour. The results showed that adoption behaviour had a degree of influence on constructs that contribute to the adoption of mHealth apps.

Analysis of the split sample revealed a significant relationship between aesthetics and perceived usefulness when adoption behaviour was present. However, for the sample that did not show adoption behaviour, there was no significant relationship between these two constructs. Rather, in that sample alone there were three significant relationships between constructs: i) trust and perceived usefulness; ii) trust and perceived ease of use; and iii)

117

aesthetics and perceived ease of use (see







Figure 6.3). A comparison of the beta values for the adoption behaviour present and absent samples is provided in Table 6.18.

Direct paths	Adoption	в
	behaviour	
Subjective knowledge and involvement - Perceived eace of use	Present	.101
Subjective knowledge and involvement / Perceived ease of use	Absent	.174
Subjective knowledge and involvement -> Derectived westubers	Present	.195*
	Absent	.478**
Trust \rightarrow Perceived ease of use	Present	.228

Table 6.18: Direct Paths of Adoption Behaviour Sample Split

Direct paths	Adoption behaviour	в
	Absent	.485*
Trust \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	Present	.140
	Absent	.229*
Need for personalization -> Derestund eace of use	Present	581*
Need for personalisation -> Perceived ease of use	Absent	378**
	Present	409*
Need for personalisation -> Perceived userumess	Absent	362**
Perceived convenience -> Perceived eace of use	Present	.555**
	Absent	.491**
Perceived convenience -> Perceived usefulness	Present	.454*
Perceived convenience -> Perceived userumess	Absent	.268*
Comification -> Derseived eace of use	Present	.469**
Gammeation -> Perceived ease of use	Absent	.742**
Comification -> Derectived usefulness	Present	.409*
Gamilication -> Perceived userulness	Absent	.749**
Assthation -> Deresived asso of use	Present	.033
Aesthetics -> Perceived ease of use	Absent	.281*
Aasthatics -> Derectived weefulness	Present	.164*
Aesthetics -> Perceived userumess	Absent	.083
Perceived usefulness -> Attitude	Present	.398*
Perceived userumess -> Attitude	Absent	.454**
Perceived usefulness -> Adention intention	Present	.355*
Perceived userumess -> Adoption intention	Absent	.155*
Perceived eace of use -> Perceived usefulness	Present	.169*
Perceived ease of use -> Perceived userumess	Absent	.335**
Derecived case of use -> Attitude	Present	.065
	Absent	.042
Derecived case of use -> Adaption intention	Present	.107
renceived ease of use 🤿 Adoption Intention	Absent	.137
Attitude - Adaption intention	Present	.624**
	Absent	.377**

* *p* < .05, ***p* < .001



Figure 6.2: Direct Paths for Adoption Behaviour Present

Notes: Standardised regression weights (θ) are presented. ** p < .001, * p < .05. Significant paths are solid lines. Non-significant paths are marked dashed lines.



Figure 6.3: Direct Paths for Adoption Behaviour Absent

Notes: Standardised regression weights (β) are presented. ** p < .001, * p < .05. Significant paths are solid lines. Non-significant paths are dashed lines.

Relationships between constructs that changed from significant to non-significant, or vice-aversa, when the sample was split by adoption behaviour are displayed in Figure 6.4.



Figure 6.4: Direct Path Changes by Adoption Behaviour Presence/Absence

Note: Solid lines represent a change in significant or non-significant direct paths between the adoption behaviour present and absent samples; dashed lines represent no difference in direct paths when adoption behaviour samples were compared.

6.10.2 Testing for Effects of Product Platform Preference

The instrument collected data on the samples' product platform preference (gambling preferences) where they identified as either primarily digital gamblers or analogue gamblers. The researcher used these data in supplementary tests situated around retesting of hypothesised paths using a split sample (multi-group analysis). In order to test for the influence of gambling preference, the sample was split into two groups: digital gamblers (n = 143) and analogue gamblers (n = 109). The previous tests were re-run to determine whether the results differed according to the preference using digital or analogue gambling,

as separate samples. The results demonstrated that platform preference had a degree of influence on constructs that contribute to adoption of mHealth apps.

A significant relationship was found between perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness for digital gamblers only. Analogue gamblers presented four unique significant relationships: 1) trust and perceived ease of use; 2) trust and perceived usefulness; 3) aesthetics and perceived usefulness; and 4) perceived usefulness and adoption intention (see Table 6.19).

Direct paths	Preference	в
Subjective knowledge and involvement $ ightarrow$ Perceived ease of	Digital	.037
use	Analogue	.128
Subjective knowledge and involvement → Perceived usefulness	Digital	.098*
	Analogue	.380*
Trust \rightarrow Perceived ease of use	Digital	260
	Analogue	.334*
Trust N Demokrad weef de ees	Digital	319
Trust -> Perceived userumess	Analogue	.330**
Need for personalization. N Developed appendixed	Digital	540**
Need for personalisation -> Perceived ease of use	Analogue	396*
Need for personalisation \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	Digital	581**
	Analogue	459**
Persoived convenience -> Derecived case of use	Digital	.400**
	Analogue	.204**
Parceived convenience \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	Digital	.272**
reiteived tonvenience / reiteived userdiness	Analogue	.179*
	Digital	.507*
Gammeation / Perceived ease of use	Analogue	.712*
Gamification \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	Digital	.545**
	Analogue	.572**
Aasthatics -> Parsaived asso of use	Digital	.318*
	Analogue	.468**
Aesthetics \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	Digital	.204

Table 6.19: Direct Paths of Product Platform Preference Sample Split

Direct paths	Preference	в
	Analogue	.374*
Perceived usefulness → Attitude	Digital	.694**
	Analogue	.314*
Perceived usefulness \rightarrow Adoption intention	Digital	.255
	Analogue	.524**
Perceived ease of use \rightarrow Perceived usefulness	Digital	.598**
	Analogue	.214
Perceived ease of use \rightarrow Attitude	Digital	097
	Analogue	.192
Perceived ease of use \rightarrow Adoption intention	Digital	.115
	Analogue	.171
Attitude -> Adention intention	Digital	.668*
	Analogue	.128**

* p < .05, **p < .001.

The direct path models in



Figure 6.5 and Figure 6.6 are a visual representation of the changes in relationships when the samples for digital gamblers and analogue gamblers were compared.



Figure 6.5: Direct Paths for Digital Gamblers

Notes: Standardised regression weights (β) are presented. ** p < .01, * p < .05. Significant paths are solid lines. Non-significant paths are dashed lines.



Figure 6.6: Direct Paths for Analogue Gamblers

Notes: Standardised regression weights (β) are presented. ** p < .01, * p < .05. Significant paths are solid lines. Non-significant paths are dashed lines.

Relationships between constructs that changed from significant to non-significant, or vice-aversa, when the sample was split by platform preference are shown in Figure 6.7.



Figure 6.7: Direct Path Changes by Product Platform Preference

Note: Solid lines represent a change in significant or non-significant relationship between digital and analogue gamblers; dashed lines present no difference when digital and analogue gamblers when compared.

6.11 Chapter Summary

In this chapter, the hypothesised effects of antecedents on adoption intention through the TAM, accounting for mediation by attitude and moderation by health status severity, were tested. Descriptive statistics profiled the sample and crosstab (contingency) table testing showed significant associations among demographic, psychographic and socioeconomic factors. A confirmatory factor analysis showed reliability and validity of the measures and structural equation modelling identified the model. Direct paths were retested with split sample groups to identify how results changed or remained constant when the sample was

split by product platform preference (digital and analogue) or adoption behaviour. This chapter concluded with a summary of the hypothesised relationships, which showed that most of the stated hypotheses were supported and revealed many important new findings. The empirical findings included that most of the antecedents (user and technology characteristics) directly influenced perceived ease of use and usefulness; there was no moderation of health status severity on the relationship between attitude and intention; mediation and double mediation were present; and product platform preference and adoption behaviour influenced some of the direct paths in the model. The significance of these findings contrasted against extant literature and theory, their contribution to the literature, the study limitations and directions for future research are presented in the next chapter.

Chapter 7: Discussion and Conclusion

7.1 Introduction

Chapter Six presented the results of the quantitative data analysis and identified significant paths in the model. The outcome of the hypothesis testing in Chapter Six, specifically the effect of the antecedents on perceived ease of use and usefulness, provides new and important findings. Chapter Seven begins with a discussion of the hypothesis testing followed by a discussion of the supplementary testing of product platform preference and adoption behaviour. The chapter also explains how the significant drivers inform the theoretical contributions and practical implications set out for this thesis to make its contribution to knowledge. The practical implications in the chapter are a series of recommendations based on the significant drivers that are relevant to both mHealth app developers and marketers. The chapter acknowledges policy implications then briefly outlines the research limitations, which leads to suggested directions for future research. Last, the chapter presents the thesis conclusions.

7.2 Discussion

This section provides a discussion around the outcomes of the hypothesis testing. It begins by outlining the supported hypotheses and then offers explanations for unsupported hypothesis notwithstanding the empirical and theoretical support presented in the literature review. Last, the section presents insights into the outcomes of the multi-group analyses and discusses the effect of adoption behaviour and product platform preference on the relationships in the conceptual model.

7.2.1 Supported Hypotheses

The thesis provides empirical support for a range of hypothesised relationships among the antecedents, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, attitude and adoption intention. Hypotheses $1_{(c-d)}$, 2_a , $2_{(c-d)}$, $3_{(a-b)}$, $4_{(a-b)}$, 5–6 and 8–11 were supported. First, subjective knowledge and involvement significantly influenced perceived usefulness, supporting Hypothesis 2_a . These findings were expected as research has shown that subjective knowledge and involvement drive adoption of mobile platforms (Koenig-Lewis et al., 2015;

Mort & Drennan, 2007). Other research has shown that involvement contributes directly to perceived usefulness of technology (Chae, 2010; Turan et al., 2015). Therefore, usability and usefulness are dependent on the users' involvement with mHealth apps. This involvement is a precursor to perceived ease of use and usefulness and can overcome usability and utility barriers.

Second, the results revealed that need for personalisation positively affected perceived ease of use and usefulness. These findings supported Hypotheses 1_c and 2_c. This was expected as research has shown that personalisation of content increases perceived ease of use and usefulness in navigating mobile advertising (Merisavo et al., 2006, 2007). This is because app users with a greater need for content personalisation expect to collect, navigate and benefit from app content in a manner suited to them specifically; unlike others who accept what is presented in the app by default. Third, the results supported the substantial effect of perceived convenience on both perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness. These findings confirmed Hypotheses 1_d and 2_d , in that higher levels of perceived convenience led to higher levels of perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. This supports earlier findings that a lack of convenience leads users to view mobile technology as not 'user friendly' (Amin et al., 2014). Naturally, mHealth apps that are convenient in terms of accessibility (cost and distribution platform) and availability (hosted by personal devices) enable rapid adoption by consumers (Deng et al., 2018; Shemesh & Barnoy, 2020). Fourth, both of the technology characteristics—aesthetics and gamification—affected perceived ease of use and usefulness. From these findings, Hypotheses $3_{(a-b)}$ and $4_{(a-b)}$ were supported. Based on the literature, aesthetics has an established linkage with app adoption (Hoehle & Venkatesh, 2015) and usage (Stocchi et al., 2019), particularly in the mHealth app context (Anderson et al., 2016) where greater perceived aesthetics improves engagement. App users with higher engagement are better able to maximise app usability and utility (Huang et al., 2021; Turan et al., 2015). Gamification is typically investigated in mHealth for how it influences app engagement (Tonkin et al., 2019) and health behaviour change (Fleming et al., 2017), whereas technology adoption and perceived ease of use and usefulness are overlooked. The fundamental goals of gamifying technology are to present a step-by-step process and microreward usage (Jin, 2016). It is likely that these factors increase use and experience, which improves usability of an mHealth app while creating a perception of prolonged usefulness for

the user. The coordinated processes of games make them easier to navigate, and the reward system creates the impression of accomplishment of goals or purpose (Rahman et al., 2018).

Fifth, the results confirmed the influence of perceived ease of use on perceived usefulness, thus supporting Hypothesis 5. This result is in line with the literature positing that for technology to be useful it must be usable for the individual first (Shemesh & Barnoy, 2020; Venkatesh, 2000).

Sixth, in line with the TAM and recent mHealth app studies, findings revealed an effect of perceived usefulness on attitude (see Alam et al., 2020; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), supporting Hypothesis 6 that perceived usefulness affects attitude towards mHealth apps. Hypotheses 8 and 9 suggested that adoption intention is influenced by perceived usefulness and attitude, respectively, wherein negative attitudes towards apps and poor perceptions of app utility reduce intention to adopt. These hypotheses were supported. The findings are consistent with foundational technology adoption research in that perceived usefulness and attitude affect adoption intention (Davis et al., 1989; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000). More recent mHealth research using the base TAM to assess app adoption has also confirmed this relationship (Shemesh & Barnoy, 2020).

Last, Hypotheses 10 and 11 predicted that attitude mediates the relationships between perceived usefulness and intention, and perceived ease of use and adoption intention, respectively. These hypotheses were both supported. For Hypotheses 5–10, which directly reflect linkages in the TAM, the implication of the findings of this thesis is that these relationships are consistent with similar and dissimilar contexts.

7.2.2 Unsupported Hypotheses

Five hypotheses in this thesis were not supported: $1_{(a-b)}$, $2_{(b)}$, 7 and 12. The results showed that subjective knowledge and involvement did not affect perceived ease of use. Hence, Hypothesis 1_a was not supported. This conflicts with the literature (Aji et al., 2020; Turan et al., 2015) where subjective knowledge and involvement of technology influence perceived ease of use. Studies have typically applied the Diffusion of Innovations Theory and examined direct linkages of subjective knowledge and involvement with adoption and adoption behaviours. The one exception that—contrary to the outcome of testing Hypothesis 1_a —is

133

that subjective knowledge affects perceived ease of use; however, this study did not consider mobile technologies (Tan et al., 2022). Hence, there is scarce evidence from the literature to explain this outcome. Moreover, Hypotheses 1_b and 2_b were not supported as the findings demonstrated that trust contributed to neither perceived ease of use nor perceived usefulness of mHealth apps. This is surprising as trust is known to affect adoption of mobile platforms in advertising (Atkinson, 2013) and banking (Gu et al., 2009). A likely explanation is that mHealth entails reduced trust. Mallat et al. (2008) argued that mHealth apps typically require users' personal and sometimes identifying information for treatment, leading to lower trust compared with other apps. This creates a disconnect as user trust in technology increases adoption, but mHealth technology naturally incurs lower user trust. The nonsignificant effect of trust is likely because of a sample of gambler's tendency to withhold information around gambling behaviours. Withholding this information may suggest lower trust levels because people believe that mHealth apps might share personal health information (Scott et al., 2015). Additionally, for gamblers, treatment is linked to a strong desire to maintain anonymity and confidentiality, making trust a key precursor for gamblers to accept treatment in any form (Rodda, 2014).

Contrary to the established TAM (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000) and previous findings (see Kim et al., 2016; Natarajan et al., 2017; Tarute et al., 2017; Tojib & Tsarenko, 2012; Yang, 2013) the results of this thesis showed that perceived ease of use did not affect attitude whereas perceived usefulness did. Hypothesis 7 was not supported. Perceived usefulness is known to be a stronger predictor of attitude than is perceived ease of use (Porter & Donthu, 2006; Shih, 2004). Although both are predictors of attitude, Venkatesh and Bala (2008) suggested that utility of technology is more important to the user than usability, which may explain cases where perceived usefulness is significant and perceived ease of use is not. A small number of studies on technology adoption of mobile platforms—that is, mobile payments (Chang et al., 2021), mobile banking (Kumar & Yukita, 2021) and m-gaming (Kaltum et al., 2018)—reported the same finding. The study authors concluded that, in their contexts, consumers are results driven and not process driven. Hence, usability is overlooked as it reflects the process, whereas utility reflects the results and is attributed value. This may be why Hypothesis 7 was not supported.
Hypothesis 12 proposed a moderating effect of health status severity in the relationship between attitude and adoption intention. Health status severity is associated with conflicting findings in mHealth adoption research; health severity can positively moderate (Deng et al., 2018) or have no moderation affect (Sun et al., 2013) on the relationship between attitude and intention. Similar to Sun et al. (2013), the thesis found no moderation effect, which resulted in Hypothesis 12 being rejected.



Figure 7.1 for a visual representation of supported and unsupported hypotheses.



Figure 7.1: Significant Paths and Hypotheses

Note: Significant paths are marked with solid lines. Non-significant paths are marked with dashed lines.

7.2.3 Multi-Group Analyses—Additional Insights

The theoretical implications from the hypothesis testing are discussed in the next section following a discussion of the results of multi-group analyses in two subsections. As outlined in Chapter Six, multi-group analyses were conducted for i) the adoption behaviour split sample and ii) the product platform preference split sample. Insights are discussed here, starting with adoption behaviour.

Adoption Behaviour

At the end of the online survey participants were offered a link to view a recommended quit app. The survey platform then recorded whether participants clicked the link or not, which demonstrated whether the adoption behaviour was present or absent, respectively. A multigroup analysis was conducted whereby the sample was split into two groups: i) adoption behaviour present (n = 111) and ii) adoption behaviour absent (n = 141). Although not formally hypothesised in this thesis, these tests were employed to provide additional insights into relationships in the conceptual model. Multi-group structural equation modelling is a valid approach to investigate model relationships (Koufteros & Marcoulides, 2006). The multi-group analysis showed that from the 18 direct paths in the model, 14 were consistent with the direct effects shown in Chapter Six (full sample, n = 252) and four paths differed (reflecting the following hypotheses: 1_b , 2_b , 3_b and 4_b).

Notable outcomes are the linkages for trust, aesthetics, perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness. For the subsample where the adoption behaviour was present, trust had an influence on neither perceived ease of use nor perceived usefulness. This suggests that for the 'adopters' trust was not a factor in determining perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps; unlike for the 'non-adopters', where trust was a significant antecedent. Higher levels of trust towards technology created positive perceptions of perceived ease of use and usefulness wherein positive perceptions of adopters alone, aesthetics affected perceived usefulness wherein positive perceptions of app aesthetics increased app usability (see Figure 6.2). The adopters indicated that attractive aesthetics makes mHealth apps useful, whereas the non-adopters indicated that attractive aesthetics makes apps easier to use (Figure 6.3). The other sample split in this thesis was based on the respondents' product platform preference.

Product Platform Preference

The second part of the multi-group testing involved retesting all the direct paths for a split sample split based on product platform preference (digital *v*. analogue gamblers). The direct paths were tested for digital gamblers (n = 143) and then analogue gamblers (n = 109) and compared using multi-group structural equation modelling (Koufteros & Marcoulides, 2006). This multi-group analysis showed that 13 relationships produced the same outcomes for the two subsamples, while five relationships produced different outcomes (reflecting the following hypotheses: 1_b, 2_b, 3_b, 4_b, 5 and 8).

Notable outcomes are the linkages found for trust, aesthetics, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness and adoption intention. The causal model of direct paths (full sample, n = 252) and the subsample of digital gamblers showed that trust had no significant influence

on perceived ease of use and usefulness. However, the subsample of analogue gamblers revealed a significant influence. This suggested that for those who preferred analogue or traditional gambling platforms, trust in the platform implied perceptions of usability and usefulness. In contrast, those with a digital preference gauged usability and usefulness regardless of the level of trust. This may be an important idea to consider when executing promotional strategies intended to persuade consumers to transition from traditional to modern or innovative products. Further, exclusive to the digital gamblers, aesthetics did not influence perceived usefulness. Digital gamblers also showed that perceived ease of use influenced perceived usefulness, whereas perceived usefulness did not influence adoption intention. In the opposite manner, the analogue subsample showed that perceived ease of use did not influence perceived usefulness whereas perceive usefulness influenced adoption intention. This suggests that usability determined usefulness only when there was a preference for a digital platform. To review, Table 6.19 showed that all paths that presented different outcomes were based on perceived ease of use and usefulness: i) trust to perceived ease of use; ii) trust to perceived usefulness; iii) aesthetics to perceived usefulness; iv) perceived ease of use to perceived usefulness; and v) perceived usefulness to adoption intention. These findings around changes in direct paths based on consumption platform preference suggest that the TAM's focus on perception, attitude and intention overlooks a technology consumption or usage preference of the user, which was shown in this thesis to have relevance. These findings demonstrate that consumer preferences have the potential to change and negate some of the known relationships of the TAM and the relationships here that have extended the TAM.

7.3 Theoretical Contributions

This thesis presents an extensive review of the theoretical and empirical literature from marketing, information technology and healthcare, to identify gaps in knowledge on mHealth adoption. The thesis addressed these gaps by developing a comprehensive conceptual model that integrates several antecedents with one of the literature's most researched frameworks, the TAM (Tamilmani et al., 2020). More specifically, this thesis first demonstrates antecedents to address the TAM's limitations of being too general (Altmann & Gries, 2017), which are discussed in this section. Next, this section notes the relevance of context to the research

findings. Antecedents and context as separate elements offer some level of insight but are limited in explaining technology adoption. Hence, combining these elements creates a mechanism for developing a deeper understanding of technology adoption and presents a new model of mHealth app adoption. This section concludes by proposing a synthesis between adoption models via consumer information-seeking behaviour constructs.

7.3.1 Adoption Antecedents

The relationships that the antecedents have with perceived ease of use and usefulness demonstrate theoretical insights into mHealth app adoption beyond the approach of measuring direct effects on adoption and post-adoption behaviours. This has been noted in previous research as a 'linear' approach to technology adoption because of its likeness to the Uses and Gratification Theory (Kaur et al., 2020). The Uses and Gratification Theory has been criticised for overlooking the roles of consumer beliefs, attitudes and subjectivity (Kaur et al., 2020; Loose et al., 2013). Further, its linear approach to measuring predominantly direct effects on behaviour fails to appreciate the complexity of adoption processes, particularly as technology evolves (El-Wajeeh et al., 2014). Hence, it is important to not focus on a linear approach to adoption theory but to study the complex relationships between the TAM antecedents and intention (Kumar & Bervell, 2019). By including several complex relationships, such as mediation and double mediation, this thesis investigates the nuances in interactions between the antecedents and the TAM. By extending the TAM in this direction, this thesis presents an extended theoretical base for the study of mHealth app adoption. Further, it demonstrates how to incorporate specific user and technology characteristics as antecedents that are essential to the formation of perceptions, attitudes and intentions of mHealth app users.

The significant user characteristics identified in this thesis are subjective knowledge and involvement; need for personalisation; and perceived convenience. The positive influence of subjective knowledge and involvement on perceived usefulness suggests that higher levels of app awareness and experience increase the perception that apps are useful. This finding expands on the Diffusion of Innovation Theory, which suggests that contact with technology creates positive associations (Rogers, 1995). These associations are typically interpreted as intention (see Foster, 2018; Lee et al., 2017). This thesis extends on this to demonstrate how

greater levels of contact with apps create positive perceptions of usefulness for users. Although the literature shows that personalisation influences app behaviour (see Jakob et al., 2021), in the current thesis need for personalisation had a negative influence on perceived ease of use and usefulness, meaning that as the need for personalisation of apps increased the perceptions of usefulness and usability decreased. The suggestion is that app experience reduces the need for tailored content as experienced users are able to navigate apps and maximise outcomes more easily than lesser experienced users. The literature suggests that personalised mHealth apps are seen to perform better than other apps (see Hors-Fraile et al., 2018). However, this thesis offers the finding that personalisation of content does not guarantee strong perceptions of usability and usefulness. Conversely, this thesis reveals that users who perceive apps as convenient also perceive them to be useful and usable. The Self-Determination Theory depicts convenience, with user perceptions that technology is helpful (Chang et al., 2012). Previous adoption models show direct relationships between app convenience and app behaviours, arguing that convenience is an intrinsic motivation for the behaviour (see Al-Husamiyah & Al-Bashayreh, 2022; di San Pietro et al., 2019). This thesis goes further to create a new theoretical linkage, and depicts that perceptions of convenience influence user perceptions that mHealth apps are useful and usable to achieve a health goal.

The other group of antecedents alongside user characteristics in this thesis are technology characteristics. The significant technology characteristics are gamification and aesthetics. Gamification in this thesis had positive influences on perceived ease of use and usefulness, meaning that participants who observed the app stimuli to have a high degree of gamification also perceived the app to be highly useful and usable. Existing theory does not consider this. The Theory of Gamified Learning posits that gamification of technology affects user learning attitude and learning outcomes (Landers, 2014). This theory is limited to user attitude and behaviour and does not consider how gamification of technology can influence user perceptions of the technology. Further, past iterations of the TAM depict gamification as contributing to behaviours, not perceptions (see di San Pietro et al., 2019). This thesis takes a new theoretical approach and posits that gamification underpins perceptions of ease of use and usefulness to create new theoretical linkages between constructs. This is important as technology adoption research has typically employed the stimulus–response framework when

considering aesthetics (Cho et al., 2019); thus, aesthetics has been treated as a stimulus to identify a behaviour (see Vaghefi & Tulu, 2019). This thesis takes a theoretical stance to mHealth app aesthetics; not in terms of how it underpins adoption behaviours but for how it contributes to perceptions of ease of use and usefulness. When these user and technology characteristics come together in individuals, adoption intention is higher than in those who present few or none of these characteristics. These united characteristics provide a greater understanding of mHealth app adopters, and stronger inferences can thus be drawn from the adoption process. In particular, the likely mHealth app adopter has high subjective knowledge and involvement, low need for personalisation and high perceived convenience of apps, coupled with high participant perceptions of gamification and pleasing aesthetics in the app stimuli. See Figure 7.2 and Figure 7.3 for a comparison of the original TAM and the new relationships identified in this thesis. The practical implications of these antecedents for mHealth app developers and marketers are discussed in Section 7.4. The remainder of this section discusses the theoretical implications of the research context and then closes by alluding to a synthesis between adoption models.



Figure 7.2: Original TAM



Figure 7.3: Model from this Thesis

7.3.2 Relevance of Research Context

Theoretical contributions beyond inclusion of antecedents come from the influence of context in this thesis. As the TAM was originally designed to measure technology adoption at work where the use of technology was mandatory (Venkatesh, 2000), this thesis extends beyond that mandatory setting. This thesis provides support for the TAM in voluntary adoption situations, where attitudes and intentions are assessed in an unrestricted manner and organisational objectives and managerial coercion are not contributing factors. Rather, individual health issues and goals drive adoption. While mHealth apps can be prescribed by medical doctors to patients as part of a treatment program (Della Vecchia et al., 2022), the non-mandatory research setting of this thesis is an important factor as mHealth app usage is

typically a setting where adoption is voluntary (Woldeyohannes & Ngwenyama, 2017). Other than the context setting for this thesis, contributions came from the context-specific variable in this thesis, health status severity. While past iterations of the TAM show that health status is as a factor for behaviour (Deng et al., 2018; Dou et al., 2017), health status of app users is rarely researched for how it brings insights to technology acceptance theories. This thesis attempted to address conflicting findings around the moderation of the relationship between attitude and intention. The novel element was the use of a clinical measure for health (i.e., the Canadian Problem Gambling Index), rather than an app user's self-assessment. However, health status was not shown to moderate the relationship between attitude and intention which confirms the challenges around integrating health factors of app users in technology adoption research. The implication is that research context (i.e., technology, app users and health measurement tools) is a factor of mHealth app adoption that requires greater theoretical investigation.

7.3.3 Participant Information Seeking

The way the thesis measured adoption behaviour concept offers further theoretical implications. In the quantitative stage, the option to seek product information was presented to participants at the end of the survey when participants could click (or not) on a link to download a quit gambling app. Clicking on the link showed that participants were, at the very least, interested in the app and seeking more information. Considering other marketing models and theories alongside this 'information seeking' and the TAM can add to theory, e.g., the consumer buying process. There is an overlap between the step of information seeking in this thesis and information search in the consumer buying process. The consumer buying process outlines the five basic steps consumers take when evaluating a purchase decision: 1) problem recognition, 2) information search, 3) alternatives evaluation, 4) purchase decision, and 5) post-purchase evaluation (Prasad & Jha, 2014). The interpretation of information seeking presented in this thesis is that the individual, after exposure to and awareness of an mHealth app, actively seeks product information (Canziani & MacSween, 2021). In the consumer buying process, information search is where the consumer actively collects information to inform a purchase decision (Weisfeld-Spolter & Rippé, 2022). Noting that information search is not the initial stage of the consumer buying process, consumers do not necessarily follow the process in sequence (Patsiotis et al., 2020). With these similarities

between the two concepts, there is a potential synergy between the theoretical framework of this thesis and the consumer buying process. Information seeking can bridge into information search of the consumer buying process suggesting that an mHealth app user can shift between these models. This new theoretical approach may offer a more holistic view of mHealth app acceptance.

7.4 Practical Implications

The results of this thesis have relevance for mHealth app developers and marketers. The findings reflect those antecedents, including subjective knowledge and involvement, need for personalisation, perceived convenience, gamification and aesthetics, as predictors of mHealth app perceived ease of use and usefulness. Understanding how these antecedents underpin perceived ease of use and usefulness, two crucial factors of adoption (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), is valuable for informing mHealth app developers and marketers, so recommendations are presented to both developers and marketers based on these factors. Such insights can support app developers to create apps that bear these antecedents in their designs to ultimately increase app lifecycle and improve user health. This outcome provides consumers with a product to achieve health goals that can operate as a standalone health tool or in cooperation with other treatment approaches. Further, health studies that were discussed in Section 7.3 present evidence that elements and techniques derived from these antecedents can in fact improve ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. mHealth app marketers can increase positive user perceptions of ease of use and usefulness by suggesting the presence of these antecedents through promotion to extend advertising reach and encourage adoption. mHealth research shows some evidence of marketing success in this challenge which is discussed later in Section 7.4.2. Starting with app development, this section discusses implications based on the paths in the conceptual model with supporting examples of mHealth apps for developers in Section 7.4.1.

7.4.1 Implications for App Developers

Subjective Knowledge and Involvement

In this thesis, subjective knowledge and involvement predicted perceived usefulness but not perceived ease of use. This result implies that people who self-evaluate to be knowledgeable

about apps may attempt to reinforce their self-belief about being knowledgeable through effectively using mHealth apps. These users are focussed on achieving health goals through knowledge and are less concerned with applying knowledge to navigate technology easily. Hence, developers should cater to users' level of understanding and experience and not assume users' capability; for example, simple user modes that accommodate users with learning disorders who may be apprehensive or inexperienced with standard user modes (Rossi, 2019). Developers should also consider expert users. Bardus et al. (2020) noted that mHealth apps designed for experts working in healthcare score highly on the information quality domains of app rating scales. These types of app are developed for complex health diagnoses and treatment plans for patients. For this expert group, basic apps with limited features and functionality may impede users. These examples demonstrate how developing apps on the basis of users' knowledge and involvement can enable perceived usefulness.

Personalisation

This thesis found that need for personalisation influenced perceived ease of use and usefulness: people with a stronger need for personalisation of apps had lower perceptions that mHealth apps are easy to use and useful. This finding might suggest that users who need personalisation in apps have less experience with easy to use and useful mHealth apps. Personalisation can be used to increase an app's ease of use and usefulness as tailoring an app and using individual information familiarises the content for the user, making it easier to navigate (Tossell et al., 2012). However, developers must be mindful that this can pose a risk to users' data privacy. Personalisation creates custom health goals that are achievable and relevant to the user (Attwood et al., 2017). An example app that does this is Drinkaware, an alcohol consumption management app that simplifies healthy behaviours by making goals both easier to create and less sizable, so that they are easier to achieve (see Figure 7.4). This approach creates tailored content and personalised treatment plans through the app. This way the user engages with the app more frequently and on a more personal level to achieve a health goal (Madeira et al., 2018), which is important for extending the app's lifecycle. Therefore, for users, navigating their own created content makes the app easier to use, and achieving more modest and meaningful health goals makes the app more useful.



Figure 7.4: Drinkaware App

Convenience

This thesis shows that perceived convenience is also an important factor for mHealth app developers to consider. People using mHealth apps to achieve specific health goals expect these apps to be convenient. A component of app convenience is accessibility; that is, how much effort is expended with each use of the app (Chen et al., 2019). If there are design or compatibility issues between the app and device that lead to a spike in effort for the user, lower perceptions of convenience would result (Choi et al., 2022). Hence, app developers should ensure that the programming of the app facilitates use across devices. In addition, poor app development that forces users to take multiple steps for each interaction with the app is likely to decrease perceptions of convenience. Consequently, users' engagement with the app decreases, or even ceases, which blocks the app from becoming useful in achieving its health goal. MyFitnessPal, a calorie-counting app shown to be effective in clinical trials (see Evenepoel et al., 2020), is an example of developers improving an inconvenient mHealth app. Users reported inconvenience with manually logging meal details (Chen et al., 2019). The developers overcame this with features that automated food logging, including showing lists of users' frequent foods and the ability to scan barcodes of packaged food to log nutritional information (see Figure 7.5). These additions led to users perceiving MyFitnessPal as more

convenient as the process was simplified making the app easier to use (Evans, 2017). This example demonstrates how convenience underpins app ease of use and usefulness. Hence, mHealth apps should be developed to be multi-device compatible, and in a manner that automates or minimises steps in using the app to increase its convenience.



Figure 7.5: MyFitnessPal App

Aesthetics

Aesthetics is also an important factor for mHealth app developers. Research has investigated the influence of many aspects of mHealth app aesthetics, such as colour and layout, on app evaluations and usage behaviours (see Alsswey et al., 2020; Rizzo, 2020). These studies have shown that pleasing aesthetics encourages more positive evaluations and usage behaviours that support opportunities for an mHealth app to become useful. Headspace is an example mHealth app that scores highly on the aesthetics domain (Mani et al., 2015) of the Mobile App Rating Scale, a tool for assessing mHealth app quality (see Stoyanov et al., 2015). Headspace is a mental health app that uses a simple design and displays information in a structured manner, as if the content were stacked in order (see Figure 7.6). App visuals should have order or structure (Kumar et al., 2018) with a simple design that eases navigation (Taylor

& Levin, 2014). The Headspace app is recognised for its design (Kellen & Saxena, 2020), making it extremely popular among many competing mental health apps (Lau et al., 2021). The implication for app developers is that having users' preferred colours and layout presented orderly is important for increasing ease of use and enabling users to achieve health goals.



Figure 7.6: Headspace App

Gamification

This thesis found that positive perceptions of gamification promoted perceptions of mHealth app ease of use and usefulness. A substantial literature proves that gamification of mHealth apps promotes app engagement and enables positive health change (Bitrián et al., 2021; Gorman et al., 2020). To create these outcomes, mHealth app developers should use gamification techniques to enhance user perceptions of ease of use and usefulness. Examples of gamification in mHealth apps are digital rewards, goal setting and progress tracking (Hoffmann et al., 2017; Sama et al., 2014). mHealth apps that use these techniques are more effective in achieving health goals and have longer lifecycles, making the apps more effective (Resnick et al., 2021). Reducing tasks to a step-by-step level and giving hints for easier navigation are effective gamification techniques to make apps more user friendly (LaBelle et al., 2020; Michelle et al., 2014; Rasul et al., 2021). This shows how gamification underpins perceived ease of use and usefulness of mHealth apps. An example mHealth app that uses these techniques effectively is SmartCat, an anxiety management app for children. SmartCat uses coaching techniques to support therapy-based games. The app also uses a system of levels and gradual reward giving supported by an easy-to-use design for children with relevant anxiety management goals for their age (Pramana et al., 2018; see Figure 7.7).



Figure 7.7: SmartCat App

Ease of Use

Gamification techniques create a high perception of perceived ease of use and usefulness but can also tangibly make mHealth apps easier to use. This is important because perceived ease of use is a driver of mHealth app intention and adoption (Anderson et al., 2016; Palos-Sanchez et al., 2021). For example, similar to gaming, mHealth apps could have a simple user mode that limits the options and functions. As users begin to navigate more confidently, they are able to upgrade the mode or receive suggestions for adding functions (Hirose & Tabe, 2016). Another technique is to create a user profile, similar to a character profile in a game. This is common in mHealth apps that store user data to minimise user input and interaction (Ozturk et al., 2016). Monitor Your Weight, a weight loss app, is an example of this technique that maintains detailed records of users' weight and health details and uses them to set appearance and weight loss goals (Honary et al., 2019; see Figure 7.8).



Figure 7.8: Monitor Your Weight App

Usefulness

This thesis confirmed, alongside previous research (see Foster, 2018), that perceived usefulness of mHealth apps predicts intention, which is important for stimulating consumer action. People use mHealth apps expecting them to facilitate certain health goals. Hence, an mHealth app must fulfil these goals to be useful. For app developers, creating functions that are tailored to the particular health issue and health goal are essential for making an mHealth app useful (Walrave et al., 2022). Further, apps with larger numbers of interactive functions improve user attitude, which in turn can encourage app usage (Whittaker et al., 2021). Thornton et al. (2017) demonstrated this by reviewing quit smoking apps to identify that the popular apps hosted multiple functions tailored to quitting smoking. Further, Peiris et al. (2019) trialled a multifunctional quit smoking app with functions uniquely developed for a target user group, reporting better cessation rates than generic apps (see 7.9). Hence, these mHealth apps were more popular and useful. From these insights, it is clear that the number

and quality of functions and how well these functions are tailored to specific health issues are critical factors that determine usefulness of mHealth apps.



Figure 7.9: Quit Smoking App

Design

The qualitative findings reveal how mHealth app design, specifically colours and layout, can affect target users' perceptions of mHealth apps. Specifically, the findings include the preference for a clinical-looking app; empty spaces, spread icons, white background and dark blue tones for text and shapes. Regarding colour, research has also noted a positive effect of blue designs in mHealth apps (see Rizzo, 2020). Regarding layout, the on-screen display of mHealth apps is important to target user attitudes (Alsswey et al., 2020), and apps with organised displays and reduced content permit ease of navigation (Kumar et al., 2018; Taylor & Levin, 2014). According to Information Processing Theory, visual complexity creates uncertainty (Nasar, 1987). For apps, this leads to reduced perceived ease of use and usefulness (Ghose et al., 2013). Hence, it is important for app developers to look beyond functionality and consider user preferences such as design (Bhandari et al., 2015). The blue-on-white scheme and spaced on-screen layout from the quantitative stimuli in this thesis may be an ideal design for mHealth developers to adapt to their apps. Overall, these insights

highlight how important it can be for mHealth app developers to identify designs that are attractive to their specific target users. Design attractiveness is also an important aspect of mHealth app advertising for marketers and is discussed in the next section.

7.4.2 Implications for Marketers

Section 7.4.1 presented arguments for how mHealth app developers should consider using antecedents—including perceived convenience and aesthetics— as well as perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness to increase app usage and prolong app lifecycle among users. The importance of these factors for mHealth marketers is discussed here with recommendations.

Convenience

This thesis found that perceived convenience predicted mHealth app perceived ease of use and usefulness. A major component of app convenience is its availability to users, and apps that are not available to download with ease are not convenient (Jung et al., 2014). Apps that are widely available (e.g., hosted by multiple app stores and dedicated websites) are typically the more popular apps (Larsen et al., 2016). This heightened availability facilitates download. Hence, if an mHealth app is poorly disseminated or people struggle to find it, this poor availability may reduce the perceived convenience of the app. Hence, marketers should ensure that their mHealth apps are easily available through app stores and other platforms where target users are likely to encounter them.

Aesthetics

The Headspace app scores highly on the aesthetics domain of the Mobile App Rating Scale (Mani et al., 2015). Noting that aesthetics predicted mHealth app perceived ease of use and usefulness in the current thesis, the marketing of Headspace provides an example of effective advertising of aesthetics. In fact, users have reported that the appealing advertising of Headspace influenced their initial perceptions and usage of the app (Kellen & Saxena, 2020). Headspace advertisements replicate the app's design and colours closely, using the signature orange sun but few other elements, on a light background (see Figure 7.10). Information Processing Theory suggests that simple designs like this increase certainty (Nasar, 1987). For

apps, this leads to enhanced perceptions of usefulness and ease of use (Ghose et al., 2013). Headspace is one of the most popular mental health apps (Lau et al., 2021). As exemplified by Headspace, mHealth app marketers can create advertising that closely resembles the app's aesthetics that make it distinct from competing apps.



Figure 7.10: Headspace Advertisement for Aesthetics

Ease of Use

Advertising that shows the user and technology interacting in an effortless manner—that is, imagery that shows simple and quick navigation of the app and its features—is highly effective for demonstrating ease of use (Tsai et al., 2016). For mHealth apps, promotional materials can highlight ease of use through scenes where the use of the app does not disrupt the existing habits of the user (Rasul et al., 2021; see Figure 7.11). In this way, target users can see how the app fits in with routines to support the desired health behaviour. Another technique is to show advertising with informative gestures to exhibit a supported experience; for example, *what's new* and *tap to learn more* (Rasul et al., 2021). This technique suggests that the app guides the user through the process to make tasks easier.



Figure 7.11: Fitbit Advertisements

Usefulness

This thesis showed that perceived usefulness affected both attitude and adoption intention of mHealth apps. Perceived usefulness is a key contributor to mHealth app adoption (Palos-Sanchez et al., 2021). To show that an mHealth app is effective in enabling positive health change, advertising can communicate results from using the app, or some other form of evidence (Gurewitz, 2019). Headspace provides an example of this type of advertising. Headspace has taken a unique approach by quantifying progress in its advertising to show the usefulness of the app. This style of advertising is unique to the Headspace brand and separates it from other competing mental health apps (Gurewitz, 2019; see Figure 7.12).



Figure 7.12: Headspace Advertisements for Usefulness

7.4.3 Policy Implications

The samples in this thesis showed some resistance to adopting mHealth apps and reduced familiarity with mHealth. These findings suggest that some practices should be formally put in policy to support like-minded individuals. Policy design should acknowledge the diversity of experiences and challenges that people can encounter when using mHealth apps, particularly those transitioning to apps from traditional treatment services and platforms or those unwilling to transition (Jacob, 2020). Two implications can be seen here. First, policy should allow for more technical guidance and support for less-experienced users. Particularly for clinics that prescribe mHealth apps and support groups for addictions that endorse mHealth apps, clearer guidance and timely assistance should be provided as part of the service. In groups that already provide this service, it typically forms part of a larger digital health coaching program (Tu et al, 2018). Second, it is important that traditional platforms and face-to-face services are not discontinued in place of apps or any eHealth technology (Tu et al., 2021). Healthcare systems should be organised through infrastructure and services that cater to the diversity of technology experiences and allow mHealth and other health technology to operate as support tools.

7.5 Limitations and Future Research

There are limitations to this thesis that provide opportunities for future research. These include generalisability, practical and methodological limitations. First, there are limitations with respect to the generalisability of the findings and insights offered. The research design relies on survey participants to accurately self-report and self-administer surveys (Malhotra & Birks, 2007). With self-reporting, people tend to provide socially desirable responses to questions, which biases the results (Neuman, 2014). This is particularly relevant in research dealing with gamblers, who are known to withhold information about their behaviours and misreport information out of perceived shame (Pulford et al., 2009). The limitation here is that data were provided by respondents who may not have been totally truthful; however, the sample size and strength of the significance values suggests this limitation should not be considered severe. To minimise concerns in this regard, participants at all stages of data collected were assured that privacy and anonymity would be maintained. Further, minimal questions regarding personal gambling behaviour were asked, and the scales used were those

confirmed in the literature as reliable and valid. Future research could overcome this potential problem by conducting observational research of participant behaviours rather than using a self-reporting method.

Another generalisability limitation is the representativeness of the survey sample. The thesis did not consider cultural identities such as ethnicity or race. Gambling behaviours vary across cultures (Raylu & Oei, 2004) as do regulations (Binde, 2005), treatment programs and barriers (Kim, 2012). Further, cross-cultural studies have noted how culture can influence and negate the accuracy of the TAM (Al-Kubaisi & Abu-Shanab, 2021; Arifah & Juniarti, 2021). Future research might overcome this limitation through greater observation of identity, particularly culture. Other factors, such as income (Vuković et al., 2019), health literacy (Cho et al., 2014) and even marital status (Schmidthuber et al., 2020; Shemesh & Barnoy, 2020) are known to influence technology adoption but were not measured here. These concepts and others may be more applicable in other contexts around technology and health conditions. The scope of this thesis restricted the sample and the concepts measured; hence these findings cannot with certainty be assumed fully valid for other mHealth app research. Future research should be more inclusive of participant identity factors.

A practical limitation of this thesis and other studies in mHealth is that they stay at the conceptual stage and do not see development and market trial (see McClure et al., 2016). Researchers should consider conducting clinical trials (see Tsai et al., 2022) to determine the effectiveness of mHealth gambling apps in terms of reducing gambling risk levels and subsequent gambling harm. Although beyond the scope of this technology adoption study, research that seeks and measures reduction in gambling harm in gamblers' environments is critical for consumer wellbeing (Tulloch et al., 2021) and should be considered in future. Furthermore, research could compare the outcomes of clinical trials with expert reviews to determine if the distinct findings from these different investigations align.

There is a methodological limitation to this thesis regarding the use of cross-sectional data. Cross-sectional data provide a snapshot of a single point in time rather than considering an ongoing dynamic process (Bowen & Wiersema, 1999). Research around health conditions, such as gambling, is more susceptible to biases and inaccurate recall, particularly with longterm health conditions (Wang & Cheng, 2020). Unlike cross-sectional research, longitudinal

research can record the necessary data at multiple important points in time. Future research could consider a longitudinal design, which has potential advantages including identification of time-based patterns and reduced recall bias (Kline, 2015).

The final limitation is around the range of antecedents tested in this thesis and how they have been interpreted. The antecedents here do not represent all potential concepts that may drive mHealth app adoption. This poses a theoretical limitation to the research. Hence, this thesis identifies the urgent need for research on a wider range of mHealth app adoption drivers, such as risk aversion (Morosan & DeFranco, 2014), personal attachment (Sultan et al., 2009), connection with device (Gao et al., 2013), perceived value (lyer et al., 2018) and perceived benefits (Tseng & Lee, 2018). If examined, these antecedents could further extend the applicability of the TAM in marketing research. Further, the concepts included in this thesis could be interpreted and thus measured differently. For instance, this thesis project measured trust as a user's level of trust in apps. A recent study repositioned trust as the consumer's trust in a supplier or brand and found this to be a factor in predicting usage of COVID-19 apps (García-Paucar et al., 2022). Aesthetics is another example of a feature that can be interpreted differently among users. This study measured users' valuations of the aesthetics of the stimuli app, whereas other studies have measured how aesthetics improves technology usability (Cyr et al., 2006). A comparison of these and other different interpretations of trust and aesthetics would provide greater insight into how these antecedents contribute to mHealth adoption.

7.6 Concluding Comments

Despite the ample benefits of using mHealth apps, and their increasing accessibility, their adoption rate is lower than that for other types of app. In addition, the literature on mHealth app adoption takes a narrow theoretical approach. Specifically, empirical research has tended to investigate drivers for their direct influence on mHealth app usage and post-adoption behaviours. Few of these studies have taken a different approach and investigated how these drivers underpin technology adoption theories as antecedents to create a holistic view of the adoption process. Guided by the TAM, this thesis identified and analysed a range of untested antecedents to develop a new model of mHealth app adoption. This thesis and model were developed in a gambling context where gamblers' attitudes and perceptions towards an

mHealth gambling app were tested. However, the findings are relevant for other contexts of mHealth app adoption and can be used to inform future research. Twenty-four focus group participants and 252 survey respondents who were all help-seeking gamblers contributed to the findings. This resulted in a dataset tailored for a unique population of consumers experiencing harm from gambling and actively seeking support to manage their behaviours. Analysis of the qualitative data identified the best functions and design for the concept gambling quit app and presentation of the stimuli at the quantitative stage. The qualitative findings illustrate the importance of mHealth app functionality and design. Analysis of the quantitative data provided support for a number of hypotheses in the thesis. This outcome informed the theoretical findings and practical recommendations.

There are important theoretical findings in this thesis. The first is novel antecedents to the TAM relevant to mHealth app adoption: subjective knowledge and involvement, perceived convenience, personalisation, aesthetics and gamification. Second, though health status severity is shown by conflicting literature to have different effects on technology adoption via moderation, this thesis found no moderation in this context. Third, the thesis found that multi-group testing by splitting the sample according to adoption behaviour (present or absent) or platform product preference (digital or analogue) revealed differences between the direct paths in the model. These findings also demonstrate the need for researchers to test and extend models for fast-moving technology and innovations in ever-changing consumer contexts. Further, the thesis led to creation of a roadmap for mHealth app developers and marketers. To that end, the thesis discusses the findings with practical recommendations for app developers and marketers to embed the antecedents into the creation of mHealth apps and their advertising. Actioning these recommendations is likely to strengthen the lifecycle and dissemination of mHealth apps with the outcome of increasing adoption rates.

Increasing mHealth app adoption is important because of the value that mHealth apps offer on both individual and societal levels. While there are some disadvantages to mHealth, such as assumptions around user capability, data privacy and the risk of apps replacing critical platforms, these apps can provide viable and highly accessible healthcare to individuals for whom other health services may not be available. In particular, mHealth apps support consumer groups that are vulnerable to unhealthy consumption behaviours, such as problem

gambling, and are available on a global scale. For society, mHealth apps are shown to reduce economic expenditure and logistical pressures on public health. From these insights, we come to understand the value of mHealth apps for making positive change. However, the low adoption rate of mHealth apps works against this change. It is this disconnection between the value of mHealth apps and their adoption rates that is key for this thesis to make meaningful contributions. Any research that seeks to improve mHealth app adoption is valuable research. Hence, this thesis contributes to the understanding of mHealth app adoption to create positive change for consumers and society.

References

- Abbott, M., Stone, C. A., Billi, R., & Yeung, K. (2016). Gambling and problem gambling in Victoria, Australia: Changes over 5 years. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 32*(1), 47–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-015-9542-1
- Abdullah, F., Ward, R., & Ahmed, E. (2016). Investigating the influence of the most commonly used external variables of TAM on students' perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness of e-portfolios. *Computers in Human Behavior, 63*, 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.014
- Abroms, L. C., Westmaas, J. L., Bontemps-Jones, J., Ramani, R., & Mellerson, J. (2013). A content analysis of popular smartphone apps for smoking cessation. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 45(6), 732–736. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- Acikgoz, F., Filieri, R., & Yan, M. (2022). Psychological predictors of intention to use fitness apps: The role of subjective knowledge and innovativeness. *International Journal of Human–Computer* Interaction,
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2022.2074668
- Agarwal, R., & Prasad, J. (1997). The role of innovation characteristics and perceived voluntariness in the acceptance of information technologies. *Decision Sciences*, *28*(3), 557–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.1997.tb01322.x
- Ahmad, S., Zulkurnain, N. N. A., & Khairushalimi, F. I. (2016). Assessing the validity and reliability of a measurement model in structural equation modeling (SEM). *Journal of Advances in Mathematics & Computer Science*, 15(3), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.9734/BJMCS/2016/25183
- Ahmed, A., & Sathish, A. (2015). Determinants of online shopping adoption: Meta analysis
 and review. *European Journal of Social Sciences, 49*, 583–540.
 https://www.researchgate.net
- Ahuja, V., & Khazanchi, D. (2016). Creation of a conceptual model for adoption of mobile apps for shopping from e-commerce sites—an Indian context. *Procedia Computer Science*, *91*, 609–616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.07.152

- Aji, H. M., Berakon, I., & Riza, A. F. (2020). The effects of subjective norm and knowledge about RIBA on intention to use e-money in Indonesia. *Journal of Islamic Marketing*, 12(9), 1180–1196. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIMA-10-2019-0203
- Ajibade, P. (2018). Technology Acceptance Model limitations and criticisms: Exploring the practical applications and use in technology-related studies, mixed-method, and qualitative researches. *Library Philosophy & Practice, 19*(41), 1–14. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/189486068.pdf
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. *Organizational Behavior & Human Decision Processes, 50*(2), 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior. Prentice Hall. https://www.worldcat.org
- Al-edenat, M., & Alhawamdeh, N. (2022). Reconsidering individuals' competencies in business intelligence and business analytics toward process effectiveness: Mediation-moderation model. *Business: Theory & Practice, 23*(2), 239–259. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2022.16548
- Al-Emran, M., & Granic, A. (2021). Is it still valid or outdated? A bibliometric analysis of the Technology Acceptance Model and its applications from 2010 to 2020. *Recent Advances in Technology Acceptance Models & Theories*, 1–12. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-64987-6_1
- Al-Harthy, I. M., & Ali, N. (2022). Determinants of BYOD protection behavior: An employee's perspective. Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology, 100(13), 4653–4678. https://www.jatit.org/volumes/Vol100No13/3Vol100No13.pdf
- Al-Husamiyah, A., & Al-Bashayreh, M. (2022). A comprehensive acceptance model for smart home services. International Journal of Data & Network Science, 6(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.ijdns.2021.10.005
- Al-Kubaisi, H. H., & Abu-Shanab, E. A. (2021). Factors influencing trust in social commerce: The case of Qatar. *International Journal of Electronic Business*, 17(1), 13–36. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEB.2022.119977
- Alam, M. M. D., Alam, M. Z., Rahman, S. A., & Taghizadeh, S. K. (2021). Factors influencing mHealth adoption and its impact on mental well-being during COVID-19 pandemic: A SEM-ANN approach. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics, 116*, 103722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2021.103722

- Alam, M. Z., Hoque, M. R., Hu, W., & Barua, Z. (2020). Factors influencing the adoption of mHealth services in a developing country: A patient-centric study. *International Journal of Information Management, 50*, 128–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.04.016
- Albury, K., Byron, P., & Shaw, F. (2019). Introduction: The will to app: Digitising public health. *Media International Australia, 171*(1), 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1329878X19850233
- Ali, E. E., Chan, S. S. L., Leow, J. L., Chew, L., & Yap, K. Y.-L. (2019). User acceptance of an appbased adherence intervention: Perspectives from patients taking oral anticancer medications. *Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice, 25*(2), 390–397. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078155218778106
- Ali, N, Tretiakov A, Whiddett D, Hunter I. (2017). Knowledge management systems success in healthcare: Leadership matters. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 97, 331-340. https://doi.org.10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.11.004
- Alin, A. (2010). Multicollinearity. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics,* 2(3), 370–374. https://doi.org/10.1002/wics.84
- Alqahtani, F., & Orji, R. (2020). Insights from user reviews to improve mental health apps. *Health* Informatics Journal, 26(3), 2042–2066. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458219896492
- Alsswey, A., Al-Samarraie, H., El-Qirem, F., Alzahrani, A., & Alfarraj, O. (2020). Culture in the design of mHealth UI: An effort to increase acceptance among culturally specific groups. *The Electronic Library, 38*(2), 257-272. https://doi.org/10.1108/EL-04-2019-0097
- Alsyouf, A., Lutfi, A., Al-Bsheish, M., Jarrar, M., Al-Mugheed, K., Almaiah, M. A., Alhazmi, F. N., Masa'deh, R., Anshasi, R. J., & Ashour, A. (2022). Exposure detection applications acceptance: The case of COVID-19. *International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health, 19*(120), 7307. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19127307
- Altmann, V., & Gries, M. (2017). Factors influencing the usage intention of mHealth apps: An empirical study on the example of Sweden [PhD thesis, Karlstad University]. Diva. https://www.diva-portal.org

- Ames, J., Bluhm, D., Gaskin, J., & Lyytinen, K. (2020). The impact of moral attentiveness on manager's turnover intent. *Society & Business Review*, 15(3), 189–209. https://doi.org/10.1108/SBR-03-2020-0025
- Amin, M., Rezaei, S., & Abolghasemi, M. (2014). User satisfaction with mobile websites: The impact of perceived usefulness (PU), perceived ease of use (PEOU) and trust. Nankai Business Review International, 5(3), 258–274. https://doi.org/10.1108/NBRI-01-2014-0005
- Anderson, K., Burford, O., & Emmerton, L. (2016). Mobile health apps to facilitate self-care: A qualitative study of user experiences. *PLoS One, 11*(5), e0156164. https://doi.org/:10.1371/journal.pone.0156164
- Andrews, D., Nonnecke, B., & Preece, J. (2007). Conducting research on the internet: Online survey design, development and implementation guidelines. *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction*, 16(2), 185–210. https://doi.org/10.1.1.91.4972
- Anoop, G., Manu Melwin, J., Muhammed, S., & Muhammed Nowfal, S. (2022). Understanding the intention to use virtual currency in a gamified e-commerce context. *International Journal of Online Marketing*, *12*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJOM.288425
- Antwi, S. K., & Hamza, K. (2015). Qualitative and quantitative research paradigms in business research: A philosophical reflection. *European Journal of Business & Management,* 7(3), 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1.1.672.3361
- Ardies, J., De Maeyer, S., Gijbels, D., & van Keulen, H. (2015). Students' attitudes towards technology. International Journal of Technology & Design Education, 25(1), 43–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-014-9268-x
- Arifah, I. D. C., & Juniarti, R. P. (2021). Interface aesthetic, perceived value, perceived ease of use, and perceived usefulness on purchase intention of smartwatch consumers. *International Conference on Business & Engineering Management, 177, 25–33.* https://doi.org/10.2991/aebmr.k.210522.005
- Arnhold, M., Quade, M., & Kirch, W. (2014). Mobile applications for diabetics: A systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients aged 50 years or older. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 16(4), e104. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2968
- Arogundade, O., Mustapha, O., Ikotun, A., & Adejimi, A. (2016). An enhanced Technology Acceptance Model to measure consumers' willingness to pay for more secure

software development. *Journal of Natural Sciences Engineering & Technology, 15*(2), 103–118. https://doi.org/10.51406/jnset.v15i2.1697

- Aslam, W., Hussain, A., Farhat, K., & Arif, I. (2019). Underlying factors influencing consumers' trust and loyalty in e-commerce. *Business Perspectives & Research, 8*(2), 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1177/2278533719887451
- Atkinson, L. (2013). Smart shoppers? Using QR codes and 'green' smartphone apps to mobilize sustainable consumption. *International Journal of Consumer Studies, 37*, 387–393. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12025
- Attwood, S., Parke, H., Larsen, J., & Morton, K. L. (2017). Using a mobile health application to reduce alcohol consumption: A mixed-methods evaluation of the drinkaware track & calculate units application. *BMC Public Health, 17*(1), 394. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4358-9
- Au, A. K. m., & Enderwick, P. (2000). A cognitive model on attitude towards technology adoption. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 15(4), 266–282. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940010330957
- Aungst, T. D. (2013). Medical applications for pharmacists using mobile devices. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 47(7–8), 1088–1095. https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.1S035
- Awang, Z. (2015). SEM made simple: A gentle approach to learning structural equation modeling. MPWS Rich Publication. https://doi.org/10.18502/kss.v3i4.1984
- Bagozzi, R. (2007). The legacy of the Technology Acceptance Model and a proposal for a paradigm shift. *Journal for the Association of Information Systems, 8*(4), 244–254. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00122
- Bagozzi, R. P., Sekerka, L. E., Hill, V., & Sguera, F. (2013). The role of moral values in instigating morally responsible decisions. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 49(1), 69–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886312471194
- Baig, M. M., GholamHosseini, H., & Connolly, M. J. (2015). Mobile healthcare applications:
 System design review, critical issues and challenges. *Australasian Physical & Engineering Sciences in Medicine, 38*(1), 23–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13246-014-0315-4
- Bakhshian, S., & Lee, Y. (2022) Social acceptability and product attributes of smart apparel: Their effects on consumers' attitude and use intention. *The Journal of the Textile Institute*, *113*(4), 671-680, https://doi.org/10.1080/00405000.2021.1898138

- Baptista, G., & Oliveira, T. (2017). Why so serious? Gamification impact in the acceptance of mobile banking services. *Internet Research, 27*(1), 118–139. https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-10-2015-0295
- Bardus, M., Awada, N., Ghandour, L. A., Fares, E.-J., Gherbal, T., Al-Zanati, T., & Stoyanov, S.
 R. (2020). The Arabic version of the Mobile App Rating Scale: Development and validation study. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 8*(3), e16956. https://doi.org/10.2196/16956
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, *51*(6), 1173. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.51.6.1173.
- Barrett, P. (2007). Structural equation modelling: Adjudging model fit. *Personality & Individual Differences, 42*(5), 815–824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2006.09.018
- Baumgartner, H., & Homburg, C. (1996). Applications of structural equation modeling in marketing and consumer research: A review. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 13(2), 139–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8116(95)00038-0
- Berg, B. L., Lune, H., & Lune, H. (2004). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences*. Pearson. https://doi.org/10.2307/1317652
- Berlyne, D. E. (1974). *Studies in the new experimental aesthetics: Steps toward an objective psychology of aesthetic appreciation*. Hemisphere. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1975-07344-000
- Berry, L. L., Seiders, K., & Grewal, D. (2002). Understanding service convenience. *Journal of Marketing*, *66*(3), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.66.3.1.18505
- Bezabih, A. M., Gerling, K., Abebe, W., & Abeele, V. V. (2021). Behavioral theories and motivational features underlying eHealth interventions for adolescent antiretroviral adherence: Systematic review. JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 9(12), e25129. https://doi.org/10.2196/25129
- Bhandari, U., Neben, T., & Chang, K. T. (2015). Mobile app preferences: What role does aesthetics and emotions play? *Information Systems & Neuroscience, 10*, 161–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-18702-0_21
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2001). Understanding information systems continuance: An expectationconfirmation model. *MIS Quarterly, 25*, 351–370. https://doi.org/10.2307/3250921

- Bhuyan, S. S., Lu, N., Chandak, A., Kim, H., Wyant, D., Bhatt, J., Kedia, S., & Chang, C. F. (2016).
 Use of mobile health applications for health-seeking behavior among US adults.
 Journal of Medical Systems, 40(6), 153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-016-0492-7
- Binde, P. (2005). Gambling across cultures: Mapping worldwide occurrence and learning from ethnographic comparison. *International Gambling Studies*, 5(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459790500097913
- Bitrián, P., Buil, I., & Catalán, S. (2021). Enhancing user engagement: The role of gamification in mobile apps. *Journal of Business Research*, 132, 170–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.04.028
- Blaszczynski, A., Swanton, T. B., & Gainsbury, S. M. (2020). Avoiding use of stigmatising descriptors in gambling studies. *International Gambling Studies*, 20(3), 369–372. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2020.1808774
- Bloch, P. H. (1986). The product enthusiast: Implications for marketing strategy. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *3*(3), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb008170
- Blondon, K., Klasnja, P., Coleman, K., & Pratt, W. (2014). An exploration of attitudes toward the use of patient incentives to support diabetes self-management. *Psychology & Health, 29*(5), 552–563. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2013.867346
- Blumler, J., & Kaatz, E. (1974). The uses of mass communications: Current perspectives on gratifications research. Sage. https://doi.org/10.1086/226259
- Boulos, M. N. K., Brewer, A. C., Karimkhani, C., Buller, D. B., & Dellavalle, R. P. (2014). Mobile medical and health apps: State of the art, concerns, regulatory control and certification. *Online Journal of Public Health Informatics*, 5(3), 229. https://doi.org/10.5210/ojphi.v5i3.4814
- Bowen, H. P., & Wiersema, M. F. (1999). Matching method to paradigm in strategy research: Limitations of cross-sectional analysis and some methodological alternatives. *Strategic Management Journal, 20*(7), 625-636. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(199907)20:7<625::AID-SMJ45>3.0.CO;2-V
- Boyce, M. R., & Katz, R. (2019). Community health workers and pandemic preparedness: Current and prospective roles. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *7*, 62. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00062
- Brannen, J. (2017). *Mixing methods: Qualitative and quantitative research*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570500154642

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). *Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.1177/095935351561411
- Breland, J. Y., Agha, K., & Mohankumar, R. (2021). Adoption and appropriateness of mHealth for weight management in the real world: A qualitative investigation of patient perspectives. *JMIR Formative Research, 5*(12), e29916. https://doi.org/10.2196/29916
- Brew-Sam, N. (2020). App use and patient empowerment in diabetes self-management: Advancing theory-guided mHealth research. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-29357-4
- Brown, L. G. (1990). Convenience in services marketing. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 4(1), 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470593109346894
- Brown, S. A., Massey, A. P., Montoya-weiss, M. M., & Burkman, J. R. (2002). Do I really have to? User acceptance of mandated technology. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 11(4), 283–295. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000438
- Brown, T. A. (2015). *Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research*. Guilford Publications. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2015-10560-000
- Brownlow, L. (2021). A review of mHealth gambling apps in Australia. *Journal of Gambling Issues, 47,* 1–19. https://doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2021.47.1
- Brownlow, L., Crouch, R., Pourazad, N., & de Vos, S. (2022). Gambling quit apps to the rescue: Considerations of app features for help-seeking problem gamblers [Paper presentation]. European Marketing Academy Conference, Budapest, Hungary. https://www.uni-corvinus.hu/ind/emac2022/?lang=en
- Bruner, G., & Kumar, A. (2005). Explaining consumer acceptance of handheld Internet devices.
 Journal of Business Research, 58, 553–558.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2003.08.002
- Bullen, C., Rosse, F., Newcombe, D., Whittaker, R., & Strydom, J. (2015). *Smartphone-based* problem gambling evaluation and technology testing initiative ('SPGETTI') feasibility study. New Zealand Ministry of Health. https://www.health.govt.nz
- Butt, I., Mukerji, B., Shareef, M. A., Ahmed, J. U., & Huda, S. S. M. S. (2022). Effect of trust on e-shopping adoption—An emerging market context. *Journal of Internet Commerce*, 21(3), 320–340. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332861.2021.1927436

- Byrne, B. M. (2013). *Structural equation modeling with Mplus: Basic concepts, applications, and programming*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1111/insr.12051_1
- Byun, H., Chiu, W., & Bae, J. S. (2018). Exploring the adoption of sports brand apps: An application of the modified Technology Acceptance Model. *International Journal of Asian Business and Information Management, 9*(1), 52–65. https://doi.org/ 10.4018/IJABIM.2018010105Cajita, I. M., Hodgson, A. N., Budhathoki, A. C., & Han, A. H.-R. (2017). Intention to use mHealth in older adults with heart failure. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing, 32*(6), E1–E7. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCN.000000000000401
- Calderwood, K. A., & Wellington, W. J. (2013). Social marketing strategies for stigmatized target populations: A case example for problem gamblers and family members of problem gamblers. *The Qualitative Report, 18*(49), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1431
- Campbell, J. I., Aturinda, I., Mwesigwa, E., Burns, B., Santorino, D., Haberer, J. E., Bangsberg, D., Holden, R., Ware, N., & Siedner, M. J. (2017). The Technology Acceptance Model for resource-limited settings (TAM-RLS): A novel framework for mobile health interventions targeted to low-literacy end-users in resource-limited settings. *AIDS and Behavior, 21*, 3129-3140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-017-1765-yCanziani, B., & MacSween, S. (2021). Consumer acceptance of voice-activated smart home devices for product information seeking and online ordering. *Computers in Human Behavior, 119*, 106714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.106714
- Car, J., Huang, Z., Sloot, P., & Franklin, B. (2017). eHealth in the future of medications management: Personalisation, monitoring and adherence. *BMC Medicine*, 15(1), 73. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-017-0838-0
- Carter, O. B., Pollard, C. M., Atkins, J. F., Milliner, J. M., & Pratt, I. S. (2011). 'We're not told why—we're just told': Qualitative reflections about the Western Australian Go for 2&5[®] fruit and vegetable campaign. *Public Health Nutrition, 14*(6), 982–988. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980010003381
- Castro-González, S. (2019). Structural equation modeling with AMOS to test mediation hypotheses. *Revista d'Innovació i Recerca en Educació, 12*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1344/reire2019.12.122540

- Castro, I., & Roldán, J. L. (2013). A mediation model between dimensions of social capital. *International Business Review,* 22(6), 1034–1050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2013.02.004
- Chae, J.-M. (2010). The Extended Technology Acceptance Model according to smart clothing types. *Korean Journal of Human Ecology, 19*(2), 375–387. https://doi.org/10.5934/KJHE.2010.19.2.375
- Chang, C.-C., Yan, C.-F., & Tseng, J.-S. (2012). Perceived convenience in an extended technology acceptance model: Mobile technology and English learning for college students. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 28(5), 809-826. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.818
- Chang, S.-J., van Witteloostuijn, A., & Eden, L. (2010). From the Editors: Common method variance in international business research. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *41*(2), 178–184. https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2009.88
- Chang, V., Chen, W., Xu, Q. A., & Xiong, C. (2021). Towards the customers' intention to use QR codes in mobile payments. *Journal of Global Information Management, 29*(6), 1– 21. https://doi.org/10.4018/JGIM.20211101.oa37
- Charles, D., & McDonough, S. (2014). A participatory design framework for the gamification of rehabilitation systems. In *10th International Conference on Disability, Virtual Reality and Associated Technologies* (pp. 293–296). ISVR. https://www.researchgate.net
- Chau, P. Y., & Hu, P. J. H. (2002). Investigating healthcare professionals' decisions to accept telemedicine technology: An empirical test of competing theories. *Information & Management*, *39*(4), 297-311. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(01)00098-2
- Chawla, D., & Joshi, H. (2019). Consumer attitude and intention to adopt mobile wallet in India—An empirical study. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, *37*(7), 1590-1618. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-09-2018-0256
- Chen, C., & Li, X. (2021). Understanding entity shared product usage: An innovation–adoption coupling model. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics, 34(8), 1659–1680. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJML-04-2021-0279
- Chen, J., Berkman, W., Bardouh, M., Ng, C. Y. K., & Allman-Farinelli, M. (2019). The use of a food logging app in the naturalistic setting fails to provide accurate measurements of nutrients and poses usability challenges. *Nutrition*, 57, 208–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2018.05.003

- Chen, K.-Y., & Chang, M.-L. (2013). User acceptance of 'near field communication' mobile phone service: An investigation based on the 'Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology' model. *The Service Industries Journal, 33*(6), 609–623. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2011.622369
- Chen, L.-D., Gillenson, M. L., & Sherrell, D. L. (2002). Enticing online consumers: An extended technology acceptance perspective. *Information & Management, 39*(8), 705–719. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(01)00127-6
- Chen, Q., Zhang, M., & Zhao, X. (2017). Analysing customer behaviour in mobile app usage. *Industrial Management & Data Systems, 117*, 425–438. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-04-2016-0141
- Chigurupati, R. (2011). *Tipping point of telemedicine and mhealth* [Video]. TED Conference. https://www.ted.com/tedx/
- Childers, T. L., Carr, C. L., Peck, J., & Carson, S. (2001). Hedonic and utilitarian motivations for online retail shopping behavior. *Journal of Retailing*, 77(4), 511–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4359(01)00056-2
- Cho, D.-Y., Kwon, H. J., & Lee, H.-Y. (2007). Analysis of trust in internet and mobile commerce adoption. In 40th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (p. 50). https://doi.org/10.1109/HICSS.2007.76
- Cho, J., Quinlan, M. M., Park, D., & Noh, G. Y. (2014). Determinants of adoption of smartphone health apps among college students. *American Journal of Health Behavior, 38*(6), 860– 870. https://doi.org/10.5993/ajhb.38.6.8
- Cho, W.-C., Lee, K. Y., & Yang, S.-B. (2019). What makes you feel attached to smartwatches? The stimulus–organism–response (S–O–R) perspectives. *Information Technology & People, 32*(2), 319–343. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-05-2017-0152
- Choi, H.-Y., Keil, M., & Baird, A. M. (2022). Intention to use smartwatch health applications: A regulatory fit and locus of control perspective. *Information & Management, 59*(6), 103687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2022.103687
- Choi, H., Kim, Y., & Kim, J. (2010). An acceptance model for an Internet protocol television service in Korea with prior experience as a moderator. *The Service Industries Journal*, 30(11), 1883–1901. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642060802627178
- Chouvarda, I. G., Goulis, D. G., Lambrinoudaki, I., & Maglaveras, N. (2015). Connected health and integrated care: Toward new models for chronic disease management. *Maturitas, 82*(1), 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.03.015
- Chu, K.-H., Matheny, S. J., Escobar-Viera, C. G., Wessel, C., Notier, A. E., & Davis, E. M. (2021). Smartphone health apps for tobacco Cessation: A systematic review. *Addictive Behaviors, 112*, 106616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106616
- Cilingir, Z., & Basfirinci, C. (2014). The impact of consumer ethnocentrism, product involvement, and product knowledge on country of origin effects: An empirical analysis on Turkish consumers' product evaluation. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, *26*(4), 284–310. https://doi.org/10.1080/08961530.2014.916189
- Clarke, I. (2001). Emerging value propositions for m-commerce. *Journal of Business Strategies, 18*(2), 133–149. https://doi.org/10-20210930
- Coakes, S. J., & Steed, L. G. (2012). SPSS: Analysis without anguish: Version 20.0 for windows. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0258(19991115)18:21
- Cocosila, M., & Archer, N. (2009). An empirical investigation of mobile health adoption in preventive interventions. In 22nd International Bled eConference: eEnablement: Facilitating an Open, Effective and Representative eSociety Conference (p. 27). https://domino.fov.um.si/proceedings.nsf/0/06e06d967c1a8631c1257600003ca5b7 /\$FILE/16_Cocosila.pdf
- Cohen, G. (1996). Age and health status in a patient satisfaction survey. *Social Science & Medicine*, *42*(7), 1085–1093. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(95)00315-0
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. Erbaum Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587
- Coorey, G. M., Neubeck, L., Mulley, J., & Redfern, J. (2018). Effectiveness, acceptability and usefulness of mobile applications for cardiovascular disease self-management: Systematic review with meta-synthesis of quantitative and qualitative data. *European Journal of Preventative Cardiology, 25*(5), 505–521. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487317750913
- Copeland, M. T. (1923). Relation of consumers' buying habits to marketing methods. *Harvard Business Review*, 1(2), 282–289. https://doi.org/10.013454657/#cit

- Costello, A. B., & Osborne, J. (2005). Best practices in exploratory factor analysis: Four recommendations for getting the most from your analysis. *Practical Assessment, Research, & Evaluation, 10*(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.7275/jyj1-4868
- Crane, D., Garnett, C., Brown, J., West, R., & Michie, S. (2017). Factors influencing usability of a smartphone app to reduce excessive alcohol consumption: Think aloud and interview studies. *Frontiers in Public Health, 5,* 39. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00039
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage. https://uk.sagepub.com
- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. L. P. (2017). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2007.00096.x
- Cyr, D., Head, M., & Ivanov, A. (2006). Design aesthetics leading to m-loyalty in mobile commerce. *Information & Management, 43*, 950–963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2006.08.009
- Dahl, D., Fischer, E., Johar, G., & Morwitz, V. (2014). From the editors-elect: Meaningful consumer research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *41*(1), iii–v. https://doi.org/10.1086/676452
- Daim, T. U., Basoglu, N., & Topacan, U. (2013). Adoption of health information technologies:
 The case of a wireless monitor for diabetes and obesity patients. *Technology Analysis*& Strategic Management, 25(8), 923–938.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2013.823150
- Dam, L., Roy, D., Atkin, D. J., & Rogers, D. (2018). Applying an integrative technology adoption paradigm to health app adoption and use. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 62(4), 654–672. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2018.1519568
- Davis, F., Bagozzi, R., & Warshaw, P. (1989). User acceptance of computer technology: A comparison of two theoretical models. *Management Science*, 35, 982–1003. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly, 13*(3), 319–340. https://doi.org/10.2307/249008

- Davis, K., & Ballreich, J. (2014). Equitable access to care--how the United States ranks internationally. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *371*(17), 1567–1570. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1406707
- de Kerviler, G., Demoulin, N. T. M., & Zidda, P. (2016). Adoption of in-store mobile payment: Are perceived risk and convenience the only drivers? *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services, 31*, 334–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.04.011
- de Luna, I. R., Liébana-Cabanillas, F., Sánchez-Fernández, J., & Muñoz-Leiva, F. (2019). Mobile payment is not all the same: The adoption of mobile payment systems depending on the technology applied. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change, 146*, 931–944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.09.018
- de Vos, S., Crouch, R., & Ilicic, J. (2016). Emotional advertising to attenuate compulsive consumption: Qualitative insights from gamblers. In: Plewa, C., Conduit, J. (eds). Making a difference through marketing. Springer, Singapore. 99–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0464-3_8
- de Winter, J. C., Dodou, D., & Wieringa, P. A. (2009). Exploratory factor analysis with small sample sizes. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 44(2), 147–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273170902794206
- Della Vecchia, C., Leroy, T., Bauquier, C., Pannard, M., Sarradon-Eck, A., Darmon, D., Dufour, J.-C., & Preau, M. (2022). Willingness of French general practitioners to prescribe mHealth apps and devices: Quantitative study. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 10*(2), e28372. https://doi.org/10.2196/28372
- DeLone, W. H., & McLean, E. R. (1992). Information systems success: The quest for the dependent variable. *Information Systems Research*, 3(1), 60–95. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.3.1.60
- Deng, Z., Hong, Z., Ren, C., Zhang, W., & Xiang, F. (2018). What predicts patients' adoption intention toward mHealth services in China: Empirical study. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth*, 6(8), e172. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.9316
- Deng, Z., Liu, S., & Hinz, O. (2015). The health information seeking and usage behavior intention of Chinese consumers through mobile phones. *Information Technology & People, 28*(2), 405–423. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-03-2014-0053

- Deng, Z., Mo, X., & Liu, S. (2014). Comparison of the middle-aged and older users' adoption of mobile health services in China. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 83(3), 210–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.12.002
- Dennis, M. L., Scott, C. K., Funk, R., & Foss, M. A. (2005). The duration and correlates of addiction and treatment careers. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 28(Suppl 1), S51–S62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2004.10.013
- Dessi, F., Ariccio, S., Albers, T., Alves, S., Ludovico, N., & Bonaiuto, M. (2022). Sustainable technology acceptability: Mapping technological, contextual, and social–psychological determinants of EU stakeholders' biofuel acceptance. *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 158, 112–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112114
- Dhaliwal, H., Nagani, U., Mukaj, S., Vo, T., Berry, J., Shu, S., Buyuktepe, T., & Xu, J. (2021). The influence of societal behaviours and trends on mental health-based applications: An environmental scan. *pre-print*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/byh79
- di San Pietro, B., López, J. H., Ferrão, J., Polhemus, A., & Maria, J. (2019). Barriers to and facilitators of engagement with mHealth technology for remote measurement and management of depression: Qualitative analysis. *JMIR mHealth & uHealth, 7*(1), e11325. https://doi.org/10.2196/11325
- Diamantopoulos, A., & Siguaw, J. A. (2000). *Introducing LISREL: A guide for the uninitiated*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.07.016
- Dickinson, J. (2020). MTABS analyses of chi-square cross-tabulations at ABSEL. *Developments in Business Simulation & Experiential Learning, 47,* 31–35. https://doi.org/10-20200307
- dos Santos, P. M., & Cirillo, M. Â. (2021). Construction of the average variance extracted index for construct validation in structural equation models with adaptive regressions.
 Communications in Statistics—Simulation & Computation, 1–13.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03610918.2021.1888122
- Dou, K., Yu, P., Deng, N., Liu, F., Guan, Y., Li, Z., Ji, Y., Du, N., Lu, X., & Duan, H. (2017). Patients' acceptance of smartphone health technology for chronic disease management: A theoretical model and empirical test. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 5*(12), e177. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.7886

- Dovalienė, A., Piligrimienė, Ž., & Masiulytė, A. (2016). Factors influencing customer engagement in mobile applications. *Inžinerinė Ekonomika, 27*(2), 205–212. https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.27.2.14030
- Eastin, M. S. (2002). Diffusion of e-commerce: An analysis of the adoption of four e-commerce activities. *Telematics & Informatics, 19*(3), 251–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0736-5853(01)00005-3
- Edwards, J. R., & Lambert, L. S. (2007). Methods for integrating moderation and mediation: A general analytical framework using moderated path analysis. *Psychological Methods, 12*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.12.1.1
- Ekholm, O., Eiberg, S., Davidsen, M., Holst, M., Larsen, C. V. L., & Juel, K. (2014). The prevalence of problem gambling in Denmark in 2005 and 2010: A sociodemographic and socioeconomic characterization. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 30*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-012-9347-4
- El-Wajeeh, M., Galal-Edeen, G., & Mokhtar, H. (2014). Technology Acceptance Model for mobile health systems. *Journal of Mobile Computing & Application*, 1, 21–33. https://doi.org/10.9790/0050-0112133
- Elsafty, A., Elbouseery, I., & Shaarawy, A. (2020). Factors affecting the behavioral intention to use standalone electronic personal health record applications by adults in Egypt.
 Business & Management Studies, 6(4), 14–36. https://doi.org/10.11114/bms.v6i4.5066
- Ennajeh, L., & Amami, M. (2014). Open source software adoption model Ossam. In *Proceedings of the 8th Mediterranean Conference on Information Systems*. https://aisel.aisnet.org/mcis2014/8/
- Etgar, M. (1978). The household as a production unit. *Research in Marketing*, *1*, 79–98. https://www.acrwebsite.org/volumes/6384/volumes/v12/NA-12
- Evans, D. (2017). MyFitnessPal. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 51(14), 1101. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095538
- Evans, L., & Delfabbro, P. H. (2005). Motivators for change and barriers to help-seeking in Australian problem gamblers. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *21*(2), 133–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-005-3029-4
- Evenepoel, C., Clevers, E., Deroover, L., Van Loo, W., Matthys, C., & Verbeke, K. (2020). Accuracy of nutrient calculations using the consumer-focused online app

MyFitnessPal: Validation study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22*(10), e18237. https://doi.org/10.2196/18237

- Eysenbach, G., & Jadad, A. R. (2001). Evidence-based patient choice and consumer health informatics in the Internet age. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 3*(2), e19. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3.2.e19
- Fabrigar, L. R., Wegener, D. T., MacCallum, R. C., & Strahan, E. J. (1999). Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in psychological research. *Psychological Methods*, 4(3), 272. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.4.3.272
- Fan, H., & Poole, M. S. (2006). What is personalization? Perspectives on the design and implementation of personalization in information systems. *Journal of Organizational Computing* & *Electronic Commerce, 16*(3–4), 179–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/10919392.2006.9681199
- Fang, Y.-H. (2019). An app a day keeps a customer connected: Explicating loyalty to brands and branded applications through the lens of affordance and service-dominant logic. *Information* & *Management*, 56(3), 377–391.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2018.07.011
- Farquhar, C., & Das, R. (1999). Are focus groups suitable for 'sensitive' topics? In R. Barbour
 & J. Kitzinger (Eds.), *Developing focus group research: Politics, theory and practice* (pp. 47–63). Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208857
- Ferris, J., & Wynne, H. J. (2001). *The Canadian Problem Gambling Index*. Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. https://nyproblemgambling.org
- Fishbein, M. (1967). *Readings in attitude theory and measurement*. John Wiley & Sons. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1967-35020-000
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, attitude, intention and behaviour: An introduction to theory and research. Addison-Wesley Publishing. https://philarchive.org/archive/FISBAI
- Fleming, T. M., Bavin, L., Stasiak, K., Hermansson-Webb, E., Merry, S. N., Cheek, C., Lucassen,
 M., Lau, H. M., Pollmuller, B., & Hetrick, S. (2017). Serious games and gamification for
 mental health: Current status and promising directions. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *7*, 215.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00215

- Flinders University. (2020). *Flinders University COVID-19 advice to researchers*. Retrieved 1 December from https://staff.flinders.edu.au/coronavirus-information/researchupdates
- Florido-Benítez, L. (2022). International mobile marketing: A satisfactory concept for companies and users in times of pandemic. *Benchmarking: An International Journal,* 29(6), 1826–1856. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-06-2021-0303
- Flynn, L. R., & Goldsmith, R. E. (1993). Models of enduring involvement and opinion leadership. *Proceedings, Association of Marketing Theory & Practice*, 378–386. https://www.scopus.com/record/display.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84937308692&origin=inward&txGid=ee051711c74c1e326c8c8d2322f42228

Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable

- variables and measurement error. *Journal of Marketing Research, 18*(1), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224378101800104
- Foster, C. (1995). Emerging visions of the aesthetic process: Psychology, semiology and philosophy. *The Journal of Aesthetics & Art Criticism*, 53(4), 445–446. https://doi.org/10.2307/430988
- Foster, M. (2018). HF app to support self-care among community dwelling adults with HF: A feasibility study. *Applied Nursing Research*, 44, 93–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2018.10.007
- Fritz, W., Sohn, S., & Seegebarth, B. (2017). Broadening the perspective on mobile marketing:
 An introduction. *Psychology & Marketing*, 34(2), 113–118.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20978
- Gainsbury, S. (2020, March 29). Gamblers in coronavirus isolation turn to betting on reality
 TV and even Russian table tennis. *ABC News*. https://www.abc.net.au/news/2020-0329/coronavirus-and-problem-gambling/12095714
- Gainsbury, S., & Blaszczynski, A. (2011). A systematic review of Internet-based therapy for the treatment of addictions. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(3), 490–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.11.007
- Gainsbury, S., Wood, R., Russell, A., Hing, N., & Blaszczynski, A. (2012). A digital revolution:
 Comparison of demographic profiles, attitudes and gambling behavior of Internet and
 non-Internet gamblers. *Computers in Human Behavior, 28*(4), 1388–1398.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2012.02.024

- Gammon, D., Berntsen, G. K., Koricho, A. T., Sygna, K., & Ruland, C. (2015). The chronic care model and technological research and innovation: A scoping review at the crossroads. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(2), e25. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3547
- Gani, M. O., Faroque, A. R., Muzareba, A. M., Amin, S., & Rahman, M. (2021). An integrated model to decipher online food delivery app adoption behavior in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, 1–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2021.2006040
- Gao, T., Rohm, A. J., Sultan, F., & Pagani, M. (2013). Consumers un-tethered: A three-market empirical study of consumers' mobile marketing acceptance. *Journal of Business Research, 66*(12), 2536–2544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.05.046
- Gao, Y., Wang, H., Li, L., Luo, X., Xu, G., & Liu, X. (2021). Demystifying illegal mobile gambling apps. In *Proceedings of the Web Conference 2021* (pp. 1447–1458). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3442381.3449932
- García-Paucar, L., Bencomo, N., Sutcliffe, A., & Sawyer, P. (2022). A Bayesian network-based model to understand the role of soft requirements in technology acceptance: The case of the NHSCOVID-19 test and trace app. In *37th Annual ACM Symposium on Applied Computing*. https://dro.dur.ac.uk/35102/
- García, L., Tomás, J., Parra, L., & Lloret, J. (2019). An m-health application for cerebral stroke detection and monitoring using cloud services. *International Journal of Information Management*, 45, 319–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.06.004
- Gareth, J., Daniela, W., Trevor, H., & Robert, T. (2013). *An introduction to statistical learning: With applications in R.* Springer. https://dspace.agu.edu.vn
- Gaskin, J. (2016). *Serial mediation estimand*. Gaskination's Statistics. http://statwiki.kolobkreations.com
- Gaskin, J. (2022). Data prep. Gaskination's Statistics. http://statwiki.kolobkreations.com
- Gatignon, H., & Robertson, T. S. (1985). A propositional inventory for new diffusion research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *11*(4), 849–867. https://doi.org/10.1086/209021
- Gebauer, L., LaBrie, R., & Shaffer, H. J. (2010). Optimizing DSM-IV-TR classification accuracy:
 A brief biosocial screen for detecting current gambling disorders among gamblers in the general household population. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 55(2), 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371005500204

- Geber, S., & Friemel, T. N. (2022). Tracing-technology adoption during the COVID-19 pandemic: The multifaceted role of social norms. *International Journal of Communication*, *16*, 20. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2022.2082880
- Geng, J., & Guo, Y.-L. (2022). App types, user psychological and instrumental needs, and user experience in the sharing economy: An empirical research. *Entertainment Computing*, 41, 100467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.entcom.2021.100467
- Gera, R., Chadha, P., & Ahuja, V. (2020). Mobile app usage and adoption: A literature review.
 International Journal of Electronic Business, 15(2), 160–195.
 https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEB.2020.106546
- Ghose, A., Goldfarb, A., & Han, S. P. (2013). How is the mobile Internet different? Search costs and local activities. *Information Systems Research*, 24(3), 613–631. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.1120.0453
- Gilbert, B. J., Patel, V., Farmer, P. E., & Lu, C. (2015). Assessing development assistance for mental health in developing countries: 2007–2013. *PLoS Medicine*, *12*(6), e1001834. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001834
- Goldberg, L. R., & Velicer, W. F. (2006). Principles of exploratory factor analysis. In S. Strack (Ed.), *Differentiating normal and abnormal personality* (Vol. 2, pp. 209–337). https://www.researchgate.net
- Gong, K., Yan, Y. L., Li, Y., Du, J., Wang, J., Han, Y., Zou, Y., Zou, X. Y., Huang, H., & She, Q. (2020). Mobile health applications for the management of primary hypertension: A multicenter, randomized, controlled trial. *Medicine*, *99*(16), e19715. https://doi.org/10.1097/md.000000000019715

Gorman, F., Cappelli, C., & Pike, J. (2020). Gamified health: A systematic review of digital programs that attempt to encourage positive health behaviors. *journal of Medical–Clinical Research & Reviews, 4*(7), 1–12. https://www.scivisionpub.com/pdfs/gamified-health-a-systematic-review-of-digital-programs-that-attempt-to-encourage-positive-health-behaviors-1244.pdf

Graham, J. W. (2009). Missing data analysis: Making it work in the real world. *Annual Review* of *Psychology, 60,* 549–576. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085530

- Griffiths, M. D. (2010). The use of online methodologies in data collection for gambling and gaming addictions. *International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction, 8*(1), 8–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-009-9209-1
- Gu, J.-C., Lee, S.-C., & Suh, Y.-H. (2009). Determinants of behavioral intention to mobile banking. *Expert Systems with Applications, 36*(9), 11605–11616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2009.03.024
- Gunnars, F., Palmquist, A., & Sundgren, M. (2021). Adult education teachers' perception of gamification implemented in distance education. *International Conference of Education, Research & Innovation,* 3049–3056. https://doi.org/10.21125/iceri.2021.0759
- Gupta, A., Dogra, N., & George, B. (2018). What determines tourist adoption of smartphone apps? *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Technology, 9*(1), 50–64. https://doi.org/10.1108/JHTT-02-2017-0013
- Gürbüz, S., & Bayik, M. E. (2021). A new approach for mediation analysis: Is Baron and Kenny's method still valid? *Turkish Journal of Psychology*, 37(88), 15–19. https://doi.org/10.31828/tpd1300443320191125m000031
- Gurewitz, K. (2019). *Mindful of a profit? A critical analysis of meditation apps in the context of neoliberalism and Western constructions of religion* [Honours thesis, University of Puget Sound]. Sound Ideas. https://soundideas.pugetsound.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1036&context=hon ors_program_theses
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Babin, B. J., & Black, W. C. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective*. Pearson Education. https://doi.org/10.12691/education-2-7-3
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L., & Black, W. C. (1998). *Multivariate data analysis*. Prentice Hall. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-04898-2 395
- Hakansson, H., Harrison, D., & Waluszewski, A. (2004). *Rethinking marketing—Developing a new understanding of markets*. Wiley. https://eprints.lancs.ac.uk
- Han, M., & Lee, E. (2018). Effectiveness of mobile health application use to improve health behavior changes: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Healthcare Informatics Research*, 24(3), 207–226. https://doi.org/10.4258/hir.2018.24.3.207
- Hansen, B. (1999). Testing for linearity. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *13*(5), 551–576. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6419.00098

- Harren, A. K., Klietz, M.-L., Aitzetmüller, M. M., Dittrich, F., & Hirsch, T. (2022). Requirements for an app from the perspective of patients in plastic and reconstructive surgery. *Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery, 75*(6), 2027–2032. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2022.01.027
- Hatcher, L., & O'Rourke, N. (2013). *A step-by-step approach to using SAS for factor analysis and structural equation modeling*. SAS Institute. https://doi.org/10.5555/527661
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Communication Monographs, 76*(4), 408–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637750903310360
- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis:
 A regression-based approach. Guilford Publications.
 https://www.cms.guilford.com/books/Introduction-to-Mediation-Moderation-and-Conditional-Process-Analysis/Andrew-Hayes/9781462549030/new-to-edition
- Health Research Institute. (2014). *Healthcare delivery of the future: How digital technology can bridge time and distance between clinicians and consumers*. PWC. https://www.pwc.com/us/en/health-industries/top-health-industryissues/assets/pwc-healthcare-delivery-of-the-future.pdf
- Heaven, D. (2018). Dr. Bot will see you now. *MIT Technology Review*, 121(6), 22–27. https://www.medsci.cn/sci/show_paper.asp?id=d9003118e9a223b5
- Henriksen, J., Hornebrant, M., & Berndt, A. (2022). Online casinos: Advertising and avoidance among Generation Y consumers in Sweden. SN Business & Economics, 2(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43546-021-00185-z
- Herbec, A., Shahab, L., Brown, J., Ubhi, H. K., Beard, E., Matei, A., & West, R. (2021). Does addition of craving management tools in a stop smoking app improve quit rates among adult smokers? Results from BupaQuit pragmatic pilot randomised controlled trial. *Digital Health, 23*(7), 20552076211058935. https://doi.org/10.1177/20552076211058935
- Herche, J., & Engelland, B. (1996). Reversed-polarity items and scale unidimensionality. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 24(4), 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1177/0092070396244007

- Hess, T. J., McNab, A. L., & Basoglu, K. A. (2014). Reliability generalization of perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, and behavioral intentions. *MIS Quarterly, 38*(1), 1–28. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26554866?seq=1#metadata info tab contents
- Hing, N., Russell, A., Tolchard, B., & Nower, L. (2016). Risk factors for gambling problems: An analysis by gender. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 32*(2), 511–534.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-015-9548-8
- Hing, N., Russell, A. M., Bryden, G. M., Newall, P., King, D. L., Rockloff, M., Browne, M., & Greer, N. (2021). Skin gambling predicts problematic gambling amongst adolescents when controlling for monetary gambling. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions, 10*(4), 920–931. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.2021.00078
- Hirose, M., & Tabe, K. (2016). Responses to Mhealth application on health behavior: A theoretical extension of the Technology Acceptance Model. In C. Campbell & J. Ma (Eds.), *Looking forward, looking back: Drawing on the past to shape the future of marketing* (pp. 46–55). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24184-5_13
- Ho, S. Y. (2012). The effects of location personalization on individuals' intention to use mobile services. *Decision Support Systems,* 53(4), 802–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2012.05.012
- Hobbis, G. (2020). *The digitizing family*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-34929-5_1
- Hoe, S. L. (2008). Issues and procedures in adopting structural equation modelling technique. *Journal of Quantitative Methods, 3*(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.1.1.497.1504
- Hoehle, H., & Venkatesh, V. (2015). Mobile application usability: Conceptualization and instrument development. *MIS Quarterly, 39*(2), 435–472. https://doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2015/39.2.08
- Hofacker, C. F., De Ruyter, K., Lurie, N. H., Manchanda, P., & Donaldson, J. (2016). Gamification and mobile marketing effectiveness. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, *34*, 25–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2016.03.001
- Hoffmann, A., Christmann, C. A., & Bleser, G. (2017). Gamification in stress management apps:
 A critical app review. *JMIR Serious Games*, 5(2), e13. https://doi.org/10.2196/games.7216

- Hogan, J., Dolan, P., & Donnelly, P. (2009). *Approaches to qualitative research: Theory and its practical application*. Oak Tree Press. https://doi.org/10.18870/hlrc.v3i1.69.
- Hogarty, K. Y., Hines, C. V., Kromrey, J. D., Ferron, J. M., & Mumford, K. R. (2005). The quality of factor solutions in exploratory factor analysis: The influence of sample size, communality, and overdetermination. *Educational & Psychological Measurement*, 65(2), 202–226. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164404267287
- Holden, H., & Rada, R. (2011). Understanding the influence of perceived usability and technology self-efficacy on teachers' technology acceptance. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education, 43*(4), 343–367. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2011.10782576
- Holden, R. J., & Karsh, B.-T. (2010). The Technology Acceptance Model: Its past and its future in health care. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, 43(1), 159–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2009.07.002
- Honary, M., Bell, B. T., Clinch, S., Wild, S. E., & McNaney, R. (2019). Understanding the role of healthy eating and fitness mobile apps in the formation of maladaptive eating and exercise behaviors in young people. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 7*(6), e14239. https://doi.org/10.2196/14239
- Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., & Mullen, M. (2008). Structural equation modelling: Guidelines for determining model fit. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 6(1), 53–60. https://doi.org/10.21427/D7CF7R
- Hoque, M. R. (2016). An empirical study of mHealth adoption in a developing country: The moderating effect of gender concern. BMC Medical Informatics & Decision Making, 16(51), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-016-0289-0
- Horch, J., & Hodgins, D. (2013). Stereotypes of problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Issues*, (28), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2013.28.10
- Hors-Fraile, S., Schneider, F., Fernandez-Luque, L., Luna-Perejon, F., Civit, A., Spachos, D., & Bamidis, P. (2018). Tailoring motivational health messages for smoking cessation using an mHealth recommender system integrated with an electronic health record: A study protocol. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(1), 698. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5612-5
- Hu, F. B. (2011). Globalization of diabetes: The role of diet, lifestyle, and genes. *Diabetes Care,* 34(6), 1249–1257. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc11-0442

- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis:
 Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 6*(1), 1–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118
- Huang, T. C.-K., Liu, C.-C., & Chang, D.-C. (2012). An empirical investigation of factors influencing the adoption of data mining tools. *International Journal of Information Management*, *32*(3), 257–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2011.11.006
- Huang, X., Lin, Y., Lim, M. K., Tseng, M.-L., & Zhou, F. (2021). The influence of knowledge management on adoption intention of electric vehicles: Perspective on technological knowledge. *Industrial Management & Data Systems, 121*(7), 1481–1495. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-07-2020-0411
- Hudson-Farmer, K. (2021). Here today and definitely not gone tomorrow: Why simplicity and ease of use are the key for a new generation of reusable injectors. Frederick Furness
 Publishing. https://www.ondrugdelivery.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/125_2021_Oct_PFS_Phillips_Medisize.pdf
- Huey Yiing, L., & Zaman Bin Ahmad, K. (2009). The moderating effects of organizational culture on the relationships between leadership behaviour and organizational commitment and between organizational commitment and job satisfaction and performance. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 30*(1), 53–86. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437730910927106
- Huff, S. L., & Munro, M. C. (1985). Information technology assessment and adoption: A field study. *MIS Quarterly, 9*(4), 327–340. https://doi.org/10.2307/249233
- Huijts, N. M. A., Molin, E. J. E., & Steg, L. (2012). Psychological factors influencing sustainable energy technology acceptance: A review-based comprehensive framework. *Renewable* & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16(1), 525–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011.08.018
- Humphrey, G., Chu, J., Dowling, N., Rodda, S., Merkouris, S., Parag, V., Newcombe, D., Ho, E., Nosa, V., Ruwhui-Collins, R., Whittaker, R., & Bullen, C. (2020). Manaaki—A cognitive behavioral therapy mobile health app to support people experiencing gambling problems: A randomized control trial protocol. *BMC Public Health, 20*(1), 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8304-x
- Humphrey, G., Dobson, R., Parag, V., Hiemstra, M., Howie, S., Marsh, S., Morton, S., Mordaunt, D., Wadham, A., & Bullen, C. (2021). See how they grow: Testing the

feasibility of a mobile app to support parents' understanding of child growth charts. *PLoS One, 16*(2), e0246045. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246045

- Humphrey, G., Newcombe, D., Whittaker, R., Parag, V., & Bullen, C. (2019). SPGeTTI: A smartphone-based problem gambling evaluation and technology testing initiative. New Zealand Ministry of Health. https://www.health.govt.nz
- Hung, M.-C., & Jen, W.-Y. (2012). The adoption of mobile health management services: An empirical study. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 36(3), 1381–1388. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs10916-010-9600-2
- Hussain, M., Al-Haiqi, A., Zaidan, A., Zaidan, B., Kiah, M. L. M., Anuar, N. B., & Abdulnabi, M. (2015). The landscape of research on smartphone medical apps: Coherent taxonomy, motivations, open challenges and recommendations. *Computer Methods & Programs in Biomedicine*, *122*(3), 393–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmpb.2015.08.015
- Iacobucci, D., Saldanha, N., & Deng, X. (2007). A meditation on mediation: Evidence that structural equations models perform better than regressions. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, *17*(2), 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1057-7408(07)70020-7
- Ibidunmoye, W. (2018). Identification of factors influencing the adoption of mobile payments: A qualitative research study on the Swish mPayment app [Masters thesis, Linnaeus University]. Diva. https://www.diva-portal.org
- IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics. (2015). *Patient adoption of mHealth: Use, evidence and remaining barriers to mainstream acceptance*. https://www.healthitanswers.net/ims-health-study-patient-adoption-of-mhealth-2/
- Iqbal, A., Johnson, G., Chambers, R., & Johnson, K. (2022). Benefits of digital technologies in empowering patients to take control of their cardiovascular health. *Primary Health Care, 32*(5). https://doi.org/10.7748/phc.2021.e1722
- Iribarren, S. J., Cato, K., Falzon, L., & Stone, P. W. (2017). What is the economic evidence for mHealth? A systematic review of economic evaluations of mHealth solutions. *PLoS One*, *12*(2), e0170581. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170581
- Iribarren, S. J., Schnall, R., Stone, P. W., & Carballo-Dieguez, A. (2016). Smartphone applications to support tuberculosis prevention and treatment: Review and evaluation. JMIR mHealth & uHealth, 4(2), e25. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.5022

- Iskandarsyah, A., Shabrina, A., & Siswadi, A. G. P. (2022). Usability and acceptability of JAGA SEHAT: Mobile application to improve knowledge about healthy lifestyle. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare, 15*, 115–124. https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S342913
- Isler, M. R., Miles, M. S., Banks, B., & Corbie-Smith, G. (2012). Acceptability of a mobile health unit for rural HIV clinical trial enrollment and participation. *AIDS Behavior*, 16(7), 1895–1901. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-012-0151-z
- Istepanian, R., & Lacal, J. C. (2003). *Emerging mobile communication technologies for health: Some imperative notes on m-health.* IEEE. (Vol. 2). https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.2003.1279581
- Ives, B., & Olson, M. H. (1984). User involvement and MIS success: A review of research. *Management Science*, *30*(5), 586–603. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.30.5.586
- Iyer, P., Davari, A., & Mukherjee, A. (2018). Investigating the effectiveness of retailers' mobile applications in determining customer satisfaction and repatronage intentions? A congruency perspective. *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services, 44*, 235–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.07.017
- Jacob, C. (2020). Understanding the factors impacting clinicians' adoption of mobile health tools and their implications for organizational practices [PhD thesis, Anglia Ruskin University]. Arro. https://arro.anglia.ac.uk/id/eprint/706793/
- Jacob, C., Sanchez-Vazquez, A., & Ivory, C. (2019). Clinicians' role in the adoption of an oncology decision support app in Europe and its implications for organizational practices: Qualitative case study. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 7*(5), e13555. https://doi.org/10.2196/13555
- Jakob, R., Harperink, S., Rudolf, A. M., Fleisch, E., Haug, S., Mair, J., Salamanca, A., & Kowatsch,
 T. (2021). Factors influencing adherence to mHealth apps among adults with noncommunicable disease: A systematic review. *JMIR*, 24(5), e35371. https://doi.org/10.2196/35371
- James, R. J. E., O'Malley, C., & Tunney, R. J. (2017). Understanding the psychology of mobile gambling: A behavioural synthesis. *British Journal of Psychology, 108*(3), 608–625. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12226
- James, R. J. E., O'Malley, C., & Tunney, R. J. (2019). Gambling on smartphones: A study of a potentially addictive behaviour in a naturalistic setting. *European Addiction Research*, 25(1), 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1159/000495663

- Jan, M. T., de Jager, J. W., Ameziane, A. M., & Sultan, N. (2019). Applying Technology Acceptance Model to investigate the use of smartphone advertising in Malaysia. *Journal of Economics & Behavioral Studies, 11*(1), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.22610/jebs.v11i1(J).2760
- Jayawardhena, C., & Foley, P. (2000). Changes in the banking sector-the case of Internet banking in the UK. *Internet Research, 10*(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240010312048
- Jham, V. (2018). Adoption of mobile marketing through smart phones apps. Journal of Emerging Trends in Economics & Management Sciences, 9(2), 52–64. https://doi.org/10.10520/EJC-fe69ac6a2
- Jiang, Z., & Benbasat, I. (2003). The effects of interactivity and vividness of functional control in changing web consumers' attitudes. In ICIS 2003 Proceedings (p. 93). https://aisel.aisnet.org/icis2003/93/
- Jin, C. (2013). The perspective of a revised TRAM on social capital building: The case of Facebook usage. *Information & Management, 50*(4), 162–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2013.03.002
- Jin, C. (2016). The effects of mental simulations, innovativeness on intention to adopt brand application. *Computers in Human Behavior, 54,* 682–690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.013
- Jung, J., Kim, Y., & Chan-Olmsted, S. (2014). Measuring usage concentration of smartphone applications: Selective repertoire in a marketplace of choices. *Mobile Media & Communication*, 2(3), 352–368. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050157914542172
- Kaltum, U., Rimadina, R., & Zusnita, W. (2018). The Technology Acceptance Model for playing mobile games in Indonesia. *KnE Social Sciences, 3*(10). 18502. https://doi.org/10.18502/kss.v3i10.3445
- Kamal, S. A., Shafiq, M., & Kakria, P. (2020). Investigating acceptance of telemedicine services through an extended Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). *Technology in Society, 60*, 101212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2019.101212
- Kang, H. (2013). The prevention and handling of the missing data. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, *64*(5), 402–406. https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2013.64.5.402
- Kaplan, D. (2001). *Structural equation modelling*. Pergamon. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-</u> <u>043076-7/00776-2</u>Kapp, K. M. (2012). Games, gamification, and the quest for learner

engagement. *Trade Journal, 66*(6), 64–68. https://www.proquest.com/docview/1022581492

- Karaiskos, D. C., Drossos, D. A., Tsiaousis, A. S., Giaglis, G. M., & Fouskas, K. G. (2012). Affective and social determinants of mobile data services adoption. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 31(3), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2011.563792
- Karvonen, K. (2000). The beauty of simplicity. In *Proceedings on the 2000 Conference on Universal Usability* (pp. 85–90). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/355460
- Katz, E. (1959). Mass communication research and the study of popular culture. An editorial note on a possible future for this Journal. *Studies in Public Communication, 2*, 1–6. https://repository.upenn.edu/asc_papers/165/
- Kaur, P., Dhir, A., Singh, N., Sahu, G., & Almotairi, M. (2020). An Innovation Resistance Theory perspective on mobile payment solutions. *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services*, 55, 102059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2020.102059
- Kaur, S. (2022). Technology Acceptance Model for adoption of e-learning tools during COVID 19. Journal of Mechanics of Continua & Mathematical Sciences, 17(7), 25–36.
 https://doi.org/10.26782/jmcms.2022.07.00003
- Kayımbaşıoğlu, D., Oktekin, B., & Hacı, H. (2016). Integration of gamification technology in education. *Procedia Computer Science*, 102, 668–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.09.460
- Kellen, M., & Saxena, D. (2020). Calm my Headspace: Motivations and barriers for adoption and usage of meditation apps during times of crisis. In *ICEB 2020 Proceedings, Hong Kong, China* (pp. 37–48). JOHOGO. https://aisel.aisnet.org/iceb2020/43
- Kelley, E. J. (1958). The importance of convenience in consumer purchasing. *Journal of Marketing*, *23*(1), 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224295802300105
- Kenny, D. A. (2020). Measuring model fit. http://davidakenny.net/cm/fit.htm
- Kenny, D. A., & McCoach, D. B. (2003). Effect of the number of variables on measures of fit in structural equation modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 10(3), 333–351. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15328007SEM1003 1
- Keramati, A., Taeb, R., Larijani, A. M., & Mojir, N. (2012). A combinative model of behavioural and technical factors affecting 'Mobile'-payment services adoption: An empirical study. *The Service Industries Journal, 32*(9), 1489–1504. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2011.552716

- Ketikidis, P., Dimitrovski, T., Lazuras, L., & Bath, P. A. (2012). Acceptance of health information technology in health professionals: An application of the revised Technology Acceptance Model. *Health Informatics Journal, 18*(2), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458211435425
- Kettlewell, J., Phillips, J., Radford, K., & Dasnair, R. (2018). Informing evaluation of a smartphone application for people with acquired brain injury: A stakeholder engagement study. BMC Medical Informatics & Decision Making, 18, 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-018-0611-0
- Khatun, F., Palas, M. J., & Ray, P. (2017). Using the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology model to analyze cloud-based mHealth service for primary care. *Digital Medicine*, 3(2), 69–75. https://doi.org/10.4103/digm.digm_21_17
- Kijsanayotin, B., Pannarunothai, S., & Speedie, S. (2009). Factors influencing health information technology adoption in Thailand's community health centers: Applying the UTAUT model. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 78(6), 404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.12.005
- Kim, D. J., Ferrin, D. L., & Rao, H. R. (2008). A trust-based consumer decision-making model in electronic commerce: The role of trust, perceived risk, and their antecedents. *Decision Support Systems*, 44(2), 544–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2007.07.001
- Kim, E., Lin, J.-S., & Sung, Y. (2013). To app or not to app: Engaging consumers via branded mobile apps. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 13, 53–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/15252019.2013.782780
- Kim, J. (2016). An extended Technology Acceptance Model in behavioral intention toward hotel tablet apps with moderating effects of gender and age. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 28*(8), 1535–1553. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-06-2015-0289
- Kim, J., & Park, H. (2012). Development of a Health Information Technology Acceptance Model using consumers' health behavior intention. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(5), e133. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2143
- Kim, S., & Baek, T. H. (2018). Examining the antecedents and consequences of mobile app engagement. *Telematics & Informatics, 35*(1), 148–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.10.008

- Kim, S. C., Yoon, D., & Han, E. K. (2016). Antecedents of mobile app usage among smartphone users. Journal of Marketing Communications, 22(6), 653–670. https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2014.951065
- Kim, W. (2012). Acculturation and gambling in Asian Americans: When culture meets availability. International Gambling Studies, 12(1), 69–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2011.616908
- Klapper, J. T. (1963). Mass communication research: An old road resurveyed. *Public Opinion Quarterly, 27*(4), 515–527. https://doi.org/10.1086/267201
- Kleijnen, M., de Ruyter, K., & Wetzels, M. (2007). An assessment of value creation in mobile service delivery and the moderating role of time consciousness. *Journal of Retailing*, *83*(1), 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2006.10.004
- Kline, R. B. (2015). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. Guilford Publications. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2012.687667
- Koenig-Lewis, N., Marquet, M., Palmer, A., & Zhao, A. L. (2015). Enjoyment and social influence: Predicting mobile payment adoption. *The Service Industries Journal*, 35(10), 537–554. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2015.1043278
- Kotler, P., & Zaltman, G. (1971). Social marketing: An approach to planned social change. *Journal of Marketing*, *35*(3), 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224297103500302
- Koufteros, X., & Marcoulides, G. A. (2006). Product development practices and performance:
 A structural equation modeling-based multi-group analysis. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 103(1), 286–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2005.08.004
- Kraut, R., Patterson, M., Lundmark, V., Kiesler, S., Mukophadhyay, T., & Scherlis, W. (1998).
 Internet paradox: A social technology that reduces social involvement and psychological well-being? *American Psychologist, 53*(9), 1017. https://psycnet.apa.org/buy/1998-10886-001
- Krebs, P., & Duncan, D. T. (2015). Health app use among US mobile phone owners: A national survey. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 3*(4), e101. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.4924
- Krueger, A. (2010). 6 ways technology is improving healthcare. Business Insider. http://www.businessinsider.com/6-ways-technology-is-improving-healthcare-2010-12?r=US&IR=T&IR=T
- Kubo, A., Aghaee, S., Kurtovich, E. M., Nkemere, L., Quesenberry, C. P., McGinnis, M. K., & Avalos, L. A. (2021). mHealth mindfulness intervention for women with moderate-to-

moderately-severe antenatal depressive symptoms: A pilot study within an integrated health care system. *Mindfulness, 12*(6), 1387–1397. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-021-01606-8

- Kumar, D. S., Purani, K., & Viswanathan, S. A. (2018). Influences of 'appscape' on mobile app adoption and m-loyalty. *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services*, 45, 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.08.012
- Kumar, H., & Tuli, N. (2021). Decoding the branded app engagement process: A grounded theory approach. Asia Pacific Journal of Information Systems, 31(4), 582–605. https://doi.org/10.14329/apjis.2021.31.4.582
- Kumar, J. A., & Bervell, B. (2019). Google Classroom for mobile learning in higher education: Modelling the initial perceptions of students. *Education & Information Technologies*, 24(2), 1793–1817. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-09858-z
- Kumar, S., & Yukita, A. L. K. (2021). Millennials behavioral intention in using mobile banking: Integrating perceived risk and trust into TAM (a survey in Jawa Barat). In *Proceedings* of the International Conference on Business and Engineering Management (pp. 210– 217). Atlantis Publisher. https://doi.org/10.2991/aebmr.k.210522.028
- Kuo, T., Huang, K., & Nguyen, P. (2019). Adoption of mobile applications for identifying tourism destinations by travellers: An integrative approach. *Journal of Business Economics* & Management, 20(5), 860–877. https://doi.org/10.3846/jbem.2019.10448
- Kuroso, M., & Kashimura, K. (1995). Apparent usability vs. inherent usability. *Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 2. 292–293. https://doi.org/10.1145/223355.223680
- Kuss, D. J., & Griffiths, M. D. (2012). Online gaming addiction in children and adolescents: A review of empirical research. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 1(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1556/jba.1.2012.1.1
- Kuss, D. J., & López-Fernandez, O. (2016). Internet addiction and problematic Internet use: A systematic review of clinical research. World Journal of Psychiatry, 6(1), 143. https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v6.i1.143
- Kwon, M.-W., Mun, K., Lee, J. K., McLeod, D. M., & D'angelo, J. (2017). Is mobile health all peer pressure? The influence of mass media exposure on the motivation to use mobile health apps. *Convergence, 23*(6), 565–586. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856516641065

- LaBelle, M., Strong, C., & Tseng, Y.-C. (2020). mHealth strategies to promote uptake and adherence to PrEP: A systematic review. In Rau, PL. (eds), *Cross-Cultural Design. Applications in Health, Learning, Communication, and Creativity: 12th International Conference* (pp. 99–113). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-49913-6
- Lakhal, S., Khechine, H., & Pascot, D. (2013). Student behavioural intentions to use desktop video conferencing in a distance course: Integration of autonomy to the UTAUT model.
 Journal of Computing in Higher Education, 25, 93–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-013-9069-3
- Lakner, C., Mahler, D. G., Negre, M., & Prydz, E. B. (2022). How much does reducing inequality matter for global poverty? *The Journal of Economic Inequality*. *20*, 559-585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10888-021-09510-w
- Lamont, M., Hing, N., & Vitartas, P. (2016). Affective response to gambling promotions during televised sport: A qualitative analysis. *Sport Management Review*, *19*(3), 319–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2015.06.002
- Landers, R. N. (2014). Developing a Theory of Gamified Learning: Linking serious games and gamification of learning. *Simulation & Gaming, 45*(6), 752–768. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878114563660
- Larsen, M. E., Nicholas, J., & Christensen, H. (2016). Quantifying app store dynamics: Longitudinal tracking of mental health apps. JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 4(3), e96. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.6020
- Lau, N., O'Daffer, A., Yi-Frazier, J. P., & Rosenberg, A. R. (2021). Popular evidence-based commercial mental health apps: Analysis of engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information quality. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 9*(7), e29689. https://doi.org/10.2196/29689
- Lavie, T., & Tractinsky, N. (2004). Assessing dimensions of perceived visual aesthetics of web sites. International Journal of Human–Computer Studies, 60(3), 269–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2003.09.002
- Laxminarayan, S., & Istepanian, R. S. H. (2000). Unwired e-med: The next generation of wireless and internet telemedicine systems. *Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society*, 4, 189–193. https://doi.org/10.1109/TITB.2000.5956074

- Lazard, A. J., Babwah Brennen, J. S., & Belina, S. P. (2021). App designs and interactive features to increase mHealth adoption: User expectation survey and experiment. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 9*(11), e29815. https://doi.org/10.2196/29815
- Leahey, T., & Rosen, J. (2014). DietBet: A web-based program that uses social gaming and financial incentives to promote weight loss. *JMIR Serious Games, 2*(1), e2. https://doi.org/10.2196/games.2987
- Lee, D., & Chong, G. C. H. (2021). Promoting mobile health adoption to hospital patients through social influencers: A multi-group analysis among patients with high vs. low hospital usage. *International Journal of Healthcare Information Systems & Informatics,* 16(4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJHISI.20211001.0a27
- Lee, E.-J. (2022). Do tech products have a beauty premium? The effect of visual aesthetics of wearables on willingness-to-pay premium and the role of product category involvement. *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services, 65,* 102872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102872
- Lee, E., Han, S., & Jo, S. (2017). Consumer choice of on-demand mHealth app services: Context and contents values using structural equation modeling. *International Journal of Medical Informatics, 97*, 229–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.10.016
- Lee, H., Cashin, A. G., Lamb, S. E., Hopewell, S., Vansteelandt, S., VanderWeele, T. J., MacKinnon, D., Mansell, G., Collins, G., Golub, R., McAuley, J., & Henschke, N. (2021).
 A guideline for reporting mediation analyses of randomized trials and observational studies: The AGReMA statement. *JAMA*, *326*(11), 1045-1056. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.14075
- Lee, J. K., & Lee, W.-N. (2009). Country-of-origin effects on consumer product evaluation and purchase intention: The role of objective versus subjective knowledge. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing, 21*(2), 137–151. https://doi.org/10.1080/08961530802153722
- Lee, S., & Park, S. (2006). Improving accessibility and security for mobile phone shopping. *Journal of Computer Information Systems,* 46(3), 124–133. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2006.11645906
- Lee, Y.-H., Hsieh, Y.-C., & Hsu, C.-N. (2011). Adding Innovation Diffusion Theory to the Technology Acceptance Model: Supporting employees' intentions to use e-learning

systems. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 14*(4), 124–137. https://doi.org/10.2307/jedutechsoci.14.4.124

- Lee, Y., Kozar, K. A., & Larsen, K. (2003). The Technology Acceptance Model: Past, present, and future. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 12(50), 752-780. https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.01250
- Li, Y.-M., & Yeh, Y.-S. (2010). Increasing trust in mobile commerce through design aesthetics. *Computers in Human Behavior, 26*(4), 673–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.004
- Lien, C., Raimo, J., Abramowitz, J., Khanijo, S., Kritharis, A., Mason, C., Jarmon, C. H., Nash, I.
 S., & Carney, M. T. (2014). Community healthcare delivery post-Hurricane Sandy:
 Lessons from a mobile health unit. *Journal of Community Health, 39*(3), 599–605.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-013-9805-7
- Lim, S., Xue, L., Yen, C. C., Chang, L., Chan, H. C., Tai, B. C., Duh, H. B. L., & Choolani, M. (2011). A study on Singaporean women's acceptance of using mobile phones to seek health information. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, *80*(12), e189–e202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.08.007
- Lin, C. A. (1999). Online service adoption likelihood. *Journal of Advertising Research, 39*, 79– 89. https://www.researchgate.net
- Lin, T. T. C., & Bautista, J. R. (2017). Understanding the relationships between mHealth apps' characteristics, trialability, and mHealth literacy. *Journal of Health Communication*, 22(4), 346–354. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2017.1296508
- Lister, C., West, J. H., Cannon, B., Sax, T., & Brodegard, D. (2014). Just a fad? Gamification in health and fitness apps. *JMIR Serious Games*, 2(2), e9. https://doi.org/10.2196/games.3413
- Liu, C., Au, Y., & Choi, H. (2015). Effects of freemium strategy in the mobile app market: An empirical study of Google Play. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 31, 326– 354. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2014.995564
- Liu, J. Y., Sorwar, G., Rahman, S., & Hoque, R. (2022). Use or not use? The role of trust and habit in mHealth services use intention among older population in Hong Kong. *Research Square.* https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1271844/v1

- Liu, Z., & Zhang, R. (2019). Factors affecting consumers' mobile payment behavior: A` metaanalysis. *Electronic Commerce Research, 19*(3), 575–601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10660-019-09349-4
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: A 35-year odyssey. *American Psychologist*, 57, 705–717. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.57.9.705
- Loose, M., Weeger, A., & Gewald, H. (2013). BYOD–the next big thing in recruiting? Examining the determinants of BYOD service adoption behavior from the perspective of future employees [Paper presentation]. 19th Americas Conference on Information Systems, Illinois, USA. 634-644. https://aisel.aisnet.org/amcis2013/EndUserIS/GeneralPresentations/12/
- Lu, Y., Yang, S., Chau, P. Y., & Cao, Y. (2011). Dynamics between the trust transfer process and intention to use mobile payment services: A cross-environment perspective.
 Information & Management, 48(8), 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2011.09.006
- Luxton, D. D., Hansen, R. N., & Stanfill, K. (2014). Mobile app self-care versus in-office care for stress reduction: A cost minimization analysis. *Journal of Telemedicine & Telecare*, 20(8), 431–435. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633X14555616
- MacDonald, A. J. (2017). Acceptance and continuance factors associated with mobile medical app use: A qualitative case study of diabetes apps [PhD thesis, Northcentral University]. ERIC. https://www.proquest.com
- Macfadyen, L., Stead, M., & Hastings, G. (2003). Social Marketing. In M. Baker (Ed.), *The Marketing Book* (pp. 694–725). Butterworth-Heinemann. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080496405-38
- MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, P. M. (2012). Common method bias in marketing: Causes, mechanisms, and procedural remedies. *Journal of Retailing*, 88(4), 542–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2012.08.001
- Maddison, R., Pfaeffli, L., Whittaker, R., Stewart, R., Kerr, A., Jiang, Y., Kira, G., Leung, W., Dalleck, L., Carter, K., & Rawstorn, J. (2015). A mobile phone intervention increases physical activity in people with cardiovascular disease: Results from the HEART randomized controlled trial. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 22*(6), 701– 709. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487314535076

- Madeira, R. N., Germano, H., Macedo, P., & Correia, N. (2018). Personalising the user experience of a mobile health application towards patient engagement. *Procedia Computer Science*, 141, 428–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2018.10.173
- Mahapatra, S. (2017). Mobile shopping among young consumers: An empirical study in an emerging market. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 45*(9), 930–949. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-08-2016-0128
- Malhotra, N. K., & Birks, D. F. (2007). *Marketing research: An applied approach*. Pearson Education. https://researchportal.port.ac.uk/en/publications/marketing-researchan-applied-approach
- Mallat, N., Rossi, M., Tuunainen, V. K., & Öörni, A. (2008). An empirical investigation of mobile ticketing service adoption in public transportation. *Personal & Ubiquitous Computing, 12*(1), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00779-006-0126-z
- Manda, T. D., & Msosa, Y. (2011). Socio-technical arrangements for mHealth: Extending the mobile device use and adoption framework. *International Conference on e-Infrastructure & e-Services for Developing Countries, 92*, 208–217. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-29093-0 20
- Mangan, J., Lalwani, C., & Gardner, B. (2004). Combining quantitative and qualitative methodologies in logistics research. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 34(7), 565–578. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030410552258
- Mani, M., Kavanagh, D. J., Hides, L., & Stoyanov, S. R. (2015). Review and evaluation of mindfulness-based iPhone apps. JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 3(3), e82. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.4328
- Mano, H., & Oliver, R. L. (1993). Assessing the dimensionality and structure of the consumption experience: Evaluation, feeling, and satisfaction. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *20*(3), 451–466. https://doi.org/10.1086/209361
- Maphosa, V. (2022). Developing an app for improving access to COVID-19 information in underserved communities. *International Journal of Information Engineering & Electronic Business*, *14*(3), 19–29. https://doi.org/10.5815/ijieeb.2022.03.03
- Mara, M., & Meyer, K. (2022). Acceptance of autonomous vehicles: An overview of userspecific, car-specific and contextual determinants. In A. Riener, M. Jeon, & I. Alvarez

(Eds.), User experience design in the era of automated driving (pp. 51–83). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-77726-5_3

- Markland, D. (2007). The golden rule is that there are no golden rules: A commentary on Paul Barrett's recommendations for reporting model fit in structural equation modelling.
 Personality & *Individual* Differences, 42(5), 851–858.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2006.09.023
- Markus, H., & Wurf, E. (1987). The dynamic self concept: A social psychological perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology, 38*(1), 299–337. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ps.38.020187.001503
- Marsden, J., Darke, S., Hall, W., Hickman, M., Holmes, J., Humphreys, K., Neale, J., Tucker, J., & West, R. (2020). Mitigating and learning from the impact of COVID-19 infection on addictive disorders. *Addiction, 115*(6), 1007–1010. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15080
- Martinez-Pérez, B., de la Torre-Diez, I., & López-Coronado, M. (2013). Mobile health applications for the most prevalent conditions by the World Health Organization: Review and analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(6), e120. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2600
- Mathieson, K. (1991). Predicting user intentions: Comparing the Technology Acceptance Model with the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Information Systems Research, 2,* 173– 191. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2.3.173
- Maydeu-Olivares, A., Shi, D., & Rosseel, Y. (2018). Assessing fit in structural equation models:
 A Monte-Carlo evaluation of RMSEA versus SRMR confidence intervals and tests of close fit. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 25*(3), 389–402. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2017.1389611
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. (1995). An integrative model of organizational trust. Academy of Management Review, 20(3), 709–734. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1995.9508080335
- McClure, J. B., Hartzler, A. L., & Catz, S. L. (2016). Design considerations for smoking cessation apps: Feedback from nicotine dependence treatment providers and smokers. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 4*(1), e17. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.5181
- Mechael, P. N. (2009). The case for mHealth in developing countries. *Innovations: Technology, Governance, Globalization, 4*(1), 103–118. https://doi.org/0.1162/itgg.2009.4.1.103

- Meier, B. M., Raw, M., Shelley, D., Bostic, C., Gupta, A., Romeo-Stuppy, K., & Huber, L. (2022).
 Could international human rights obligations motivate countries to implement tobacco cessation support? *Addiction*. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15990
- Merisavo, M., Kajalo, S., Karjaluoto, H., Virtanen, V., Salmenkivi, S., Raulas, M., & Leppäniemi,
 M. (2007). An empirical study of the drivers of consumer acceptance of mobile advertising. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 7(2), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/15252019.2007.10722130
- Merisavo, M., Vesanen, J., Arponen, A., Kajalo, S., & Raulas, M. (2006). The effectiveness of targeted mobile advertising in selling mobile services: An empirical study. *International Journal of Mobile Communications, 4*(2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMC.2006.008604
- Mhurchu, C. N., Te Morenga, L., Tupai-Firestone, R., Grey, J., Jiang, Y., Jull, A., Whittaker, R., Dobson, R., Funaki, T., & Hughes, E. (2019). A co-designed mHealth programme to support healthy lifestyles in Māori and Pasifika peoples in New Zealand: Protocol for a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Digital Health*, 1(6), e298–e307. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(19)30130-X
- Michaelidou, N., & Dibb, S. (2008). Consumer involvement: A new perspective. *The Marketing Review, 8*(1), 83–99. https://doi.org/10.1362/146934708X290403
- Michelle, T. Q. Y., Jarzabek, S., & Wadhwa, B. (2014, 26–27 September). CBT Assistant: MHealth app for psychotherapy. In *IEEE Global Humanitarian Technology Conference* (pp. 135–140). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/GHTC-SAS.2014.6967572
- Miller, A. S., Cafazzo, J. A., & Seto, E. (2016). A game plan: Gamification design principles in mHealth applications for chronic disease management. *Health Informatics Journal*, 22(2), 184–193. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458214537511
- Miller, P. M., & Kavanagh, D. (2011). *Translation of addictions science into practice*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-044927-2.X5048-2
- Min, S., So, K. K. F., & Jeong, M. (2019). Consumer adoption of the Uber mobile application: Insights from Diffusion of Innovation Theory and Technology Acceptance Model. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing, 36*(7), 770–783. https://doi.org/10.1080/10548408.2018.1507866
- Mindrila, D. (2010). Maximum likelihood and diagonally weighted least squares estimation procedures: A comparison of estimation bias with ordinal and multivariate non-

normal data. International Journal of Digital Society, 1(1), 60–66. https://doi.org/10.20533/ijds.2040.2570.2010.0010

- Mittal, B. (1995). A comparative analysis of four scales of consumer involvement. *Psychology* & *Marketing*, *12*(7), 663–82. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.4220120708
- Mohan, V., Khunti, K., Chan, S. P., Filho, F. F., Tran, N. Q., Ramaiya, K., Joshi, S., Mithal, A., Mbaye, M. N., Nicodemus, N. A., Latt, T. S., Ji, L., Elebrashy, I. N., & Mbanya, J. C. (2020). Management of Type 2 Diabetes in developing countries: Balancing optimal glycaemic control and outcomes with affordability and accessibility to treatment. *Diabetes Therapy*, *11*(1), 15–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13300-019-00733-9
- Monash University. (2019). *Overburdened health system*. https://www.monash.edu/futurewithout-change/overburdened-health-system
- Mondal, J., & Chakrabarti, S. (2019). Emerging phenomena of the branded app: A systematic literature review, strategies, and future research directions. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, *19*(2), 148–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/15252019.2019.1647580
- Monroe, K. B. (1976). The influence of price differences and brand familiarity on brand preferences. *Journal of Consumer Research, 3*(1), 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1086/208649
- Moore, G. (1987). End user computing and office automation: A Diffusion of Innovations perspective. *Information Systems & Operational Research, 25*(3), 214–235. https://doi.org/10.1080/03155986.1987.11732040
- Moore, G. C., & Benbasat, I. (1991). Development of an instrument to measure the perceptions of adopting an information technology innovation. *Information Systems Research*, *2*(3), 192–222. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2.3.192
- Morgan, D. L., & Morgan, S. (1993). *Successful focus groups: Advancing the state of the art*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483349008
- Morosan, C., & DeFranco, A. (2014). When tradition meets the new technology: An examination of the antecedents of attitudes and intentions to use mobile devices in private clubs. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 42,* 126–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2014.06.009
- Mort, G. S., & Drennan, J. (2007). Mobile cCommunications: A study of factors influencing consumer use of m-services. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 47(3), 302. https://doi.org/10.2501/S0021849907070328

- Moudud-Ul-Huq, S., Sultana Swarna, R., & Sultana, M. (2021). Elderly and middle-aged intention to use m-health services: An empirical evidence from a developing country. *Journal of Enabling Technologies*, *15*(1), 23–39. https://doi.org/10.1108/JET-04-2020-0018
- Mugo, D. G., Njagi, K., Chemwei, B., & Motanya, J. O. (2017). The Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and its application to the utilization of mobile learning technologies. *British Journal of Mathematics & Computer Science, 20*(4), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.9734/BJMCS/2017/29015
- Muñoz, R. F., Chavira, D. A., Himle, J. A., Koerner, K., Muroff, J., Reynolds, J., Rose, R. D., Ruzek,
 J. I., Teachman, B. A., & Schueller, S. M. (2018). Digital apothecaries: A vision for
 making health care interventions accessible worldwide. *mHealth*, 4, 18.
 https://doi.org/10.21037/mhealth.2018.05.04
- Mustafa, A., & Ali, N. (2023). The adoption and use of Moodle in online learning: A systematic review. *Information Sciences Letters, 12*(1), 341–351. https://digitalcommons.aaru.edu.jo/isl/vol12/iss1/29.
- Mustafa, A., Ali, N., Dhillon, J. S., Alkawsi, G., & Baashar, Y. (2022). User engagement and abandonment of mHealth: A cross-sectional survey. *Healthcare*, *10*(2), 221. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10020221
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthén, B. O. (2002). How to use a Monte Carlo study to decide on sample size and determine power. *Structural Equation Modeling*, 9(4), 599–620. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15328007SEM0904_8
- Mutz, D. C. (2011). *Population-based survey experiments*. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400840489
- Nasar, J. L. (1987). The effect of sign complexity and coherence on the perceived quality of retail scenes. *Journal of the American Planning Association, 53*(4), 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944368708977139
- Natarajan, T., Balasubramanian, S. A., & Kasilingam, D. L. (2017). Understanding the intention to use mobile shopping applications and its influence on price sensitivity. *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services, 37, 8–*22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.02.010

- Negash, S., Ryan, T., & Igbaria, M. (2003). Quality and effectiveness in web-based customer support systems. *Information & Management, 40*(8), 757–768. https://doi.org/0.1016/S0378-7206(02)00101-5
- Neubeck, L., Lowres, N., Benjamin, E. J., Freedman, S. B., Coorey, G., & Redfern, J. (2015). The mobile revolution—Using smartphone apps to prevent cardiovascular disease [Review Article]. Nature Reviews Cardiology, 12, 350. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrcardio.2015.34
- Neuman, W. (2014). *Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Pearson Education. https://doi.org/10.2307/3211488
- Nicholas, T., Nayibeth, T., Yinabeth, T., & Heindl, S. E. (2020). Lights out! The body needs sleep: Electronic devices and sleep deficiency. *Cureus, 12*(7), e9292. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.9292
- Nilsen, P. (2010). Brief alcohol intervention--where to from here? Challenges remain for research and practice. *Journal of Addiction, 105*(6), 954–959. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02779.x
- Nuijten, R., Van Gorp, P., Khanshan, A., Le Blanc, P., van den Berg, P., Kemperman, A., & Simons, M. (2022). Evaluating the impact of adaptive personalized goal setting on engagement levels of government staff with a gamified mHealth tool: Results from a 2-month randomized controlled trial. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 10*(3), e28801. https://doi.org/10.2196/28801
- Nunkoo, R., & Ramkissoon, H. (2012). Structural equation modelling and regression analysis in tourism research. *Current Issues in Tourism, 15*(8), 777-802, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/13683500.2011.641947 O'Brien, R. M. (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Quality & Quantity, 41*(5), 673–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6
- Office for Civil Rights. (2003). *Summary of the HIPAA privacy rule*. https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/privacysummary.pdf
- Oinas-Kukkonen, H., & Harjumaa, M. (2009). Persuasive systems design: Key issues, process model, and system features. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 24*(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.02428

- Okazaki, S., Blas, S., & Castañeda, J. (2015). Physicians' adoption of mobile health monitoring systems in Spain: Competing models and impact of prior experience. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, *16*, 194–217. http://www.jecr.org
- Okazaki, S., Katsukura, A., & Nishiyama, M. (2007). How mobile advertising works: The role of trust in improving attitudes and recall. *Journal of Advertising Research, 47*(2), 165–178. https://doi.org/10.2501/S0021849907070195
- Orford, J., Morison, V., & Somers, M. (1996). Drinking and gambling: A comparison with implications for theories of addiction. *Drug & Alcohol Review, 15*(1), 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/09595239600185661
- Ortega Egea, J. M., & Román González, M. V. (2011). Explaining physicians' acceptance of EHCR systems: An extension of TAM with trust and risk factors. *Computers in Human Behavior, 27*(1), 319–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.08.010
- Osborne, H., & Balakian, A. (1968). *Aesthetics and art history*. Longman.
- Osborne, J. W., Costello, A. B., & Kellow, J. T. (2014). *Best practices in exploratory factor analysis*. CreateSpace Independent Publishing. https://doi.org/10.7275/jyj1-4868
- Ozturk, A. B., Bilgihan, A., Nusair, K., & Okumus, F. (2016). What keeps the mobile hotel booking users loyal? Investigating the roles of self-efficacy, compatibility, perceived ease of use, and perceived convenience. *International Journal of Information Management*, 36(6, Part B), 1350–1359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.04.005
- Packard, G., & Wooten, D. B. (2013). Compensatory knowledge signaling in consumer word-of-mouth. *Journal of Consumer Psychology, 23*(4), 434–450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcps.2013.05.002
- Palos-Sanchez, P. R., Saura, J. R., Rios Martin, M. Á., & Aguayo-Camacho, M. (2021). Toward a better understanding of the intention to use mHealth apps: Exploratory study. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 9*(9), e27021. https://doi.org/10.2196/27021
- Papageorgiou, A., Strigkos, M., Politou, E., Alepis, E., Solanas, A., & Patsakis, C. (2018). Security and privacy analysis of mobile health applications: the alarming state of practice (pp. 9390–9403). IEEE Access. (Vol. 6). https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2799522
- Papadopoulou, P., Kanellis, P., & Martakos, D. (2002). Trust formation and relationship building in electronic servicescapes. In *10th European Conference on Information*

Systems, Information Systems and the Future of the Digital Economy (pp. 1487–1497). Core. http://cgi.di.uoa.gr

- Park, J. J., Wilkinson-Meyers, L., King, D. L., & Rodda, S. N. (2021). Person-centred interventions for problem gaming: A stepped care approach. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 872. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10749-1
- Paterson, M., Leslie, P., & Talyor, M. (2019). *Gambling activity in Australia*. https://aifs.gov.au/agrc/publications/gambling-activity-australia/export
- Patsiotis, A., Atik, M., & Perrea, T. (2020). The influence of m-marketing tools on consumer buying process: Evidence from the dining sector. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 48*(10), 1037–1056. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-06-2018-0109
- Payne, H. E., Lister, C., West, J. H., & Bernhardt, J. M. (2015). Behavioral functionality of mobile apps in health interventions: A systematic review of the literature. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth*, *3*(1), e20. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.3335
- Peiris, D., Wright, L., News, M., Rogers, K., Redfern, J., Chow, C., & Thomas, D. (2019). A smartphone app to assist smoking cessation among Aboriginal Australians: Findings from a pilot randomized controlled trial. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 7*(4), e12745. https://doi.org/10.2196/12745
- Pérez, L., Rodríguez, A., & Shmarev, A. (2021). A multilevel mixed effects model to evaluate effectiveness of treatment for problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Business & Economics*, 14(2), 3-16. https://doi.org/10.5750/jgbe.v14i2.1943
- Pfund, R. A., Whelan, J. P., Meyers, A. W., Peter, S. C., Ward, K. D., & Horn, T. L. (2020). The use of a smartphone application to complete therapeutic homework in cognitive– behavioral therapy for gambling disorder: A pilot study of acceptability and easibility. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science, 5*(2), 156–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-019-00123-9
- Philip, B., Abdelrazek, M., Barnett, S., Bonti, A., & Grundy, J. (2022). Towards better mHealth apps: Understanding current challenges and user expectations. In *9th International Conference on Mobile Software Engineering and Systems* (pp. 33–37). ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/3524613.3527804

- Phillips, C. A., Rolls, S., Rouse, A., & Griffiths, M. D. (1995). Home video game playing in schoolchildren: A study of incidence and patterns of play. *Journal of Adolescence*, 18(6), 687–691. https://doi.org/10.1006/jado.1995.1049
- Pires, I., Marques, G., García, N., Flórez-Revuelta, F., Ponciano, V., & Oniani, S. (2020). A research on the classification and applicability of the mobile health applications. *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, 10(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm10010011
- Piselli, C., Salvadori, G., Diciotti, L., Fantozzi, F., & Pisello, A. L. (2021). Assessing users' willingness-to-engagement towards Net Zero Energy communities in Italy. *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews, 152,* 111627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2021.111627
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology, 88*(5), 879. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879
- Poornima, A. (2020). Use of online teaching methods in the COVID era—Through the lens of Technology Adoption Model. *International Journal of Management, 11*(11), 2079– 2090. https://doi.org/10.34218/IJM.11.11.2020.197
- Porter, C. E., & Donthu, N. (2006). Using the Technology Acceptance Model to explain how attitudes determine Internet usage: The role of perceived access barriers and demographics. *Journal of Business Research*, 59(9), 999–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.06.003
- Postma, O. J., & Brokke, M. (2002). Personalisation in practice: The proven effects of personalisation. *Journal of Database Marketing & Customer Strategy Management*, 9(2), 137–142. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jdm.3240069
- Powell, A. C., Landman, A. B., & Bates, D. W. (2014). In search of a few good apps. *JAMA*, *311*(18), 1851–1852. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.2564
- Pramana, G., Parmanto, B., Lomas, J., Lindhiem, O., Kendall, P. C., & Silk, J. (2018). Using mobile health gamification to facilitate cognitive behavioral therapy skills practice in child anxiety treatment: Open clinical trial. *JMIR Serious Games, 6*(2), e9. https://doi.org/10.2196/games.8902
- Prasad, R. K., & Jha, M. K. (2014). Consumer buying decisions models: A descriptive study. International Journal of Innovation & Applied Studies, 6(3), 335–351.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/1550522194?pq-

origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true

Primhak, S., Pool, N., Humphrey, G., Voss, L., Webb, R. H., Wilson, E. M., Ritchie, S., Duffy, E., & Best, E. (2019). Script for pediatrics: Creating a smartphone application to improve antimicrobial prescribing. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases, 6*(2), S405. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofz360.1002

Productivity Commission. (2010). Australia's gambling industries. https://ideas.repec.org

- Pucci, T., Casprini, E., Nosi, C., & Zanni, L. (2019). Does social media usage affect online purchasing intention for wine? The moderating role of subjective and objective knowledge. *British Food Journal, 121*(2), 275–288. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-06-2018-0400
- Pulford, J., Bellringer, M., Abbott, M., Clarke, D., Hodgins, D., & Williams, J. (2009). Barriers to help-seeking for a gambling problem: The experiences of gamblers who have sought specialist assistance and the perceptions of those who have not. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 25(1), 33–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-008-9113-9
- Queensland Government. (2020). *Restrictions in QLD: Businesses, activities and undertakings*. https://www.qld.gov.au/health/conditions/health-alerts/coronavirus-covid-19/current-status/public-health-directions/business-activity
- Rahimi, N., & Jetter, A. (2015). Explaining health technology adoption: Past, present, future.
 In International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (pp. 2465–2495). PDX. https://doi.org/10.1109/PICMET.2015.7273030
- Rahman, M., Efird, J. T., & Byles, J. E. (2019). Patterns of aged care use among older Australian women: A prospective cohort study using linked data. *Archives of Gerontology & Geriatrics*, 81, 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2018.11.010
- Rahman, R., Ahmad, S., & Hashim, U. R. (2018). The effectiveness of gamification technique for higher education students engagement in polytechnic Muadzam Shah Pahang, Malaysia. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 15*(1), 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-018-0123-0
- Rai, A., Chen, L., Pye, J., & Baird, A. (2013). Understanding determinants of consumer mobile health usage intentions, assimilation, and channel preferences. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(8), e149. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2635

- Rajak, M., & Shaw, K. (2021). An extension of Technology Acceptance Model for mHealth user adoption. *Technology in Society, 67,* 101800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101800
- Rasul, T., Wijeratne, A., Soleimani, S., & Lim, W. M. (2021). Where there's sugar, there are sugar-related mobile apps. What factors motivate consumers' continued use of m-Health? *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2021.1999307
- Raylu, N., & Oei, T. P. (2004). Role of culture in gambling and problem gambling. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23(8), 1087–1114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2003.09.005
- Recio, G. M., García-Hernandez, L., Luque, R. M., & Salas-Morera, L. (2016). The role of interdisciplinary research team in the impact of health apps in health and computer science publications: A systematic review. *Biomedical Engineering Online*, 15(1), 77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12938-016-0185
- RelationshipsAustralia.(2020).Gamblingcounselling.https://www.raq.org.au/services/gambling-counselling
- Resnick, D., Schapira, M. M., Smith, J. M., Bautista, A., Xu, C., Jones, L., & Aysola, J. (2021). Promoting collaborative goal setting for cancer prevention among primary care patients through mHealth: Mixed methods evaluation of a new app. *JMIR Formative Research*, 5(7), e22510. https://doi.org/10.2196/22510
- Reuning, K., & Plutzer, E. (2020). Valid vs. invalid straightlining: The complex relationship between straightlining and data auality. *Survey Research Methods*, 14(5), 439–459. https://doi.org/10.18148/srm/2020.v14i5.7641
- Reyes, I. (2016). Mobile phone: Marketplace icon. *Consumption Markets & Culture, 19*(5), 416–426. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253866.2015.1109163
- Richards, D., & Vigano, N. (2013). Online counseling: A narrative and critical review of the literature. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(9), 994–1011. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21974
- Ridley, K., Wiltshire, A., & Coleman, M. (2020). Win big fast! An evaluation of mobile applications available in Australia for problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Issues*, 45, 111-121. https://doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2020.45.6
- Rivera, M., Gregory, A., & Cobos, L. (2015). Mobile application for the timeshare industry: The influence of technology experience, usefulness, and attitude on behavioral intentions.
Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Technology, 6(3), 242–257. https://doi.org/10.1108/JHTT-01-2015-0002

- Rizzo, L. (2020). QUAD: Fitness mobile app: Designing an interactive interface targeting identity reinforcement [Honours Thesis, University of Malta]. OAR@UM. https://www.um.edu.mt/library/oar/handle/123456789/63734
- Roberts, J. K., Pavlakis, A. E., & Richards, M. P. (2021). It's more complicated than it seems: Virtual qualitative research in the COVID-19 era. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 20,* 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211002959
- Rodda, S., & Lubman, D. I. (2014). Characteristics of gamblers using a national online counselling service for problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 30*(2), 277– 289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-012-9352-7
- Rodda, S., Lubman, D. I., Dowling, N. A., Bough, A., & Jackson, A. C. (2013). Web-based counseling for problem gambling: Exploring motivations and recommendations. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(5), e99. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2474
- Rodda, S. N. (2014). Online counselling for problem gambling: An analysis of client and session characteristics [Phd thesis, Monash University]. Bridges. https://bridges.monash.edu
- Rodda, S. N., Lubman, D. I., Cheetham, A., Dowling, N. A., & Jackson, A. C. (2015). Single session web-based counselling: A thematic analysis of content from the perspective of the client. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling, 43*(1), 117–130. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2014.938609
- Rodda, S. N., Park, J. J., Wilkinson-Meyers, L., & King, D. L. (2022). The impact of COVID-19 on addiction treatment in New Zealand. *Addictive Behaviors*, 127, 107230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2021.107230
- Rogers, E. M. (1962). *Diffusion of innovations*. Free Press of Glencoe. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.2600520633
- Rogers, E. M. (1995). *Diffusion of innovations*. The Free Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-79868-9_2
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). *Diffusion of innovations*. Simon and Schuster. https://www.worldcat.org/title/diffusion-of-innovations/oclc/52030797
- Rogers, R. W. (1975). A Protection Motivation Theory of fear appeals and attitude change.JournalofPsychology,91(1),93–114.https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.1975.9915803

- Rooij, T. v., & Marsh, S. (2016). eHealth: Past and future perspectives. *Personalized Medicine*, *13*(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.2217/pme.15.40
- Rosen, D. E., & Purinton, E. (2004). Website design: Viewing the web as a cognitive landscape.
 Journal of Business Research, 57(7), 787–794. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0148-2963(02)00353-3
- Rosenstock, I. M. (1974). Historical origins of the Health Belief Model. *Health Education Monographs*, 2(4), 328–335. https://doi.org/10.1177/109019817400200403
- Rossi, M. (2019). Auditor: A webpage accessibility validator for people with autism spectrum disorders [Masters thesis, Università Ca'Foscari Venezia]. DSpace. http://hdl.handle.net/10579/15521
- Rubin, A. (1995). Uses and gratifications: Quasi-functional analysis. In J. Dominick & J. Fletcher (Eds.), *Broadcasting research methods* (pp. 202–220). Allyn and Bacon. https://doi.org/10.1093/OBO/9780199756841-0132
- Ruggiero, T. E. (2000). Uses and Gratifications Theory in the 21st century. *Mass Communication* & *Society*, 3(1), 3–37. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825MCS0301_02
- Ryan, J., Lopian, L., Le, B., Edney, S., Van Kessel, G., Plotnikoff, R., Vandelanotte, C., Olds, T., & Maher, C. (2019). It's not raining men: a mixed-methods study investigating methods of improving male recruitment to health behaviour research. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-7087-4
- Saheb, T., Cabanillas, F. J. L., & Higueras, E. (2022). The risks and benefits of Internet of Things (IoT) and their influence on smartwatch use. *Spanish Journal of Marketing*. https://doi.org/10.1108/SJME-07-2021-0129
- Sahi, A. M., Khalid, H., & Abbas, A. F. (2021). Digital payment adoption: A review (2015–2020). Journal of Management Information & Decision Sciences, 24(7), 1-9. https://www.abacademies.org/articles/Digital-payment-adoption-a-review-2015-2020-1532-5806-24-7-311.pdf
- Sama, P. R., Eapen, Z. J., Weinfurt, K. P., Shah, B. R., & Schulman, K. A. (2014). An evaluation of mobile health application tools. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 2*(2), e19. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.3088
- Samuels, P. (2016). Advice on exploratory factor analysis. Birmingham City University. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.5013.9766

- Sardi, L., Idri, A., & Fernández-Alemán, J. L. (2017). A systematic review of gamification in e-Health. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics, 71*, 31–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbi.2017.05.011
- Saroia, A. I., & Gao, S. (2019). Investigating university students' intention to use mobile learning management systems in Sweden. *Innovations in Education & Teaching International, 56*(5), 569–580. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2018.1557068
- Sarwal, Y., & Saini, H. K. (2021). Construction and standardisation of smartphone dependence scale. International Journal of Multidisciplinary Trends, 3(1B), 117–118. https://doi.org/10.22271/multi.2021.v3.i1b.46
- Savic, M., Best, D., Rodda, S., & Lubman, D. I. (2013). Exploring the focus and experiences of smartphone applications for addiction recovery. *Journal of Addictive Diseases, 32*(3), 310–319. https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2013.824331
- Schierz, P. G., Schilke, O., & Wirtz, B. W. (2010). Understanding consumer acceptance of mobile payment services: An empirical analysis. *Electronic Commerce Research & Applications*, 9(3), 209–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2009.07.005
- Schmidt-Kraepelin, M., Thiebes, S., & Sunyaev, A. (2019). Investigating the relationship between user ratings and gamification—A review of mHealth apps in the Apple App Store and Google Play Store. In *Proceedings of the 52nd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences* (pp. 1496–1505). https://doi.org/10.24251/HICSS.2019.181
- Schmidthuber, L., Maresch, D., & Ginner, M. (2020). Disruptive technologies and abundance in the service sector-toward a refined Technology Acceptance Model. *Technological Forecasting* & *Social Change*, *155*, 119328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.06.017
- Schnall, R., Higgins, T., Brown, W., Carballo-Dieguez, A., & Bakken, S. (2015). Trust, perceived risk, perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness as factors related to mHealth technology use. *Studies in Health Technology & Informatics, 216*, 467–471. https://doi.org/10.2196/26845
- Schomakers, E.-M., Lidynia, C., Vervier, L. S., Valdez, A. C., & Ziefle, M. (2022). Applying an extended UTAUT2 model to explain user acceptance of lifestyle and therapy mobile health apps: Survey study. *JMIR mHealth & uHealth, 10*(1), e27095. https://doi.org/10.2196/27095

- Schubart, J. R., Stuckey, H. L. G., Ambika, & Sciamanna, C. N. (2011). Chronic health conditions and internet behavioral interventions: A review of factors to enhance user engagement. *Computers, Informatics, Nursing, 29*(2), 81. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCN.0b013e3182065eed
- Schumacher, M., Helin, H., & Schuldt, H. (2008). CASCOM: Intelligent service coordination in the semantic web. Springer Science & Business Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7643-8575-0_4
- Schuster, L., Drennan, J., & Lings, I. (2015). Understanding consumers' decisions to adopt technology-enabled transformative services. *Service Industries Journal*, 35(15–16), 846–864. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2015.1090979
- Schuster, L., & Parkinson, J. (2022). Personal goals in consumers' adoption of mHealth services. Journal of Service Theory & Practice, 32(1), 30–51. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSTP-11-2020-0245
- Scott, K., Richards, D., & Adhikari, R. (2015). A review and comparative analysis of security risks and safety measures of mobile health apps. *Australasian Journal of Information Systems, 19*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3127/ajis.v19i0.1210
- Semiz, B. B., & Semiz, T. (2021). Examining consumer use of mobile health applications by the extended UTAUT model. Business & Management Studies: An International Journal, 9(1), 267–281. https://doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v9i1.1773
- Serrano Archimi, C., Reynaud, E., Yasin, H. M., & Bhatti, Z. A. (2018). How perceived corporate social responsibility affects employee cynicism: The mediating role of organizational trust. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 151(4), 907–921. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3882-6
- Serrano, K. J., Yu, M., Riley, W. T., Patel, V., Hughes, P., Marchesini, K., & Atienza, A. A. (2016).
 Willingness to exchange health information via mobile devices: Findings from a population-based survey. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 14(1), 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1888
- Shan, R., Sarkar, S., & Martin, S. (2019). Digital health technology and mobile devices for the management of diabetes mellitus: State of the art. *Diabetologia*, 62(6), 877–887. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-019-4864-7

- Sharma, S., Mukherjee, S., Kumar, A., & Dillon, W. R. (2005). A simulation study to investigate the use of cutoff values for assessing model fit in covariance structure models. *Journal* of Business Research, 58(7), 935–943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2003.10.007
- Shaw, N., Eschenbrenner, B., & Brand, B. M. (2022). Towards a mobile app Diffusion of Innovations model: A multinational study of mobile wallet adoption. *Journal of Retailing & Consumer Services, 64,* 102768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102768
- Shemesh, T., & Barnoy, S. (2020). Assessment of the intention to use mobile health applications using a Technology Acceptance Model in an Israeli adult population. *Telemedicine & e-Health, 26*(9), 1141–1149. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2019.0144
- Shen, D., Laffey, J., Lin, Y., & Huang, X. (2006). Social influence for perceived usefulness and ease-of-use of course delivery systems. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 5(3), 270–282. www.ncolr.org/jiol/issues/pdf/5.3.4.pdf
- Shih, H.-P. (2004). Extended Technology Acceptance Model of Internet utilization behavior. *Information* & *Management,* 41(6), 719–729. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2003.08.009
- Silberman, M., & Clark, L. (2012). M-health: The union of technology and healthcare regulations. *Journal of Medical Practice Management, 28,* 118–120. https://www.proquest.com
- Slade, E. L., Dwivedi, Y. K., Piercy, N. C., & Williams, M. D. (2015). Modeling consumers' adoption intentions of remote mobile payments in the United Kingdom: Extending UTAUT with innovativeness, risk, and trust. *Psychology & Marketing*, 32(8), 860–873. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20823
- Smahel, D., Elavsky, S., & Machackova, H. (2017). Functions of mHealth applications: A user's perspective. *Health Informatics Journal, 25*(3), 1065–1075. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458217740725
- Smith, J. A. (2003). *Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods*. Sage. https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2003-06442-000
- So, R., Furukawa, T. A., Matsushita, S., Baba, T., Matsuzaki, T., Furuno, S., Okada, H., & Higuchi,
 S. (2020). Unguided chatbot-delivered cognitive behavioural intervention for problem
 gamblers through messaging app: A randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 36*(4), 1391–1407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-020-09935-4

- Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. *Sociological Methodology, 13*, 290–312. https://doi.org/10.2307/270723
- Sohail, M. S., & Shanmugham, B. (2003). E-banking and customer preferences in Malaysia: An empirical investigation. *Information Sciences*, *150*(3–4), 207–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-0255(02)00378-X
- Soper, D. S. (2021). *A-priori sample size calculator for structural equation models*. http://www.danielsoper.com/statcalc
- Sposito, V. A., Hand, M. L., & Skarpness, B. (1983). On the efficiency of using the sample kurtosis in selecting optimal lpestimators. *Communications in Statistics—Simulation & Computation*, 12(3), 265–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610918308812318
- Sreedharan, S., Nemeth, L. S., Hirsch, J., & Evans, H. L. (2022). Patient and provider preferences for monitoring surgical wounds using an mHealth app: A formative qualitative analysis. *Surgical Infections.* 23(2), 168-173. https://doi.org/10.1089/sur.2021.240
- Sripalawat, J., Thongmak, M., & Ngramyarn, A. (2011). M-banking in metropolitan Bangkok and a comparison with other countries. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 51(3), 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2011.11645487
- Stanger, J., & Jamieson, K. (1998). *Television in the home 1998: The third annual national survey of parents and children*. Annenberg Public Policy Center. https://www.annenbergpublicpolicycenter.org
- Statista. (2018). Number of health mobile apps globally by segment as of 2018. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1180843/health-related-mobile-appsworldwide-number-by-focus/
- Statista. (2020). Share of consumer using health applications on mobile and tablet apps in Australia between 2014 and 2020. https://www.statista.com/statistics/985116/usehealth-apps-mobile-tablet-australia/
- Statista. (2022a). *Most popular types of purchased health apps in the U.S. as of 2022*. https://www.statista.com/forecasts/1181559/share-of-health-apps-purchased-byamericans-by-type
- Statista. (2022b). Share of U.S. adults that purchased health apps as of 2022, by purchase detail. https://www.statista.com/forecasts/1181530/health-apps-purchased-by-americans-by-purchase-detail

- Steiger, J. H. (1990). Structural model evaluation and modification: An interval estimation approach. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 25(2), 173–180. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr2502 4
- Steinmetz, K. F. (2015). Craft(y)ness: An ethnographic study of hacking. *The British Journal of Criminology*, *55*(1), 125–145. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azu061
- Stewart, D. W., & Shamdasani, P. N. (2014). *Focus groups: Theory and practice* (Vol. 20). Sage. https://books.google.co.nz
- Stewart, D. W., Shamdasani, P. N., & Rook, D. W. (2007). Analyzing focus group data. *Focus Groups: Theory & Practice, 20,* 176-180. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412991841.d51
- Stocchi, L., Michaelidou, N., & Micevski, M. (2019). Drivers and outcomes of branded mobile app usage intention. *Journal of Product & Brand Management, 28*(1), 28–49. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-02-2017-1436
- Stocchi, L., Pourazad, N., Michaelidou, N., Tanusondjaja, A., & Harrigan, P. (2022). Marketing research on mobile apps: Past, present and future. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *50*(2), 195–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-021-00815-w
- Stoyanov, S. R., Hides, L., Kavanagh, D. J., Zelenko, O., Tjondronegoro, D., & Mani, M. (2015).
 Mobile app rating scale: A new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps.
 JMIR mHealth & uHealth, 3(1), e3422. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.3422
- Straub, D., Boudreau, M.-C., & Gefen, D. (2004). Validation guidelines for IS positivist research. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 13(1), 24. https://doi.org/10.17705/1CAIS.01324
- Streiner, D. L. (2005). Finding our way: An introduction to path analysis. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *50*(2), 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370505000207
- Striegel, N. (2019). Charlie and the humans: The future of artificial intelligence [Film]. DW Documentaries. https://www.thetvdb.com/series/dwdocumentaries/episodes/7511584
- Stylios, I., Kokolakis, S., Thanou, O., & Chatzis, S. (2022). Key factors driving the adoption of behavioral biometrics and continuous authentication technology: An empirical research. *Information & Computer Security.* 30(4), 562-582. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICS-08-2021-0124

- Sultan, F., Farley, J. U., & Lehmann, D. R. (1990). A meta-analysis of applications of diffusion models. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 27(1), 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224379002700107
- Sultan, F., Rohm, A. J., & Gao, T. (2009). Factors influencing consumer acceptance of mobile marketing: A two-country study of youth markets. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 23(4), 308–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2009.07.003
- Sumak, B., & Polancic, G. (2010). An empirical study of virtual learning environment adoption using UTAUT. In *Second International Conference on Mobile, Hybrid and On-Line Learning* (pp. 17–22). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/eLmL.2010.11
- Sun, Y., Wang, N., Guo, X., & Peng, J. (2013). Understanding the acceptance of mobile health services: A comparison and integration of alternative models. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 14(2), 183–200. http://www.jecr.org/node/26
- Suurvali, H., Cordingley, J., Hodgins, D. C., & Cunningham, J. (2009). Barriers to seeking help for gambling problems: A review of the empirical literature. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *25*(3), 407–424. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9129-9
- Swain, S. D., Weathers, D., & Niedrich, R. W. (2008). Assessing three sources of misresponse to reversed Likert items. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 45(1), 116–131. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkr.45.1.116
- Swan, C. (2012). Gamification: A new way to shape behavior. *Communication World, 29*(3), 13–14. https://www.thefreelibrary.com
- Swede, G. (1993). *The psychology of art: An experimental approach*. Canadian Scholars' Press. https://books.google.co.nz/books/about/The_Psychology_of_Art.html?id=LW9xzgEA CAAJ&redir_esc=y
- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. S., & Ullman, J. B. (2007). *Using multivariate statistics*. Pearson. https://www.pearsonhighered.com
- Tamilmani, K., Rana, N. P., Dwivedi, Y. K., & Kizgin, H. (2020). Consumer mobile shopping acceptance predictors and linkages: A systematic review and weight analysis. In *Conference on e-Business, e-Services and e-Society* (pp. 161–175). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-44999-5_14
- Tan, F., & Chou, J. (2008). The relationship between mobile service quality, perceived technology compatibility, and users' perceived playfulness in the context of mobile

information and entertainment services. *International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction, 24,* 649–671. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447310802335581

- Tan, H., Zhao, X., & Yang, J. (2022). Exploring the influence of anxiety, pleasure and subjective knowledge on public acceptance of fully autonomous vehicles. *Computers in Human Behavior, 131*, 107187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107187
- Tan, M., & Teo, T. S. (2000). Factors influencing the adoption of internet banking. *Journal of the Association for information Systems*, 1(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00005
- Tarasewich, P. (2003). Designing mobile commerce applications. *Communications of the ACM,* 46(12), 57–60. https://doi.org/10.1145/953460.953489
- Tarka, P. (2018). An overview of structural equation modeling: Its beginnings, historical development, usefulness and controversies in the social sciences. *Quality & Quantity, 52*(1), 313–354. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0469-8
- Tarute, A., Nikou, S., & Gatautis, R. (2017). Mobile application driven consumer engagement. *Telematics & Informatics, 34*(4), 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.01.006
- Taylor, D. G., & Levin, M. (2014). Predicting mobile app usage for purchasing and informationsharing. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 42(8), 759–774. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJRDM-11-2012-0108
- Taylor, K., & Silver, L. (2019). Smartphone ownership is growing rapidly around the world, but not always equally. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/global/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2019/02/Pew-Research-Center_Global-Technology-Use-2018_2019-02-05.pdf
- Teo, A.-C., Tan, G. W.-H., Ooi, K.-B., Hew, T.-S., & Yew, K.-T. (2015). The effects of convenience and speed in m-payment. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 115(2), 311–331. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-08-2014-0231
- Thomas, S., Jackson, A. C., Browning, C., & Piterman, L. (2009). *A one item screening tool for* problem gambling for use in primary care settings. Problem Gambling Research Treatment Centre. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-010-9232-y
- Thornton, L., Quinn, C., Birrell, L., Guillaumier, A., Shaw, B., Forbes, E., Deady, M., & Kay-Lambkin, F. (2017). Free smoking cessation mobile apps available in Australia: A quality review and content analysis. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 41(6), 625–630. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12688

- Tian, Y., & Dong, H. (2013). An analysis of key factors affecting user acceptance of mobile payment. In *The Second International Conference on Informatics & Applications* (pp. 240–246). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICoIA.2013.6650263
- Toce-Gerstein, M., Gerstein, D. R., & Volberg, R. A. (2009). A rapid screen for adult pathological and problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 25*(4), 541. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9135-y
- Tojib, D., & Tsarenko, Y. (2012). Post-adoption modeling of advanced mobile service use. *Journal of Business Research, 65*(7), 922–928. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.05.006
- Tonkin, E., Jeffs, L., Wycherley, T., Maher, C., Smith, R., Hart, R., Cubillo, B., & Brimblecombe,
 J. (2019). A smartphone app to reduce sugar-sweetened beverage consumption among young adults in Australian remote indigenous communities: Design, formative evaluation and user-testing. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 5*(12), e192. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.8651
- Tossell, C. C., Kortum, P., Shepard, C., Rahmati, A., & Zhong, L. (2012). An empirical analysis of smartphone personalisation: Measurement and user variability. *Behaviour & Information Technology, 31*(10), 995–1010. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2012.687773
- Tsai, T.-H., Chang, H.-T., Yu, M.-C., Chen, H.-T., Kuo, C.-Y., & Wu, W.-H. (2016). Design of a mobile augmented reality application: An example of demonstrated usability. In M. Antona & C. Stephanidis (Eds.), Universal access in human–computer interaction. interaction techniques and environments (pp. 198–205). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-40244-4 19
- Tsai, Z., Kiss, A., Nadeem, S., Sidhom, K., Owais, S., Faltyn, M., & Lieshout, R. J. V. (2022). Evaluating the effectiveness and quality of mobile applications for perinatal depression and anxiety: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 296*, 443–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.09.106
- Tsalgatidou, A., & Pitoura, E. (2001). Business models and transactions in mobile electronic commerce: requirements and properties. *Computer Networks, 37*(2), 221–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-1286(01)00216-X

- Tseng, T. H., & Lee, C. T. (2018). Facilitation of consumer loyalty toward branded applications:
 The dual-route perspective. *Telematics & Informatics, 35*(5), 1297–1309.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2018.03.002
- Tu, J., Shen, M., Zhong, J., Yuan, G., & Chen, M. (2021). The perceptions and experiences of mobile health technology by older people in Guangzhou, China: A qualitative study.
 Frontiers in Public Health, 9, 683712. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.683712
- Tu, J., Wang, C., & Wu, S. (2018). Using technological innovation to improve health care utilization in China's hospitals: the emerging 'online' health service delivery. Journal of Asian Public Policy, 11(3), 316-333. https://doi.org/10.1080/17516234.2017.1396953
- Tulloch, C., Hing, N., Browne, M., Rockloff, M., & Hilbrecht, M. (2021). The effect of gambling problems on the subjective wellbeing of gamblers' family and friends: Evidence from large-scale population research in Australia and Canada. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions, 10*(4), 941–952. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.2021.00077
- Turan, A., Tunç, A. Ö., & Zehir, C. (2015). A theoretical model proposal: Personal innovativeness and user involvement as antecedents of Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology. *Procedia-Social & Behavioral Sciences, 210*(2015), 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.11.327
- Vaghefi, I., & Tulu, B. (2019). The continued use of mobile health apps: Insights from a longitudinal study. JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth, 7(8), e12983. https://doi.org/10.2196/12983
- van der Heijden, H. (2004). User acceptance of hedonic information systems. *MIS Quarterly,* 28(4), 695–704. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148660
- van der Maas, M., Shi, J., Elton-Marshall, T., Hodgins, D. C., Sanchez, S., Lobo, D. S. S., Hagopian, S., & Turner, N. E. (2019). Internet-based interventions for problem gambling: Scoping review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research Mental Health*, 6(1), e65. https://doi.org/10.2196/mental.9419
- Varnali, K., & Toker, A. (2010). Mobile marketing research: The-state-of-the-art. *International Journal of Information Management, 30*(2), 144–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2009.08.009
- Varshney, U. (2014). A model for improving quality of decisions in mobile health. *Decision Support Systems, 62,* 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2014.03.005

- Venkatesh, V. (2000). Determinants of perceived ease of use: Integrating control, intrinsic motivation, and emotion into the Technology Acceptance Model. *Information Systems Research*, 11, 342–365. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.11.4.342.11872
- Venkatesh, V., & Bala, H. (2008). Technology Acceptance Model 3 and a research agenda on interventions. *Decision Sciences*, 39, 273–315. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.2008.00192.x
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). A theoretical extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four longitudinal field studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M., Davis, G., & Davis, F. (2003a). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly*, 27, 425–478. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036540
- Venkatesh, V., Ramesh, V., & Massey, A. P. (2003b). Understanding usability in mobile commerce. *Communications of the ACM, 46*(12), 53–56. https://doi.org/10.1145/953460.953488
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y., & Xu, X. (2012). Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: Extending the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 36(1), 157–178. https://doi.org/10.2307/41410412
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y., & Xu, X. (2016). Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology: A synthesis and the road ahead. *Journal of the Association for information Systems*, 17(5), 328–376. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00428
- Vervier, L. S., Valdez, A. C., & Ziefle, M. (2019). 'Attitude'—mHealth apps and users' insights.
 In Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Information and Communication
 Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health (pp. 213–221). SCITEPRESS.
 https://doi.org/10.5220/0007720002130221
- Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation. (2019). *Latest edition of the Australian Gambling Statistics*. https://responsiblegambling.vic.gov.au
- Vindrola-Padros, C., Chisnall, G., Cooper, S., Dowrick, A., Djellouli, N., Symmons, S. M., Martin,
 S., Singleton, G., Vanderslott, S., & Vera, N. (2020). Carrying out rapid qualitative research during a pandemic: Emerging lessons from COVID-19. *Qualitative Health Research*, 30(14), 2192–2204. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732320951526

- Vogel, D., Vichland, D., Wickramasinghe, N., & Mula, J. M. (2013). Mobile health. *Electronic Markets*, *23*(1), 3–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-013-0121-y
- Vuković, M., Pivac, S., & Kundid, D. (2019). Technology Acceptance Model for the internet banking acceptance in split. *Business Systems Research*, 10(2), 124–140. https://doi.org/10.2478/bsrj-2019-022
- Walker, R. (2017). Factors that influence consumers' adoption intention of mobile health services in the United States: A quantitative study [Doctoral Thesis, Northcentral University]. UCAL. https://www.zhangqiaokeyan.com
- Wallace, S., Clark, M., & White, J. (2012). 'It's on my iPhone': Attitudes to the use of mobile computing devices in medical education, a mixed-methods study. *BMJ Open, 2*(4), e001099. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001099
- Walrave, M., Waeterloos, C., & Ponnet, K. (2022). Reasons for nonuse, discontinuation of use, and acceptance of additional functionalities of a COVID-19 contact tracing app: Cross-sectional survey study. *JMIR Public Health Surveillance, 8*(1), e22113. https://doi.org/10.2196/22113
- Walsh, D. C., Rudd, R. E., Moeykens, B. A., & Moloney, T. W. (1993). Social marketing for public health. *Health Affairs*, *12*(2), 104–119. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.12.2.104
- Wan, K., King, V., & Chan, K. (2021). Examining essential flow antecedents to promote students' self-regulated learning and acceptance of use in a game-based learning classroom. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning, 19*(6), 531–547. https://doi.org/10.34190/ejel.19.6.2117
- Wang, J., & Wang, X. (2019). Structural equation modeling: Applications using Mplus. John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119422730
- Wang, W.-T., & Li, H.-M. (2012). Factors influencing mobile services adoption: A brand-equity perspective. *Internet Research, 22*(2), 142–179. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662241211214548
- Wang, X., Ali, F., Tauni, M. Z., Zhang, Q., & Ahsan, T. (2022). Effects of hedonic shopping motivations and gender differences on compulsive online buyers. *Journal of Marketing Theory & Practice, 30*(1), 120–135. https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2021.1894949

- Wang, X., & Cheng, Z. (2020). Cross-sectional studies: Strengths, weaknesses, and recommendations. *Chest*, 158(1), S65–S71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012
- Wang, X., Liu, Y., & Liu, H. (2020). Examining users' adoption of precision medicine: The moderating role of medical technical knowledge. *International Journal of Environmental Research & Public Health, 17*(3), 1113. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17031113
- Wang, Y.-S., Lin, H.-H., & Luarn, P. (2006). Predicting consumer intention to use mobile service. *Information Systems Journal*, 16(2), 157–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2575.2006.00213.x
- Watkins, M. W. (2018). Exploratory factor analysis: A guide to best practice. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 44(3), 219–246. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798418771807
- Weisfeld-Spolter, S., & Rippé, C. B. (2022). I will take a large veggie pizza and a lesson about the consumer buying process. *Marketing Education Review*, 32(2), 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/10528008.2022.2053333
- Westaway, M. S., Rheeder, P., Van Zyl, D. G., & Seager, J. R. (2003). Interpersonal and organizational dimensions of patient satisfaction: The moderating effects of health status. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 15(4), 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzg042
- Westland, J. C. (2010). Lower bounds on sample size in structural equation modeling. *Electronic Commerce Research & Applications, 9*(6), 476–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2010.07.003
- Wheaton, B., Muthén, B., Alwin, D. F., & Summers, G. F. (1977). Assessing reliability and stability in panel models. *Sociological Methodology, 8*, 84–136. https://doi.org/10.2307/270754
- Whittaker, R., Dobson, R., Candy, S., Tane, T., Burrowes, K., Reeve, J., Tawhai, M., Taylor, D.,
 Robertson, T., Garrett, J., Humphrey, G., Brott, T., Khan, S. R., Hu, F., & Warren, J.
 (2021). Mobile pulmonary rehabilitation: Feasibility of delivery by a mobile phonebased program. *Frontiers in Computer Science*, 3, 546960. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomp.2021.546960

- Williams, B., Onsman, A., & Brown, T. (2010). Exploratory factor analysis: A five-step guide for novices. Australasian Journal of Paramedicine, 8(3), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.33151/ajp.8.3.93
- Williams, S. J., & Calnan, M. (1991). Convergence and divergence: Assessing criteria of consumer satisfaction across general practice, dental and hospital care settings. *Social Science & Medicine*, 33(6), 707–716. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(91)90025-8
- Wind, T. R., Rijkeboer, M., Andersson, G., & Riper, H. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic: The 'black swan' for mental health care and a turning point for e-health. *Internet Interventions, 20*, 100317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2020.100317
- Wirtz, J., & Mattila, A. S. (2003). The effects of consumer expertise on evoked set size and service loyalty. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 17(7), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1108/08876040310501223
- Woldaregay, A. Z., Issom, D. Z., Henriksen, A., Marttila, H., Mikalsen, M., Pfuhl, G., Sato, K.,
 Lovis, C., & Hartvigsen, G. (2018). Motivational factors for user engagement with
 mHealth apps. *Study in Health Technology & Informatics, 249*, 151–157.
 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29866972/
- Woldeyohannes, H. O., & Ngwenyama, O. K. (2017). Factors influencing acceptance and continued use of mHealth apps. In F. F.-H. Nah & C.-H. Tan (Eds.), *HCI in Business, Government and Organizations. Interacting with Information Systems* (pp. 239–256).
 Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58481-2 19
- Wood, R. T., & Griffiths, M. D. (2007). Online data collection from gamblers: Methodological issues. International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction, 5(2), 151–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-007-9055-y
- Wu, L., Li, J.-Y., & Fu, C.-Y. (2011). The adoption of mobile healthcare by hospital's professionals: An integrative perspective. *Decision Support Systems*, 51(3), 587–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2011.03.003
- Wu, P., Zhang, R., Zhu, X., & Liu, M. (2022a). Factors influencing continued usage behavior on mobile health applications. *Healthcare*, 10(2), 208. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10020208
- Wu, X., Xu, L., Li, P., Tang, T., & Huang, C. (2022b). Multipurpose mobile apps for mental health in Chinese app stores: Content analysis and quality evaluation. *JMIR Mhealth & Uhealth*, *10*(1), e34054. https://doi.org/10.2196/34054

- Wulan, I. A. D. P., Priyanto, S. H., & Ihalauw, J. J. (2020). Model of herbal functional food adoption. *Quality-Access to Success, 21*(174), 135-138. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13114051
- Wynne, R., Nolte, J., Matthews, S., Angel, J., Le, A., Moore, A., Campbell, T., & Ferguson, C. (2022). Effect of an mHealth self-help intervention on readmission after adult cardiac surgery: Protocol for a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 78(2), 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.15104
- Xu, Y. (2012). *Literature review on web application gamification and analytics*. University of Hawai'i.

https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.462.5228&rep=rep1&ty pe=pdf

- Yan, M., Filieri, R., & Gorton, M. (2021). Continuance intention of online technologies: A systematic literature review. *International Journal of Information Management, 58*, 102315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2021.102315
- Yang, H. C. (2013). Bon appétit for apps: Young American consumers' acceptance of mobile applications. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 53(3), 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2013.11645635
- Yang, K. C. (2005). Exploring factors affecting the adoption of mobile commerce in Singapore. *Telematics & Informatics, 22*(3), 257–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2004.11.003
- Young, K. S. (2005). An empirical examination of client attitudes towards online counseling. *CyberPsychology & Behavior, 8*(2), 172–177. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2005.8.172
- Yuan, K.-H. (2005). Fit indices versus test statistics. *Multivariate Behavioral Research, 40*(1), 115–148. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr4001_5.
- Zaichkowsky, J. L. (1985). Measuring the involvement construct. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *12*(3), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1086/208520
- Zakerabasali, S., Ayyoubzadeh, S. M., Baniasadi, T., Yazdani, A., & Abhari, S. (2021). Mobile health technology and healthcare providers: Systemic barriers to adoption. *Healthcare Informatics Research*, *27*(4), 267–278. https://doi.org/10.4258/hir.2021.27.4.267
- Zhang, X., Han, X., Dang, Y., Meng, F., Guo, X., & Lin, J. (2017). User acceptance of mobile health services from users' perspectives: The role of self-efficacy and responseefficacy in technology acceptance. *Informatics for Health & Social Care, 42*(2), 194– 206. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538157.2016.1200053

- Zhao, J., Freeman, B., & Li, M. (2016). Can mobile phone apps influence people's health behavior change? An evidence review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(11), e287. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5692
- Zhao, X., Lynch, J. G. Jr, & Chen, Q. (2010). Reconsidering Baron and Kenny: Myths and truths about mediation analysis. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 37(2), 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1086/651257
- Zhongming, Z., Linong, L., Wangqiang, Z., & Wei, L. (2021). Online gambling soared during lockdown, especially among regular gamblers. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 30*, 265-283. https://doi.org/100.173/C666/handle/2XK7JSWQ/326277
- Zichermann, G., & Cunningham, C. (2011). *Gamification by design: Implementing game mechanics in web and mobile apps*. O'Reilly Media. https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/2073550

Appendices

Appendix A: Stimulus Design Styles

White on Blue Background

NoBets Today's Motivational Message "The only sure thing about good luck is that it will change." "Brett Horte, author & poet	
Journal Workbook BetTracker	NoBets .∵``
Distractions Motivation Facts Self- Assessment Milestones Bet Blocker	·. L
Support Shore Shore	0

Blue on White Background



Yellow on Purple Background



Red, Green and White



Appendix B: Focus Group Stimuli



This function is called **Milestones** and focusses on your achievements. It rewards you for achieving timeframes of not gambling. You report daily to help make you more accountable for your time and money. You are rewarded for achievements with trophies, and timeframes are customisable.

Milestones also lets you choose if you want to share your trophies on social media to let others know what you have accomplished.

Image 1) a list of trophies that have been achieved and you can choose to share on social media

Image 2) a list of timeframes that haven't been reached yet



The function is called **The Facts** which is an information database on the behaviours, risks and symptoms surrounding gambling. The Facts includes useful information on a range of different topics, such as clinically defining gambling addiction, goal setting tips and tricks and identifying signs of addiction.

Image 1) a list of the different information topics

Image 2) an example of the topic, 'What is gambling addiction?' which gives clinical definitions

Image 3) an example of the topic, 'Myths & Facts' which clarifies truths and lies around gambling addiction

DECENSE DEDECTION DEDECT





*

Myths & Facts

It's important to know myths making situations worse & hide problems.

Myth: Gambling isn't addictive.

beyond finances

Fact: Gambling is designed to be addictive. Myth: Having a gambling problem means you gamble every day.

Fact: Problem gambling can be continuous or

episodic. Myth: Problem gamblers engage in other criminal

behaviour to get money for gambling. Fact: Long-term problem gamblers frequently result in minor criminal behaviour to make money. Myth: Children don't have gambling problems. Fact: Problem gambling rates are highest in teens. Myth: Problem gambling is only a financial problem. Fact: Problem gambling causes problems that extend

THE FACTS Image 3

This function is called Bet Blocker which is easy-to-use and non-invasive. You can set Bet Blocker to block your device from accessing gambling websites and apps. The app has a default list of known sites and apps, and you can also add website sites and apps to this list. This function prevents you from impulsively deleting the app by delaying uninstallation.

stopping access

Image 2) Bet Blocker recognising a casino website and stopping access

Image 3) An example list of blocked apps and sites



This function is called **Support** which is a directory of gambling support community groups and welfare organisations. These contacts offer 24/7 support through phone, chat and face-to-face services. Some are gambling specialists while other groups offer broader support to gamblers and their families.

Image 1) the contact list of community groups and welfare organisations in the directory

Image 2) an example of the contact page of an Australian welfare group

٠ ____ \leftarrow **SUPPORT** Australian Support Services for **Problem Gamblers & Families SUPPORT Image 1** Gambling Helpline Australia >> Kids Helpline >> Gamblers Anonymous >> Statewide Gambling Therapy >> Service >> Relationships Australia >> Lifeline >> Reach Out >> Centacare >> ۰ _ **SUPPORT** Gamblers Anonymous Australia SUPPORT Image 2 Gamblers Anonymous Australia is a fellowship of men and women who share their experience strength and hope with each other experience strength and hope with each other that they may solve their common problem and help others recover from a gambling problem. At your first meeting let someone know that you are attending for the first time. They will tell you how long the meeting goes for and what happens. You will be invited to be part of the meeting. They will tell you to look for the similarities, not the differences. There is no pressure to share your experience but, when asked, you can speak if you wish. **Contact details** - South Australia

This function is called **Journal** which you can use to make regular journal entries about your progress or record a diary about your journey. There are four main benefits to journaling through change; 1) prioritise problems and goals, 2) recognise and track betting triggers, 3) identify self-defeating thoughts, and 4) provide a private outlet self-expression. There are four features which are different types of journal entries; 1) diary, 2) reflection, 3) gratitude and 4) goals.

Image 1) the four different features or journal types to explore and their descriptions—diary, reflection, gratitude and goals

Image 2) an example of diary entries



This function is called **Chat** which you can use to anonymously connect with other people using the app who might be sharing your experiences. The first feature is a private and secure chat room dedicated to app users only and is an open space to talk with peers. The second feature is a forum where you can post questions, topics and issues to create dedicated discussion threads or contribute to other threads.

Image 1) an example conversation in the 24/7 chat room

Image 2) an example of forum threads that people have created

Image 3) an example discussion in a forum thread

<section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><section-header><text><text><text>

......

NoBets

Load previous conversations...

CHAT Image 1

CHATROOM

This function is called **Motivation**. It has three main features that offer snippets of motivational support. The first feature displays a daily motivational quote or message on the home screen. The second feature hosts a library of lived experience stories of past gambling issues. The third feature uses the benefits that exercise has for people managing addictions. It is an exercise library that can generate simple exercises to get you moving—you can also customise the exercise library to suit you.

Image 1) the three main features and their descriptions

Image 2) the exercise generator suggesting an exercise

Image 3) the app's default exercise library

. Motivation **MOTIVATION** Image 1 LIVED EXPERIENCES Read stories of those who have lived through gambling addiction and have seen the light on the other side. **EXERCISE GENERATOR** Generate a random exercise to keep you motivated and moving. > **EXERCISE LIBRARY** View all exercises available to you. . cercise Library •

. Exercise Generator **MOTIVATION Image 3 MOTIVATION Image 2** 20-minute walk 25 pushups **YOUR NEXT EXERCISE IS** 5-minute stretch 20 burpees 20 star jumps 30 sit ups 10-minute run **15-minute walk** 50 toe touches 5 minutes of stair climbs GENERATE NEW EXERCISE ADD EXERCISE **REMOVE EXERCISE** VIEW EXERCISE LIBRARY

This function is called Self-Assessment which has three features to record and assess actions and feelings surrounding gambling and mental health.

The first, measures how severity of gambling. The second, performs a general mental health screening. The third, gives a realtime mood status report. Self-Assessment stores a history of results and shows progress over time.

Image 1) the three features and their descriptions

Image 2) an example history of mental health screenings, their scores and outcomes

Image 3) an example of the gambling severity measure

Self-Assessment Problem Gambling Severity Index The Problem Gambling Severity Index is the standardised measure of at-risk behaviour in problem gambling. It is a tool based on research on the common signs and consequences of problematic gambling. Assessing where someone is now can help make informed decisions. This assessment should be taken six to eight months apart. TEST >> **Brief Mood Introspection Scale** This assessment is a mood scale consisting of 16 mood-adjectives to which a person responds (e.g., Are you "happy?). The scale can yield measures of overal pleasant-unpleasant mood, arousal-calm mood, and it also can be scored according to positive-tried and negative-calm mood. This assessment can be completed regularly. TEST >> TEST >> Patient Health Questionnaire The Patient Health Question objectifies and assesses degree of depression severity via questionnaire about your recent thoughts and feelings. It is a quick and simple way to determine whether you are experiencing symptoms of a mental health condition. This assessment can be should be completed two weeks apart.

-

TEST >> Assessment history >>





SELF-ASSESSMENT Image ω

This function is called **Distraction** which you can use for drawing attention and thoughts away from gambling. There are three features to this function. The first feature is guided meditation audios for mental calm and concentration. The second feature is mindfulness audios to help control thoughts of gambling. The third feature contains fun brain training games that use your attention and keep your hands busy.

Image 1) the three features of the function and their descriptions

Image 2) some example guided meditation audios and their descriptions

Image 3) different categories of brain games and their descriptions

Distraction 🚷

.

Guided Meditation

Suided meditations walk you through a meditation and help you ind a calm and peaceful state—one step at a time. Try one of hese unique guided meditations, ranging from five minutes to one hour each.

Mindfulness

Indfulness is the psychological process of purposely bringing res' attention to experiences occurring in the present moment thout judgment, which one develops through the practice of editation and through other training. Listen to a mindfulness to prove your awareness.

Brain Games

rain exercises focus on training reasoning skills do translate to long-lasting improvements in daily life. Brain games can rengthen your recall, thinking speed and reasoning. These mes are a fur way to improve your minds strength. DISTRACTION Image 1

NB





This function is called **Bet Tracker** which you can use to keep a record of time and money spent on gambling. Having these long-term and short-term records help people to be more accountable for their spendings. You can also set personal daily time and money limits that alert you when you reach your daily limit.

Image 1) an example of a daily limit for time and money and their record for the day

Image 2) an example record of time and money spent on gambling



This function is called Workbook which provides therapy-based study exercises. You can learn techniques for self-control through reading and writing tasks developed to address gambling addiction. Example subjects include strengthening commitment, planning and taking action and changing your thinking. Workbook gives you the choice to share on social media when you have finished subjects.

Image 1) the subjects that are available in Workbook

Image 2) descriptions of the different tasks in a 'Change Your Thinking'

Image 3) an example of a completed subject and the option to share on social media

_

Reading Task

Thought Task

Writing Task



237

Appendix C: Promotion of Focus Group Sessions

Relationships Australia Facebook Promotion of Focus Group Sessions



Relationships Australia Website Promotion of Focus Group Sessions



Appendix D: Focus Group Consent Form



Focus Group Participant Consent Form

Project Title: Antecedents of mHealth App Adoption Intention

1. I have read the attached Information Sheet and agree to take part in the research project.

2. I have had the project, so far as it affects me, fully explained to my satisfaction. My consent is given freely.

3. Although I understand the purpose of the research project, it has also been explained that involvement may not be of any benefit to me.

4. I have been informed that, while information gained during the study may be published, I will not be identified, and my personal results will not be divulged.

5. I understand that I am free to withdraw from the project at any time; however, it will not be possible to withdraw information provided up to that point.

6. I understand that the focus group session will be audio recorded.

7. I am aware that I should keep a copy of the Information Sheet.

8. I have been given the opportunity to ask questions and receive answers to my satisfaction.

9. I understand participation is voluntary and I can choose not to respond to questions if I wish.

10. I understand that while all information will be treated with the strictest confidence, that anonymity cannot be guaranteed due to the nature of focus groups.

Participant Name: Si	ignature:	Date:
----------------------	-----------	-------

Appendix E: Focus Group Information Sheet



Focus Group Participant Information Sheet

Project Title: Antecedents of mHealth App Adoption Intention

This research is being undertaken to gather opinions about a mobile application for people to modify their gambling behaviour for any reason. You will be asked questions about your attitude towards mobile apps in healthcare and what factors you think are important for a gambling app. You will be shown a series of images of an app we are designing and asked questions. The session should take no more than 45 minutes, and you will receive a \$30 ColesGroup and Myer eVoucher at the end of the session for your participation. You may use a non-identifying email address for all communication and also create a pseudonym and cover your face for the sessions if that makes you more comfortable.

The focus group session will be recorded and direct quotations from the session may be used in the research publications with pseudonyms used instead of your real names. This information will only be accessed by the research student and thesis supervisors. The focus groups will be transcribed into text and securely stored at the University campus. Participation is entirely voluntary. You can withdraw from the session at any point; however, it will not be possible to withdraw any information you provided up to that point. Please be aware there is a risk that that topic may elicit anxiety and/or emotional distress for some, and a list of free and confidential helplines and support groups has been provided.

This research project will be conducted in accordance with the NHMRC National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research available from <u>www.nhmrc.gov.au</u>. For further information, please contact the PhD student and lead researcher, Luke Brownlow at Flinders University on luke.brownlow@flinders.edu.au. Alternatively, you can contact the research project supervisors, Roberta Crouch | roberta.crouch@flinders.edu.au (08) 8201 2046 and Svetlana De Vos <u>svetlanadevos@aib.edu.au</u> (08) 8212 8111. Should you have any concerns about this research project, you can contact the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee at <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u> or (08) 8201 3116. *Ethics Project Number: HEL2621-2. Ethics Approval Date: 7/10/20* **Appendix F: Gambling Support Information with Contacts for Participants**

Do I have a problem with gambling?

If you can answer 'yes' to any of the following questions, your gambling may start to become a problem. Do you: Spend more money and time than you intend to on gambling? Feel guilty and ashamed about your gambling? Try to win back your losses? Miss important things like family time, work, leisure activities or appointments because of gambling? Think about gambling every day? Have arguments with friends and family about your gambling? Lie or steal to get money for gambling? Get into debt because of gambling?

How do I know if I am in danger of developing a gambling addiction?

It's sometimes hard to know if your gambling is getting out of hand. A common reaction is to minimise it or deny that it's causing harm. Some people may hide the gambling or start to lie about how much time and money they are spending on it. You might say to yourself "I enjoy this, it's just my way of relaxing" or "I'll stop when I have the next big win" or "It makes me forget my worries" or "I can stop whenever I want". These are all forms of denial.

What can I do?

There are many things you can do to prevent gambling problems building up and to get things under control. These activities have worked well for many people: 1) Talk to someone you trust about your gambling. This will be a first step in finding the best way forward to cut down or stop. 2) Call a helpline. They can talk to you confidentially or send out self-help tools and information. 3) Contact a gambling help service. Just one session with a professional counsellor can help you assess your situation and set up a plan to suit your needs. 4) Have a close friend as an ally who will check in with you and support you to stick to your plan. 5) See a financial counsellor to look at money going 'in' and 'out' so you can decide if the balance is right and get help to manage any debts. Details of support services that you can contact free of charge are provided below.
Contacts

Gambling Helpline Australia	Lifeline Australia
Call 1800 858 858	Call 13 11 14 or Text 0477 13 11 14
www.gamblinghelponline.org.au	www.lifeline.org.au
St. Vincent de Paul Society	Gamblers' Financial Counselling Helpline
1800 VINNIES (1800 846 643)	Call 1800 007 007
https://www.vinnies.org.au	www.ndh.org.au

Appendix G: Human Research Ethics Committee Approval Notice



HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE APPROVAL NOTICE

Dear Mr Luke Brownlow,

The below proposed project has been **approved** on the basis of the information contained in the application and its attachments.

Please note: Due to the current COVID-19 situation, researchers are strongly advised to develop a research design that aligns with the University's COVID-19 research protocol involving human studies. Where possible, avoid face-to-face testing and consider rescheduling face-to-face testing or <u>undertaking alternative distance/online data or interview collection means. For</u> further information, please go to https://staff.flinders.edu.au/coronavirus- information/research-updates.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF RESEARCHERS AND SUPERVISORS

Participant Documentation

Please note that it is the responsibility of researchers and supervisors, in the case of student projects, to ensure that:

all participant documents are checked for spelling, grammatical, numbering and formatting errors. The Committee does not accept any responsibility for the above mentioned errors.

the Flinders University logo is included on all participant documentation (e.g., letters of Introduction, information Sheets, consent forms, debriefing information and questionnaires – with the exception of purchased research tools) and the current Flinders University letterhead is included in the header of all letters of introduction. The Flinders University international logo/letterhead should be used and documentation should contain international dialling codes for all telephone and fax numbers listed for all research to be conducted overseas.

the HREC contact details, listed below, are included in the footer of all letters of introduction and information sheets.

This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee (Project Number 2621). For more information regarding ethics approval of the project the Executive Officer of the Committee can be contacted by telephone on 8201 3116, by fax on 8201 2035 or by email <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u>.

Annual Progress / Final Reports

In order to comply with the monitoring requirements of the *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research* 2007 (updated 2018) an annual progress report must be submitted each year on the anniversary of the approval date for the duration of the ethics approval using the HREC Annual/Final Report Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system.

Please note that no data collection can be undertaken after the ethics approval expiry date listed at the top of this notice. If data is collected after expiry, it will not be covered in terms of ethics. It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that annual progress reports are submitted on time; and that no data is collected after ethics has expired.

If the project is completed *before* ethics approval has expired please ensure a final report is submitted immediately. If ethics approval for your project expires please <u>either</u> submit (1) a final report; <u>or</u> (2) an extension of time request (using the HREC Modification Form).

For <u>student projects</u>, the Low Risk Panel recommends that current ethics approval is maintained until a student's thesis has been submitted, assessed and finalised. This is to protect the student in the event that reviewers recommend that additional data be collected from participants.

First Report due date: 7 October 2021

Modifications to Project

Modifications to the project must not proceed until approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee. Such proposed changes / modifications include:

•hange of project title;

•hange to research team (e.g., additions, removals, researchers and supervisors) changes to research objectives;

hanges to research protocol;

ehanges to participant recruitment methods; changes / additions to source(s) of participants;

hanges of procedures used to seek informed consent; changes to reimbursements provided to participants;

hanges to information / documents to be given to potential participants;

•hanges to research tools (e.g., survey, interview questions, focus group questions etc); extensions of time (i.e. to extend the

period of ethics approval past current expiry date).

To notify the Committee of any proposed modifications to the project please submit a Modification Request Form available online via the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system. Please note that extension of time requests should be submitted <u>prior</u> to the Ethics Approval Expiry Date listed on this notice.

Adverse Events and/or Complaints

Researchers should advise the Executive Officer of the Ethics Committee on 08 8201-3116 or <u>human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au</u> immediately if:

any complaints regarding the research are received;

serious or unexpected adverse event occurs that effects participants;

an unforeseen event occurs that may affect the ethical acceptability of the project.

Yours Sincerely,

Mallather

Andrea Mather

on behalf of

Human Research Ethics Committee Research Development and Support human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au P: (+61-8) 8201 3116

Flinders University Sturt Road, Bedford Park, South Australia, 5042 GPO Box 2100, Adelaide, South Australia, 5001

http://www.flinders.edu.au/research/researcher-support/ebi/human-ethics/human-ethics_home.cfm



Dear Mr Luke Brownlow,

We are pleased to advise that the requested modifications to the below project have been approved on 15 January 2021.

Project ID: 2621

Project Title: Antecedents of mHealth App Adoption Intention

Chief Investigator: Mr Luke Brownlow

Expiry Application forms.flinders.edu.au/Project/Index/2040 Date: 31/03/2021 Link: <u>https://researchnow-ethics-</u>

You can access the application in the ResearchNow Ethics & Biosafety system via the Application Link above.

Please don't hesitate to contact the Ethics & Compliance Office if you have any questions.

Regards,

Mr Hendryk Flaegel

Research		Developme	ent	and		Support
human.resea	archethics@f	<u>linders.edu.au</u>				
Flinders	_					University
Sturt	Road,	Bedford	Park,	South	Australia,	5042
GPO Box 21	00, Adelaide	, South Australia,	5001			

http://www.flinders.edu.au/research/researcher-support/ebi/human-ethics/human-ethics_home.cfm

CRICOS No: 00114A This email and any attachments may be confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, please inform the sender by reply email and delete all copies of this message.

Appendix H: Relationships Australia Approval Notice for Data Collection

Dear Luke,

I am contacting you on behalf of the Relationships Australia Queensland (RAQ) Manager of Research and the Research Advisory Working Group (RAWG) in regards to your project titled 'Antecedents of mobile healthcare application acceptance: Opportunities to alleviate gambling harm through digital intervention'. I am pleased to inform you that your recruitment request has been accepted subject to registered HREC approval. Upon receiving HREC approval, we will be working internally to set up the recruitment process on the RAQ Facebook and research website page. Please note, RAQ does not take responsibility if this recruitment process does not produce many responses. Attached is a summary of the RAWG decision and actions.

Please note that a part of your responsibility as a researcher collaborating with RAQ you will be required to have regular communication with us. Please complete the following:

• Annual progress report on 22/09/2021 (if applicable).

• Final report when the research is complete and the results are ready for dissemination. This summary will be for dissemination by the RAQ research team to internal RAQ staff who have helped recruit into the research. Please note that we request to view publications arising from research projects using only/ mostly RAQ data prior to submission for journal publications as we are keen to understand and learn from the results and the interpretations arising from the research. The Chair of the RAWG will liaise with the co-authors around the implications of the results for RAQ and discuss how RAQ may consider quality improvement activities as a result of the research outcomes.

Please also notify us if you make any changes to your research protocol. I have attached the three relevant RAWG templates to this email.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions about the above process or documents.

Kind Jelena Jelena Milic Research O	fficer					regards,
				1300 <u>www.raq.orc</u>	364 <u>a.au</u>	277
Phone Email	07 jmilic@	3423 <u>graq.org.</u>	6980Address <u>au</u> Plains, Post 4113	6/107 N PO Bo	/liles Platting Road QLD x 4435, Eight Mile	d, Eight Mile 4113 Plains, QLD

Appendix I: Qualitative Analysis Codes

Main Themes \rightarrow Secondary Themes \rightarrow Codes

	Familiarity of m	Health apps →	Heard of Have used Regularly use	e		
Health Apps →	mHealth apps for Addiction trea		ment →	Oppose ge Support g Oppose qu Support q	enerally enerally uit gambling uit gambling	g apps g
Obj. 1: Introduction	mHealtI ns → NoBets	n apps → Cle Un → Im	ear clear provements			
Obj. 2: Functions -)	Journal, N Distraction Bet Tracke	lilestones, The Fa n, Chat, Workboc er, Crisis Help, Sha	acts, Bet Block ok, Self-Assessi are	er, Motival ment, Supp	tion, port, →	Support of function Opposition of function Usefulness of function Attitude to function
Obj. 2: Designs →	Blue on White Green-Red, Sp	e, White on Blue baced Layout, Clu	, Purple-Yellov stered Layout	^{,,} , →	Support/Po Oppose/No Improvemo	ositive egative ents
Obj. 3: Stimuli Impr	rovement →	Layout on page Screenshots/ima Descriptions	ages			
NoBets → Sup	port/Oppose →	App will hel Would use Would reco App will not Would not o Would not o	p mmend t help use recommend			

Appendix J: Additional Quotations from Focus Group Sessions

Frequency of Use

Male participants

'I have struggled to use health apps in the past because they are hard work. They are just so laborious, so I eventually stopped.' \rightarrow 'I have stopped using calorie tracking apps because it's so painful to keep entering stuff in.' \rightarrow 'I have used meditation apps in the past, but I don't use them now because they weren't any use to me.' \rightarrow 'AnyTime Fitness workout. Probably only use that once every three weeks.' \rightarrow 'I only have MyFitnessPal.' \rightarrow 'I don't have any [health] apps on my phone. I'm not interested in them.'

Female Participants

'I use Moon and Smiling Minds on a daily basis.' \rightarrow 'The other app I have is Fit Bit. It came with my Fit Bit watch. I used it quite regularly to monitor heart rate, steps and sleeping.' \rightarrow 'I use Calm. It really helps me with my anxiety and getting to sleep at night.' \rightarrow 'I have apps for my weight... I have Tom Tom for fitness... I also have Brain Keeper... Headspace helps me meditate and manage anxiety. I Have Fit Bit... I have Woman's Flow... I also have Diet... I have another one called Zombie Run which is a fun way to exercise. I have the app, Calm.'

Addiction Intervention

'I think it's possible.' \rightarrow 'I do agree with this. I think that people probably can if they're highly motivated themselves to achieve success.' \rightarrow 'I think it would work for some people.' \rightarrow 'Yes and no, because it would come down to how badly they want to treat their addiction. It would come down to the individual.' \rightarrow 'It depends on how laborious it is to engage with this. I have stopped using calorie tracking apps because it's so painful to keep entering stuff in. It just took too much time.' \rightarrow 'I'm sceptical. It may help, but I think seeing a psychologist would probably help more, and I think they should be designed by psychologists, especially those specialising in addiction. I'm not certain how effective it would be.'

Gambling and mHealth

Familiarity with App

'I had heard of it through advertisements in toilet cubicles at pubs. That's where I have seen it.' \rightarrow 'I know about these apps because there are posters inside TABS and restaurants I have eaten at where they have had gambling such as races, dogs and so forth'.

Platform Feedback

'I think people need to find what works for them when it comes to treating an addiction. I think in app could work for some people.' \rightarrow 'No[t aware]. But I think these apps would be popular because people who use apps a lot and gamble a lot would have that overlap interest to use them.' \rightarrow 'Now that I think about it it's not a bad idea. Because people are using apps to gamble so perhaps having an app to stop people from gambling.'

Journal Function

'It's not my style but other people do it. For most people to journal you have to be in a certain frame of mind to be able to do that. The hard thing is to remember and think about what to say in a moment.'

Different Journal Types

One participant stated, 'I think journal is good. It presents well. [Is] nice and clear. I like the idea that some people can use a diary and that it's clever that you broke them up into diary, reflection and goals. They would be too much to try and fit all in together. I like that you can make it date specific and see what you did on specific days. Good that you can go back and see what happened on days and see what your triggers were.' Likewise, another agreed stating, 'I understand it. I think it's a fantastic idea to have different types. The idea of documenting the day [by] reflecting on a specific event or situation. Gratitude is a great way to keep people present in the moment and to really understand what they have. I think being able to see your goals and track them visually and in a very easy place is a lot more attainable. I think journaling would be a really great way to help people remain mindful and remain on task.'

Milestones

Winning

'I understand it and think it's a good idea. I think a lot of gamblers are seeking rewards especially when they're trying to change the behaviours. I think a milestone could feel like a bit of a win and tie into the gambling scenario of wanting wins.'

Countdown

One participant observed, 'The only thing I don't see is how many days you have done in a row. There is a big gap between 30 days and 60 days so maybe you need a progress bar to show how you are going.'

The Facts

'I think it is a brilliant concept. It's a lot of reading, but I really, really like it. It is a wake-up call for someone dealing with the problem when they try and trick themselves that it's not a problem. There is so much information online that it's good for them to access good information they know where to find straight away.' One participant made a clever observation that this content is unchanging and non-interactive. 'This is not my preferred section because once you read it, you've finished using it. It doesn't do anything else, but still I think this is a good idea to have reliable information about quitting gambling in the app because people who can't afford therapy might read all sorts of crazy shit online about quitting. I like the way it is broken down into some topics.'

Bet Blocker

Available Function

'You can already use this in some betting apps, but betting apps don't make it too easy or user-friendly. They try and make it a bit more complicated to use because they don't want to block themselves. Even if you did this, you can just use their website on your computer anyway.'

Support

'That is a great idea. I think this is a wonderful idea in terms of stopping people from easily being and access those apps and websites that cause the issues.'

Motivation

Exercise Generator

'I think if people live a sedentary life already, they would have no interest in this function. If they're not into exercise and fitness, then they won't use that part.' \rightarrow 'One thing I did not get is when it says exercise generator. This seems very mathematical. I feel like if I click on that I might get a maths problem or something academic to do.'

Motivational Message and Lived Experience

'I like that it's the part of the app that provides reinsurance that you made the right decision to work on the gambling addiction, and it'll provide that through a motivational quote or a story of someone on a similar path or the same journey.'

Distraction

Brain Games

'I think the games for me would be something that would distract me.' \rightarrow 'I like the idea of brain games. I think it's a good way to control gambling. I think some people might find it

more helpful than others. \rightarrow 'I like the idea of having different brain games to help keep away from gambling. Maybe memory games might help people to learn to memorise cards and people who are addicted might see that as a gambling game.'

Meditation and Mediation

'Guided meditation might not be my cup of tea, but other people might like it. That might be a good way for some people to relax and be distracted from gambling. \rightarrow 'I think this is a really good section to have an app. It's important to take that thought process away from gambling and put it towards something else. I think it's good to take the power of their mind away from the gambling and put it onto something else. People who are really addicted for years need to learn to switch off thoughts like this.'

Chatroom

Privacy

'If they still need assistance, they do get the Support function to help them talk to somebody about it that they wouldn't feel comfortable with talking to a friend. They might feel more willing to share with somebody they don't know which is when they would use this instead.' \rightarrow 'I think the potential lies in the users being connected as well. Support doesn't always come from services but from other users. People can still recognise you because you might share something about yourself or tell a story that people already know bout.'

Self-Assessment

Difficulty

'I feel like they would think that is too much reading. I think Self-Assessment is a really good tool and from a health professional's point of view but not for the average person. You would need a professional to show you how to do it first.'

Input

'They might do it a couple of times but not follow up.' \rightarrow 'If I am to see a page like that I would instantly disengage. I wouldn't want to put that much thought into it. I want it to be quick and accessible.'

Dishonesty

'I think Self-Assessment would be [the] least useful. I think it would be helpful for some people but not necessarily the majority because you have to be accountable and honest, and I am not sure that some people are willing to confront that side of themselves.'

Workbook

Writing Task Difficulty

'I think it's a good idea to find hobbies and tasks to distract your mind from gambling. But again, I think that's up to personnel strength of will to go through with those exercises, but it seems easier to just put a bet on.'

Supplement

One participant commented, 'I think it would be effective for some people with gambling addiction. The only hesitation I have would be similar to self-accountability to continue to do the exercises, but I think if it's something done in the interim between singing a psychologist, it would be very helpful for self-accountability.'

Bet Tracker

Criticism

'I believe that this is kind of pointless if you are trying to stop gambling. Why set up a budget for yourself? I think that if people want to stop gambling, they need to go cold turkey in the first place. Don't feed the habit slowly, just stop it altogether.'

Hard Work

'Are people betting then inputting this information themselves? I think when people gamble, they can easily lose time and time can slip away.' \rightarrow 'I don't think people will go back and forth to the app to enter their spendings, and they won't remember how much they have spent.'

Dishonesty

'I don't know how that information gets there and if they could manipulate that information to look better.'

Support

Accessibility

One participant summed up this discussion, 'I think the idea of being able to find the support groups all together in one spot like this so you can talk to real people. It's better than having to Google them when you don't even know their names or what they do. Talking to people seems more helpful than trying to do something by yourself. Particularly the free services because we all can't afford psychology. You can have more of a connection to somebody rather than trying to do it solo via the app.'

Crisis Help

One participant presented this perfectly. 'I like that Crisis Help is at the bottom. When you just snap under pressure, you need to be able to find help ASAP and talk it out. It is important to

253

have someone to talk to when you are learning how to quit because you don't know what else to do with your hands yet. But, it should be some sort of brand... like a sponsor. Whether that is the Green Zone Government or Queensland health or something like that. I think that would make it look more professional. It should have a stamp to have an affiliation with a reliable organisation.'

Share

No Support

'I like that there is a share achievement option. I think that is a good idea to normalise mental health issues and addiction. I think the good idea to share positive progress with mental health.' \rightarrow 'Those who do speak out about it try to encourage it. So, hosting and showing examples about how to encourage progress might turn that journey into something more positive.'

Privacy

'Not keen on the Facebook share button. To make this public... And, I don't think I agree with that.' \rightarrow 'It also says that you can post on social media which is an interesting idea. I wonder how many people want to do that. Maybe some people would be really proud of the progress, but I feel like the majority would not want to advertise their gambling addiction.'

Colours

Blue on White

'I just really like the blue and white. It looks professional.' \rightarrow 'I like the white background with blue writing the most.'

After seeing the stimuli, one participant reasoned, 'I think a darker blue is preferrable. You can't clearly see the image.'

Red and Green

'The red and green are too harsh together. They get your attention really quickly and it reminds me of a supermarket grocery. I feel like I'm looking at Woolworths or Coles specials.' 'A little bit of feedback would be to steer away from orange, red and deeper blue is because they look like sports betting apps.'

Purple and Yellow

'I feel like the colours are too in your face. It is screaming 'wake me up'. I definitely don't like the colours. The font is all right. It's not for me. I don't like it. Title in purple at the top looks silly.' For example, 'It has a feeling of movement like a sports app.'

Layout

Spaced

I like the layout of the boxes on home screen one and two because they are all the same size. It relies on reading without having my attention dragged around'.

Boxed

'Those boxes seem to be all different sizes and not following a pattern I find that a bit offputting.'

Verdict on App

Platform

'I think a phone is the right device because it's so easy to get access to.' \rightarrow 'I think it's a good idea because gambling has the technology aspect anyway.' \rightarrow 'I think a phone is the best device because everyone has a smart phone and it easy access.'

Barriers

'I think it would only suit some people, more so the younger generation.' \rightarrow 'I believe from a generational view I would have trouble dealing with it. I would wonder just how successful it would be in older people.'

Future Direction

'Look... I would have to see the evidence behind it before I recommended in a professional capacity. I'm a nurse, and I understand that you need some people to test it and have some guinea pigs and run a trial. I think it also needs some professionals to review the app'.

'I think you should run this app and go for it, there is only one way you can which is to go for it and see how it popularises and get feedback through the app by giving people the option to give feedback directly to you. This might make the app stronger. People might have good advice how to use the app after they beat their addiction and what works for them or even tell you how to make this better.'

Support

'I think the app is a good start for someone who is personally looking for a way to control or quit.'

One comment reflects this effectively, 'I wasn't sure at first but after seeing all these functions, I think it's a great idea. I think there are probably a lot of people with a gambling addiction, and the more they promote these sorts of apps the more they would be used.'

Supplement

'I think there should be many ways that people can treat an addiction which includes using apps, community forums, social media as well as government regulations. I think apps are definitely going to help.' \rightarrow 'I don't think it should replace therapy or other treatments. I think it could be one entry point for several points. I think it would suit only some, but it shouldn't replace therapy. I think is important to have a multitude of ways for people to understand the gambling addiction and determine what works for them.' \rightarrow 'Obviously, it can't replace therapy. Being accountable to a person is more important than being accountable to an app. Unless it can connect you to a person.' \rightarrow 'I don't think it would replace therapy or other public treatments. I think it would be complementary to what is already available. I think an app is a 24/7 coach that they have at their disposal to help curb the need to gamble. I think of mobile phone the right device because most people are hooked up to their phone all day every day.'

Appendix K: Stimuli Amendments

App Function Amendments

Function	Amendments
Workbook	Text descriptions shortened as longwindedness caused disengagement
	Share link was removed with Share function
Distraction	Text description shortened as longwindedness caused disengagement
	Audio lengths shortened as original lengths appeared too time consuming
Journal	Heading was changed from <i>diary</i> to <i>reflection</i> to match text description of features
Milestones	Share link was removed with Share function
	Timeframes of achievements were shortened as the number of days for achievements and times between achievements were intimidating
	A counter of days abstained was introduced as another reward system
Bet Blocker	A tool within the function to modify the block lists was added to make it appear easier to use
Support	Text description shortened as longwindedness caused disengagement
Crisis Help	The button was rewritten to outline the action of the button and the availability of the helpline to clarify functionality

App Design Amendments

Function	Amendments
Workbook	Colour scheme changed to dark blue on white
	Exercises given distinct boxes to clarify that they are separate
	NB initials spelled out for clarity
	Watermark made subtler as it was distracting from the text
Distraction	Colour scheme changed to dark blue on white
	NB initials spelled out for clarity
	Game descriptions bolded
Journal	Watermark made subtler as it was distracting from the text
Milestones	Colour scheme change to dark blue on white
	NB initials spelled out for clarity
	Badge given colour as it was too subtle
The Facts	Colour scheme change to dark blue on white

Function	Amendments
	Font size increased for ease of reading
	Pairs of myths and facts separated to emphasise the pairing
Bet Blocker	Colour scheme change to dark blue on white
	List style of blocked content changed to grid style as it presented too long
Support	Colour scheme change to dark blue on white
	Watermark made subtler as it was distracting from the text
Crisis Help	Colour scheme change to dark blue on white
Chat	Colour scheme change to dark blue on white
	Dates removed from chatroom to emphasise the temporariness of posts
	Boxing style for chatroom removed to present conversational communication

Appendix L: Groups Contacted for Recruitment

	Organisa	tion	
1.	ACT Gambling and Racing Commission^	30.	Open Arms^
2.	Alliance for Gambling Reform [^]	31.	Problem Gambling SA^
3.	Anglicare [^]	32.	Relationships Australia NSW [^]
4.	ANZMH^	33.	Relationships Australia NT^
5.	Arab Council Australia [^]	34.	Relationships Australia QLD*
6.	Australia Counselling [^]	35.	Relationships Australia SA [^]
7.	Bet Safe^	36.	Relationships Australia TAS [^]
8.	Bethany Community Support^	37.	Relationships Australia VIC -
9.	Better Health Channel-	38.	Lifeline SESA*
10.	Beyond Blue^	39.	Lifeline TAS^
11	Blue Voices^	40.	Lifeline Central VIC and Mallee*
12.	Centrecare [^]	41.	Lifeline WA^
13.	Family Gambling Help*	42.	Mission Australia [^]
14.	Gamble Aware^	43.	Relationships Australia WA [^]
15.	Gamblers Anonymous Australia^	44.	SHARC^
16.	Gamblers Anonymous Australia NSW/ACT^	45.	Smart Recovery*
17.	Gamblers Anonymous Australia QLD/NT^	46.	The Salvation Army [^]
18.	Gamblers Anonymous Australia SA-	47	Lifeline QLD^
19.	Gamblers Anonymous Australia TAS^	48.	Grief Line-
20.	Gamblers Anonymous Australia VIC ^A	49.	Wesley Mission^
21.	Gambling Help NSW *	50.	Reach Out^
22.	Gambling Help Online^	51.	Lifeline ACT-
23.	Gambling Impact Society NSW^	52.	Lifeline Darling Downs [^]
24.	Gambling Support Program (TAS)^	53.	Lifeline Northern Beaches^
25.	GamCare^	54.	Lifeline NT ^
26.	Victorian Responsible Gambling Foundation*	55.	Uniting Communities (Lifeline Adelaide)^
27.	Health Direct^	56.	Lifeline Southwest VIC [^]
28.	Lifeline Aus^	57.	Lifeline Gippsland [^]
29.	Relationships Australia Canberra and Region	^	

Note: * accepted invitation, - rejected invitation, ^ no response

Appendix M: Estimation of the Error Functions, Lower Bound Sample Size for a Structural Equation Model and Normal Distribution Cumulative Distribution

Error function:

$$\operatorname{erf}(x) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^x e^{-t^2} dt$$

Lower bound sample size for a structural equation model:

$$n = \max(n_1, n_2)$$
where:

$$n_1 = \left[50 \left(\frac{j}{k} \right)^2 - 450 \left(\frac{j}{k} \right) + 1100 \right]$$

$$n_2 = \left[\frac{1}{2H} \left(A \left(\frac{\pi}{6} - B + D \right) + H + \sqrt{\left(A \left(\frac{\pi}{6} - B + D \right) + H \right)^2 + 4AH \left(\frac{\pi}{6} + \sqrt{A} + 2B - C - 2D \right)} \right) \right]$$

$$A = 1 - \rho^2$$

$$B = \rho \arcsin\left(\frac{\rho}{2} \right)$$

$$C = \rho \arcsin\left(\frac{\rho}{2} \right)$$

$$C = \rho \arcsin(\rho)$$

$$D = \frac{A}{\sqrt{3 - A}}$$

$$H = \left(\frac{\delta}{z_{1-\alpha/2} - z_{1-\beta}} \right)^2$$

where *j* represents the number of observed variables, *k* is the number of latent variables, ρ is the estimated Gini correlation for a bivariate normal random vector, δ is the anticipated effect size, α is the Sidak-corrected Type 1 error rate, β is the Type 2 error rate and *z* is the standard normal score.

Normal distribution cumulative distribution function:

$$F(x; \mu, \sigma^2) = \frac{1}{2} \left[1 + \operatorname{erf} \left(\frac{x - \mu}{\sigma \sqrt{2}} \right) \right]$$

where μ is the mean, σ is the standard deviation and *erf* is the error function.

Appendix N: Online Survey

Hello and Welcome!

The purpose of this research project is to understand people's opinions about mobile 'apps'. Specifically, 'apps' designed to help people change their betting behaviour. You will also be asked about a little about your betting habits in general. Participation is voluntary and confidential. There are no risks to you and you may exit at any time. The survey will take approximately 15 minutes to complete. **To thank you for your time, you will receive a \$20 ColesMyer gift voucher for completing the survey. Your gift voucher will not be linked to your answers any way to ensure your privacy. By clicking 'next' you are consenting to participating in this survey and confirm that you are 18 years of age or older.** This research project has been approved by the Flinders University Social and Behavioural Research Ethics Committee in South Australia (Project number 2621). For queries regarding the <u>ethics approval</u> of this project please contact the Executive Officer of the Committee via telephone on +61 8 8201 3116 or email human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au

Click the below link to download the information sheet and informed consent details.

Information sheet and consent final

queries regarding the <u>ethics approval</u> of this project please contact the Executive Officer of the Committee via telephone on +61 8 8201 3116 or email human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au Click the below link to download the information sheet and informed consent details. Information sheet and consent final

Q1 How old were you on your last birthday? Q2 Do you identify with a specific gender?

\frown		
()	Ma	P
\sim	IVIU	L C

\frown	
	Female
\sim	i cinaic

LGBTQ+

O I'd rather not say

Other

Q3 Reflecting on your gambling activities over the last 12 months, please reflect on the following statements.

Q3a Have you bet more than you could afford to lose?

O Never

Sometimes

O Most of the time

O Always

Q3b Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement?

O Never

Sometimes

O Most of the time

Always

Q3c Have you enjoyed your gambling overall?

O Never

○ Sometimes

O Most of the time

Always

Q3d Have you gone back another day to try to win back the money you lost?

O Never

○ Sometimes

O Most of the time

Always

Q3e Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble?

O Never

○ Sometimes

O Most of the time	
--------------------	--

\bigcirc A	ways
--------------	------

Q3f Have you had positive experiences gambling overall?

O Never

○ Sometimes

O Most of the time

Always

Q3g Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling?

O Never

Sometimes

O Most of the time

Always

Q3h Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety?

O Never

○ Sometimes

O Most of the time

Always

Q3i Have people criticised your betting, or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true?

O Never

○ Sometimes

O Most of the time

○ Always

Q3j Has your gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household?

O Never

Sometimes

O Most of the time

○ Always

Q3k Have you felt guilty about the way you gamble, or what happens when you gamble?

O Never

○ Sometimes

O Most of the time

O Always

Q4 Please tell us about how you enjoy gambling the most.

Online (computer, tablet, phone)

O Using machines, games or bookies at venues or events, such as pubs, casino or race events.

O Both, I have no preference

Q5 This next see how much y	ction asks you ou 'agree or	u about your o disagree' with	opinions and united the following	usage of 'app g statements	s' in general. I	Please tell us			
Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree			
I feel confident about my knowledge of 'apps'.									
I know how	to judge the	quality of 'apı	os'.						
l use apps e	xtensively.								
I feel confid	ent when I us	se 'apps'.							
Among my f	riends, I'm co	onsidered a bi	t of an 'app' e	expert.					
l have a stro	ong interest ir	n 'apps'.							
'Apps' are in	nportant to n	ny lifestyle.							
'Apps' save	time.								
'Apps' are co	onvenient to	use.							
Using 'apps'	in an efficier	nt way to do t	hings.						
I trust 'apps'	' are reliable.								
I think 'apps	' are secure.								
I trust 'apps'	' to do the jol	b right.							
'Apps' shoul	'Apps' should have information specific to me.								
'Apps' shoul	d be customi	sed to my nee	eds.						
I only want	to receive use	eful informati	on from 'apps	5'.					

Q6 Now, we'd like to ask you about your experience using health 'apps' in particular

How often do you use a health oriented 'app' in your everyday life—Including 'apps' for exercise, dieting, mental health, illness, meditation, etc?

	Never	2	3	4	5	6	Every day
On							
average, I	\bigcirc						
use at	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0
least one							

type of				
health				
'app'				

Q7 In this section, we would like your feedback on an 'App' we're designing to help people modify their gambling habits when they want to—It's called "NoBets". Here is the 'home screen'. Please take a look at the nine buttons you see below that represent the nine major functions of the 'App'. Next, we will ask you your opinions regarding what they do. Q8

Here you will see a brief description several functions on the 'App', along with a 'screenshot' of what the function looks like in action. We'd like your opinions regarding the usefulness of these functions.

(see Appendix P: Survey Stimuli for stimuli)

Q9 **Journal** function. This allows you to keep track of your goals, reactions to betting triggers and supports your self-expression.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Q10 This is the **Milestones** function. This function rewards you for achieving timeframes without gambling with trophies and positive messages.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Q11 **The Facts.** The Facts is a gambling information database on a range of topics, such as goal setting tips and tricks and myths and facts.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0

Q12 Bet Blocker. Bet Blocker stops your device from accessing gambling websites and apps.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Q13 **Distraction.** Distraction draws attention and thoughts away from gambling with meditation, mindfulness and brain games.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Q14 **Chat.** Chat connects you with others using the app through a private chatroom discussion forums with topics about quitting gambling.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Q15 Workbook. This function provides help exercises through reading and writing.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Q16 **Support Groups.** This function is a directory of support and welfare groups to contact online and in person.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	0	0

Q17 **Crisis Helpline.** This function connects you with a 24/7 gambling helpline.

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I think this function is useful.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

you 'agree or disagree' with the following statements. This new 'App'	Q19 This next section asks about your opinions on our new 'App'. Please tell us how much
	you 'agree or disagree' with the following statements. This new 'App'

Strongly	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly
Disagree	۲	5	-	5	0	Agree

Has attractive screen designs (colours, boxes, etc.)

Looks professionally designed.

Looks and feels visually appealing.

Looks enjoyable: people would probably use it a lot.

Seems fun: people will want to use it.

Gives rewards, so people would probably use it.

Would be easy to get it to do what I want.

Would be difficult to become be skilful with.

Would be easy to use.

Would be useful for quitting/changing gambling.

Can probably improve unwanted gambling behaviour.

Can probably improve the ability to control gambling.

Would make quitting/controlling gambling easier.

Q20 I think this new 'App'.

Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree	
Is, overall, a	good 'app'.						
Is unpleasar	nt.						
Would be beneficial to people.							
I plan to use an app like this to manage my gambling at some point.							
In the future, I intend to use this type of 'app'.							
I predict I will use an 'app' like this eventually.							

Q21 We can recommend a free, high-quality 'app' like this for you to manage your gambling. Are you interested in knowing more?

• Yes, give me the link to the 'app' at the end of the survey.

O No thanks, I am not interested.

Q22 Lastly, we'd like to know what you think of what we've called this new 'App' - "NoBets"

	Strongly Disagree	2	3	4	5	6	Strongly Agree
I like the name "NoBets".	0	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	0

Q23 Here are some of the other names we considered for our new 'App', including NoBets. Please tell us which name you prefer from this list or present your own if you can suggest a better name. (please pick your favourite from the list below).

O NoBets

O Quit Buddy

\bigcirc	Quit	Gambling	
------------	------	----------	--

O Health Pocket Pal

○ Gambling Recovery

Stop Betting

Other (please tell us your suggestion)

These last questions will help us develop this 'App' for people. Q24 What is your highest qualification?

O did not complete secondary school

Secondary school	
○ trade or TAFE certificate	
\bigcirc bachelor's degree	
\bigcirc master's degree or higher	
Q25 Please tell us about your employment situation?	
○ Full time	
O Part time	
○ Casual	
○ Retired	
○ Student	
O Unemployed	
O Other	

Q26 What is your approximate annual household income?

Q27 Do you have any final comments to add to your responses? Your feedback is highly valued!

Click **Finish** to claim your voucher.

Thank you for participating in this survey. Your contribution will help others in the fight to reduce harm from problem gambling.

If you require any support, Gambling Help Online provides free, anonymous support for anyone affected by gambling in Australia. Chat counselling, email support and selfhelp services are available.

Website: https://www.gamblinghelponline.org.au/

Phone:1800 858 858

Online Forum: https://forum.gamblinghelponline.org.au/

Blog: https://www.gamblinghelponline.org.au/blog

For those of you who are interested in knowing more about the GT app, you can access the

information below. Clicking on the link will open the webpage in a new internet window.



https://www.gamblingtherapy.org/en/gambling-therapy-presents-gt-app

Please note that vouchers will be distributed after all the responses have been collected and the survey officially closes. Thank you for your patience.

Appendix O: Online Survey Information Sheet and Consent Form



SURVEY INFORMATION SHEET

Project Title: Antecedents of mHealth App Adoption Intention

What follows is a series of questions about apps and your perceptions around them. Specifically, we are looking at apps that people can use to modifying their own gambling behaviour. There are also some questions about you and your behaviour around gambling. This online survey is open to anyone in Australia over 17 years old that gambles regularly. There is no risk to you personally, participation is voluntary, personal identifying information will not be recorded and any information that you provide will be confidential. Your answers will be accessible only to the researcher and project supervisors. Your answers will be kept only at Flinders University on a secure cloud-based storage system. At no stage will your responses be printed. Your responses will be deleted following the compulsory five-year storage period. Please remember that no identifying information about you will be collected during the survey.

Participation should take no more than 20 minutes and is entirely voluntary. You can withdraw from the survey at any point by closing your browser. You can only complete the survey once, so you are encouraged to complete the survey in a quiet, private and secure place where you will not be interrupted and have sufficient time. The more information that you provide, the better the findings of the research project will be. If the survey upsets you or makes you feel uncomfortable in any way, you will be given a list of support contacts at the end of the survey. Your responses to some preliminary questions in the survey will determine your eligibility to participate.

This research project will be conducted in accordance with the NHMRC National Statement on Ethical Conduct Human Research (https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/aboutin us/publications/national-statement-ethical-conduct-human-research-2007-updated-2018). For further information, please contact the PhD student and lead researcher, Luke Brownlow at Flinders University on luke.brownlow@flinders.edu.au. Alternatively, you can contact the research project supervisors, Professor Roberta Crouch | roberta.crouch@flinders.edu.au 08 8201 2046 and Dr. Svetlana De Vos | svetlanadevos@aib.edu.au 08 8212 8111. Should you have any concerns about this research project, you can contact Flinders University Human Research Ethics Committee on 08 8201 3116 human.researchethics@flinders.edu.au. Ethics Approval Number: HEL2621-2.

SURVEY PARTICIPATION CONSENT

By giving my consent to participate in this survey, I understand and agree to the following statements:

- I understand that I may not be eligible to complete the survey based on my responses.
- I am 18 years of age or older.
- I have read the information about the survey and agree to take part in the research project.
- I have not already completed this survey.
- The research project has been fully explained to my satisfaction.
- I understand that I will not be identifiable if I participate in this study.
- I understand that I am free to withdraw at any time.
- I have had the opportunity to ask any questions about the survey and research project.

Appendix P: Survey Stimuli





This function is called Workbook which provides therapy-based study exercises. You can learn techniques for self-control through reading and writing tasks developed to address gambling addiction. Example subjects include strengthening commitment, planning and taking action and changing your thinking. Workbook gives you the choice to share on social media when you have finished subjects.

Image 1) the subjects that are available in Workbook

Image 2) descriptions of the different tasks in a 'Change Your Thinking'

Survey Stimulus—The Facts



The function is called The Facts which is an information database on the behaviours, risks and symptoms surrounding gambling. The Facts includes useful information on a range of different topics, such as clinically defining gambling addiction, goal setting tips and tricks and identifying signs of addiction.

Image 1) a list of the different information topics

Image 2) an example of the topic, 'Myths & Facts' which clarifies truths and lies around gambling addiction

Survey Stimulus—Support Groups



This function is called Support which is a directory of gambling support community groups and welfare organisations. These contacts offer 24/7 support through phone, chat and face-to-face services. Some are gambling specialists while other groups offer broader support to gamblers and their families.

Image 1) the contact list of community groups and welfare organisations in the directory

Image 2) an example of the contact page of an Australian welfare group

Survey Stimulus—Milestones

Milestones 🙊	Mileston	es 🎗
Achievements	Next Achiev	vements
Congratulations! You have not gambled for 2 days! This is a great start to your journey.	You will reach this mi it!	Veeks lestone in 2 days. Keep at
Congratulations! You have not gambled for 1 week. You are doing really well!	You will reach this mi it!	Weeks lestone in 9 days. Keep at
Congratulations! You have not gambled for 10 days! Don't stop now!	You will reach this mi at it!	Month lestone in 18 days. Keep
Congratulations! You haven't gambled for 12 days! 0 1 2 NoBets	Congratulations! You haven't gambled for 12 days!	NoBets

This function is called Milestones and focusses on your achievements. It rewards you for achieving timeframes of not gambling. You report daily to help make you more accountable for your time and money. You are rewarded for achievements with trophies, and timeframes are customisable.

Milestones also lets you choose if you want to share your trophies on social media to let others know what you have accomplished.

Image 1) a list of trophies that have been achieved and you can choose to share on social media

Image 2) a list of timeframes that haven't been reached yet

Survey Stimulus—Journal



This function is called Journal which you can use to make regular journal entries about your progress or record a diary about your journey. There are four main benefits to journaling through change; 1) prioritise problems and goals, 2) recognise and track betting triggers, 3) identify self-defeating thoughts, and 4) provide a private outlet self-expression. There are four features which are different types of journal entries; 1) diary, 2) reflection, 3) gratitude and 4) goals.

Image 1) the four different features or journal types to explore and their descriptions—diary, reflection, gratitude and goals

Image 2) an example of diary entries

Survey Stimulus—Distraction



This function is called Distraction which you can use for drawing attention and thoughts away from gambling. There are three features to this function. The first feature is guided meditation audios for mental calm and concentration. The second feature is mindfulness audios to help control thoughts of gambling. The third feature contains fun brain training games that use your attention and keep your hands busy.

Image 1) the three features of the function and their descriptions

Image 2) different categories of brain games and their descriptions
Survey Stimulus—Crisis Helpline

NoBets	← Crisis Helpline
Today's Motivational Message "The only sure thing about good luck is that it will change." - Brett Harte, author & poet	Call Gambling Helpline Australia for 24/7
Journal Workbook Distractions	Counselling, Information and Support
Facts Milestones Bet Blocker	Click Here Call Now
Chat Support Groups Crisis Helpline	If you are in danger or this is an emergency, call your emergency services now: 000 (AUS) 999 (UK) 112 (UE) & 911 (USA)

This function is called Crisis which links you with a 24/7, completely anonymous gambling helpline. This app accesses the call settings of your mobile phone to make an immediate call to 1800 Gambling Help, an Australia gambling support group staffed with trained counsellors and treatment specialists.

Image 1) shows you the Crisis Helpline icon on the dashboard

Image 2) the screen which confirms that you want to make the call with one click.

Survey Stimulus—Bet Blocker



This function is called Bet Blocker which is easy-to-use and non-invasive. You can set Bet Blocker to block your device from accessing gambling websites and apps. The app has a default list of known sites and apps, and you can also add website sites and apps to this list. This function prevents you from impulsively deleting the app by delaying uninstallation.

Image 1) An example list of blocked apps and sites

Image 2) Bet Blocker recognising the Sportsbet app and stopping access

Survey Stimulus—Chat

MJ—26.01.2020 7:59am Does anyone want to chat?

Shakespeare—8:04am Yeah, what's up?

MJ-8:05am

I just need a distraction. Tell me something... What do you do instead of betting?

Eddy-8:07am

Yesterday was one week without a bet for me. So, I celebrated with takeaway and Netflix all day. Stay away from TV with ads and just binge watch instead.

more \checkmark

NoBets

FORUMS

THREAD: I want to watch footy, but there is non-step talk about odds. 16.01.2020— 16 Responses

THREAD: Is it a bad idea to replace gambling with chocolate? Am I just swapping addictions? 19.01.2020— 25 Responses

more 🗸

Add Thread

This function is called Chat which you can use to anonymously connect with other people using the app who might be sharing your experiences. The first feature is a private and secure chat room dedicated to app users only and is an open space to talk with peers. The second feature is a forum where you can post questions, topics and issues to create dedicated discussion threads or contribute to other threads.

Image 1) an example conversation in the 24/7 chat room

Image 2) an example of forum threads that people have created